
 

Board of 

Directors 

Meeting 

Agenda 

Date: February 17, 2022
 

Time: 5:30 p.m.
 

Location: Virtual Meeting (online)
 

Powering forward. Together. 



1
 



 
 

 
  

 
  

  
  

  
 

  
 

 
  

  
 

    
   

 

  
  

 
 

  
   

  
 

 
   

  
 

     
  

   
  

    
 
  

  
 

  
 
  

AGENDA 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT
 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING
 

Pursuant to Government Code section 54953(e) and the Emergency Board Meeting Procedures 
adopted by the SMUD Board of Directors, the regular Board meeting and other public meetings 
are currently conducted solely via virtual (online/teleconference) meeting to align with state, 
local, and federal guidelines for the containment of the coronavirus. 

Live video streams and indexed archives of meetings are available at: 
http://smud.granicus.com/ViewPublisher.php?view_id=16 

Members of the public may register to provide verbal comments at an upcoming Board or 
Committee meeting by e-mailing a request to speak to PublicComment@smud.org.  Please 
include the date of the meeting, name, and topic or agenda item the requestor wishes to speak 
on.  The request may also be submitted while the meeting is in progress during the standard 
time for the agenda item or topic. Pre-registration is strongly encouraged by no later than 
3:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting. 

Members of the public may provide written public comments on a specific agenda item or on 
items not on the agenda (general public comment) by submitting comments via e-mail. 
Comments may be submitted to PublicComment@smud.org and will be placed into the record 
of the meeting. 

Members of the public that are listening to or watching the live stream of a Board meeting and 
wish to submit written comments on a specific agenda item as it is being heard may submit their 
comments, limited to 250 words or less, to PublicComment@smud.org, noting the agenda item 
number in the subject line.  The Board President may read comments for items on the agenda 
into the record, in his discretion, based upon such factors as the length of the agenda or the 
number of e-mail comments received.  General public comment for items not on the agenda will 
not be read into the record but will be provided to the Board and placed into the record of the 
Board meeting if it is received within two hours after the meeting ends. 

February 17, 2022 – 5:30 p.m. 
Zoom Webinar Link: Join SMUD Board of Directors Meeting Here
 

Webinar/Meeting ID: 161 296 9531
 
Passcode: 922875
 

Phone Dial-in Number: 1-669-254-5252 or 1-833-568-8864 (Toll Free)
 

Call to Order. 
a. Roll Call. 

1. Approval of the Agenda. 

http://smud.granicus.com/ViewPublisher.php?view_id=16
mailto:PublicComment@smud.org
mailto:PublicComment@smud.org
mailto:PublicComment@smud.org
https://smud.zoomgov.com/j/1612969531?pwd=M3RzaGxBbjZvRm1WeTZ2Vk5BbjkwQT09


  
 

   
   
   
   

 
 

        
   

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
    

 
  

    
 

   
    

 
    

          
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
   

 

    
    

 

     
 

 
 

      
 

    

2.	 Committee Chair Reports. 

a.	 Committee Chair report of February 8, 2022, Strategic Development Committee 
b.	 Committee Chair report of February 9, 2022, Policy Committee 
c.	 Committee Chair report of February 15, 2022, Finance and Audit Committee 
d.	 Committee Chair report of February 16, 2022, Energy Resources & Customer 

Services Committee 

Items 5 and 6 were reviewed by the February 9, 2022, Policy Committee. Items 7 and 8 
were reviewed by the February 15, 2022, Finance and Audit Committee. 

Comments from the public are welcome when these agenda items are called. 

Consent Calendar: 

3.	 Approve Board member compensation for service rendered at the request of the Board 
(pursuant to Resolution 18-12-15) for the period of January 16, 2022, through 
February 15, 2022. 

4.	 Approval of the minutes of the meeting of January 20, 2022. 

5.	 Accept the monitoring report for Strategic Direction SD-2, Competitive Rates. 
Policy Committee 2/9. (Scott Martin) 

6.	 Accept the monitoring report for Strategic Direction SD-3, Access to Credit Markets. 
Policy Committee 2/9. (Jennifer Davidson) 

7.	 Approve changing the time of the March 17, 2022, Board Meeting from 5:30 p.m. to 
9:00 a.m. Finance and Audit Committee 2/15. (Laura Lewis) 

* * * * * * * 

Discussion Calendar: 

8.	 Authorize the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager to negotiate and execute: 

a.	 A three-and-one-half-year contract renewal and expansion to $150 million with 
Barclays Bank for a Letter of Credit that supports the outstanding Commercial 
Paper Series L, with terms substantially similar to the attached term sheet. 

b.	 A three-year contract renewal and expansion to $150 million with Bank of 
America, N.A. for a Letter of Credit that supports the outstanding Commercial 
Paper Series M, with terms substantially similar to the attached term sheet. 

c.	 A four-year contract with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. for a new Line of Credit that 
supports a new $100 million Line of Credit Series N, with terms substantially 
similar to the attached term sheet. 

Finance and Audit Committee 2/15. (Jennifer Davidson) 

Presenter: Russell Mills 



 
 

  
 

   
 

   
 

  
 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Date Meeting Location Start Time 

  
  

 
 

 

  
  

  
 

 

   
  

 
 

 

   
   

 

  
  

 
 

 

  
  

  
 

 

 
 

 

Public Comment: 

9. Items not on the agenda. 

Board and CEO Reports: 

10. Directors' Reports. 

11. President's Report. 

12. CEO's Report. 
a. Board Video 

Summary of Board Direction 

* * * * * * * 

Board Committee Meetings and Special Meetings of the Board of Directors are held at the 
SMUD Headquarters Building, 6201 S Street, Sacramento 

The SMUD Board of Directors is currently operating under Emergency Board Meeting 
Procedures.  In accordance with findings made by the Board pursuant to Government Code 
section 54953(e), these meetings will be held virtually (online). 

February 15, 2022	 Finance and Audit Committee and Virtual Meeting 5:30 p.m.
 
Special SMUD Board of Directors (online)
 
Meeting
 

February 16, 2022	 Energy Resources & Customer Virtual Meeting 5:30 p.m.
 
Services Committee and Special (online)
 
SMUD Board of Directors Meeting
 

March 8, 2022	 Strategic Development Committee Virtual Meeting 5:30 p.m.
 
and Special SMUD Board of Directors (online)
 
Meeting
 

March 9, 2022	 Policy Committee and Special SMUD Virtual Meeting 5:30 p.m.
 
Board of Directors Meeting (online)
 

March 15, 2022 Finance and Audit Committee and 
Special SMUD Board of Directors 
Meeting 

Virtual Meeting 
(online) 

5:30 p.m. 

March 16, 2022 Energy Resources & Customer 
Services Committee and Special 
SMUD Board of Directors Meeting 

Virtual Meeting 
(online) 

5:30 p.m. 

* * * * * * *
 



             
 

         
          

                
  

 

                
               

             
                  

               
        

 

              
           
                

             
        

 

            
        

            
             

  
 

 
 

 
 

Date Location Start Time 

     
 

Regular Meetings of the Board of Directors are held at the SMUD Headquarters Building, 
6201 S Street, Sacramento 

The SMUD Board of Directors is currently operating under Emergency Board Meeting 
Procedures.  In accordance with findings made by the Board pursuant to Government Code 
section 54953(e), these meetings will be held virtually (online). 

March 17, 2022 Virtual Meeting (online) 5:30 p.m. 

Pursuant to Resolution No. 20-06-08 adopted on June 18, 2020, Emergency Board Meeting Procedures are in effect: 

Members of the public may make either a general public comment or comment on a specific agenda item by 
submitting comments via email. Comments may be submitted to PublicComment@smud.org. Comments will be 
provided to the Board and placed into the record of the Board meeting if it is received within two hours after the 
meeting ends. 

Members of the public that are listening or watching the live stream of a Board meeting and wish to comment on a 
specific agenda item as it is being heard, may submit their comments, limited to 250 words or less, to 
PublicComment@smud.org. The Board President may read the comments into the record, in his discretion, based
upon such factors as the length of the agenda, the number of email comments received, and whether the Board is in 
danger of losing a quorum. Comments will be provided to the Board and placed into the record of the Board meeting 
if it is received within two hours after the meeting ends. 

Members of the public may register to provide verbal comments at an upcoming Board or Committee meeting by 
emailing a request to speak to PublicComment@smud.org. Please include the date of the meeting, name, and topic 
or agenda item the requestor wishes to speak on. The request may also be submitted while the meeting is in 
progress during the standard time for the agenda item or topic. Pre-registration is strongly encouraged by no later 
than 3:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting. 

ADA Accessibility Procedures: Upon request, SMUD will generally provide appropriate aids and services leading 
to effective communication for qualified persons with disabilities so that they can participate equally in this virtual 
meeting. If you need a reasonable auxiliary aid or service for effective communication to participate, please email 
Toni.Stelling@smud.org, or contact by phone at (916) 732-7143, no later than 48 hours before this virtual meeting. 

mailto:PublicComment@smud.org
mailto:PublicComment@smud.org
mailto:PublicComment@smud.org
mailto:Toni.Stelling@smud.org


2
 



3
 



 

 
 
  

 

DRAFT 

RESOLUTION NO. ____________ 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

That this Board hereby approves Board member compensation for service 

rendered at the request of the Board (pursuant to Resolution 18-12-15) for the period of 

January 16, 2022, through February 15, 2022. 



4
 



 
 
 

 

  

   
 

 
 

     
 

 
   

 

  

  

 

 

  

 

  

DRAFT 

Sacramento, California 

January 20, 2022 

The Board of Directors of the Sacramento Municipal Utility District 

met in regular session via virtual meeting (online) at 5:30 p.m. 

Roll Call:

   Presiding:  President Rose 

   Present:  Directors  Bui-Thompson,  Fishman,  Herber,  
Kerth, Tamayo, and Sanborn 

Present also were Laura Lewis, acting Chief Executive Officer and 

General Manager; Joe Schofield, Deputy General Counsel and Assistant 

Secretary, and members of SMUD’s executive management; and SMUD 

employees and visitors. 

Director Herber shared the environmental tip. 

President Rose called for approval of the agenda.  Director Kerth 

moved for approval of the agenda, Director Fishman seconded, and the agenda 

was unanimously approved. 

President Rose then turned to agenda item 2, a commendation 

resolution for Director Bui-Thompson in recognition of her service as SMUD 

Board President in 2021. He read the resolution highlighting the many 

accomplishments. 

Director Fishman moved for approval of the commendation 

resolution, Director Kerth seconded, and Resolution No. 22-01-01 was 

unanimously approved. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO.  22-01-01 

WHEREAS, Nancy Bui-Thompson, the elected representative of 

Ward 2, served with distinction as President of the SMUD Board in 2021; and 

WHEREAS, President Bui-Thompson’s leadership was invaluable 

as SMUD responded to the myriad challenges caused by the COVID-19 

pandemic; and 

WHEREAS, throughout President Bui-Thompson’s term in 2021, 

SMUD’s electric rates were among the lowest in the state, approximately 37 

percent lower than neighboring PG&E’s; and 

WHEREAS, SMUD was California’s top-ranked large utility in the 

J.D. Power and Associates survey of residential customer satisfaction; and 

WHEREAS, SMUD tied for the highest score in the nation in 2021 

in the J.D. Power Sustainability Index, based on residential and commercial 

customer ratings; and 

WHEREAS, with President Bui-Thompson’s guidance, the SMUD 

Board approved the 2030 Zero Carbon Plan, the most aggressive 

decarbonization plan of any large electric utility in the United States; and 

WHEREAS, President Bui-Thompson oversaw the Board and 

public outreach process that led to the SMUD Board’s approval of the new Solar 

and Storage Rate (SSR), which will reduce the cost shift from Net Energy 

Metering (NEM) and will incentivize customers to invest in solar paired with 

storage, providing greater benefits to SMUD and our customers; and 

WHEREAS, SMUD also announced in 2021 the launch of the new 

Virtual Solar program for under-resourced customers living in multi-family 

housing; and 

WHEREAS, despite historic wildfires that limited SMUD’s ability to 

import power from the Pacific Northwest during the summer, SMUD maintained 

its record of world-class reliability; and 

WHEREAS, President Bui-Thompson represented SMUD at 

numerous community events in 2021, including the opening of the SMUD 

Museum of Science and Curiosity (MOSAC) along the Old Sacramento riverfront, 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

and welcomed Secretary of Energy Granholm to our Hedge training facility where 

we showcased our new energy storage project; and 

WHEREAS, President Bui-Thompson represented SMUD on 

panels at the Energy Thought Summit and WE3 conferences; and 

WHEREAS, SMUD secured $41 million in California Arrearage 

Payment Program to support customers who had difficulty paying their bills 

during the ongoing challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic; and 

WHEREAS, at the conclusion of President Bui-Thompson’s term, 

SMUD is on track to exceed the Board’s goal for fixed charge coverage, a 

threshold critical to maintaining SMUD’s strong credit ratings; and 

WHEREAS, SMUD completed work to increase system reliability 

across its system during President Bui-Thompson’s term, progressing on the 

design and construction of three new transmission substations, trimming 80,000 

trees through vegetation management efforts, and replacing 285,000 circuit feet 

of underground cable, among other upgrades; and 

WHEREAS, with President Bui-Thompson’s encouragement, 

SMUD launched its first social media influencer campaign and created the “Join 

the Charge” campaign for customers to support SMUD’s Clean PowerCitySM 

marketing efforts; and 

WHEREAS, President Bui-Thompson, in her fourth four-year term 

as a SMUD Director, continued to serve her 215,000 constituents in Ward 2, 

which includes the communities of Folsom, Rancho Cordova, Gold River, 

Rancho Murieta, Galt, Wilton and Elk Grove; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has benefited from President Bui-

Thompson’s fair and efficient conduct and management of Board meetings and 

other public forums and workshops sponsored by SMUD; NOW, THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT:
	

This Board commends Nancy Bui-Thompson for her outstanding 

and dedicated service to the Board, to SMUD and to the Sacramento community 



 

 

  

 

   

   

   

     

    

     

     

 

  

during her tenure as President, and the Board looks forward to the pleasure of 

serving with her in the future as she continues her service as Director for Ward 2. 

Approved: January 20, 2022 

INTRODUCED: DIRECTOR FISHMAN 

SECONDED:  DIRECTOR KERTH 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN ABSENT 

ROSE X 

BUI-THOMPSON X 

FISHMAN X 

HERBER X 

KERTH X 

TAMAYO X 

SANBORN X 



 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

Director Bui-Thompson thanked the Board and noted that although 

it was the first year in SMUD’s history where they had not met in-person for an 

entire year, they had accomplished much as a team.  She stated she looked 

forward to what would be accomplished as a team in the new year with the 

leadership and support of President Rose and Vice President Sanborn. 

Director Herber, Chair, presented the report on the Finance and 

Audit Committee meeting held on January 18, 2022. 

Director Fishman, Chair, presented the report on the Energy 

Resources & Customer Services Committee meeting held on January 19, 2022. 

President Rose then called for public comment for items on the 

agenda, but none were forthcoming. 

President Rose then addressed the consent calendar consisting of 

Items 4 through 6. Vice President Sanborn moved for approval of the consent 

calendar, Director Bui-Thompson seconded, and Resolution Nos. 22-01-02 and 

22-01-03 were unanimously approved. 



 

 

 
 

 
   

 

   

 
 

  

 

   

   

   

     

    

     

     

 

  

RESOLUTION NO.  22-01-02 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT:
	

Section 1. That this Board hereby approves Board member 

compensation for service rendered at the request of the Board (pursuant to 

Resolution 18-12-15) for the period of December 10, 2021, through January 15, 

2022. 

Section 2. That this Board hereby approves Board member 

reimbursement requests for technology-related expenses (pursuant to Resolution 

19-12-05). 

Approved: January 20, 2022 

INTRODUCED: DIRECTOR SANBORN 

SECONDED:  DIRECTOR BUI-THOMPSON 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN ABSENT 

ROSE X 

BUI-THOMPSON X 

FISHMAN X 

HERBER X 

KERTH X 

TAMAYO X 

SANBORN X 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A 
to Resolution No. 22-01-02 

Board Member Request for Approval of Technology Reimbursement 
(pursuant to Governance Process GP-12, Board Compensation and Benefits) 

Cell Phone Allowance (check only one box) 
[ ] Low usage - $8.75/per pay period 

5 hours or less of calls/texts per month 

[ ] Medium usage - $16.25/per pay period 
5 hours to 24 hours of calls/texts per month 

[X] High usage - $26.25/per pay period 
More than 24 hours of calls/texts per month 

Data (check box if requested) 
[X] Email/Data Plan - $20.00/per pay period 


Internet Access (check box if requested) 
[X] Internet access for laptops/tablets working remotely - $16.00 per pay period 


Cell Phone Device Reimbursement (check only one box) 
[X] Reimbursement up to $300 every 36 months for the purchase of a phone 


[ ] Reimbursement up to $200 every 24 months for the purchase of a phone 


Laptop/Tablet/Computer Device Reimbursement (check if requested) 
[X] 	 Reimbursement up to $1000 every 24 months for the purchase of a 

laptop/tablet 

Date: 1/14/2022 


Name: Brandon Rose 


Signature: Brandon Rose 



 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
  

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

  

  

 

Board Member Request for Approval of Technology Reimbursement 
(pursuant to Governance Process GP-12, Board Compensation and Benefits) 

Cell Phone Allowance (check only one box) 
[ ] Low usage - $8.75/per pay period 

5 hours or less of calls/texts per month 

[ ] Medium usage - $16.25/per pay period 
5 hours to 24 hours of calls/texts per month 

[X] High usage - $26.25/per pay period 
More than 24 hours of calls/texts per month 

Data (check box if requested) 
[X] Email/Data Plan - $20.00/per pay period 


Internet Access (check box if requested) 
[X] Internet access for laptops/tablets working remotely - $16.00 per pay period 


Cell Phone Device Reimbursement (check only one box) 
[X] Reimbursement up to $300 every 36 months for the purchase of a phone 


[ ] Reimbursement up to $200 every 24 months for the purchase of a phone 


Laptop/Tablet/Computer Device Reimbursement (check if requested) 
[X] 	 Reimbursement up to $1000 every 24 months for the purchase of a 

laptop/tablet 

Date: 1/14/2022 


Name: Nancy Bui-Thompson 


Signature: 




 

Board Member Request for Approval of Technology Reimbursement 
(pursuant to Governance Process GP-12, Board Compensation and Benefits) 

[ ] Low usage - $8. 75/per pay period 
5 hours or less of calls/texts per month 

~ Medium usage - $16.25/per pay period 
5 hours to 24 hours of calls/texts per month 

[ ] High usage - $26.25/per pay period 
More than 24 hours of calls/texts per month 

Email/Data Plan - $20.00/per pay period 

Internet access for laptops/tablets working remotely - $16.00 per pay period 

[ ] Reimbursement up to $300 every 36 months for the purchase of a phone 

j(f' Reimbursement up to $200 every 24 months for the purchase of a phone 

Reimbursement up to $1000 every 24 months for the purchase of a laptop/tablet 

Date: !J--{}-7-
a('; & / 

Name: f"1r 

Signature: h. 



 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
  

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

  

  

 

Board Member Request for Approval of Technology Reimbursement 
(pursuant to Governance Process GP-12, Board Compensation and Benefits) 

Cell Phone Allowance (check only one box) 
[ ] Low usage - $8.75/per pay period 

5 hours or less of calls/texts per month 

[ ] Medium usage - $16.25/per pay period 
5 hours to 24 hours of calls/texts per month 

[X] High usage - $26.25/per pay period 
More than 24 hours of calls/texts per month 

Data (check box if requested) 
[X] Email/Data Plan - $20.00/per pay period 


Internet Access (check box if requested) 
[X] Internet access for laptops/tablets working remotely - $16.00 per pay period 


Cell Phone Device Reimbursement (check only one box) 
[X] Reimbursement up to $300 every 36 months for the purchase of a phone 


[ ] Reimbursement up to $200 every 24 months for the purchase of a phone 


Laptop/Tablet/Computer Device Reimbursement (check if requested) 
[ ] 	 Reimbursement up to $1000 every 24 months for the purchase of a 

laptop/tablet 

Date: 01/13/22 

Name: Rosanna Herber 

Signature: /s/ Rosanna Herber 




 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
  

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

  

  
 

Board Member Request for Approval of Technology Reimbursement
(pursuant to Governance Process GP-12, Board Compensation and Benefits) 

Cell Phone Allowance (check only one box) 
[ ] Low usage - $8.75/per pay period 

5 hours or less of calls/texts per month 

[ ] Medium usage - $16.25/per pay period 
5 hours to 24 hours of calls/texts per month 

[X] High usage - $26.25/per pay period 
More than 24 hours of calls/texts per month 

Data (check box if requested) 
[X] Email/Data Plan - $20.00/per pay period 


Internet Access (check box if requested) 
[X] Internet access for laptops/tablets working remotely - $16.00 per pay period 


Cell Phone Device Reimbursement (check only one box) 
[X] Reimbursement up to $300 every 36 months for the purchase of a phone 


[ ] Reimbursement up to $200 every 24 months for the purchase of a phone 


Laptop/Tablet/Computer Device Reimbursement (check if requested) 
[ ] 	 Reimbursement up to $1000 every 24 months for the purchase of a 

laptop/tablet 

Date: 1/9/2022 


Name: Rob Kerth 


Signature 
: 



 
 

 
 
   

   
 

   
 

    
 

 
 
  

   
 
 
  

    
 
 
  

  

  

 
 
   

   
 

 
 

  

  
  

  
 

 

Board Member Request for Approval of Technology Reimbursement 
(pursuant to Governance Process GP-12, Board Compensation and Benefits) 

Cell Phone Allowance (check only one box) 
[ ] Low usage - $8.75/per pay period 

5 hours or less of calls/texts per month 

[ ] Medium usage - $16.25/per pay period 
5 hours to 24 hours of calls/texts per month 

[ X] High usage - $26.25/per pay period 
More than 24 hours of calls/texts per month 

Data (check box if requested) 
[ X] Email/Data Plan - $20.00/per pay period 

Internet Access (check box if requested) 
[x] Internet access for laptops/tablets working remotely - $16.00 per pay period 

Cell Phone Device Reimbursement (check only one box) 
[x] Reimbursement up to $300 every 36 months for the purchase of a phone 

[ ] Reimbursement up to $200 every 24 months for the purchase of a phone 

Laptop/Tablet/Computer Device Reimbursement (check if requested) 
[ x] Reimbursement up to $1000 every 24 months for the purchase of a 

laptop/tablet 

Date: December 21, 2021 

Name: Dave Tamayo 

Signature: 



 

Board Member Request for Approval of Technology Reimbursement 
(pursuant to Governance Process GP-12, Board Compensation and Benefits) 

Low usage - $8. 75/per pay period 
5 hours or less of calls/texts per month 

Medium usage - $16.25/per pay period 
5 hours to 24 hours of calls/texts per month 

High usage - $26.25/per pay period 
More than 24 hours of calls/texts per month 

Email/Data Plan - $20.00/per pay period 

Internet access for laptops1tablets working remotely - $16.00 per pay period 

Cell Phone Device Reimbursement check on/ one box 

Reimbursement up to $300 every 36 months for the purchase of a phone 

[ J Reimbursement up to $200 every 24 months for the purchase of a phone 

La to !Tablet/Com uter Device Reimbursement check if re uested 

Reimbursement up to $1000 every 24 months for the purchase of a 
laptop/tablet 

Date: 

Name: 

Signature: 



 

 

 
   

 

  

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

 
  

 

 

   

RESOLUTION NO.  22-01-03 

WHEREAS, in 2012, SMUD solicited bids for cable injection 

services and received offers from two suppliers:  UtilX and Novinium, Inc. 

(Novinium); and 

WHEREAS, since that time, Novinium has acquired UtilX, and 

effectively removed the only other supplier in this market capable of meeting 

SMUD’s specifications and performing this scope of work; and 

WHEREAS, SMUD requires the use of injection elbows which meet 

all requirements in accordance with Institute of Electrical and Electronics 

Engineers (IEEE) 386, as well as Organofunctional Siloxane injection fluid; and 

WHEREAS, the materials and processes required to successfully 

complete this scope of work are proprietary and based on patented technology 

owned solely by Novinium, as confirmed by extensive market research; and 

WHEREAS, it would not be productive or in the best interest of 

SMUD to advertise for competitive bids for the products referred to above 

because they can only be obtained from Novinium; NOW THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

Section 1. The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, or 

his designee, is authorized, on behalf of SMUD, to execute a sole source 

contract with Novinium, Inc. for cable injection services for a period from 

January 24, 2022, to December 31, 2022, with an optional one-year extension for 

an amount not to exceed $2,350,000. 

Section 2. The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, or 

his designee, is authorized to make future changes to the terms and conditions of 

the contract that, in his prudent judgment:  (a) further the primary purpose of the 



 

 
 

  

 

   

   

   

     

    

     

     

 

  

contract; (b) are intended to provide a net benefit to SMUD; and (c) do not 

exceed the authorized contract amount and applicable contingencies. 

Approved: January 20, 2022 

INTRODUCED: DIRECTOR SANBORN 

SECONDED:  DIRECTOR BUI-THOMPSON 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN ABSENT 

ROSE X 

BUI-THOMPSON X 

FISHMAN X 

HERBER X 

KERTH X 

TAMAYO X 

SANBORN X 



 

  

 

  

President Rose then turned to Discussion Calendar Item 7, adopt a 

map adjusting SMUD’s political ward boundaries based on the 2020 data 

released by the U. S. Census Bureau. 

Joe Schofield, Deputy General Counsel, gave a presentation 

regarding Discussion Calendar Item 7.  A copy of the slides used in his 

presentation is attached hereto. 

No public comment was forthcoming on Discussion Calendar 

Item 7. 

After some discussion, Vice President Sanborn moved to approve 

Option 1b as the final map adjusting SMUD’s political ward boundaries based on 

the 2020 data released by the U.S. Census Bureau, Director Fishman seconded, 

and Resolution No. 22-01-04 was unanimously approved. 



 

 

 
  

 

   

 

  

 

 

  

  

 

   

 

   

 

RESOLUTION NO.  22-01-04 

WHEREAS, the Municipal Utility District (MUD) Act and Elections 

Code require that the Board adjust SMUD’s ward boundaries every 10 years 

following the release of data by the United States Census Bureau (as adjusted to 

meet state requirements); and 

WHEREAS, SMUD is required to complete its redistricting effort no 

later than April 17, 2022; and 

WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 21-07-05 adopted on July 15, 2021, 

this Board adopted criteria consistent with state and federal law to be used in 

developing new ward boundaries and directed staff to schedule two virtual public 

workshops in accordance with local, state, and federal guidelines and 

recommendations in place for containment of COVID-19, with the expectation of 

the first workshop to be held in late October/early November 2021 and the 

second workshop to be held in late November/early December 2021; and 

WHEREAS, SMUD notified all customers and approximately 200 

community organizations of the opportunity to participate in SMUD’s redistricting 

process and created a webpage on smud.org which provides redistricting 

information, copies of the draft alternative maps, as well as other tools and 

information; and 

WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 21-10-09 adopted on October 21, 

2021, this Board approved the release of draft redistricting preliminary maps in 

anticipation of the November 4, 2021, and December 15, 2021, public 

workshops; and 

WHEREAS, on November 4, 2021, a virtual public workshop was 

conducted to present the draft preliminary maps and solicit public participation 

and comment; and 

WHEREAS, based on public and Board member input, by 

Resolution No. 21-11-06 adopted on November 18, 2021, this Board selected a 

preferred ward boundary map for further public review and comment; and 

http:smud.org


 

  

  

 

   

 

  

 

 

  

 

 
 

 
  

 

   

 

   

WHEREAS, on December 15, 2021, a second virtual public 

meeting was conducted to review the preferred ward boundary map and solicit 

public comment; and 

WHEREAS, based on public comment and Board member input, 

an additional ward boundary map was prepared and posted on the SMUD 

redistricting website; and 

WHEREAS, this Board has carefully considered the public 

comments received during the process; and 

WHEREAS, this Board finds that the attached ward boundary map 

reapportions the wards in a manner that complies with state and federal 

requirements; and 

WHEREAS, this Board further finds that the other criteria specified 

in Resolution No. 21-07-05 have been considered and substantially followed in 

the attached ward boundary map; NOW, THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

Section 1. The attached ward boundary map is hereby adopted.  

Staff is directed to prepare the legal description for the map.  The Secretary of 

the Board is authorized to make minor, non-substantive adjustments to the 

approved boundaries if requested to do so by the Registrar of Voters to 

accommodate the development of voter precincts.  Any such changes shall be 

provided to the Board for information. 

Section 2. The Secretary to the Board is authorized to take such 

other actions as are necessary to establish the new ward boundaries for election 

purposes. 

Section 3. The Secretary to the Board is directed to transmit 

certified copies of this resolution to the Clerks of the Boards of Supervisors of 



 

 

 

  

 

  

  

Sacramento County and Placer County and to each County’s Clerk and Registrar 

of Voters. 

Approved: January 20, 2022 

INTRODUCED: DIRECTOR SANBORN 

SECONDED:  DIRECTOR FISHMAN 

DIRECTOR AYE NO ABSTAIN ABSENT 

ROSE X 

BUI-THOMPSON X 

FISHMAN X 

HERBER X 

KERTH X 

TAMAYO X 

SANBORN X 



Attachment B to Resolution No. 22-01-04
2020 Redistricting 
Alternative Option 1b - Focus Map
 

2020 Wards (Option 1b) 

2010 WARDS 

Pop 
130 

Pop 
W7 W1 8,132 

228,952 218,250 

W5
 
237,040
 

Pop 
12,142 W2 

Pop 217,684 
12,514 

W3
 
225,176
 

THIS PRINT SHOWS APPROXIMATE BOUNDARIES WHICH DO NOT HAVE Census Data used to create this map is from the California 
LEGAL STANDING.  SMUD MAKES NO REPRESENTATION ABOUT THE Statewide Database.  
ACCURACY OF DATA USED HEREIN BUT NOT PRODUCED BY SMUD.  It has been corrected, adjusting incarcerated persons toNEITHER MAP NOR DATA TO BE REPRODUCED OR REDISTRIBUTED last known address prior to incarceration. TO ANY PARTY WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN APPROVAL OF SMUD/GIS. 
PRODUCED BY SMUD GIS DEPARTMENT. SKIRIN OCTOBER-2021. 



 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

President Rose then turned to agenda item 8, statements from the 

public regarding items not on the agenda.  He stated that in accordance with the 

Emergency Board Meeting Procedures, public comment for items not on the 

agenda would be provided to the Board electronically and placed into the record 

if received within two hours after the meeting ended. 

Public comment was received and entered into the record 

regarding Agenda Item 8, copies of which are attached to these minutes, from 

the following member of the public: 

 Megan Shumway 

President Rose then turned to Directors’ Reports. 

Director Bui-Thompson reported on her attendance at the 

groundbreaking for the Child Development Center and thanked the Board for 

supporting the initiative. She then reported on her attendance at the Rainbow 

Chamber holiday event. She closed by reporting on her participation in U.S. 

Secretary of Energy Jennifer Granholm’s visit to the Hedge Facility that included 

a tour of the training facility and an opportunity to meet with staff and graduates. 

Director Fishman reported on his attendance at the Chamber 

Alliance Holiday Mixer hosted by the Sacramento Black, Asian and Hispanic 

Chambers of Commerce.  He then reported on his participation in a tour provided 

by CEO Robin Stimson of the Siemens plant in his ward, which is a facility that 

makes rail cars and locomotives for long haul, cross-country trains as well as for 

light rail systems throughout the country. 

Director Herber reported on her attendance at the Rainbow 

Chamber holiday event and at a winter concert provided by the Sacramento Gay 

Men’s Chorus.  She then reported on her participation in the Pocket Canal 

Holiday Lights Lighting Ceremony and thanked District 7 Parks Commissioner 

Devin Levalle and City Councilmember Jennings for organizing it.  She then 

reported on her participation in Secretary of Energy Granholm’s visit.  She 

thanked Chief Diversity Officer, Gary King, and Director of People Services & 

Strategies, Laurie Rodriguez, for their work on the new child development center.  

She closed by thanking the Board for their participation in the fundraiser for the 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sacramento Metro Advocates for Rail and Transit (SMART) and Vice President 

Sanborn for requesting the tour of the Siemens facility. 

Director Kerth reported on his attendance at the groundbreaking of 

the Child Development Center and his participation in the tour of the Siemens 

plant. He closed by reporting on his attendance at the installation luncheon for 

the Sacramento Association of REALTORS®. 

Director Tamayo reported on his attendance at the groundbreaking 

for the child development center as well as the Chamber Alliance Holiday Mixer.  

He then reported on his attendance at the visit from Secretary of Energy 

Granholm and the presentation he provided to the Latino Democratic Club 

regarding SMUD’s 2030 Zero Carbon Plan.  He closed by reporting on his 

speaking engagement at a Habitat for Humanity home dedication. 

Vice President Sanborn reported on her participation in Secretary 

Granholm’s visit along with U.S. Congressman Bera.  She then reported on her 

participation on a donation delivery to the Children’s Home Nursery and thanked 

staff for their work.  She then reported on meetings she had with staff regarding 

some solar arrays and thanked them for their time.  She reported on her 

participation in the tour of the Siemens plant and closed by congratulating the 

Butte County Office of Education for helping students from disadvantaged 

communities to graduate from a 16-week coding program for which SMUD had 

provided computers as part of the Sustainable Communities initiative. 

President Rose reported that he had attended various holiday 

events where he was able to catch up with local electeds.  He then reported on 

his participation in a donation delivery with staff for SMUD Cares to A Community 

for Peace. He reported on his visit to the Museum of Science and Curiosity 

(MOSAC) with his family. He then reported on his attendance at the Pioneer 

Energy Community meeting where community choice aggregators (CCAs) were 

discussed. He closed by reporting on his briefings with staff regarding solar and 

land use. 

Laura Lewis, acting Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, 

on behalf of the Executive Team, congratulated Director Bui-Thompson and 



 

 

 

 

 

 

thanked her for service. She also congratulated Directors Rose and Sanborn for 

being elected Board President and Vice President for 2022.  She then reported 

on the following items: 

1) CPUC Solar Proposal.  You have probably seen in the news 

recently that there is a proposal pending before the California 

Public Utilities Commission, or CPUC, that would change how 

certain solar customers are compensated for the electricity from 

their rooftop solar systems. We have received some questions 

from our solar customers about how these changes might 

impact them. I would like to take this opportunity to emphasize 

that the proposed changes that are being discussed in the news 

right now do not apply to SMUD customers.  SMUD is not 

governed by the CPUC.  Instead, we have a publicly elected 

Board of Directors that sets policy and rates for SMUD.  The 

SMUD Board passed our own solar successor rate last fall that 

will apply to any new solar customer who files an 

interconnection application for a new solar system on or after 

March 1, 2022. Existing solar customers, including any solar 

customers who file applications for interconnection with SMUD 

before March 1 of this year, will stay on the existing legacy rate 

through 2030. In other words, existing solar customers will not 

see any changes in their solar compensation rate for at least 

eight years. We will be sending a notice to our existing solar 

customers reminding them of the action that our Board took last 

year and assuring them that their compensation will remain 

unchanged at least through 2030.  I would like to add, however, 

that SMUD’s new solar and storage rate includes generous 

incentives for battery energy storage, recognizing that solar 

when paired with batteries delivers significant environmental, 

reliability and other benefits to all customers.  Our customers 

will play a pivotal role in helping us achieve our 2030 Zero 



 

 

 

 

 

Carbon Plan goals. In March, we will be coming back to the 

Board to explain how our customers and community can partner 

with us. 

2) Virtual Energy Roundtable Discussion.  Last week, SMUD 

CEO Paul Lau participated in a virtual roundtable discussion 

chaired by former Vice President Al Gore about the important 

role utilities play in fighting climate change.  The event was 

organized by Generation Investment Management and Octopus 

Energy Group and was limited to a small number of U.S. senior 

energy industry executives and thought leaders.  In his remarks, 

Paul talked about how SMUD’s 2030 Zero Carbon Plan is the 

latest example of our strong leadership on clean energy and 

how the plan is committed to improving the lives of all of our 

customers in the community.  He also emphasized how 

important partnerships such as the California Mobility Center will 

be critical in accomplishing our objectives. 

3) Youth Energy Summit.  SMUD is hosting the ninth annual 

Youth Energy Summit next week starting Thursday.  The virtual 

event, better known by the acronym of YES, is a three-day 

climate and sustainability summit for junior and seniors at high 

schools in our service area.  YES 2022 will focus on 

greenhouse gas emissions and climate change.  It is a great 

opportunity for students to learn about the work we are doing 

with our 2030 Zero Carbon Plan and give them a stake in its 

success. Participating students will develop and carry out 

community service projects using what they learned at the 

summit. Registration at smud.org/YES closes tomorrow. 

4) Mutual Aid.  As the Board is aware, SMUD provided mutual aid 

in late December and early January as PG&E worked to restore 

power to thousands of customers in the foothills and Sierra due 

to record-setting snowfall over the holidays.  Mutual Aid is an 



 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 _________________________  _____________________________ 
   

agreement among emergency responders to lend assistant 

across jurisdictional boundaries, and, in this case, SMUD did 

provide assistance to PG&E.  The weather conditions and 

difficult terrain presented a big challenge to PG&E’s restoration 

efforts. SMUD sent 16 line personnel, including two line 

supervisors, to assist in restoring power to more than 1,500 and 

PG&E customers.  Our crews worked seven days in El Dorado 

County and five days in Placer County.  I join the Board in 

thanking our line personnel for helping our neighbors. 

5) Board Video.  The Board video regarding SMUD’s partnership 

with Women Escaping a Violent Environment (WEAVE) to bring 

nine all-electric homes to an under-resourced community was 

postponed due to technical difficulties. 

President Rose requested the Summary of Board Direction, but 

there were no items. 

President Rose stated that, before closing, he would like to give the 

Board an opportunity to speak about the tragic loss of SMUD employee, Lupe 

Jimenez. 

Director Herber stated that she had worked closely with Lupe 

Jimenez, both in her role as a Board member but also when she was an 

employee at SMUD. She stated that Lupe was an important part of the work 

accomplished by SMUD and that she was a wonderful person and employee. 

No further business appearing, President Rose adjourned the 

meeting in memory of Lupe Jimenez at 6:36 p.m. 

Approved: 

President    Assistant  Secretary  



 
   

  

 
   

Exhibit to Agenda Item #7 
Adopt a map adjusting SMUD’s political ward boundaries based on the 
2020 data released by the U.S. Census Bureau. 

Board of Directors Meeting
 

Thursday, January 20, 2022, scheduled to begin at 5:30 p.m.
 
Virtual Meeting (online)
 



     
  

  

   
 

   

 

      

 

Board Adopted Criteria
 

 Adjust wards so they are, as far as practicable, equal in population 
such that the population deviation between the largest and smallest 
wards does not exceed 10% [Range 215,981 to 237,579]; 

 Consider communities of common interest: contiguous populations 
which share common social and economic interests that should be 
included within a single district for purposes of its effective and fair 
representation; 

 Consider geography and topography; and 

 Consider cohesiveness, contiguity, integrity, and compactness of 
territory. 

January 20, 2022 2	 Board of Directors Meeting 



 

   
  

 
   
  

   

    
 

  

    
  

 

Process and Schedule 
 Board adopted criteria on Jul. 15, 2021. 

 Board adopted first public workshop timeframe for late October/early 
November 2021 and the second public workshop timeframe for late 
November/early December 2021. 
 Nov. 4, 2021 (first workshop) 
 Dec. 15, 2021 (second workshop) 

 Draft maps presented to Board Finance & Audit Committee (Oct. 19, 2021) 

 Board approved release of the two preliminary maps for comment 
(Oct. 21, 2021) 

 Community Engagement notified more than 200 community organizations 

 Information and maps publicly posted on the SMUD website, and large maps 
posted at Customer Service Center and SMUD Headquarters. 

January 20, 2022 3	 Board of Directors Meeting 



 
  

 
  

 
  

   

   
  

    
 

Process and Schedule (cont.) 
 First Public Workshop held on Nov. 4, 2021 
 Board reviewed public comment and requested creation of alternative 

map Option 1a (Nov. 16, 2021) 
 Board selected preferred alternative map Option 1a for presentation at 

the second Public Workshop (Nov. 18, 2021) 
 Second Public Workshop held on Dec. 15, 2021 
 Additional public and Board input (additional map Option 1b developed 

and posted) 
 Review public comments with Board and recommend final map 

(Jan. 18, 2022) 
 Board adopts final map (Jan. 20, 2022, Board meeting) 
January 20, 2022 4	 Board of Directors Meeting 



 Option 1b – Public Comment Markup
 



Option 1a
 



Option 1b
 



  

  

 

 

Requested Action
 

 Select and approve the final map adjusting SMUD’s political Ward 
boundaries and direct staff to prepare the legal description. 

 Authorize the General Counsel to make minor, non-substantive 
adjustments to the boundaries to accommodate voter precincts. 

 Authorize the General Counsel to file the map with Sacramento 
and Placer Counties. 

January 20, 2022 8	 Board of Directors Meeting 



                
         

 

From: Megan Shumway 
To: Public Comment 
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Energy resilience 
Date: Friday, January 14, 2022 8:44:19 AM 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of SMUD. Do not click links or open attachments unless 
you recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

Follow their example 

https://microgridknowledge.com/gmp-irp-microgrids-resiliency-zones/ 

mailto:meganshumway7881@gmail.com
mailto:PublicComment@smud.org
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__microgridknowledge.com_gmp-2Dirp-2Dmicrogrids-2Dresiliency-2Dzones_&d=DwMFaQ&c=Ko5vnWWlemq1VcwTIpbf0g&r=R6bWium2c7BtHDCKf0-D0kOrQuMfUcDl8BSDNv5A7JY&m=6YuQ9vLyG205GAyN1WqQ2gwoCn1ZbNjvYHHnb73bEM9Ckbz-IN1AuOxWyPRIezp5&s=Lt03F0WYGNQjW7ZAP4uGPMseF-dsEEjbp1dx6LGsDzo&e=


                
         

From: Megan Shumway 
To: Public Comment 
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Green hydrogen and microgrids 
Date: Friday, January 14, 2022 9:14:07 AM 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of SMUD. Do not click links or open attachments unless 
you recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

This is a brilliant idea. How about repurposing the aging peaker plants to this purpose? Food 
fo thought and Climate Emergency action(it is an emergency, so act rapidly) 
https://microgridknowledge.com/fuel-cell-microgrids-green-hydrogen/ 

mailto:meganshumway7881@gmail.com
mailto:PublicComment@smud.org
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__microgridknowledge.com_fuel-2Dcell-2Dmicrogrids-2Dgreen-2Dhydrogen_&d=DwMFaQ&c=Ko5vnWWlemq1VcwTIpbf0g&r=R6bWium2c7BtHDCKf0-D0kOrQuMfUcDl8BSDNv5A7JY&m=kupOL_QU0XFK7uW9jzIJ2D_lk12gTWhCIm0mMFfB8HoEdu3P1vPqv_TrVkQ5T5sP&s=bXsIU_2Gv-vd5bbjxk10nr7S041AONMmiCv2todCnyE&e=


5
 



 
 

 
 

  

 

 

  

   

  
    

  

  

 

     
  

   

 

   
 

  

 

 
  

 

SSS No. Committee Meeting & Date 
Policy Committee 
February 9, 2022 

BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
STAFFING SUMMARY SHEET RS 22-001 Board Meeting Date 

February 17, 2022 

TO 

1. Scott Martin 

2. Jennifer Davidson 

3. Stephen Clemons 

4. Brandy Bolden 

5. Farres Everly 

Consent Calendar x Yes No If no, schedule a dry run presentation. 

FROM (IPR) DEPARTMENT 

Alcides Hernandez Revenue Strategy 
NARRATIVE: 
Requested Action: Accept the monitoring report for Strategic Direction SD-2, Competitive Rates. 

Summary: As of December 31, 2021, SMUD is in compliance with the SD-2 Competitive Rates, continuing to have 
rates at least 18 percent below Pacific Gas & Electric Company’s (PG&E’s) system average rates and at 
least 10 percent below PG&E’s published average rates for each customer class. As of December 31, 2021, 
SMUD’s Energy Assistance Program Rate (EAPR) & EAPR/Medical Equipment Discount (MED) 
programs average rates were 34.0 percent below PG&E’s average published California Alternate Rates for 
Energy (CARE) program. 

Board Policy: 
(Number & Title) 

SD-2, Competitive Rates 

Benefits: As of December 31, 2021, SMUD system average rates are 37.0 percent below PG&E’s system average 
rates. 

Cost/Budgeted: n/a 

Alternatives: n/a 

Affected Parties: n/a 

Coordination: Revenue Strategy 

Presenter: Alcides Hernandez, Manager, Revenue Strategy 

6. 

7. 

8. 

9. 

10. 

Budgeted x Yes 
section.) 

MAIL STOP EXT. DATE SENT 

B356 6397 01/10/22 

TO 

Claire Rogers
	

Legal
	

CEO & General Manager
	
No (If no, explain in Cost/Budgeted   

Additional Links: 


SUBJECT 
Monitoring Report – SD-2, Competitive Rates 

ITEM NO. (FOR LEGAL USE ONLY) 

5 
ITEMS SUBMITTED AFTER DEADLINE WILL BE POSTPONED UNTIL NEXT MEETING. 



  
 

 
 
 

 
                                      

  
 

      
 
 

  
  

 
     

   
 
    

  
      

  
    

 
 

       
   

  
 
 

  
 

  
  

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 
OFFICE MEMORANDUM 

TO:	 Board of Directors DATE: February 1, 2022 

FROM:	 Claire Rogers CR 2/1/22 

SUBJECT:	 Audit Report No. 28007420 
Board Monitoring Report; SD-02: Competitive Rates 

Audit and Quality Services (AQS) received the SD-02 Competitive Rates 2021 
Annual Board Monitoring Report and performed the following: 

•	 A review of the information presented in the report to determine the possible 
existence of material misstatements; 

•	 Interviews with report contributors and verification of the methodology used to 
prepare the monitoring report; and 

•	 Validation of the reasonableness of a selection of the report’s statements and 
assertions. 

During the review, nothing came to AQS’ attention that would suggest the SD 
Board Monitoring report did not fairly represent the source data available at the 
time of the review.  

CC: 

Paul Lau 



          

  
 

 

 
 

  
 

   
 

 
 

   

    
    

  

   

   

      
   
      
  

  
 

    
   
     
  

 
   

    
         

 
   

  
    
        

 
      

        
    

   
 

     -  

  
 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

Board Monitoring Report 2021
 
SD-2, Competitive Rates
 

1. Background 

Strategic Direction 2, Competitive Rates states that: 

Maintaining competitive rates is a core value of SMUD. 

Therefore: 

a)	 The Board establishes a rate target of 18 percent below Pacific Gas & Electric Company’s 
published rates on a system average basis. In addition, the Board establishes a rate target of at 
least 10 percent below PG&E’s published rates for each customer class. 

b) 	 SMUD’s rates shall be competitive with other local utilities on a system average basis. 

c)	 In addition, SMUD’s rates shall be designed to balance and achieve the following goals: 

i)	 Reflect the cost of energy when it is used or exported to the SMUD grid; 
ii)	 Reduce consumption during periods of high system demand; 
iii)	 Encourage energy efficiency, conservation and carbon reduction; 
iv)	 Encourage cost effective and environmentally beneficial Distributed Energy 

Resources (DERs) (examples of DERs include but are not limited to rooftop 
solar, battery storage, and energy reduction applications); 

v)	 Minimize the rate of change in the transition from one rate design to another; 
vi)	 Provide customers flexibility and choices; 
vii)	 Be as simple and easy to understand as possible; 
viii)	 Address the needs of people with low incomes and severe medical conditions; 

and 
ix)	 Equitably allocate costs across and within customer classes. 

2. Executive summary 
a) SMUD is in compliance with SD-2, Competitive Rates. 

As of December 31, 2021, SMUD’s rates remain among the lowest in the state and on a system 
average rate basis are 37.0% below Pacific Gas & Electric (PG&E) Company’s, which is better 
than the SD-2 target of at least 18% below on a system average rate basis. Residential average 
rates are at least 34.0% below PG&E’s residential average rates. See Figure 1 for details. 

There were two rate increases to SMUD’s rates in 2021. Rates for all customers were increased 
by 2.5% on January 1, 2021 and 2% on October 1, 2021, as adopted by the Board on June 24, 
2019. The overall rate advantage between SMUD and PG&E remains well above the SD-2 target 
of at least 18% on a system average basis. 

Metric 2021 performance 2020 performance 5 year average 

System average 
rates 18% below 
PG&E rates 

37.0% below PG&E on 
a system average rate 
basis 

35.7% below PG&E on 
a system average rate 
basis 

34.9% below PG&E on a 
system average rate 
basis 

GM 22-009	 Board Monitoring Report – SD-2, Competitive Rates Page 1 of 10 



          

 
     

  
    

   
    

 
     

 
   

      
    

 
  

   
   

   
     

 
     

         
          

       
   
     

     
   

    

 
 

     
  

  
    

2021 included several rate developments that balance the SD-2 requirements and help SMUD 
meet it’s 2030 Zero Carbon Goals, including Board approval of the new Solar and Storage Rate 
(SSR), commercial rate restructure implementation and an optional residential Critical Peak 
Pricing (CPP) rate. In addition, SMUD will implement storage incentives, a Virtual Power Plant 
program, and a Virtual Solar program for underserved communities. 

The COVID-19 pandemic continued to impact the overall residential and commercial energy use 
for SMUD customers, with many residential customers continuing to work from home at least part 
time. Some commercial customers continue to have reduced consumption, while others have 
returned to pre-Covid levels. SMUD continues to support customers and provide options for 
managing bills, including securing $41 million to be applied to unpaid bills. 

The Time-of-Day (TOD) rate continues to encourage customers to shift load out of the 5 p.m. to 8 
p.m. Peak time period and offers lower rates during the morning for those customers that are 
using more power during the day due to working from home. The commercial rate restructure 
approved by the Board in 2019 began implementation in October 2021, with the transition 
expected to be complete in the first quarter of 2022. 

3) Additional supporting information 
a) The Board establishes a rate target of 18% below PG&E’s published rates on a 

system average basis. In addition, the Board establishes a rate target of at least 
10% below PG&E’s published rates for each customer class. 

SMUD continues to maintain average rates that are lower than PG&E’s, both at a system level and by 
rate class. Figure 1 provides a detailed picture of the difference between SMUD’s and PG&E’s 
projected average rates by rate class in 2021 as well as the difference between rates in 2020. 

Figure 1 – Summary of SMUD and PG&E Rate Comparison in $/kWh 
Difference Difference

PG&E SMUD Below PG&E* Below PG&E*

Class Description PG&E SMUD 2021 2021 2021 2020

Standard E-1 R-TOD $0.2859 $0.1700 -40.5% -37.5%

Low Income CARE*** EAPR & EAPRMED** $0.1792 $0.1183 -34.0% -28.8%

All Residential $0.2483 $0.1605 -35.4% -31.0%

<= 20 kW B-1 GFN/GSN_T $0.2804 $0.1659 -40.8% -41.8%

21 - 299 kW B-6 GSS_T $0.2614 $0.1534 -41.3% -43.3%

300 - 499 kW B-10 TOU-3 $0.2439 $0.1421 -41.7% -43.6%

500 - 999 kW B-19 TOU-2 $0.2102 $0.1328 -36.8% -39.4%

Large Commercial**** => 1 MW B-20 TOU-1
$0.1602 $0.1097

-31.5%
-35.8%

Traffic Signals TC-1 TS $0.2643 $0.1312 -50.4% -51.9%

Street Lighting various SLS,NLGT $0.3031 $0.1590 -47.5% -51.2%

Agriculture Ag & Pumping AG ASN/D,AON/D $0.2521 $0.1463 -41.9% -44.8%

System Average $0.2336 $0.1472 -37.0% -35.7%

Notes:

** CARE vs EAPR includes EAPR & EAPRMED customers.
***  There is no indication from PG&E that their CARE rates include customers who have a medical allowance only.
**** Commercial rates include WAPA credits. 

*   Projected 2021 average prices for SMUD with rates effective 01-01-21 and 10-01-21. PG&E average prices in 2021 reflect rates effective 
12/01/21, per Advice Letter 6415-E.  The rate difference in year 2020 reflects PG&E average rates as of 10/1/20, per Advice Letter 5958-E 
dated 9/21/20, and SMUD rates effective 01-01-20 and 10-01-20. 

Lighting

Customer Rate Categories

Average Annual Rate

Small Commercial****

Medium 

Commercial****

Residential

As seen in Figure 1, the rate competitiveness by class varies for the different customer classes and is 
at least 31.5% below comparable PG&E class average rates. Since the creation of this annual 
monitoring report in 2007, SMUD has consistently maintained rates that were more than 18% below 
PG&E. See Appendix A for more details. 

GM 22-009 Board Monitoring Report – SD-2, Competitive Rates Page 2 of 10 



          

  
          

 
 

       
 

              
 

  
   

    
       

     
 

        
 

    
      

        
      

 
 

      
    

     
      

   
     

 
      

 
      

     
  

   
    

 

   
     

  
   

 
      

          
     

 
    

    
      

      
      

 

b)	 SMUD’s rates shall be competitive with other local utilities on a system average 
basis. 

SMUD’s system average rate is competitive with other local utilities as shown in detail in Appendix B. 

c)	 Reflect the cost of energy when it is used or exported to the SMUD grid 

SMUD’s TOD and restructured commercial rates are designed to more closely reflect the cost of 
energy when it is used, with prices highest during the Peak time periods when the cost of energy is 
highest. In September 2021, the Board approved the new Solar and Storage Rate (SSR), which will 
go into effect March 1, 2022. SSR compensates energy sent to SMUD’s grid at the value of solar rate 
of 7.4 cents per kWh, as supported in the 2020 value of solar + storage study. 

d)	 Reduce consumption during periods of high system demand 

Both the residential and commercial TOD rates send signals to customers to reduce their on-peak 
usage. The Peak time for residential customers is 5 p.m. to 8 p.m. while the Peak time for commercial 
customers under the restructured rates is 4 p.m. to 9 p.m. These Peak time periods reflect the highest 
$/kWh to encourage customers to shift their energy usage outside of the Peak time period to reduce 
system load and help with carbon reduction goals. 

In September 2021, the Board approved an optional residential CPP rate, which charges a premium 
on energy delivered during those few critical times during the summer with highest demand, which is 
expected to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions when the grid is most stressed. 
Additionally, customers on the CPP rate will receive a discount on energy delivered during the 
summer Off-Peak and Mid-Peak time periods, encouraging them to shift their energy use to times 
when the grid is less stressed and clean energy is abundant. 

e)	 Encourage energy efficiency, conservation, and carbon reduction 

SMUD continues to encourage energy efficiency, conservation and carbon reduction through the 
residential and non-residential TOD rates and a variety of programs, such as incentives to install 
storage, and offering rebates for energy-efficient appliances and heating and cooling systems and 
energy-efficient LED lighting. TOD rates encourage customers to shift energy use from peak times 
when energy is more costly and is produced by a larger portion of carbon-emitting generation plants 
to off-peak times, when there is often excess carbon-free solar generation on our system. By shifting 
usage to times when non-carbon emitting resources are plentiful, customers not only save money, 
they also contribute to reducing carbon emissions and help SMUD achieve our carbon reduction 
goals. The residential and restructured commercial TOD rates were designed to be revenue neutral, 
so customers can save money if they shift or reduce their usage from peak hours. More detailed 
information about rebates and savings tips can be found on smud.org. 

f)	 Encourage cost effective and environmentally beneficial Distributed Energy 
Resources (DERs) (examples of DERs include but are not limited to rooftop solar, 
battery storage, and energy reduction applications) 

SSR was designed to work with a series of programs and incentives to help SMUD reach it’s 2030 
Zero Carbon Plan. SMUD will be offering storage incentives to encourage customers to invest in 
storage, which could enable the customer to gain additional value from their investment. In addition to 
the storage incentives, the CPP rate will provide customers with solar and storage even more of an 
opportunity to increase the value of their system, by providing a significantly larger incentive to send 
power to the grid during critical events. The CPP rate will also encourage customers to adopt smart 

GM 22-009	 Board Monitoring Report – SD-2, Competitive Rates Page 3 of 10 

http:smud.org


          

  
    

 
  

    
    

       
 

             
 

  
 

      
    

    
       

      
    

 
   

 
 

    
     

    
 

    
    

        
    

 
   

  
  

    
 

 
    

  
   

 
       

 
  

   

   
     

       
  

 
         

 

thermostats, as they may be able to save money on the CPP rate if they use the thermostats to adjust 
their energy usage. 

Customers that live in multi-family housing in historically underserved communities will be able to 
receive the benefits of solar through the Virtual Solar program. In the Virtual Solar program, the 
building owner may install solar and the benefits of that solar will be allocated to the residents, 
providing an avenue for customers to adopt solar even though they do not own their own home. 

g) Minimize the rate of change in the transition from one rate design to another 

SMUD follows this principle through gradualism and balance between rate implementation and 
customer satisfaction when making rate structure changes in combination with rate increases. For 
example, the commercial rate restructure will be phased in over an 8-year period in order to mitigate 
bill impacts. Likewise, the approved rate transition to the EAPR program was phased in over three 
years to minimize bill impacts to our low-income customers. Additionally, the implementation of the 
SSR rate was shifted from January to March 2022 to allow customers more time to adjust to the new 
rate. SSR was designed to minimize future transitions if the compensation rate adjusts – it will be 
adjusted every 4 years, and the adjustment is capped. 

h) Provide customers flexibility and choices 

SMUD provides flexibility and rate options to its customers. Residential customers may select custom 
due dates, budget billing, and net energy metering customers can choose between monthly or annual 
settlement options. Residential customers are placed on TOD, but they may select the fixed rate or 
the CPP rate, which will be available June 2022. All customers may make online payments and set 
up billing alerts. In addition, qualified commercial customers moving to SMUD’s service area may 
choose between two different Economic Development Rate discount structures, selecting the option 
that best suits their needs. In the summer of 2022, SMUD will be testing a pilot commercial electric 
vehicle (EV) rate; the intent is to learn from the pilot and eventually develop a permanent optional EV 
rate to encourage EV adoption to support the 2030 Zero Carbon Plan goals. 

Starting in 2022, SMUD will be offering three levels of incentives for customers to install storage. The 
amount of the incentives increase depending on which programs the customers decide to participate 
in. The smallest incentive is for customers that do not wish to participate in a program, the next 
highest for customers that want to participate in the CPP rate, and the highest incentive for customers 
that want to participate in the Virtual Power Plant program. 

In an effort to better serve our customers during the COVID-19 pandemic, SMUD temporarily 
suspended disconnections and late fees for nonpayment. SMUD staff is working with customers to 
make arrangements to pay their bills through a variety of payment options and assistance programs. 

i) Be as simple and easy to understand as possible 

SMUD works to make sure its many programs and rates are simple and easy to understand. For 
example, staff designed the TOD rate and restructured commercial rates to balance simplicity while 
still reflecting the cost of energy when it is used. Significant ongoing customer outreach will assist 
customers in understanding the new rate designs. Another example is the approach staff used to 
develop the new Virtual Solar Program for underserved communities. The program is very simple and 
easy to manage compared to the very complex billing mechanics from the prior Virtual Net Energy 
Metering programs. 

j) Address the needs of people with low incomes and severe medical conditions 

GM 22-009 Board Monitoring Report – SD-2, Competitive Rates Page 4 of 10 



          

   
      

  
 

    
 

    
 

   
  

  
 

 
       

 
  

   
    

   
 

   
 

 
 

   
   

    
 

  
 

    
  

    
 

 
        

   
   

 
 
 

   
 

    
 

 

 

 

 

SMUD continues to address the needs of people with low incomes and severe medical conditions. 
The restructured EAPR program has improved the assistance that we offer to our customers most in 
need by basing assistance on federal poverty level. 

In an effort to better serve our customers during the COVID-19 pandemic, SMUD temporarily 
suspended disconnections and late fees for nonpayment. Late fees are expected to resume February 
2022 and disconnections are expected to resume March 2022. SMUD staff is working with customers 
to make arrangements to pay their bills through a variety of payment options and assistance 
programs. SMUD secured $41M in California Arrearage Payment Program (CAPP) funding that was 
applied to customers’ unpaid bills in November, to support customers amid the ongoing challenges of 
COVID-19 pandemic. Additionally, and as described earlier, SMUD will be offering a new Virtual Solar 
Program for underserved communities. 

k)	 Equitably allocate costs across and within customer classes 

To ensure costs are equitably allocated across and within customer classes, staff updates SMUD’s 
marginal cost study and performs rate costing studies and value of solar studies prior to 
recommending rate structure changes, such as with TOD, the commercial rate restructure and the 
Solar and Storage Rate (SSR). 

4) Challenges 

Rate Pressures 

While SMUD has been able to keep rates low, SMUD does face cost pressures going forward from 
both known and unknown drivers. Despite these cost pressures, SMUD’s goal is to keep rate 
increases at or below the rate of inflation through 2030. Examples of known cost drivers include: 

1.	 Wildfire mitigation, including the increased cost of wildfire insurance and additional 
vegetation management, 

2.	 Increased costs for SMUD labor and benefits, as well as costs for materials, goods and 
services, 

3.	 New and enhanced technology solutions to support cyber security, customer experience, 
and distributed energy resources 

SMUD also must be prepared to weather unknown cost drivers. Examples of these drivers include the 
costs related to the COVID-19 pandemic, additional requirements stemming from new legislation in 
response to the wildfires in recent years, or potentially new mandates to achieve California 
environmental goals. 

5) Recommendation 

It is recommended that the Board accept the Monitoring Report for SD 2, Competitive Rates. 

GM 22-009	 Board Monitoring Report – SD-2, Competitive Rates Page 5 of 10 



          

  
  

       
    

    

 

   

    
  

    
 

 
   

  
    

 
     

 
 

   
  

 
 

   
   

    
  

 

Appendices 
Appendix A: Historical Rate Comparison with PG&E 

Figure 2 compares SMUD and PG&E’s system average rates for the past 10 years. SMUD’s system 
average rates have averaged 31.3% below PG&E’s since 2012. 

Figure 2 – SMUD and PG&E Historical System Average Rate Comparison 

Appendix B: Local Utility Rates 

•	 Modesto Irrigation District (MID): MID has not had a rate increase since 2012. Their 
Environmental Energy Adjustment is currently $0.0079/kWh. MID recently adopted a pilot 
residential TOU rate for Electric Vehicle customers which has a fixed charge of $30.00 per month 
as well as three time periods summer and two for winter that differ in price by season. MID also 
instituted a grid access charge for NEM customers who install above 1 MW of solar capacity.  

MID is currently in rate litigation. A class action lawsuit challenging MID’s electric rates, Hobbs v. 
Modesto Irrigation District filed in March 2016, alleges that MID uses funds collected from electric 
customers to subsidize its water operations and, as a result, amounts collected and applied for 
electric service exceed the costs to MID of providing that service and constitute a tax on its 
electric customers requiring voter approval under Proposition 26, and seeks refunds of the 
alleged illegal taxes.  MID disagrees with the plaintiffs’ contention that costs of its water 
operations are funded from electric rates and is vigorously defending the Hobbs action. 

•	 Turlock Irrigation District (TID): TID has not had a rate increase since 2015 and there is no plan to 
modify rates in 2021. TID does have a pass-through charge that adjusts with costs, outside of any 
rate increases. 

•	 Roseville Electric: Roseville Electric approved a 2.6% rate increase effective January 1, 2022 
and another 2.8% rate increase effective January 1, 2023. Roseville has pass-through charges 
that adjusts with costs, outside of any rate increases. Their Hydroelectric Adjustment charge will 
be in effect from September 2021 through June 2022 at a rate of $0.00507/kWh. 

GM 22-009	 Board Monitoring Report – SD-2, Competitive Rates Page 6 of 10 



          

    
 

    
  

 
   

  
  

 
    

  
     

    

 
   

      
   

   
 

   

 -  
   

   

  

  

  

  

  

  

   

  

  

  

  
                                       
 

•	 Lodi Electric: Lodi did not change their base rates in 2021 and they do not have any changes 
forecasted for 2022. Lodi has a monthly energy cost adjustment that adjusts as power costs 
increase or decrease. The range of the energy cost adjustment for 2021 was -$0.0158/kWh to 
$0.0503/kWh. 

•	 Los Angeles Department of Water and Power (LADWP). LADWP did not have a rate increase in 
fiscal year 2020-2021 or 2021-2022. LADWP does have a pass-through charge that adjusts with 
costs, outside of any rate increases. 

While may of SMUD’s neighboring utilities have not raised rates recently, SMUD’s system average rate is 
still competitive, as shown in Figure 3. Figure 3 uses data from the U.S. Energy Information 
Administration and 2020 is the most recent data available. 

Figure 3 – 2020 Utility System Average Rate Comparison 

Including pass-through mechanisms in rates is a common utility practice, allowing utilities to collect 
enough revenue to cover their costs without having to increase rates in a formal rate proceeding. SMUD 
has the Hydro Generation Adjustment, which allows for a small additional charge on customer bills in the 
event of less than median precipitation. Figure 4 details the pass-through mechanisms some of SMUD’s 
neighboring utilities have as part of their rate structures. 

Figure 4 – Utility Pass-through Mechanisms 

Utility Pass through 
SMUD Hydroelectric Generation Adjustment 

Modesto Irrigation District Capital Infrastructure Adjustment 

Environmental Energy Adjustment 

Turlock Irrigation District Power Supply Adjustment 

Environmental Charge 

Public Benefits Surcharge 

Roseville Electric Renewable Energy Surcharge 

Greenhouse Gas Surcharge 

Hydroelectric Adjustment 

Lodi Electric Energy Cost Adjustment 

LADWP* Energy Cost Adjustment 

Electric Subsidy Adjustment 

Reliability Cost Adjustment 
* LADWP has other adjustments to reflect approved rate increase 

GM 22-009	 Board Monitoring Report – SD-2, Competitive Rates Page 7 of 10 



          

  
 

    

      

 
       

        

 
 

   

  

      
    

      

 
   

  
 

    
      

  
 

 
    
    
    
    
    

 

Including a fixed charge amount on residential customers bills is also a common utility practice. The fixed 
charge allows for revenue collection for fixed assets that do not vary with electricity consumption. Figure 5 
below outlines the fixed charge amount of SMUD’s neighboring utilities. 

Figure 5 – Monthly Fixed Charge Amount 

* Roseville Electric’s customer charge will increase to $28 in 2022 and $30 in 2023.
 
** LADWP's Tier 1 fixed charge is $2.30 and Tier 2 fixed charge is $7.90 but they have a minimum bill of $10 per month. 


Appendix C: PG&E Updates 

Overview of PG&E’s recent rate proceedings 

In 2021 PG&E had four rate changes, increasing the system average rate in $/kWh from $0.2155 in 2020 
to $0.2336 in 2021 as shown in Figure 6. 

Figure 6 – PG&E 2020-2021 Rate Changes 

Annual Annual

January March May October 2020 January March August December 2021

Rate Change 
(%) 2.10% 0.05% 3.43% 0.26% 5.9% 0.10% 2.80% 0.30% 0.50% 3.73%

System Rate 
($/kWh) $0.2155 $0.2156 $0.2217 $0.2223 $0.2255 $0.2319 $0.2325 $0.2336 

PG&E Rate Changes in 2020(1) PG&E Rate Changes in 2021(1)

(1) Includes California Climate Credit 

PG&E Rate Increase Process 

Every three to four years PG&E files a request with California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) with 
their proposed rate increases. The CPUC will then either accept or modify the rate increases for those 
years. 50% of the requested revenue increases for 2023 through 2026 is for wildfire reduction work, 
including vegetation management programs. The following rate increases have been approved or 
proposed: 

• 2022 – 4.85% (approved) 
• 2023 – 9.6% (proposed) 
• 2024 – 2.4% (proposed) 
• 2025 – 1.9% (proposed) 
• 2026 – 1.5% (proposed) 

GM 22-009 Board Monitoring Report – SD-2, Competitive Rates Page 8 of 10 



          

      
    

      
   

       
  

 
  

 
     

       
     

        
   

  

   

   
     

    

 
      

Additionally, PG&E does a “true-up” at the end of each year to adjust their revenue to match their costs. 
For instance, if their costs for the year exceeded their projected revenue, they will increase their rates to 
compensate. For their 2022 true-up, PG&E raised rates 7.5 percent on average for bundled customers 
(customers receiving full electric service from PG&E), and 10.3 percent on average for Community 
Choice Aggregation (CCA) customers. These rate increases did not include costs associated with the 
increase in generation costs, which will go into effect later in 2022. 

PG&E Residential Time-of-Use Rate Transition 

PG&E began transitioning residential customers to a default time-of-use rate (E-TOU-C) in 2020 and will 
continue transitioning customers in waves through April 2022. The standard E-TOU-C rate has a peak 
time period from 4 to 9 p.m. every day. Customers may choose from a selection of alternative rates, 
including an optional E-TOU-D (5-8 p.m.) rate which has a shorter 3-hour Peak time period during 
weekdays only. 

Appendix D: Historical Rate Increases 

Figure 7 shows that SMUD’s historical rate increases have tracked the Consumer Price Index (CPI) over 
the past 20 years. Figure 8 shows SMUD’s rate increases by year since 2000. 

Figure 7 – Annual Rate Increase vs CPI 

Figure 8 –Residential vs. Non-Residential Rate Increase and Energy Surcharge by Year 

GM 22-009 Board Monitoring Report – SD-2, Competitive Rates Page 9 of 10 



           

 

Residential Non-Residential

2000 0.00% 0.00% N/A

2001 13.00% 21.00%* N/A

2002 0.00% 0.00% -2.60%

2003 0.00% 0.00% N/A

2004 0.00% 0.00% -2.70%

2005 6.00% 6.00% N/A

2006 0.00% 0.00% N/A

2007 0.00% 0.00% N/A

2008 7.00% 7.00% N/A

2009 5.50% 5.50% N/A

2010 5.50% 5.50% N/A

2011 2.25% 2.25% N/A

2012 0.00% 0.00% N/A

2013 0.00% 0.00% N/A

2014 2.50% 2.50% N/A

2015 2.50% 2.50% N/A

2016 2.50% 2.50% N/A

2017 2.50% 2.50% N/A

2018 1.50% 1.00% N/A

2019 0.00% 1.00% N/A

1/1/2020 3.75% 3.75% N/A

10/1/2020 3.00% 3.00% N/A

1/1/2021 2.50% 2.50% N/A

10/1/2021 2.00% 2.00% N/A

3/1/2022 1.50% 1.50% N/A

1/1/2023 2.00% 2.00% N/A
* Medium Commercial, Agricultural and Lighting rates increased by 16%

Year
Rate Increase

Energy Surcharge

GM 22-009 Board Monitoring Report – SD-2, Competitive Rates Page 10 of 10 



 

 
  

 

DRAFT 
RESOLUTION NO. ______________ 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

This Board accepts the monitoring report for Strategic Direction SD-2, 

Competitive Rates, substantially in the form set forth in Attachment ____ hereto and 

made a part hereof. 



6
 



 
 

   
  

 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  

 

  

  

   

    
        

  

 
  

  
    

 
 

 

  

   

 

 

 

 

  

 
 

 

 

 
  

 
 

   

SSS No. Committee Meeting & DateBOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 Policy Committee - 02/09/22 
Board Meeting Date  TR22-001 STAFFING SUMMARY SHEET 
February 17, 2022 

TO 

1. Claire Rogers 

2. Jennifer Davidson 

3. Stephen Clemons 

4. Brandy Bolden 

5. Farres Everly 

Consent Calendar X 

FROM (IPR) 

 Russell Mills 
NARRATIVE: 
Requested Action: 

Summary: 

Board Policy: 
(Number & Title) 

Benefits: 

Cost/Budgeted: 

Alternatives: 

Affected Parties: 

Coordination: 

Presenter: 

Yes No If no, schedule a dry run presentation. 

DEPARTMENT 

Treasury 

TO 

6. 

7. 

8. 

9. Legal 

10. CEO & General Manager 
No (If no, explain in Cost/Budgeted   Budgeted Yes X 

section.) 
MAIL STOP EXT. DATE SENT 

B355 6509 1/13/22 

Accept the monitoring report for Strategic Direction SD-3, Access to Credit Markets. 

With SD-3, the Board established that maintaining access to credit markets is a core value for SMUD. 
Pursuant to this direction, the Board has set certain financial targets, financial considerations, and minimum 
credit ratings for SMUD to maintain.  This annual report outlines the importance of these SD-3 
requirements and provides evidence of SMUD’s compliance during 2021. 

SD – 3 - Access to Credit Markets 

To demonstrate to the Board SMUD’s progress in complying with SD-3. 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

Treasury 

Russell Mills, Director of Risk Management & Treasurer 

Additional Links: 


SUBJECT 
Annual Monitoring Report for SD-3 Access to Credit Markets 

ITEM NO. (FOR LEGAL USE ONLY) 

6 
ITEMS SUBMITTED AFTER DEADLINE WILL BE POSTPONED UNTIL NEXT MEETING. 

SMUD-1516 1/16 Forms Management            Page  0  



  
 

 
 
 

 
                                      

  
 

      
 
 

  
   

 
   

    
 
    

  
      

  
    

 
 

       
   

  
 
 

  
 

  
  

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 
OFFICE MEMORANDUM 

TO:	 Board of Directors DATE: February 1, 2022 

FROM:	 Claire Rogers CR 2/1/22 

SUBJECT:	 Audit Report No. 28007421 
Board Monitoring Report; SD-03: Access to Credit Markets 

Audit and Quality Services (AQS) received the SD-03 Access to Credit Markets 
2021 Annual Board Monitoring Report and performed the following: 

•	 A review of the information presented in the report to determine the possible 
existence of material misstatements; 

•	 Interviews with report contributors and verification of the methodology used to 
prepare the monitoring report; and 

•	 Validation of the reasonableness of a selection of the report’s statements and 
assertions. 

During the review, nothing came to AQS’ attention that would suggest the SD 
Board Monitoring report did not fairly represent the source data available at the 
time of the review.  

CC: 

Paul Lau 



         

    
     

    
 
 

  
 

          

          

 

             
           

 
            

       
 

             
 

   
 

             
             

             
           

            
           

          
            

           
    

 
            

            
           
             
           

             
           

            
          
            

          

Board Monitoring Report 2021
 
SD-3 Board Strategic Direction on
 
Access to Credit Markets
 

1. Background 

Strategic Direction 3 on Access to Credit Markets states that: 

Maintaining access to credit is a core value of SMUD. 

Therefore: 

a.	 For SMUD’s annual budgets, the Board establishes a minimum target of cash 
coverage of all debt service payments (fixed charge ratio) of 1.50 times. 

b.	 When making resource decisions, SMUD shall weigh the impacts on long-term 
revenue requirements, debt, financial risk and flexibility. 

c. SMUD’s goal is to maintain at least an “A” rating with credit rating agencies. 

2. Executive summary 

SMUD relies on the use of borrowed funds to pay for a portion of its capital needs 
on an ongoing basis. The Board adopted SD-3, Access to Credit Markets, to help 
ensure that SMUD maintains the ability to raise new money at competitive rates in 
the credit markets as needed. Making prudent use of borrowed funds to finance 
capital improvements can help SMUD to mitigate major rate adjustments in periods 
of intensive capital expansion, and allows SMUD to allocate the costs of those 
improvements over their useful lives to the customers who benefit from 
them. Maintaining access to credit markets supports our objective to be financially 
flexible to make necessary and timely investment and take advantage of 
opportunities while remaining competitive. 

One of the most important indicators of an organization’s ability to access credit 
markets is the independent assessment made by credit rating agencies. SMUD is 
rated by the three major rating agencies: Standard & Poor’s (S&P), Moody’s, and 
Fitch, which review SMUD’s credit on approximately an annual basis. The credit 
ratings assigned are intended to give investors the rating agency’s view of the 
likelihood that SMUD will pay principal and interest on bonds when due. They utilize 
financial metrics in assessing creditworthiness such as the Fixed Charge Ratio that 
measures revenue sufficiency to meet obligations, and Days Cash on Hand, a 
measure of liquidity. They also measure leverage, such as our debt outstanding per 
customer, and the rate capacity to finance future capital projects without placing 
undue burden on customers. SMUD’s overall governance and risk management 

GM 22-010 Board Monitoring Report – SD-3, Access to Credit Markets Page 1 of 5 



         

              
           

 
 

          
                
            

            
        

 
            

               
           
                

         
            

         
 

           
           

           
          

          
            
              

         
            

          
 

             
         

         
          

             
         

         
          

          
         

          

practices are also important to the agencies, along with the ability and willingness to 
raise rates when necessary while maintaining competitive low-cost energy for our 
customers. 

As referenced in the attached ratings agency reports, SMUD has very strong 
metrics and due to well managed cash flow, has the ability to plan to a more 
modest fixed charge ratio relative to some other AA rated peers. The most recent 
SMUD credit reports from both S&P and Fitch also specifically cite the Board’s 
demonstrated willingness to raise rates to support financial performance. 

Credit ratings heavily impact an organization’s ability to borrow money in the 
municipal markets, as well as the interest rates they will be required to pay. Higher 
credit ratings translate into lower borrowing costs. For example, if SMUD’s credit 
ratings were to fall into a lower category, from AA to A, the impact at today’s rates 
would be approximately $200k/year for every $100 million borrowed. During a 
period of financial turmoil, as experienced in early 2020, higher credit ratings 
allowed SMUD to access credit markets sooner than lower rated utilities. 

Credit ratings also impact an organization’s ability to conduct general business 
transactions. Trading partners utilize credit ratings as a factor in assessing their 
willingness to transact with SMUD, and to determine commercial terms. Stronger 
credit ratings enable SMUD to negotiate better terms and conditions for contracts, 
including power purchase agreements. For example, SMUD’s healthy credit ratings 
minimize the amount of collateral posting required under many of its commodity 
contracts to hedge natural gas and power. Likewise, if SMUD’s ratings were to 
drop from current levels, collateral posting requirements would increase 
accordingly. In some cases, a reduction in SMUD’s credit ratings below a certain 
threshold gives our counterparty the right to terminate the contract. 

In support of maintaining its financial strength and as a financial risk mitigator 
SMUD procures insurance. SMUD maintains a comprehensive property and 
casualty insurance program, with coverage in excess of various self-insured 
retentions ranging from $5,000 to $5,000,000, designed to protect against 
catastrophic losses that would have an adverse effect on its financial position or 
operational capabilities. Insurance programs are continuously reviewed and 
modified when construction, operational exposures, or developments in the 
insurance industry so warrant. Long term relationships with a variety of insurers 
minimize SMUD’s susceptibility to the effects of insurance market cycles. SMUD 
budgets reserves to meet potential insurance deductibles and self-insured liability 
claims and has had no claims that have exceeded coverage limits. 

GM 22-010 Board Monitoring Report – SD-3, Access to Credit Markets Page 2 of 5 



         

           
 

            
     

 
    

            
         

 
              

      
 

     
          

  
  

        
             

   
 

   
      

  
      

  

   
     

 
 
 

           
          

         
          
            

          
       

          
  

SMUD has remained in compliance with SD-3 as evidenced by the following: 

a.	 Maintained key financial metrics, including a fixed charge ratio above the 
minimum policy target of 1.50 times. 

1. 	 2.17 times in 2020 
2.	 2.42 times in 2021 (draft figure as of January 19, 2022) 
3.	 1.93 times in 2022 (projected in 2022 Budget) 

b.	 Credit ratings were affirmed at ‘AA’ from S&P and Fitch, and Aa3 from Moody’s, 
which is equivalent to AA-. 

c.	 Successful refunding of the remaining 2011 series X bonds with the issuance of 
$107 million of 2021 Series I Electric Revenue Bonds. This refunding 
transaction took advantage of lower interest rates and SMUD’s strong credit 
ratings to lock in $3 million in savings per year from 2022 to 2028, for a total net 
present value savings of $23 million. This transaction highlights our ability to 
access credit markets as a result of managing SMUD in a manner that invokes 
confidence from investors. 

d.	 Successfully renewed and restructured SMUD’s $400 million commercial paper 
program into a $300 million commercial paper capacity with a $100 million 
emergency line of credit. This process which is in its final stages will ensure 
SMUD’s continued financial strength by providing quick access to financial 
resources and the ability to access the funding without having the markets 
open. In 2020 during the early days of COVID-19, commercial paper markets 
for all issuers froze temporarily. The line of credit will allow access to capital if 
that were to occur again. The RFP results provide for lower rates than the 
previous facilities and when finalized, will save SMUD about $0.5 million 
annually. 

e.	 Made $101 million in additional supplemental contributions to CalPERS as part of 
a 10-year pension funding strategy to eliminate our unfunded pension liability— 
an obligation rating agencies are increasingly focusing on in their reviews. 
Addressing the unfunded liability sooner will help control rate increases. These 
costs would continue to grow into the future since paying only the required 
minimum payments may not fully mitigate the compounding nature of the 
outstanding liability adequately. Prior to these additional contributions, SMUD’s 
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) and Pension were of 113% and 79% 
funded, respectively. 

GM 22-010 Board Monitoring Report – SD-3, Access to Credit Markets Page 3 of 5 



         

         
      

      
         

      
            

        
 

    
 

            
        

 
  

           
           
    
     
       

  
  
  
  
  
  
    

  
     

 
  

            
   

     
     

   
         

 
    
    
   

f.	 Successfully renewed property and casualty insurance coverage programs at or 
below market rates and expanded coverage for the cyber insurance program. 
Despite the continued constrained insurance market and record-setting wildfire 
losses in the Western United States, SMUD was able to maintain its $250 
million wildfire liability insurance program within which SMUD’s self-insured 
retentions decreased from an aggregate of $77 million to $74 million. SMUD 
also successfully increased cyber coverage limits from $40 million to $60 million. 

3. Additional supporting information 

Details on ratings variables, SMUD specific credit strengths, factors that could lead 
to an upgrade, and insurance are listed below 

Financial Strengths: 
Maintaining SMUD’s financial strength is a key component to continually accessing 
credit markets. Below isa list of SMUD specific financial strengths mentioned in 
recent rating agency reports: 

a.	 Strong financial operations management 
b.	 Strong financial performance with fixed charge ratio over 1.8x during the 

last 5 years 
c.	 Robust liquidity 
d.	 Low operating costs 
e.	 Competitive rates 
f.	 Diverse resource portfolio 
g.	 Favorable debt and liabilities profile 
h.	 Proactive planning and hedging practices 
i.	 Timely rate setting record 
j.	 Strong wildfire mitigation toolkit 

Ratings Variables: 
The rating agencies evaluate a number of factors in deriving municipal power 
ratings. These include: 

k.	 Financial ratios and metrics 
l.	 Governance Structure and Management 
m.	 Rate Competitiveness 
n.	 Cost of production/purchased power (particularly with respect to higher cost 

renewables) 
o.	 Risk Management Practices 
p.	 Service area demographics 
q.	 Regulatory factors 

GM 22-010 Board Monitoring Report – SD-3, Access to Credit Markets Page 4 of 5 



         

 
 

  
 

           
           
 

       
    

  
    

  
 

  
 

 
  

 
            

      

4. Challenges: 

Below are comments from recent rating’s agency reports regarding challenges to 
SMUD’s financial strength that could affect SMUD’s ability to access credit 
markets: 

a.	 Wildfire liability and inverse condemnation exposure 
b.	 More significant capital spending affecting rate competitiveness and 

key financial metrics 
c.	 Substantially weakened competitive position or impaired ability to maintain 

liquidity and achieve fixed charge ratios commensurate with recent years’ 
levels 

d.	 Prioritizing environmental goals or rate affordability over preservation of the 
financial profile 

5. Recommendation: 

It is recommended that the Board accept the Monitoring Report for SD-3 Board 
Strategic Direction on Access to Credit Market. 

GM 22-010 Board Monitoring Report – SD-3, Access to Credit Markets Page 5 of 5 



 

 
  

 

 

DRAFT 

RESOLUTION NO. ______________ 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

This Board accepts the monitoring report for Strategic Direction SD-3, 

Access to Credit Markets, substantially in the form set forth in Attachment ____ 

hereto and made a part hereof. 



7
 



 
 
 

   

 
 
 
  

   

 
 

  

  

 

 

  

  

    
       

  

  
 

      

      
      

  
   

  
    

 

    

  

    

  

   

    

 
  
 

 
  

SSS No. LEG 2022-0020 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
STAFFING SUMMARY SHEET 

Committee Meeting & Date 
Finance & Audit – 02/15/22 
Board Meeting Date 
February 17, 2022 

TO TO 

1. Donna Lofton 6. 

2. Jennifer Davidson 7. 

3. Gary King 8. 

4. Lora Anguay 9. Legal 

5. Scott Martin 10. CEO & General Manager 

Consent Calendar X Yes No If no, schedule a dry run presentation. Budgeted X Yes No (If no, explain in Cost/Budgeted   
section.) 

FROM (IPR) 

Laura Lewis 
DEPARTMENT 

Executive Office 
MAIL STOP 

B308 
EXT. 

6123 
DATE SENT 

02/09/22 
NARRATIVE: 
Requested Action: Approve changing the time of the March 17, 2022, Board Meeting from 5:30 p.m. to 9:00 a.m. 

Summary: During review of the Board Work Plan (Agenda Item 5) at the Policy Committee on February 9, 2022, 
suggestion was made to change the start time of the March 17, 2022, Board meeting to 9:00 a.m. due to 
potential conflict with a conference Board members will be attending.  Pursuant to Government Code 
section 54953(e) and the Emergency Board Meetings Procedures adopted by the SMUD Board of Directors, 
regular Board meetings are currently conducted solely via virtual (online/teleconference) meeting to align 
with state, local, and federal guidelines for the containment of the coronavirus and are scheduled to begin at 
5:30 p.m.  Changing the start time of the regular March Board of Directors meeting to the morning will 
allow for greater participation by the Board. 

Board Policy: 
(Number & Title) 

GP-3 Board Job Description – j) Take such other actions as may be required by law. 

Benefits: Provide for Board member participation at Board meeting. 

Cost/Budgeted: There is no budgetary impact for this request. 

Alternatives: Not to approve the change in times. 

Affected Parties: Board Office; Board Members; Executive Staff 

Coordination: Legal Department; Board Office 

Presenter: Laura Lewis, Chief Legal & Government Affairs Officer 

SUBJECT 

Change in Time for March 17, 2022, Board Meeting 
ITEM NO. (FOR LEGAL USE 
ONLY) 

7 
ITEMS SUBMITTED AFTER DEADLINE WILL BE POSTPONED UNTIL NEXT MEETING. 

SMUD-1516 10/15 Forms Management Page 0 



 
 

 

 

 

DRAFT 

RESOLUTION NO. __________ 

WHEREAS, the Meeting Procedures of the SMUD Board of Directors, 

Rule 1.0(a) sets the time of days and times of the Board meetings; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Government Code section 54953(e) and the 

Emergency Board Meetings Procedures adopted by the Board on June 18, 2020, by 

Resolution No. 20-06-08, regular Board meetings and other public meetings are 

currently conducted solely via virtual (online/teleconference) meeting to align with state, 

local, and federal guidelines for the containment of the coronavirus and are scheduled 

to begin at 5:30 p.m.; and 

WHEREAS, a number of Board members are scheduled to attend a 

policymakers conference that conflicts with the regular March Board meeting; and 

WHEREAS, a morning meeting would allow for greater participation by the 

Board to ensure a quorum and the Board wishes to change the start time of the Board 

meeting to be held on March 17, 2022, from 5:30 p.m. to 9:00 a.m.; NOW, 

THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT: 

The March 17, 2022, Board meeting will be rescheduled to begin at 

9:00 a.m. rather than 5:30 p.m.  



8a
 



   
  

   

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 

  

 

   

    
        

  

 
  

   
     

   
   

   
  

   
  

  
    

 
  

   

    

   

    

 

  

  

 
 

 

  
  

 
 

   

SSS No. BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
STAFFING SUMMARY SHEET 

Committee Meeting & Date 

TR22-002 
Finance & Audit - 02/15/22 
Board Meeting Date 
February 17, 2022 

TO TO 

1. Jennifer Davidson 6. 

2. Gary King 7. 

3. Lora Anguay 8. 

4. Scott Martin 9. Legal 

5. 10. CEO & General Manager 

Consent Calendar Yes X No If no, schedule a dry run presentation. Budgeted X Yes No (If no, explain in Cost/Budgeted   
section.) 

FROM (IPR) DEPARTMENT MAIL STOP EXT. DATE SENT 

Russell Mills Treasury B355 6509 01/13/2022 
NARRATIVE: 
Requested Action: Authorize the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager to negotiate and execute: 

a. A three-and-one-half-year contract renewal and expansion to $150,000,000 with Barclays Bank 
(Barclays) for a Letter of Credit (Barclays LOC) that supports the outstanding Commercial Paper 
Series L, with terms substantially similar to the attached term sheet. 

b. A three-year contract renewal and expansion to $150,000,000 with Bank of America, N.A. (BAML) 
for a Letter of Credit (BAML LOC) that supports the outstanding Commercial Paper Series M, 
with terms substantially similar to the attached term sheet. 

c. A four-year contract with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (Wells Fargo) for a new Line of Credit (Line) 
that supports a new $100,000,000 Line of Credit Series N, with terms substantially similar to the 
attached term sheet. 

Summary: SMUD currently has a $400 million commercial paper program expiring soon which provides a funding 
mechanism for SMUD’s capital program, and a source of liquidity, without the long lead time needed for a 
bond issuance. These contracts restructure and extend that program. Series L and Series M are credit 
enhancements necessary for the commercial paper program investors. Series N is a direct lending contract 
that allows SMUD to borrow funds directly from Wells Fargo. With the Series L and Series M renewals and 
expansions, and the new Series N contract, SMUD was able to maintain a $400,000,000 short-term 
borrowing portfolio, lower overall program fees, and portfolio diversification.  

Board Policy: 
(Number & Title) 

Strategic Direction SD-3, Access to Credit Markets. 

Benefits: The line of credit and letters of credit provide liquidity and funding to support SMUD’s capital program.  

Cost/Budgeted: Fees and expenses are estimated to be $3.40 million over the life of the contracts and are included in budget 
forecasts. 

Alternatives: Issue fixed rate debt/bonds at a higher borrowing cost and with a longer lead time. 

Affected Parties: Treasury, Legal 

Coordination: Treasury, Legal 

Presenter: Russell Mills, Director of Risk Management & Treasurer 

Additional Links: 

SUBJECT 
Letter of Credit (LOC) Renewal for Three Contracts 

ITEM NO. (FOR LEGAL USE ONLY) 

8a 
ITEMS SUBMITTED AFTER DEADLINE WILL BE POSTPONED UNTIL NEXT MEETING. 

SMUD-1516 1/16 Forms Management            Page  0  



 
 
 

 

 
     

 

           
        

Contract Renewal with Barclays Bank 
Amended and Restated Reimbursement Agreement dated as of February 1, 2022, 

between Sacramento Utility District and Barclays Bank PLC 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 


AMENDED AND RESTATED REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 

dated as of February 1, 2022, 

between 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

and 

BARCLAYS BANK PLC 

relating to: 

$150,000,000 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT, 


COMMERCIAL PAPER NOTES, 

SERIES L 


8a 1 a&r reimbursement agreement (barclays smud series l cp) 4880-1824-1286 v12.docx 
1967934 



 

 

 
 

 

 

  

 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 

 
 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

    

  

 

AMENDED AND RESTATED REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 

(This Table of Contents is not a part of this  

Amended and Restated Reimbursement Agreement and is only  


for convenience of reference) 


SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

Parties...............................................................................................................................................1
	

ARTICLE ONE  DEFINITIONS .................................................................................................2
	

Section 1.1. Definitions........................................................................................................2
	
Section 1.2. Incorporation of Certain Definitions by Reference .......................................10
	
Section 1.3. Accounting Terms and Determinations .........................................................10
	
Section 1.4. Interpretation ..................................................................................................10
	

ARTICLE TWO  LETTER OF CREDIT......................................................................................11
	

Section 2.1. Issuance of Letter of Credit ............................................................................11
	

Section 2.4. Reimbursement of Drawings Not Converted to Advances; 


Section 2.9. Payment Due on Non-Business Day to Be Made on Next
	

Section 2.2. Letter of Credit Drawings ..............................................................................11
	
Section 2.3. Drawings Converted to Advances .................................................................11
	

Reimbursement of Interest Component of Drawings .............................12
	
Section 2.5. Fees ................................................................................................................13
	
Section 2.6. The Revolving Note .......................................................................................13
	
Section 2.7. Substitute Letter of Credit; Reduction of Stated Amount ..............................14
	
Section 2.8. Computation of Interest and Fees ..................................................................14
	

Business Day...........................................................................................14
	
Section 2.10. Late Payments ................................................................................................14
	
Section 2.11. Source of Funds .............................................................................................14
	
Section 2.12. Extension of Stated Expiration Date ..............................................................14
	
Section 2.13. Net of Taxes, Etc. ...........................................................................................15
	
Section 2.14. Increased Costs ..............................................................................................16
	
Section 2.15. Margin Regulations ........................................................................................18
	
Section 2.16. Maximum Rate; Payment of Fee ...................................................................18
	
Section 2.17. Security for Obligations .................................................................................19
	
Section 2.18. Commercial Paper Notes Operations .............................................................19
	
Section 2.19. Method of Payment; Etc ................................................................................20
	

ARTICLE THREE  CONDITIONS PRECEDENT ............................................................................20
	

Section 3.1. Conditions Precedent to Issuance of the Letter of Credit ..............................20
	

ARTICLE FOUR  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES........................................................22
	

Section 4.1. Representations of SMUD .............................................................................22
	



 

 

  

 

  

 
 
 

  

 
 

    
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

ARTICLE FIVE  COVENANTS................................................................................................27
	

Section 5.1. Covenants of SMUD ......................................................................................27
	

ARTICLE SIX  DEFAULTS...................................................................................................34
	

Section 6.1. Events of Default and Remedies ....................................................................34
	
Section 6.2. Remedies ........................................................................................................37
	
Section 6.3. Rating Event...................................................................................................38
	

ARTICLE SEVEN  MISCELLANEOUS ........................................................................................38
	

Section 7.1. Amendments, Waivers, Etc. ...........................................................................38
	
Section 7.2. Notices. ..........................................................................................................38
	
Section 7.3. Survival of Covenants; Successors and Assigns............................................39
	
Section 7.4. Unconditional Obligations. ............................................................................40
	
Section 7.5 Liability of Bank; Indemnification ................................................................41
	
Section 7.6. Expenses. .......................................................................................................43
	
Section 7.7. No Waiver; Conflict. ......................................................................................43
	
Section 7.8. Modification, Amendment, Waiver, Etc. .......................................................43
	
Section 7.9. Dealing with SMUD, the Depositary, and/or the Dealer. ..............................43
	
Section 7.10. Severability. ...................................................................................................43
	
Section 7.11. Counterparts. ..................................................................................................44
	
Section 7.12. Table of Contents; Headings. .........................................................................44
	
Section 7.13. Entire Agreement ...........................................................................................44
	
Section 7.14. Governing Law ..............................................................................................44
	
Section 7.15. Waiver of Jury Trial .......................................................................................44
	
Section 7.16 Right of Setoff; Other Collateral....................................................................45
	
Section 7.17. USA Patriot Act .............................................................................................45
	
Section 7.18. Assignment to Federal Reserve Bank ............................................................45
	
Section 7.19. No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship .........................................................46
	
Section 7.20. Amendment and Restatement ........................................................................46
	

Appendix I — Form of Letter of Credit 
Exhibit A — Form of Revolving Note 
Exhibit B — Form of No-Issuance Notice 

 -ii-



 

 

  

 
 

   

    

 
  

  
   

 
   

  
 

 
 

 
   

 
  

 
 

 
 

   
 

 

AMENDED AND RESTATED REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT dated as of February 1, 
2022 (together with all amendments, supplements and other modifications hereto, this 
“Agreement”), between SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT, a municipal utility district 
of the State of California (together with its successors and assigns, “SMUD”) and BARCLAYS 
BANK PLC, a national banking association (together with its successors and assigns, the “Bank”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority granted by the laws of the State of California, 
particularly Articles 6a and 6b of Chapter 6 of the Municipal Utility Act (California Public 
Utilities Code Section 12850 et seq.), Chapter 7.5 of the Municipal Utility District Act 
(California Public Utilities Code Section 13371 et seq.) and Article 11 of Chapter 3 of Part 1 of 
Division 2 of Title 5 of the California Government Code (California Government Code Section 
53.80 et seq.), and Resolution No. 11-12-05 adopted by the Board  of Directors  of SMUD, on  
December 1, 2011, as amended by Resolution No. 18-05-12 adopted by the Board of Directors of 
SMUD, on May 17, 2018 and by Resolution No. 22-02-[__] adopted by the Board of Directors 
of SMUD, on February [__], 2022 (collectively, the “Note Resolution”) SMUD has established 
a commercial paper program providing for the issuance of up to $150,000,000 in aggregate 
principal amount of its Commercial Paper Notes, Series L, comprised of Subseries L-1 and L-2 
(the “Notes”); and 

WHEREAS, SMUD requested the Bank to issue the Letter of Credit (as hereinafter 
defined) to the Depositary, as beneficiary, in order to assure timely payment of the principal of 
and interest on the Notes on their respective maturity dates; and 

WHEREAS, the Bank issued its Irrevocable Letter of Credit No. SB-01690 (the “Original 
Letter of Credit”) pursuant to and upon the conditions and the terms stated in the Reimbursement 
Agreement dated as of January 1, 2012, as amended by the First Amendment to Reimbursement 
Agreement dated November 21, 2014, and by the Second Amendment to Reimbursement 
Agreement dated October 22, 2018 (collectively, the “Original Agreement”), between SMUD 
and the Bank, in support of the Notes; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 7.1 of the Original Agreement, the Original Agreement 
may be amended in writing by SMUD and the Bank, and the parties have agreed to amend and 
restate the Original Agreement in its entirety pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and the 
Bank has agreed to issue the Letter of Credit (as defined herein) as a replacement for the Original 
Letter of Credit pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth herein; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein and other 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Bank 
and SMUD agree as follows: 



 

 
    

  

  
      

 

  

 

  
    

  
  

 
 

  
  

  
    

 

 
  

     
 

ARTICLE ONE 
"ARTICLE ONE  DEFINITIONS" \L 1 DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1. Definitions "Section 1.1. Definitions" \l 2 . As used in this 
Agreement: 

“Act” means the Municipal Utility District Act, constituting Division 6 of the 
Public Utilities Code of the State of California, and all laws of the State of  California  
amendatory thereof or supplemental thereto. 

“Advance” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a) hereof. 

“Affiliate” means, as to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly 
controlling, controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, such Person.  
A Person shall be deemed to be “controlled by” any other Person if such other Person 
possesses, directly or indirectly, power (a) to vote 10% or more of the securities (on a 
fully diluted basis) having ordinary voting power for the election of directors or 
managing general partners; or (b) to direct or cause the direction of the management and 
policies of such Person whether by contract or otherwise. 

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof. 

“Alternate Letter of Credit” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Amortization End Date” means, with respect to any Advance, the earliest to 
occur of: (i) the fifth (5th) anniversary of the date on which the related Advance was 
made, (ii) the date on which an Alternate Letter of Credit becomes effective in 
substitution of the Letter of Credit with respect to the Notes, and (iii) the date on which 
the Stated Amount is permanently reduced to zero or the Letter of Credit is otherwise 
terminated prior to the Stated Expiration Date, including as a result of the occurrence of 
an Event of Default (provided, however, that the occurrence of a Rating Event at any time 
after the Stated Expiration Date shall not result in an Amortization End Date). 

“Amortization Payment Date” means, with respect to each Advance, (a) the first 
Business Day to occur on or after the six (6) month anniversary of  the  date the related  
Advance is made and the first Business Day of each sixth (6th) calendar month occurring 
thereafter prior to the related Amortization End Date and (b) the related Amortization 
End Date. 

“Authorized SMUD Representative” means the Chief Executive Officer and 
General Manager of SMUD, any Member of the Executive Committee of SMUD, the 
Chief  Financial  Officer of  SMUD, the Treasurer of  SMUD and/or the Secretary of 
SMUD. 

“Available Revenues” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

-2-




 

 

 
   

     

 

  
   

  
 

    
   

  

   
 

 
 

  
    

   

 

 

“Bank” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof. 

“Bank Agreement” means any credit agreement, bond purchase agreement, 
liquidity agreement, direct purchase agreement, standby bond purchase agreement, 
reimbursement agreement or other agreement or instrument (or any amendment, 
supplement or modification thereto) entered into by SMUD with any Person, directly or 
indirectly, or otherwise consented to by SMUD, under which any Person or Persons 
undertakes to make loans, extend credit or liquidity to SMUD in connection with, or to 
directly purchase, any of SMUD’s Debt payable from or secured by a lien on Net 
Revenues senior to or on a parity with the Obligations. 

“Bank Rate” means the rate of  interest per annum with respect to  any Advance 
(i) for any day commencing on the date such Advance is made to and including the 
sixtieth (60th) day next succeeding the date such Advance is made, equal to the Base 
Rate from time to time in effect, (ii) for any day commencing on the sixty-first (61st) day 
next succeeding the date such Advance is made to and including the one hundred 
eightieth (180th) day next succeeding the date such Advance is made, equal to the sum of 
the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus one percent (1.00%) (provided that  
component (iii) of the Base Rate shall not be subject to the one percent (1.00%) increase), 
(iii) for any day commencing on the one hundred eighty-first (181st) day next succeeding 
the date such Advance is made and at all times thereafter, equal to the sum of the Base 
Rate from time to time in effect plus two percent (2.00%) (provided that component (iii) 
of the Base Rate shall not be subject to the two percent (2.00%) increase); provided, 
however, that immediately and automatically upon the occurrence of an Event of Default 
(and without any notice given with respect thereto) and during the continuance of such 
Event of Default, “Bank Rate” shall mean the Default Rate; and provided further that, at 
no time shall the Bank Rate be less than the applicable rate of interest on any outstanding 
Notes. 

“Bank-Related Persons” means the Bank, its Affiliates and the officers, directors, 
employees, agents and attorneys-in-fact of the Bank and Affiliates. 

“Base Rate” means, for any day, a fluctuating rate of interest per annum equal to 
the greatest of (i) the sum of the Prime Rate in effect at such time plus two and one-half 
of one percent (2.50%), (ii) the sum of the Federal Funds Rate in effect at such time plus 
two and one-half of one percent (2.50%), (iii) one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the 
yield on the 30-Year United States Treasury bond, and (iv) eight percent (8.00%). Each 
determination of the Base Rate by the Bank shall be conclusive and binding on SMUD 
absent manifest error. 

“Bonds” has the meaning set forth in the Master Bond Resolution. 

“Business Day” has the meaning set forth in the Letter of Credit. 

“Change in Law” means the occurrence, after the Effective Date, of any of the 
following: (a) the adoption or taking effect of any law, (b) any change in any law or in 

-3-




 

    
  

 
   

  

 

 

 

   
  

 
 

    

 

 
   

 

the administration, interpretation, implementation or application thereof by any 
Governmental Authority or (c) the promulgation, adoption or issuance of any request, 
rule, ruling, guideline (including, without limitation, Risk-Based Capital Guidelines), 
regulation or directive (whether or not having the force of law) by any Governmental 
Authority; provided that notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (i) the Dodd-
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, ruling, 
guidelines, regulations or directives thereunder or issued in connection therewith and (ii) 
all requests, rules, rulings, guidelines, regulations or directives promulgated by the Bank 
for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any 
successor or similar authority) or the United States of America or foreign regulatory 
authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall in each case be deemed to be a 
“Change in Law,” regardless of the date enacted, adopted or issued. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any 
successor statute thereto, and the regulations promulgated thereunder. 

“Credit Default” means any condition or event which with the giving of notice or 
lapse of time or both would, unless cured or waived, become a Credit Event of Default. 

“Credit Event of Default” means any of those Events of Default set forth in 
Sections 6.1(a), 6.1(d), 6.1(e), 6.1(f), 6.1(g), 6.1(h), 6.1(i), 6.1(j), 6.1(k), 6.1(l), 6.1(m), 
6.1(n), 6.1(o) and 6.1(p) hereof. 

“Dealer” means Barclays Capital Inc., in its capacity as dealer under the Dealer 
Agreement, together with any successors or assigns, or such other entity or entities as 
may be selected by SMUD with the prior written consent of the Bank to act as a dealer or 
co-dealer with respect to the Notes. 

“Dealer Agreement” means that certain Dealer Agreement, dated January 5, 
2012, between SMUD and the Dealer, as the same may be amended, supplemented or 
extended from time to time pursuant to the terms thereof and hereof, and (ii) any other 
dealer agreement entered into from time to time in connection with the Notes and 
approved by the Bank. 

“Debt” means for any Person (without duplication) (i) all indebtedness created, 
assumed or incurred in any manner by such Person representing money borrowed 
(including by the issuance of debt securities), (ii) all obligations of such Person for the 
deferred purchase price of property or services (other than trade accounts payable arising 
in the ordinary course of business), (iii) all obligations secured by any Lien upon property 
of such Person, whether or not such Person has assumed or become liable for the 
payment of such obligations (other than collateralized commodity swaps the obligations 
under which are either (a) not secured by a Lien on Net Revenues or (b) secured by a 
Lien on Net Revenues subordinate to the Obligations), (iv) all obligations of such Person 
as lessee under leases (as determined under Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
Statement No. 87 Leases, or any successor guidance) shown on the liabilities side of the 
balance sheet of such Person, (v) all obligations of such Person on or with respect to 

-4-




 

  

 
 
 

 
 

 

     

 

  

  

  
  

 

 

 
 

  
    

letters of credit, banker’s acceptances and other evidences of indebtedness representing 
extensions of credit whether or not representing obligations for borrowed money, (vi) 
certificates of participation evidencing an undivided ownership interest in payments made 
by such Person (A) as lessee under any lease of property which in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles would be required to be capitalized on the 
balance sheet of such Person, (B) as purchaser under an installment sale agreement or (C) 
otherwise as an obligor in connection therewith, and (vii) all Debt of any other Person of 
the kind referred to in clauses (i) through (vi) above which is guaranteed (regardless of 
form) directly or indirectly in any manner by such Person. 

“Default” means any condition or event which with the giving of notice or lapse 
of time or both would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default. 

“Default Rate” means a per annum rate of interest equal to the sum of the Base 
Rate from time to time in effect plus four percent (4.00%). 

“Depositary” means U.S. Bank National Association and its permitted successors 
and assigns. 

“Depositary Agreement” means that certain Depositary Agreement dated as of 
January 5, 2012, between SMUD and the Depositary, as the same may be supplemented 
or amended from time to time pursuant to the terms thereof and hereof. 

“Dollars” and the sign “$” means lawful money of the United States of America. 

“Drawing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4 hereof. 

“Effective Date” means February [__], 2022, which is the date on which the 
Letter of Credit shall be issued (subject to the satisfaction (or waiver by the Bank) of the 
conditions precedent set forth in Section 3.1 hereof). 

“Electric System” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as 
amended, or any successor statute thereto. 

“Event of Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1 hereof. 

“Excess Interest” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16 hereof. 

“Federal Funds Rate” means, for any day, the rate per annum equal to the 
weighted average of the rates on overnight federal funds transactions with members of  
the Federal Reserve System, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on 
the Business Day next succeeding such day; provided that (a) if such day is not a 
Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions 
on the next preceding Business Day as so published on the next succeeding Business 

-5-




 

   

 

 

  
 

 

  

  

 

  
 

  

  

   
 

Day, and (b) if no such rate is so published on such next succeeding Business Day, the 
Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rate (rounded upward, if necessary, 
to a whole multiple of 1/100 of 1%) charged to the Bank on such day on  such  
transactions as determined by the Bank. 

“Fee Letter” means that certain Third Amended and Restated Fee Letter, dated 
the Effective Date, between SMUD and the Bank, as the same may be amended, 
modified or supplemented from time to time by written instrument executed by the Bank 
and SMUD, the terms of which are incorporated herein by reference. 

“Final Drawing Notice” has the meaning set forth in the Letter of Credit. 

“Fiscal Year” means the twelve month period commencing on January 1 of each 
year and ending on December 31 of the same calendar year or such other twelve month 
period as SMUD may from time to time determine as it Fiscal Year. 

“Fitch” means Fitch Ratings, Inc. and its successors, and if such Person shall for 
any reason no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Fitch” shall be 
deemed to refer to any nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by 
SMUD that is acceptable to the Bank in its sole discretion. 

“Government Acts” means any act or omission to act, whether rightful or 
wrongful, of any present or future de jure or de facto government or Governmental 
Authority. 

“Governmental Authority” means any national, supranational, state or local 
government (whether domestic or foreign), any political subdivision thereof or any other 
governmental, quasigovernmental, judicial, administrative, public or statutory 
instrumentality, authority, body, agency, department, commission, bureau, court, central 
bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory, fiscal, 
monetary or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government, or any 
arbitrator, mediator or other Person with authority to bind a party at law. 

“Letter of Credit” means that certain irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of 
credit issued by the Bank for the account of SMUD in favor of the Depositary supporting 
the Notes, in the form of Appendix I hereto, with appropriate insertions, as amended and 
supplemented. 

“Letter of Credit Fee” has the meaning set forth in the Fee Letter. 

“Letter of Credit Fee Rate” has the meaning set forth in the Fee Letter. 

“Lien” means, with respect to any property, tangible or intangible, real or 
personal, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest or other encumbrance of 
any kind in respect of such property. 

-6-




 

 
  

 

  
  

 
  

   

 

 
 

  
 

 

 

 

  

 
  

 

  
 

“Master Bond Resolution” means Resolution No. 6649 of SMUD, adopted on 
January 7, 1971, and amended and supplemented from time to time in accordance with 
the terms thereof. 

“Material Adverse Effect” or “Material Adverse Change” means (a) with respect 
to SMUD, a material adverse effect upon SMUD’s business, assets, liabilities, financial 
condition, results of operations or business prospects, and (b) with respect to SMUD’s 
obligations under this Agreement, the Fee Letter or any other SMUD Program Document, 
a material adverse effect upon (i) the binding nature, validity or enforceability of 
SMUD’s obligations hereunder or thereunder, (ii) SMUD’s ability to perform its 
obligations hereunder or thereunder or (iii) the rights, security or interests of the Bank. 

“Maximum Interest Rate” means the maximum interest rate on the Notes as 
provided in the Note Resolution, which initially shall be 12% per annum. 

“Maximum Rate” means the maximum non-usurious lawful rate of interest 
permitted by applicable law. 

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service and its successors, and if such 
Person shall for any reason no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, 
“Moody’s” shall be deemed to refer to any nationally recognized securities rating agency 
designated by SMUD that is acceptable to the Bank in its sole discretion. 

“Net Revenues” has the meaning set forth in the Master Bond Resolution. 

“Net Subordinated Revenues” has the meaning set forth in the Subordinated Bond 
Resolution. 

“No-Issuance Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.18(b) hereof. 

“Non-Credit Event of Default” means those Events of Default set forth in 
Sections 6.1(b) and 6.1(c) hereof. 

“Note Resolution” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof. 

“Notes” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof. 

“Obligations” means the Reimbursement Obligations (which includes amounts 
owing to the Bank evidenced by the Revolving Note), the Letter of Credit  Fees and all  
other obligations of SMUD to the Bank arising under or in relation to this Agreement, the 
Fee Letter or any of the other Program Documents. 

“Offering Memorandum” means (i) the Commercial Paper Memorandum dated 
February [__], 2022, relating to the Notes, and (ii) each other document used by SMUD 
in offering the Notes. 

-7-




 

 

  
   

  

 
 

 
  

  

    
 

 

 
 

 
    

“Optional Termination Event” means (i) a consolidation or merger of SMUD or 
the Electric System into another entity whereby either (a) as a result of such consolidation 
or merger, SMUD or the Electric System is not the surviving entity or (b) such 
consolidation or merger could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse 
Effect,  or (ii) the failure of  SMUD to  comply with generally accepted accounting 
principles applicable to governmental entities and such failure shall continue for a period 
of forty-five (45) consecutive days after SMUD has actual knowledge of such failure. 

“Original Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof. 

“Original Letter of Credit” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof. 

“Original Stated Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1 hereof. 

“Parent” means any Person controlling the Bank. 

“Parity Bonds” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Parity Notes” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Note 
Resolution. 

“Parity Subordinated Debt” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Participant” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(b) hereof. 

“Participation” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(b) hereof. 

“Payment Account” means Barclays Bank PLC, For the Account of Sacramento 
Municipal Utility District, ABA #: 026002574, Credit to CLAD A/C 
Number 050019104, Ref:  Letter of Credit No [________], or such other office  as the  
Bank may designate from time to time. 

“Person” means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a 
limited liability company, an association, a joint venture, a trust, an unincorporated 
organization or any other entity or organization, including a government or political 
subdivision or any agency or instrumentality thereof. 

“Plan” means a pension plan providing benefits for employees of any Person. 

“Prime Rate” means, for any day, the rate of interest in effect for such day as 
publicly announced from time to time by the Bank as its “prime rate.” The “prime rate” is 
a rate set by the Bank based upon various factors including the Bank's costs and desired 
return, general economic conditions and other factors, and is used as a reference point for 
pricing some loans, which may be priced at, above, or below such announced rate. Any 

-8-




 

  
 

  

 

  

  
 

 
 

 

 

  
 

 
 

 

change in such rate announced by the Bank shall take effect at the opening of business on 
the day specified in the public announcement of such change. 

“Program Documents” means this Agreement, the Revolving Note, the Letter of 
Credit, the Fee Letter, the Depositary Agreement, the Notes, the Dealer Agreement, the 
Note Resolution and any documents related thereto. 

“Property” means any interest in any kind of property or asset, whether real, 
personal or mixed, or tangible or intangible, whether now owned or hereafter acquired. 

“Rating” means, with respect to any Rating Agency, the lowest rating assigned 
by such Rating Agency to any senior lien, long-term Bonds (without regard to bond 
insurance or any other form of credit enhancement) of SMUD. 

“Rating Agency” and “Rating Agencies” means, individually or collectively, as 
applicable, Moody’s, S&P and Fitch. 

“Rating Event” means the occurrence of a downgrade by any Rating Agency of 
its long-term rating with respect to any senior lien, long-term Bonds (without regard to 
bond insurance or any other form of credit enhancement) of SMUD to a level below 
“Baa1” (or its equivalent) in the case of Moody’s, “BBB+” (or its equivalent) in the case 
of S&P or “BBB+” (or its equivalent) in the case of Fitch and such downgrade shall 
continue for a period of one hundred sixty (160) days. 

“Reimbursement Obligations” means any and all obligations of SMUD to 
reimburse the Bank for Drawings under the Letter of Credit and all obligations to repay 
the Bank for any Advance, including, in each instance, all interest accrued thereon, which 
obligations are evidenced and secured by the Revolving Note. 

“Revenues” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Revolving Note” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6 hereof. 

“S&P” means S&P Global Ratings, and its successors, and if such division shall 
for any reason no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “S&P” shall 
be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated 
by SMUD that is acceptable to the Bank in its sole discretion. 

“SMUD” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof.  

“SMUD Board” means the board of directors of SMUD. 

“SMUD Program Documents” means the Program Documents to which SMUD 
is a party (including, without limitation, the Note Resolution).  

“State” means the State of California. 

-9-




 

 
 

     
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

  

 

  
 

  
 

  

 
 

 

 

“Stated Amount” has the meaning set forth in the Letter of Credit. 

“Stated Expiration Date” has the meaning set forth in the Letter of Credit. 

“Subordinated Bond Resolution” has the meaning set forth in the Note 
Resolution. 

“Subordinated Bonds” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Swap Contract” means any and all interest rate swap transactions or any other 
similar interest rate hedging transactions that hedge the interest rate on securities or other 
obligations issued by or on behalf of SMUD (including any options to enter into any of 
the foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to any 
master agreement. 

“Taxes” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.13 hereof. 

“Termination Date” has the meaning set forth in the Letter of Credit. 

“2020 Financial Statements” means the audited financial statements of SMUD 
for the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2020. 

“Unpaid Drawing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4 hereof. 

Section 1.2. Incorporation of Certain Definitions by Reference. Each capitalized term 
used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning provided therefor in the 
Note Resolution and, if not defined therein, in the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated 
Bond Resolution, as applicable. 

Section 1.3. Accounting Terms and Determinations. All accounting terms not 
specifically defined herein shall be construed in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. 

Section 1.4. Interpretation. The following rules shall apply to the construction of this 
Agreement and the Fee Letter unless the context requires otherwise: (a) the singular includes the 
plural, and the plural the singular; (b) words importing any gender include the other gender and 
the neuter gender; (c) references to statutes are to be construed as including all statutory 
provisions consolidating, and all regulations promulgated pursuant to, such statutes; 
(d) references to “writing” include printing, photocopy, typing, lithography and other means of 
reproducing words in a tangible visible form; (e) the words “including”, “includes” and 
“include” shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation”; (f) references to the 
introductory paragraph, recitals, articles, sections (or clauses or subdivisions of sections), 
exhibits, appendices, annexes or schedules are to those of this Agreement unless otherwise 
indicated; (g) references to agreements and other contractual instruments shall be deemed to 
include all subsequent amendments and other modifications to such instruments, but only to the 
extent that such amendments and other modifications are permitted or not prohibited by the 

-10-




 

  
 

 

 
     

 
 

 
    

 
 

   

 
   

  
  

  

 
 

 
  

 
 

  

   

 
   

  
    

 
 

terms of this Agreement; (h) article and section headings in this Agreement are included herein 
for convenience of reference only and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement for any other 
purpose; and (i) unless otherwise indicated, references to Persons include their respective 
permitted successors and assigns. 

ARTICLE TWO 
"ARTICLE TWO  LETTER OF CREDIT" \L 1 LETTER OF CREDIT 

Section 2.1. Issuance of Letter of Credit "Section 2.1. Issuance of Letter of Credit" 
\l 2 . Upon the terms, subject to the conditions and relying upon the representations and 
warranties set forth in this Agreement or incorporated herein by reference, the Bank agrees to 
issue the Letter of Credit substantially in the form of Appendix I  hereto.  The Letter  of Credit  
shall be in the original stated amount of $153,698,631 (calculated as the sum of the maximum 
principal amount of the Notes supported by the Letter of Credit (i.e., $150,000,000) plus interest 
thereon at a maximum rate of ten percent (10%) per annum for a period of ninety (90) days 
calculated on the basis of a year of 365 days and the actual number of days elapsed) (the 
“Original Stated Amount”). 

Section 2.2. Letter of Credit Drawings "Section 2.2. Letter of Credit Drawings" \l 
2 . The Depositary is authorized to make drawings under the Letter of Credit in accordance with 
its terms. SMUD hereby directs the Bank to make payments under the Letter of Credit in the 
manner therein provided. SMUD hereby irrevocably approves reductions and reinstatements of 
the Stated Amount as provided therein. 

Section 2.3. Drawings Converted to Advances.

 (a)  Making of Advances.  The Bank agrees that if (i) the Bank shall honor any Drawing 
under the Letter of Credit with respect to the payment of the principal on maturing Notes, (ii) the 
principal portion of such Drawing shall not be reimbursed in full on the date of such Drawing, 
and (iii) (x) (A) no Credit Default or Credit Event of Default shall have occurred and be 
continuing on the date of such Drawing and (B) no event described in clause (b) of the definition 
of Material Adverse Change shall have occurred, the principal portion of such Drawing which is 
not so reimbursed by SMUD to the Bank shall automatically convert to and constitute an 
advance made by the Bank to SMUD on the date and in an amount equal to the principal portion 
of such Drawing (or a portion thereof) or (y) (A) the Bank shall not have terminated its 
obligation to make Advances as a result of a Non-Credit Event of Default pursuant to 
Section 6.2(d) hereof and (B) no event described in clause (b) of the definition  of Material  
Adverse Change shall have occurred, the principal portion of such Drawing which is not so 
reimbursed by SMUD to the Bank shall automatically convert to and constitute an advance made 
by the Bank to SMUD on the date and in an amount equal to the principal portion of such 
Drawing (or portion thereof) (individually an “Advance” and, collectively, the “Advances”). 
Each Advance when made shall constitute reimbursement of the principal portion of the related 
Drawing in an amount equal to the principal amount of such Advance; and each Advance when 
made shall preclude, to the extent of the amount of such Advance, the related Drawing  from 
being or constituting an Unpaid Drawing. Unless SMUD shall have otherwise previously 
advised the Bank in writing, the honoring by the Bank of any Drawing under the Letter of Credit 

-11-




 

      

 

 
       

 
  

  
    

 

  

   

 
 

 

 
     

  
 

  
 

   

   

 

  
     

shall be deemed to constitute a representation and warranty by SMUD that on the date of such 
Drawing, no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and no event described 
in clause (b) of the definition of Material Adverse Change shall have occurred. 

(b) Payment of Principal and Interest on Advances.  Except as otherwise required or 
permitted by Section 2.3(c) or 2.3(d) hereof, SMUD shall repay, or cause to be repaid, the unpaid 
amount of each Advance on each Amortization Payment Date applicable to such Advance (each 
such payment of the unpaid principal amount of any Advance shall be referred to herein as a 
“Principal Payment”), with the final installment in an amount equal to the entire then 
outstanding principal amount of such Advance being due and payable on the related 
Amortization End Date (the period commencing on the date such Advance is made and ending 
on the related Amortization End Date is herein referred to as the “Amortization Period”).  Each 
Principal Payment shall be that amount of principal which will result in equal (as nearly as 
possible) aggregate Principal Payments over the applicable Amortization Period. SMUD shall 
pay interest on the unpaid amount of each Advance from the date of such Advance until paid in 
full at a rate per annum equal to the Bank Rate from time to time in effect; provided that from 
and after the occurrence of an Event of Default, such Advance shall bear interest at the per 
annum rate equal to the Default Rate from time to time in effect. Interest on each Advance shall 
be payable monthly, in arrears, on the first Business Day of each calendar month for the 
immediately preceding calendar month (commencing with the first such date to occur after the 
making of the related Advance) and upon prepayment or maturity of such Advance. 

 (c)  Optional Prepayment. (i) SMUD may prepay or cause to be prepaid the amount of 
any Advance outstanding in whole or in part in a minimum amount of $100,000 and in integral 
multiples of $100,000 in excess thereof with accrued interest to the date of such repayment on 
the amount prepaid. Any prepayment in part under this Section 2.3(c) shall be applied by the 
Bank against each such Advance, in the order in which each such Advance was made. 

(ii) Any prepayment made under Section 2.3(c)(i) hereof shall be applied by the Bank 
as a reimbursement of the related Drawing (and as a prepayment of the Advance resulting from 
such Drawing) and SMUD irrevocably authorizes the Bank to reinstate the amount available to 
be drawn under the Letter of Credit by the amount of such prepayment; provided, however, that 
the Depositary shall not issue any Notes (the aggregate principal and interest of which is payable 
from the amount of the Letter of Credit so reinstated) for sale or otherwise until the Letter of 
Credit has been reinstated pursuant to the terms of the Letter of Credit. 

(d) Mandatory Prepayment. In the event that the Depositary issues any Notes while  
any Advance remains unpaid, SMUD shall apply the proceeds of any such Notes to the 
prepayment of such outstanding Advance. Any prepayment in part under this Section 2.3(d) 
shall be applied against each such Advance in the order in which each such Advance was made. 

Section 2.4. Reimbursement of Drawings Not Converted to Advances; Reimbursement of 
Interest Component of Drawings "Section 2.4. Reimbursement of Drawings Not Converted 
to Advances; Reimbursement of Interest Component of Drawings" \l 2 . (a) If (x) (A) a Credit 
Default or a Credit Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing on the date of such 
Drawing or (B) an event described in clause (b) of the definition of Material Adverse Change 

-12-




 

   

 

  
 

     
       

    
 

  
 

 

  
 

 
    

  

   

  

  
 

  
 

   
  

 
 

shall have occurred or (y) the Bank shall have terminated its obligation to make Advances as a 
result of a Non-Credit Event of Default pursuant to Section 6.2(d) hereof, SMUD agrees to pay, 
or to cause to be paid, to the Bank (i) on each date on which the Bank shall honor any demand 
for payment under the Letter of Credit (each such payment by the Bank being herein referred to 
as a “Drawing”) a sum equal to the amount so paid under the Letter of Credit (any amount so 
paid until reimbursed being herein referred to as an “Unpaid Drawing”), plus (ii) except as 
provided in the last sentence of this Section 2.4, interest on the amount of each such Unpaid 
Drawing from and including the date such Drawing is paid until the Bank is reimbursed in full 
for such Unpaid Drawing at such fluctuating interest rate per annum as shall be in effect from 
time to time which rate per annum for each day shall be equal to the Default Rate in effect for 
such day. If (x) (A) a Credit Default or a Credit Event of Default shall have occurred and be 
continuing on the date of any Drawing or (B) an event described in clause (b) of the definition of 
Material Adverse Change shall have occurred or (y) (A) the Bank shall have terminated its 
obligation to make Advances as a result of a Non-Credit Event of Default pursuant to 
Section 6.2(d) hereof on or prior to the date of any Drawing, SMUD shall be obligated, without 
notice or demand for reimbursement (which notice is hereby waived by SMUD), to reimburse 
the Bank for any Drawing on the same day as made. SMUD and the Bank agree that the 
reimbursement in full for each Drawing on the day such Drawing is made is intended to be a 
contemporaneous exchange for new value given to SMUD by the Bank. 

(b) The interest component of any Drawing under the Letter of Credit shall be due 
and payable on the date of such Drawing. 

(c) If any portion of any Drawing is reimbursed at or prior to 4:00 P.M. New York 
time, on the same day on which it is made, no interest shall be payable on the related portion of 
such Drawing. 

Section 2.5. Fees. SMUD shall pay to the Bank the nonrefundable Letter of Credit Fees 
at the times and in the amounts set forth in the Fee Letter, the terms of such Fee Letter being 
incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth herein. SMUD shall also pay to the Bank all 
other fees and other amounts at the times and in the amounts set forth in the Fee Letter. 

Section 2.6. The Revolving Note "Section 2.6. The Revolving Note" \l 2 . All 
Obligations shall be made against and evidenced by SMUD’s promissory note payable to the 
order of the Bank in the principal amount of the Original Stated Amount, such note to be 
executed and delivered to the Bank on the Effective Date in the form of Exhibit A attached 
hereto with appropriate insertions (the “Revolving Note”). All Obligations and all payments and 
prepayments on account of the principal of and interest on each Obligation shall be recorded by 
the Bank on its books and records, which books and records shall, absent manifest error, be 
conclusive as to amounts payable by SMUD hereunder and under the Revolving Note.  The Bank 
may, but shall not be required to, complete the schedule attached to the Revolving Note to reflect 
the making and status of Drawings and Advances, provided that the failure to make or any error 
in making any such endorsement on such schedule shall not limit, extinguish or in any way 
modify the obligation of SMUD to repay the Drawings, Unpaid Drawings or Advances. SMUD 
shall pay principal and interest on the Revolving Note on the dates and at the rates provided for 
in Sections 2.3 and 2.4 hereof with respect to Unpaid Drawings and Advances. 

-13-




 

   
    

  
 

  

  

     
 

 
     

  
 

  

  
  
    

 

  
  

  
   

    

     
  

 
 

       

Section 2.7. Substitute Letter of Credit; Reduction of Stated Amount "Section 2.7. 
Substitute Letter of Credit; Reduction of Stated Amount" \l 2 . (a) SMUD agrees not to replace 
the Letter of Credit (or to direct the Depositary to terminate the Letter of Credit without a 
replacement letter of credit being substituted therefor) except upon (i) the payment by SMUD to 
the Bank of any and all fees associated therewith as set forth in the Fee Letter, (ii) the payment to 
the Bank of all fees, expenses and other amounts due and owing hereunder and under the Fee 
Letter to and including the date of termination of the Letter of Credit, (iii) the payment to the 
Bank of all principal and accrued interest owing on the Revolving Note (including, without 
limitation any Unpaid Drawings or outstanding Advances), and (iv) providing the Bank notice of 
its intention to do so at least fifteen (15) days prior to the date of such termination or 
replacement; provided that all payments to the Bank referred to in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) above 
shall be made with immediately available funds. 

(b) Reduction Fees. Notwithstanding the foregoing and anything set forth herein to the 
contrary, SMUD agrees not to permanently reduce the Original Stated Amount of the Letter of 
Credit except in accordance with the terms of the Program Documents and upon the payment of 
any and all fees associated therewith as set forth in the Fee Letter. 

Section 2.8. Computation of Interest and Fees "Section 2.8. Computation of 
Interest and Fees" \l 2 . Fees payable hereunder and under the Fee Letter shall be calculated on 
the basis of a year of 360 days and the actual number of days elapsed. Interest payable 
hereunder shall be calculated on the basis of a year of 365 days and the actual number of days 
elapsed. Interest shall accrue during each period during which interest is computed from and 
including the first day thereof to but excluding the last day thereof. 

Section 2.9. Payment Due on Non-Business Day to Be Made on Next Business Day 
"Section 2.9.Payment Due on Non-Business Day to Be Made on Next Business Day" \l 2 . If 
any sum becomes payable pursuant to this Agreement or the Fee Letter on a day which is not a 
Business Day, the date for payment thereof shall be extended, without penalty, to the next 
succeeding Business Day, and such extended time shall be included in the computation of 
interest and fees. 

Section 2.10. Late Payments "Section 2.10. Late Payments" \l 2 . If the principal 
amount of any Obligation is not paid when due, such Obligation shall bear interest until paid in 
full at a rate per annum equal to the Default Rate, payable on demand. Further, upon the 
occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, all Obligations payable hereunder 
(without respect to any fees not yet due and payable) shall bear interest until paid in full at a rate 
per annum equal to the Default Rate payable on demand. 

Section 2.11. Source of Funds "Section 2.11. Source of Funds" \l 2 . All payments made 
by the Bank pursuant to the Letter of Credit shall be made from funds of the Bank, and not from 
the funds of any other Person. 

Section 2.12. Extension of Stated Expiration Date. If SMUD on any date which is not 
more than one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the Stated Expiration Date (as the same may be 
extended from time to time) submits to the Bank a written request for an extension of the Stated 

-14-




 

  
   

 
 

  

 
 

   

 

   

    
 

 

   

 
     

 
  

  

 

 

 
 

 
  

   
   

Expiration Date for a period as specified in such written request, the Bank will make reasonable 
efforts to respond to such request within thirty (30) days after receipt  of all information  
necessary, in the Bank’s reasonable judgment, to permit the Bank to make an informed credit 
decision.  In the event the Bank fails to definitively respond to such request within such period of 
time, such Bank shall be deemed to have refused to grant the extension requested. The Bank 
may, in its sole and absolute discretion, decide to accept or reject any such proposed extension 
and no extension shall become effective unless the Bank shall have consented thereto in writing.  
The consent of the Bank, if granted, shall be conditioned upon the preparation, execution and 
delivery of documentation in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Bank and 
consistent with this Agreement. If such an extension request is accepted by the Bank in its 
absolute discretion, the then current Stated Expiration Date for the Letter of Credit shall be 
extended to the date agreed to by SMUD and the Bank and the Bank shall deliver to the Issuing 
and Payment Agent a notice of the extension of the Stated Expiration Date in the form of 
Annex G to the Letter of Credit. 

Section 2.13. Net of Taxes, Etc. 

 (a)  Taxes. Any and all payments to the Bank by SMUD hereunder and under the Fee 
Letter shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for any and all present or future 
taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, assessments, fees, charges, withholdings (including 
backup withholding), liabilities or other charges imposed thereon, including any interest, fines, 
additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto, but excluding taxes imposed on or measured by 
the net income or capital of the Bank by any jurisdiction or any political subdivision or taxing 
authority thereof or therein solely as a result of a connection between the Bank and such 
jurisdiction or political subdivision (all such non-excluded taxes, levies, imposts, duties, 
deductions, assessments, fees, charges, withholdings (including backup withholding), liabilities 
and other charges, including any interest, fines or additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto, 
being hereinafter referred to as “Taxes”). If SMUD shall be required by law to withhold or 
deduct any Taxes imposed by the United States of America or any political subdivision thereof 
from or in respect of any sum payable hereunder or under the Fee Letter to the Bank, (i) the sum 
payable shall be increased as may be necessary so that after making all required deductions 
(including deductions applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 2.13), the Bank 
receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been made; 
(ii) SMUD shall make such deductions; and (iii) SMUD shall pay the full amount deducted to the 
relevant taxation authority or other authority in accordance with applicable law. If SMUD shall 
make any payment under this Section 2.13 to or for the benefit of the Bank with respect to Taxes 
and if the Bank shall claim any credit or deduction for such Taxes against any other taxes 
payable by the Bank to any taxing jurisdiction in the United States then the Bank shall pay to 
SMUD an amount equal to the amount of any refund actually received by the Bank or the 
amount by which such other taxes are actually reduced; provided that the aggregate amount 
payable by the Bank pursuant to this sentence shall not exceed the aggregate amount previously 
paid by SMUD to the Bank with respect to such Taxes. In addition, SMUD agrees to pay any 
present or future stamp, recording or documentary taxes and any other excise or property taxes, 
charges or similar levies that arise under the laws of the United States of America, the State of 
New York, the State or any other taxing jurisdiction from any payment made hereunder or under 
the Fee Letter or from the execution or delivery or otherwise with respect to this Agreement 

-15-




 

   
  

 
    

   
 

   
  

 
   

  
 

 
 

 
  

 

   

 
 

  
  

 

    

  

 

   
    

  

(hereinafter referred to as “Other Taxes”). The Bank shall provide to SMUD within a 
reasonable time a copy of any written notification it receives with respect to Taxes or Other 
Taxes owing by SMUD to the Bank hereunder; provided that the Bank’s failure to send such 
notice shall not relieve SMUD of its obligation to pay such amounts hereunder. SMUD may 
conduct a reasonable contest of any such Taxes with the prior written consent of the Bank, which 
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. 

(b) Indemnity. SMUD shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law and subject to the 
provisions hereof, indemnify and reimburse the Bank for the full amount of Taxes and Other 
Taxes including any Taxes or Other Taxes imposed by any jurisdiction on amounts payable 
under this Section 2.13 paid by the Bank or any liability (including penalties, interest and 
expenses) arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes or Other Taxes 
were correctly or legally asserted; provided that SMUD shall not be obligated to indemnify the 
Bank for any penalties, interest or expenses relating to Taxes or Other Taxes arising from the 
Bank’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Bank agrees to give notice to SMUD of the 
assertion of any claim against the Bank relating to such Taxes or Other Taxes as promptly as is 
practicable after being notified of such assertion; provided that the Bank’s failure to notify 
SMUD promptly of such assertion shall not relieve SMUD of its obligation under this 
Section 2.13. Payments by SMUD pursuant to this indemnification shall be made within thirty 
(30) days from the date the Bank makes written demand therefor, which demand shall be 
accompanied by a certificate describing in reasonable detail the basis thereof. The Bank agrees 
to repay to SMUD any refund (including that portion of any interest that was included as part of 
such refund) with respect to Taxes or Other Taxes paid by SMUD pursuant to this Section 2.13 
received by the Bank for Taxes or Other Taxes that were paid by SMUD pursuant to this 
Section 2.13 and to contest, with the cooperation and at the expense of SMUD, any such Taxes 
or Other Taxes which the Bank or SMUD reasonably believes not to have been properly 
assessed.

 (c)  Notice. Within thirty (30) days after the date of any payment of Taxes or Other 
Taxes by SMUD, SMUD shall furnish to the Bank, the original or a certified copy of a receipt 
evidencing payment thereof. 

(d) Cut-Off Period. Notwithstanding anything contained in paragraphs (a) or (b) of this 
Section 2.13, SMUD shall have no liability to the Bank with respect to any Taxes or Other Taxes 
to the extent incurred or imposed on the Bank more than one hundred eighty (180) days prior the 
date written notification thereof is given to SMUD by the Bank (the “Cut-Off Date”), except 
where (A) the Bank had no actual knowledge of the action resulting in such Taxes or Other 
Taxes as of the Cut-Off Date or (B) such Taxes or Other Taxes apply to the Bank retroactively to 
a date prior to the Cut-Off Date. 

 (e)  Survival of Obligations. The obligations of SMUD under this Section 2.13 shall 
survive the termination of this Agreement for a period of one hundred eighty (180) days after 
such termination. 

Section 2.14. Increased Costs "Section 2.14. Increased Costs" \l 2 .  (a) If the Bank or any 
Participant shall determine that a Change in Law shall have occurred that shall:  

-16-




 

 

   
 

 

 

  

 

 

   
 

 
  

   

 
 

  
   

  
 

     
 

     

     
  

  

(i) change the basis of taxation of payments to the Bank or such Participant of 
any amounts payable hereunder (except for taxes on the overall net income of the Bank 
or such Participant), 

(ii) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, capital or liquidity ratio, 
special deposit, compulsory loan, insurance charge or similar requirement against issuing 
and maintaining its obligations under the Letter of Credit, issuing or honoring Drawings 
under the Letter of Credit or making Advances hereunder or assets held by, or deposits 
with or for the account of, the Bank or such Participant or 

(iii) impose on the Bank or such Participant any other such condition, cost or 
expense regarding this Agreement or the Letter of Credit  

and the result of any event referred to in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above shall be to increase the cost 
to the Bank or such Participant of entering into and performing this Agreement or the Letter of 
Credit or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by the Bank or such Participant 
hereunder, then, upon demand by the Bank or such Participant, SMUD shall pay to the Bank or 
such Participant such additional amount or amounts as will compensate the Bank or such 
Participant for such increased costs or reductions in amount. 

(b) If the Bank or any Participant shall have determined that a Change in Law shall 
have occurred that, shall impose, modify or deem applicable any capital or liquidity adequacy or 
similar requirement (including, without limitation, a request or requirement that affects the 
manner in which the Bank or such Participant or any corporation controlling the Bank or such 
Participant allocates capital or liquidity resources to its commitments, including its obligations 
under agreements similar to this Agreement and the Letter of Credit) that either (i) affects or 
would affect the amount of capital or liquidity to be maintained by the Bank or such Participant 
or any corporation controlling the Bank or such Participant or (ii) reduces or would reduce the 
rate of return on the Bank’s or such Participant’s or the Bank’s or such Participant’s controlling 
corporation’s capital or liquidity to a level below that which the Bank’s or such Participant’s or 
the Bank’s or such Participant’s controlling corporations could have achieved but for such 
circumstances (taking into consideration the Bank’s or such Participant’s or the Bank’s or such 
Participant’s controlling corporation’s policies with respect to capital or liquidity adequacy 
would yield prior to the imposition or modification of such requirement) hereunder, then upon 
demand by the Bank or such Participant, SMUD shall pay to the Bank or such Participant such 
additional amounts as will compensate the Bank or such Participant or any corporation 
controlling the Bank or such Participant for such costs of maintaining such increased capital or 
liquidity or such reduction in the rate of return on the Bank’s or the Bank’s controlling 
corporation’s capital or liquidity or the Participant’s or the Participant’s controlling corporation’s 
capital or liquidity related to the maintenance of this Agreement and the Letter of Credit. 

(c) Subject to Section 7.3(b) hereof, all payments of amounts referred to in clauses (a) 
and (b) of this Section shall be paid by SMUD to the Bank or Participant and shall bear interest 
thereon if not paid to the Bank or such Participant within 30 days of such notice until payment in 
full thereof at an interest rate per annum equal to the Default Rate in effect, from time to time, 
payable on demand. A certificate as to such increased cost, increased capital or liquidity, or 

-17-




 

 
 

  

 
 

 

 
 

 
  

  

 

  

 

 

 
  

 
     

  
   

  
    

  

   

reduction in return incurred by the Bank or any Participant as a result of any event mentioned in 
clause (a) or (b) of this Section setting forth, in reasonable detail, the basis for calculation and the 
amount of such calculation shall be submitted by the Bank or such Participant to SMUD and 
shall be conclusive as to the amount thereof. In making the determinations contemplated by the 
above referenced certificate, the Bank or any Participant may make such reasonable estimates, 
assumptions, allocations and the like that the Bank or such Participant in good faith determines 
to be appropriate. Notwithstanding any provision in this Section to the contrary, amounts 
payable to such Participant pursuant to this Section shall not exceed the amount the Bank would 
have been paid under this Section with respect to the interest granted to the Participant had such 
interest not been granted. 

(d) Failure or delay on the part of the Bank to demand compensation pursuant to the 
foregoing provisions of this Section shall not constitute a waiver of the Bank’s right to demand 
such compensation; provided that SMUD shall not be required to compensate the Bank or any 
Participant pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section for any increased costs incurred 
or reductions suffered more than six (6) months prior to the date that the Bank notifies SMUD of 
the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and of the Bank’s intention 
to claim compensation therefor (except that, if the Change in Law giving rise to such increased 
costs or reductions is retroactive, then the six (6) month period referred to above shall be 
extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof). 

(e) The obligations of SMUD under this Section 2.14 shall survive the termination of 
the Letter of Credit and the repayment of all Obligations hereunder for a period of one hundred 
eighty (180) days after such termination or repayment; provided, however, that in the event any 
Change in Law provides for retroactive increased costs or retroactive imposition of capital 
adequacy or liquidity requirements, as described in this Section 2.14, the Bank may impose such 
costs on SMUD in accordance with the terms of this Section 2.14; provided, further, however, 
that the foregoing proviso shall only apply to any Change in Law occurring not later than two (2) 
years after the date this Agreement terminates and all Obligations have been paid in full. 

 Section 2.15. Margin Regulations. No portion of the proceeds of any Drawings under the 
Letter of Credit shall be used by SMUD (or the Depositary or any other Person on behalf of 
SMUD) for the purpose of “purchasing” or “carrying” any margin stock or used in any manner 
which might cause the borrowing or the application of such proceeds to violate Regulation U, 
Regulation T, or Regulation X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or any 
other regulation of said Board of Governors or to violate the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, in each case as in effect on the date or dates of such Drawings or Advances and such 
use of proceeds. 

Section 2.16. Maximum Rate; Payment of Fee. Anything in this Agreement to the 
contrary notwithstanding, if the rate of interest due hereunder shall exceed the Maximum Rate 
for any period for which interest is payable, then (i) interest at the Maximum Rate shall be due 
and payable with respect to such interest period and (ii) interest at the rate equal to the difference 
between (A) the rate of interest calculated in accordance with the terms hereof without regard to 
the Maximum Rate and (B) the Maximum Rate (the “Excess Interest”), shall be deferred until 
such date as the rate of interest calculated in accordance with the terms hereof ceases to exceed 

-18-




 

 
  

   
  

 

   

  

 
 

 

   

 

  
  
 

  
    

  
 

      

  

 

   

  
    

  

the Maximum Rate, at which time SMUD shall pay to the Bank, with respect to amounts then 
payable to the Bank that are required to accrue interest hereunder, such portion of the deferred 
Excess Interest as will cause the rate of interest then paid to the Bank to equal the Maximum 
Rate, which payments of deferred Excess Interest shall continue to apply to such unpaid amounts 
hereunder until all deferred Excess Interest is fully paid to the Bank.  To the extent permitted by 
law, upon the termination of the Letter of Credit, in consideration for the limitation of the rate of 
interest otherwise payable hereunder, SMUD shall pay to the Bank a fee equal to the amount of 
all unpaid deferred Excess Interest.   

Section 2.17. Security for Obligations. This Agreement constitutes a Reimbursement 
Agreement (as defined in the Note Resolution) under the Note Resolution and has all rights and 
benefits thereof. In order to secure the timely payment of all Obligations and to secure the 
performance and observance of all of the covenants, agreements and conditions contained in this 
Agreement and the Fee Letter, SMUD has pledged the Available Revenues to the Bank (for the 
benefit of the Bank and any Affiliate of the Bank to whom any Obligation is at any time owed), 
pursuant to and on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Note Resolution. The 
pledge of Available Revenues under the Note Resolution constitutes a valid pledge of and charge 
and lien upon the Available Revenues, has attached and is effective, binding, and enforceable 
against SMUD, its successors, purchasers of any of the Available Revenues, creditors, and all 
others asserting rights therein to the extent set forth in, and in accordance with, the Note 
Resolution, irrespective of whether those parties have notice of the lien on, security interest in 
and pledge of the Available Revenues and without the need for any physical delivery, 
recordation, filing or further act. 

Section 2.18. Commercial Paper Notes Operations. 

 (a)  Issuance Generally. SMUD will permit Notes to be issued, and authorize the 
Depositary to issue Notes, only in accordance with the terms of the Note Resolution and this 
Agreement. 

(b) No-Issuance Notices; Final Drawing Notice. Notes may be issued from time to 
time prior to the Stated Expiration Date in accordance herewith and with the Note Resolution so 
long as (i) the Depositary is not in receipt of instructions then in effect given pursuant to this 
Section 2.18(b) and in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (a “No-Issuance 
Notice”), and not rescinded, by the Bank not to issue Notes and (ii) the Depositary is not in 
receipt of the Final Drawing Notice. The Bank may deliver a Final Drawing Notice at any time 
when (A) an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or (B) an Optional 
Termination Event shall have occurred and be continuing and the Bank may deliver a 
No-Issuance Notice at any time when (x) an Event of Default shall have occurred and be 
continuing, (y) an Optional Termination Event shall have occurred and be continuing or (z) a 
Rating Event shall have occurred and be continuing.  A No-Issuance Notice or the Final Drawing 
Notice shall be effective when received by the Depositary; provided, however, that  a  
No-Issuance Notice or the Final Drawing Notice received by the Depositary after 11:00 A.M. 
New York time, on any day on which Notes are being issued shall be effective on the next 
succeeding day. A No-Issuance Notice or the Final Drawing Notice may be given by facsimile 
or electronic mail transmission, confirmed in writing within twenty-four (24) hours, but the 

-19-




 

 
  

  

 
    

   

 

 
 

   
  

   

 
    

 

  

 

   

  
 

  
  

failure to so confirm such No-Issuance Notice or the Final Drawing Notice in writing shall not 
render such No-Issuance Notice or the Final Drawing Notice ineffective. The Bank will furnish 
a copy of any No-Issuance Notice or the Final Drawing Notice to SMUD and the Dealer 
promptly following delivery thereof to the Depositary, but the failure to furnish any such copy 
shall not render ineffective such No-Issuance Notice or the Final Drawing Notice. 

Section 2.19. Method of Payment; Etc "Section 2.19. Method of Payment; Etc" \l 2 
. All payments to be made by SMUD under this Agreement and the Fee Letter shall be made at 
the Payment Account not later than 4:00 P.M. (New York time) on the date when due and shall 
be made in lawful money of the United States of America in freely transferable and immediately 
available funds. All payments received by the Bank after 4:00 P.M. (New York time) shall be 
deemed to have been made on the next succeeding Business Day and any applicable interest or 
fees shall continue to accrue. 

ARTICLE THREE
	

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
	

Section 3.1. Conditions Precedent to Issuance of the Letter of Credit "Section 3.1. 
Conditions Precedent to Issuance of the Letter of Credit" \l 2 . As conditions precedent to the 
obligation of the Bank to issue the Letter of Credit, SMUD shall provide to the Bank on the 
Effective Date, each in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel, Chapman 
and Cutler LLP (hereinafter, “Bank’s Counsel”): 

 (i)  Approvals. The Bank shall have received an executed counterpart of this 
Agreement duly executed by SMUD and the Bank and an executed original of the 
Revolving Note and copies of all action taken by SMUD (including, without limitation, 
any resolution adopted or passed by SMUD in connection therewith) approving the 
execution and delivery by SMUD of this Agreement, the Fee Letter, the Revolving Note 
and the other Program Documents, in each case, certified by an authorized official of 
SMUD as complete and correct as of the date hereof. 

 (ii)  Incumbency of Officials. The Bank shall have received an incumbency 
certificate of SMUD in respect of each of the officials who is authorized to (a) sign this 
Agreement, the Revolving Note and the other Program Documents on behalf of SMUD 
and (b) take actions for SMUD under this Agreement, the Revolving Note and the other 
Program Documents. 

(iii) Opinion of Note Counsel. The Bank shall have received an opinion of 
note counsel or a reliance letter thereon. 

 (iv)  Opinion of Counsel to SMUD. The Bank shall have received an opinion 
addressed to the Bank and dated the Effective Date of the general counsel for SMUD, in 
form and substance satisfactory to the Bank, and addressing (i) SMUD’s existence, (ii) 
SMUD’s power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Fee Letter and to 
perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder, (iii) SMUD’s execution and delivery of 
this Agreement and the Fee Letter, (iv) the enforceability of SMUD’s obligations under 

-20-




 

 
 

     

   
 

  
 

  
 

  

  

    

 
 

 

  
 

    

this Agreement and the Fee Letter, (v) that SMUD has obtained all consents necessary to 
execute, deliver and perform this Agreement and the Fee Letter, (vi) the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement and the Fee Letter by SMUD will not violate any law, order 
or agreement to which SMUD is subject or to which SMUD is a party, and (vii) there is 
no litigation pending or threatened against SMUD that would prevent SMUD from 
executing and delivering this Agreement and the Fee Letter or performing its obligations 
hereunder and thereunder. 

(v) Note Resolution and Other Program Documents. The Bank shall have 
received (a) a certified copy of the Note Resolution, the Master Bond Resolution (or a 
certified copy of the annotated version thereof) and the Subordinated Bond Resolution (or 
a certified copy of the annotated version thereof) which have been adopted prior to the 
Effective Date, all certified by an authorized officer of SMUD as being in full force and 
effect and (b) fully executed or certified copies, as applicable, of all other Program 
Documents. 

 (vi)  Financial Information. The Bank shall have received copies of any 
financial information of SMUD that the Bank may reasonably request. 

(vii) Legality; Material Adverse Change. The Bank shall have determined (in 
its sole discretion) that (a) neither the making of any Advances nor the consummation of 
any of the transactions contemplated by the Note Resolution, the Notes, this Agreement 
or any other Program Document will violate any law, rule, guideline or regulation 
applicable to SMUD, the Bank, the Letter of Credit or this Agreement, and (b) no 
Material Adverse Change shall have occurred since December 31, 2020. 

 (viii)  Fees, Etc. The Bank shall have received payment of the fees, costs and 
expenses payable on the Effective Date. 

 (ix)  Revolving Note; Rating and CUSIP. The Bank shall have received (a) an 
executed Revolving Note and [(b) written evidence satisfactory to the Bank that (i) an 
unenhanced long-term investment grade (i.e., “Baa3” or better by Moody’s or 
“BBB-” or better by S&P and/or Fitch) rating for the Revolving Note has been  
obtained from at least one Rating Agency] and (ii) a CUSIP number has been obtained 
and reserved from Standard & Poor’s CUSIP Service for the Revolving Note. 

(x) Closing Certificate. The Bank shall have received a certificate from 
SMUD executed by the Authorized SMUD Representative, dated the Effective Date, 
stating that: 

(a) the representations and warranties of SMUD contained in this 
Agreement and each certificate furnished or delivered by SMUD to the Bank 
pursuant hereto are true and correct on and as of the Effective Date as though 
made on and as of such date; 

-21-




 

  
  

      
  

 
  

 

   

  

     
 

   
 

    
 

    
  

 
 

  

  

 
     

(b) no “default” or “event of default” under any Program Document to 
which SMUD is a party and no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is 
continuing or would result from the entering into or performance under this 
Agreement and the other Program Documents; and 

(c) except as has been disclosed to the Bank in writing prior to the 
Effective Date, there has been no Material Adverse Change since December 31, 
2020. 

 (xi)  Ratings. Written evidence that the unenhanced senior lien, long-term 
Bonds are rated not lower than [“___”] (or its equivalent) by Moody’s, [“___”] (or its 
equivalent) by S&P or [“___”] (or its equivalent) by Fitch.1 

(xii) Original Letter of Credit. Evidence that the Original Letter of Credit has 
been marked “Cancelled” by the Depositary and will be returned to the Bank. 

 (xiii)  Other Documents. The Bank shall have received such other documents, 
certificates, and opinions as the Bank or the Bank’s counsel shall have reasonably 
requested. 

"ARTICLE FOUR  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES" \L 1 ARTICLE FOUR 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 4.1. Representations of SMUD. In order to induce the Bank to issue the Letter 
of Credit, SMUD represents and warrants to the Bank as follows:

 (a)  Existence and Power. SMUD is a municipal utility district organized and existing 
under and by virtue of the Act, and is possessed of full powers to own and lease (as lessor and 
lessee) real and personal property, to own and operate the Electric System, to conduct its other 
business as presently conducted and to enter into contracts such as this Agreement and the 
SMUD Program Documents, which powers have been validly exercised in connection with the 
transactions effected by this Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents. 

(b) Authorization; Contravention; Approvals. The execution, delivery and performance 
by SMUD of this Agreement, the Fee Letter and the SMUD Program Documents and the other 
documents contemplated hereby and thereby are within the powers of SMUD, have been duly 
authorized by all necessary actions and (i) do not contravene the Act or any other law, rule, 
regulation, order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or award or any indenture, 
agreement, lease, instrument or other contractual restriction binding on or affecting SMUD and 
(ii) except as provided in or contemplated by this Agreement and the Program Documents, do 
not result in or require the creation of any Lien, security interest or other charge or encumbrance 
upon or with respect to any asset of SMUD. SMUD is not in violation of or in default in any 
material respect under any law, rule, regulation, order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, 

NDT: Confirm SMUD’s most recent ratings. 

-22-


1 



 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  

 
       

   

 

   
  

  

   

  
 

  
   

determination or award that would prevent or is reasonably likely to prevent SMUD from 
performing its obligations under this Agreement or the SMUD Program Documents. SMUD is 
not in violation of or in default in any material respect under any indenture, agreement, lease, 
instrument or other contractual restriction and is not in violation of or in default in any respect 
under any of the SMUD Program Documents that would prevent or is reasonably likely to 
prevent SMUD from performing its obligations under this Agreement or the SMUD Program 
Documents. No Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.  All orders, consents 
and other authorizations or approvals of all Governmental Authorities and all other Persons have 
been obtained (and no additional authorization, approval or other action by, and no notice to or 
filing or registration with, any Governmental Authority is required to be made or obtained by 
SMUD) for the due execution, delivery and performance by SMUD of this Agreement and the 
SMUD Program Documents. 

 (c)  Enforceability. This Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents, and other 
documents contemplated hereby and thereby to which SMUD is a party or by which it is bound, 
are legally valid and binding obligations of SMUD enforceable against SMUD in accordance 
with their respective terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by (i) bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally; (ii) general 
principles of equity; (iii) the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases; and (iv) to the 
limitations on legal remedies against municipal utility districts in the State of California. 

(d) Litigation. Except as disclosed in the Offering Memorandum or in writing to the 
Bank prior to the Effective Date, there are no actions, suits, proceedings, inquiries or 
investigations, at law or in equity, before any court, Governmental Authority or arbitrator 
pending or, to the best knowledge of SMUD, threatened, against or directly involving SMUD 
(including, without limitation, the ability of SMUD to establish and collect rates for the 
generation, transmission and distribution of electric power), affecting the existence of SMUD, 
the title of any officials to their respective offices or affecting or seeking to prohibit, restrain or 
enjoin the execution or delivery of this Agreement or any Program Document, or  in any  way  
contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Notes, this Agreement, any Program 
Document or contesting the tax-exempt status of the Notes, or contesting in any way the 
completeness or accuracy of the Offering Memorandum or any supplements or amendments 
thereto, or contesting the powers of SMUD or any authority for the issuance of the Notes, the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement or the SMUD Program Documents, nor, to the best, 
knowledge of SMUD, is there any basis therefor, which, if determined adversely to SMUD (i) 
would adversely affect the validity or enforceability of, or the authority or ability of SMUD to 
perform its obligations under, this Agreement, the Fee Letter or any SMUD Program Documents, 
(ii) would, in the reasonable opinion of SMUD, have a material adverse effect on the business, 
financial position or results of operations of SMUD or (iii) would adversely affect the exclusion 
of interest on the Notes from gross income for Federal income tax purposes or the exemption of 
such interest from State of California personal income taxes. 

 (e)  Financial Information.  (i)  The audited financial statements of SMUD included in 
the 2020 Financial Statements, true and correct copies of which have heretofore been delivered 
or made available to the Bank, fairly present, in conformity with generally accepted accounting 

-23-




 

       

   

    
   

   
 

 

 

   

     

 

     
     

 

  
 

       
    

 
 

 
 

   
 

  
  

principles the financial position of SMUD and its results of operations and changes in financial 
position at the dates and for the periods indicated. 

(ii) Except as has been disclosed in writing to the Bank prior to the Effective Date, 
since December 31, 2020, there has been no material adverse change in the business, financial 
position or results of operations of SMUD which could reasonably be expected to result in a 
material adverse effect on SMUD’s ability to perform its obligations hereunder or thereunder or 
the rights, security or interests of the Bank. 

(iii) Except as reflected in the financial statements included in the 2020 Financial 
Statements or as described in the Offering Memorandum or as has been disclosed in writing to 
the Bank prior to the Effective Date and except for SMUD’s obligations set forth in this 
Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents, there are as of the date hereof no liabilities or 
obligations with respect to SMUD of any nature whatsoever (whether absolute, accrued, 
contingent or otherwise and whether or not due) which, in the aggregate, would be material to 
SMUD. SMUD does not know of any basis for the assertion against SMUD of any liability or 
obligation of any nature whatsoever that is not reflected in the financial statements included in 
the 2020 Financial Statements or the Offering Memorandum or other written disclosure to the 
Bank delivered prior to the Effective Date which, in the aggregate, could be material to SMUD. 

(f) Disclosure. No written information furnished by SMUD to the Bank in connection 
with this Agreement (except information which has been superseded by subsequent information 
provided by SMUD) includes any untrue statement of a material fact. 

(g) Environmental Matters.   Except  as disclosed in  the  Offering  Memorandum or in 
writing to the Bank prior to the Effective Date, SMUD has not received notice to the effect that 
the operations of the Electric System are not in compliance with any of the requirements of 
applicable Federal, state or local environmental, health and safety statutes and regulations or are 
the subject of any governmental investigation evaluating whether any remedial action is needed 
to respond to a release of any toxic or hazardous waste or substance into the environment, in 
each case which non-compliance or remedial action could have a Material Adverse Effect. 

(h) Plans. SMUD currently has a Plan which is in compliance in all respects with the 
requirements of the applicable laws of the State of California, including without limitation the 
obligation to pay contributions on behalf of its employees in accordance therewith, and SMUD 
has no Plan which is subject to the requirements of ERISA. No condition exists or event or 
transaction has occurred with respect to any Plan which could reasonably be expected to result in 
the incurrence by SMUD of any material liability, fine or penalty.

 (i)  Regulations U and X. SMUD is not engaged in the business of extending credit for 
the purpose of purchasing or carrying margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U or X 
issued by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System); and no proceeds of any Notes 
will be used to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any margin 
stock. 

-24-




 

   

 
   

 

   
  

 
    

    
 

  
  

 

     

   

  
  

   
    

  
 

     

   

 
 

 

 (j)  Tax-Exempt Status. SMUD has not taken any action or omitted to take any action, 
and knows of no action taken or omitted to be taken by any other Person, which action, if taken 
or omitted, would adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Notes of Subseries L-1 from 
gross income for Federal income tax purposes or the exemption of  such interest  from State of  
California personal income taxes. 

(k) Security. The Note Resolution creates a pledge of the Available Revenues as 
security for the punctual payment of the interest and principal due with respect to the Notes, the 
Parity Notes, the Obligations owed to the Bank hereunder and all Parity Notes Reimbursement 
Agreements. All actions necessary to create a pledge of the Available Revenues have been duly 
and validly taken. SMUD’s obligation to pay the Obligations is pari passu with its obligation to 
pay the Notes, Parity Notes and all Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreements.

 (l)  Constitutional Matters. There is no amendment, or, to the best knowledge of 
SMUD, proposed amendment certified for placement on a statewide ballot, to the Constitution of 
the State of California or any published administrative interpretation of the Constitution of the 
State of California or any State of California law, or any legislation which has passed either 
house of the State legislature, or any published judicial decision interpreting any of the 
foregoing, the effect of which could reasonably be expected to have Material Adverse Effect. 

 (m)  No Sovereign Immunity. SMUD represents that it is not entitled to claim immunity 
on the grounds of sovereignty or other similar grounds with respect to itself from (i) suit or (ii) 
jurisdiction of any court because of its status as a political subdivision of the State of California. 

(n) Incorporation of Representations and Warranties by Reference. SMUD hereby 
makes to the Bank, as of the Effective Date, every representation and warranty made by it in 
SMUD Program Documents, which representations and warranties, as well as the defined terms 
contained therein that are necessary for a correct interpretation thereof, are incorporated herein 
by this reference with the same effect as if each and every such provision and defined term were 
set forth herein in its entirety. No amendment, modification, termination or replacement of any 
such representations, warranties, covenants and definitions contained in the SMUD Program 
Documents shall be effective to amend, modify, terminate or replace the representations, 
warranties, covenants and definitions incorporated herein by this reference, without the prior  
written consent of the Bank. The representations and warranties of SMUD in all of the SMUD 
Program Documents are true and correct in all material respects. 

(o) No Violation of Usury Laws. The terms of the Notes and the Note Resolution 
regarding the calculation and payment of interest on the Notes do not violate any applicable 
usury laws of the State of California and, assuming that the Bank is an exempted class of persons 
within the meaning of Article 15 of the California Constitution, the terms of this Agreement, the 
Fee Letter, and the Revolving Note regarding the calculation and payment of interest and fees 
and other amounts due under this Agreement, the Fee Letter, and the Revolving Note do not 
violate any applicable usury laws of the State of California. 

-25-




 

    

 

   

  
   

    

 
 

 

    
 

 

 
 

 

     

     

  

 

  

  

    

(p) Compliance. SMUD is in substantial compliance with all laws, ordinances, orders, 
rules and regulations applicable to it, except to the extent noncompliance could not reasonably be 
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 

(q) Default. SMUD is not in default in the performance, observance or fulfillment of 
any of the obligations, covenants or conditions contained in any SMUD Program Document, the 
Master Bond Resolution, the Subordinated Bond Resolution or any other resolution, agreement 
or instrument to which it is a party which could have a Material Adverse Effect. No Default or 
Event of Default has occurred and is continuing. 

(r) Depositary and Dealer. U.S. Bank National Association (or a successor or assign 
approved in writing by the Bank) is the duly appointed and acting Depositary and Barclays 
Capital Inc. (or a successor or assign approved in writing by the Bank) is the duly appointed 
Dealer.

 (s)  Insurance.  The properties of SMUD are insured in accordance with the terms of the 
Master Bond Resolution. 

 (t)  Taxes. SMUD has filed any Federal, state and other material tax returns and reports 
required to be filed, and has paid all Federal, state and other material taxes, assessments, fees and 
other governmental charges levied or imposed upon them or their properties, income or assets 
otherwise due and payable, except those which are being contested in good faith by appropriate 
proceedings diligently conducted and for which adequate reserves have been provided in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. There is no proposed tax assessment 
against SMUD that would, if made, have a Material Adverse Effect. 

(u) Casualty. Neither the business nor the Property of SMUD is currently affected by 
any fire, explosion, accident, strike, lockout or other labor dispute, drought, storm, hail, 
earthquake, embargo, act of God or of the public enemy or other casualty (whether or not 
covered by insurance), which could have a Material Adverse Effect. 

 (v) Anti-Terrorism Laws. (i) SMUD is not in violation of any laws relating to terrorism 
or money laundering (“Anti-Terrorism Laws”), including Executive Order No. 13224 on 
Terrorist Financing, effective September 24, 2001 (the “Executive Order”), and the Patriot Act; 

(ii) SMUD is not any of the following: 

(A) a Person that is listed in the annex to, or is otherwise subject to the 
provisions of, the Executive Order; 

(B) a Person owned or controlled by, or acting for or on behalf of, any 
Person that is listed in the annex to, or is otherwise subject to the provisions of, 
the Executive Order; 

(C)  a Person  with which the Bank is prohibited from dealing or 
otherwise engaging in any transaction by any Anti-Terrorism Law; 

-26-




 

    

     

 
 

 

 
 

  

 
    

   
 

   

 
 

 

  
   

 

     

 
 

  
 

(D) a Person that commits, threatens or conspires to commit or 
supports “terrorism” as defined in the Executive Order; or 

(E) a Person that is named as a “specially designated national and 
blocked person” on the most current list published by the Office of Foreign Asset 
Control (“OFAC”) or any list of Persons issued by OFAC pursuant to the 
Executive Order at its official website or any replacement website or other 
replacement official publication of such list; 

(iii) SMUD is an electrical utility. To its knowledge, SMUD does not 
(A) conduct any business or engage in making or receiving any contribution of funds, 
goods or services to or for the benefit of any Person described in subsection (ii)(B) above, 
(B) deal in, or otherwise engage in any transaction relating to, any property or interests in 
property blocked pursuant to the Executive Order or (C) engage in or conspires to engage 
in any transaction that evades or avoids, or has the purpose of evading or avoiding, or 
attempts to violate, any of the prohibitions set forth in any Anti-Terrorism Law. 

ARTICLE FIVE 
"ARTICLE FIVE  COVENANTS" \L 1 COVENANTS 

Section 5.1. Covenants of SMUD. SMUD will do the following so long as any amounts 
may be drawn under the Letter of Credit or any Obligations remain outstanding under this 
Agreement, unless the Bank shall otherwise consent in writing: 

 (a)  Reports and Other Information. SMUD will furnish, or cause to be furnished, at 
SMUD’s expense to the Bank: 

(i) As soon as possible and in any event within five (5) Business Days after 
the knowledge (actual or constructive) or notice of occurrence of any Event of Default, a 
statement of the Authorized SMUD Representative setting forth details of such Event of 
Default and the action that SMUD proposes to take with respect thereto; 

(ii) As soon as available and in any event within 180 days after the end of  
each Fiscal Year of SMUD, a copy of the audited financial statements of SMUD for such 
year, including a balance sheet of SMUD as at the end of such Fiscal Year and the related 
statements of revenues, expenses and changes in fund balances and statement of cash 
flows, all in reasonable detail and reported on by a firm of nationally recognized 
independent certified public accountants, and the report of such firm of independent 
certified public accountants shall state, without qualification, that such financial 
statements present fairly the financial position of SMUD as of the end of such Fiscal 
Year, the results of operations, the changes in fund balances and cash flows of SMUD for 
such Fiscal Year then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(iii) Simultaneously with the delivery of each set of financial statements 
referred to in clause (ii) above, a certificate of an Authorized SMUD Representative 
stating whether there exists on the date of such certificate any Event of Default or Default 

-27-




 

 

 
  

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
    

 

 
 

 
  

 

   
  

     

  
 

  
 

and, if any Event of Default or Default then exists, setting forth the details thereof and the 
action that SMUD is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto; 

(iv) As soon as available and in any event within 60 days after June 30 and 
December 31 of each calendar year, a copy of the unaudited internally prepared balance 
sheet and statement of changes in net asset of SMUD for the six month or one year period 
ended on such date, setting forth in each case in comparative form the corresponding 
figures for the corresponding fiscal period for the preceding fiscal year, all in reasonable 
detail, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently 
applied; 

(v) As soon as practicable and in any event within ten (10) Business Days 
after SMUD obtains actual knowledge of: (A) any litigation, arbitration or governmental 
proceeding pending against SMUD that challenges SMUD’s ability to perform its  
obligations under this Agreement and/or the SMUD Program Documents; or (B) any 
other event or condition that would prevent or is reasonably likely to prevent SMUD 
from performing its obligations under this Agreement and/or the SMUD Program 
Documents, in each case a statement of the Authorized SMUD Representative setting 
forth details describing the same and the steps being taken with thereto; 

(vi) As soon as practicable, notice of any disclosure documents publicly 
distributed in connection with any issue of Parity Bonds, Parity Subordinated Debt or 
Parity Notes; 

(vii) As soon as practicable, notice of any change in, or the withdrawal of, any 
rating of Bonds or Subordinated Bonds (without regard to bond insurance or any other 
form of credit enhancement) by any Rating Agency; and  

 (viii)  Monthly Statement of Outstanding Notes. SMUD shall provide, or cause 
to be provided, to the Bank a statement listing all outstanding Notes and the principal 
amount thereof and the maturity of such Notes on the fifteenth (15th) calendar day of 
each calendar month; and 

(ix) From time to time, such additional information regarding the financial 
position, results of operations, business or prospects of SMUD as the Bank  may  
reasonably request. 

(b) Books and Records; Inspections. SMUD will keep proper books of record and 
account with respect to the Electric System in which full and correct entries shall be made of 
assets and liabilities, financial transactions and business of SMUD in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles. SMUD will upon reasonable notice permit any Person 
designated by the Bank in writing to visit any of the properties of SMUD, and to examine the 
books and financial records of SMUD relating to the Electric System and make copies thereof or 
extracts therefrom, and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of SMUD relating to SMUD 
with the principal officers of SMUD all at such reasonable times during normal business hours 
and as often as the Bank may reasonably request. 

-28-




 

      
  

  

    

 
   

     

   
 
  

  
 

 
  

  
    

  

    
 

      

 
    

   

   
  

 
 

 (c)  Maintain Existence. SMUD shall take no action that would terminate its existence, 
rights and franchises as a municipal utility district duly organized and existing under the 
Constitution and laws of the State of California. 

(d) Compliance with Laws. SMUD will comply with the requirements of all laws, 
rules, regulations and orders of any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over SMUD 
and/or the Electric System, noncompliance with which would materially adversely affect the 
ability of SMUD to perform its obligations under this Agreement and the SMUD Program 
Documents. 

 (e)  Compliance with Agreements. SMUD will observe and perform all of its 
obligations under this Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents.   

(f) Incorporation of Covenants by Reference. SMUD, by this reference, hereby 
incorporates into this Agreement those covenants and agreements made by it in Sections 3.02, 
3.05, 3.06 and 6.08 of the Master Bond Resolution (as in effect on the Effective Date of this 
Agreement) and in the SMUD Program Documents, as such covenants and agreements exist on 
the date hereof, as if such covenants and agreements were set forth herein in their entirety 
together with all defined terms and interpretative provisions necessary for a complete  
understanding thereof. The incorporated provisions shall be in addition to the express covenants 
contained herein and shall not be limited by the express covenants contained herein nor shall the 
incorporated provisions be a limitation on the express covenants contained herein. In the event 
of a conflict between the covenants and agreements set forth in this Article V (other than the 
incorporated provisions) and the incorporated provisions, the covenants and agreements set forth 
in the other provisions of Article V shall prevail. 

(g) SMUD Program Documents. SMUD will not amend, supplement or otherwise 
modify, or agree to the amendment, modification or termination of, any of the SMUD Program 
Documents (including, without limitation, an amendment to the Note Resolution reducing the 
Maximum Interest Rate to a rate below 12%) if such action could reasonably be expected to (i) 
adversely affect SMUD’s ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement or the SMUD 
Program Documents, (ii) adversely affect the business, financial position or results of operations 
of SMUD or (iii) adversely affect the rights, interests, security or remedies of the Bank, in each 
case, without the prior written consent of the Bank (the Bank shall provide SMUD its 
determination as to whether or not it consents to any amendment, supplement or modification to 
any SMUD Program Documents within ten (10) Business Days of written notice from SMUD of 
such amendment, supplement or modification). SMUD shall provide written notice to the Bank 
of any proposed amendment to the Master Bond Resolution or Subordinated Bond Resolution 
(and a copy of such proposed amendment) at least ten (10) calendar days prior to its effective 
date. 

(h) Depositary and Dealer. (i) SMUD shall not remove the Depositary or the Dealer 
or appoint any successor thereto without the prior written consent of the Bank, which consent 
shall not be unreasonably withheld.  In addition, SMUD covenants that it will not agree to permit 
any Dealer to resign with fewer days’ notice than is specified in the Dealer Agreement and not 
prior to providing such prior written notice to SMUD, the Depositary and the Bank. Any Dealer 

-29-




 

   

 
  

  

   
  

 

   
  

 
   

    
 

    
 

 

    
 

 
 

 

        

  
 

Agreement with a successor Dealer shall provide that such successor Dealer may resign upon at 
least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to SMUD, the Depositary and the Bank. 

(ii) If a Dealer fails to perform its duties under, and in accordance with the terms of, the 
Dealer Agreement, SMUD shall, at the written direction of the Bank, remove such Dealer. If the 
Depositary or the Dealer is removed or resigns, SMUD shall use its best efforts to appoint a 
successor thereto as soon as practicable and, in the case of resignation, no later than the 
resignation effective date. Any proposed Depositary (or any of its affiliates) or Dealer (or any of 
its affiliates) shall be rated at least A2/A/A by at least two Rating Agencies at the time of 
becoming the Depositary or the Dealer, as applicable, and have minimum capital of 
$500,000,000 unless such rating and/or capital requirement shall be waived by the Bank. 

 (i)  Alternate Letter of Credit. SMUD agrees that any termination of the Letter of 
Credit as a result of the provision of any Alternate Letter of Credit will require, as a condition 
thereto, that SMUD or the issuer of the Alternate Letter of Credit will provide funds on the date 
of such termination or provision, which funds will be sufficient to pay in full at the time of 
termination of the Letter of Credit all Obligations due to the Bank hereunder. 

(j) Best Efforts. In the event SMUD does not request an extension of the Stated 
Expiration Date or the Bank denies or fails to respond to a request to extend the Stated 
Expiration Date, SMUD shall use its best efforts to (i) secure an Alternate Letter of Credit in full 
and complete replacement for the Letter of Credit or (ii) otherwise refinance the Notes on or 
prior to the expiration of the Letter of Credit.  

(k) Return of Letter of Credit. SMUD shall, upon the occurrence of the Termination 
Date, cause the Depositary to surrender the Letter of Credit to the Bank for cancellation on the 
Termination Date. 

 (l)  Offering Documents. SMUD shall not include in an offering document for the 
Notes any information concerning the Bank (other than identifying the Bank as a party to this 
Agreement and the Letter of Credit) that is not supplied in writing, or otherwise consented to, by 
the Bank expressly for inclusion therein.  Except as may be required by law, SMUD shall not use 
the Bank’s name in the context of credit extension to SMUD or securities offerings (other than 
identifying the Bank as a party to this Agreement and the Letter of Credit) in any published 
materials (other than SMUD ‘s staff reports, annual statements, audited financial statements and 
rating agency presentations and, to the extent required SEC Rule 15(c)2-12, any offering of 
Bonds, Parity Bonds, Subordinated Bonds or Parity Subordinated Debt of SMUD) without the 
prior written consent of the Bank. 

 (m)  Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of the Notes will be expended in the manner set 
forth in the Note Resolution. 

(n) Ranking of Obligations. SMUD shall not take any action that would result in the 
Obligations not ranking at least pari passu in right of payment from Available Revenues with the 
Notes, Parity Notes and Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreements. 

-30-




 

     
 

 
  

 

  

    
 

  
    

  

         

  
  

 
 

    
  

  

 
 

   
   

 

       
  

     

(o) Investments. SMUD will not, directly or indirectly, invest in instruments and 
securities other than those permitted by, and in accordance with, California Government Code 
Sections 53600 to 53609, the Master Bond Resolution, the Subordinated Bond Resolution or the 
Program Documents. SMUD will not permit SMUD to encumber its cash position nor schedule 
the interest payment dates and maturities of its investments in a manner which impedes, hinders 
or interferes with the availability of funds to meet SMUD’s expected cash needs. 

(p) Reserved. 

(q) Plans. SMUD will (i) remain at all times in compliance with any applicable law 
(including any legally available grace periods) with respect to any Plan, and (ii) maintain each 
Plan as to which it may have any liability in compliance in all material respects with the 
provisions of applicable law, the failure to comply with which could subject SMUD to any tax or 
penalty which tax or penalty, taken together, with all other taxes and penalties which could be 
assessed against SMUD by reason of all other non-compliances, would have a material adverse 
effect on the business, financial position or results of operations of SMUD. 

(r) Payment of Taxes, Etc. SMUD will pay and discharge, or cause to be paid and 
discharged, all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges which may hereafter be 
lawfully imposed upon SMUD on account of the Electric System or any portion thereof and 
which, if unpaid, might impair the security of the Notes, when the same shall become due, but 
nothing herein contained shall require SMUD to pay any such tax, assessment or charge so long 
as it shall in good faith contest the validity thereof. SMUD will duly observe and conform to all 
valid material requirements of any Governmental Authority relative to the Electric System or any 
part thereof. 

 (s)  Operation and Maintenance of Electric System. SMUD will operate, maintain and 
preserve the Electric System in good repair and working order in conformity with standards 
customarily followed for municipal power supply, transmission and distribution systems of like 
size and character. SMUD will from time to time make necessary and proper repairs, renewals, 
replacements and substitutions to the properties of the Electric System, so that business carried 
on in connection with the Electric System shall and can be conducted in an efficient and 
economical manner, and will operate the Electric System in an efficient and economical manner.  
SMUD shall not use the Electric System to conduct any business other than that which is 
lawfully permitted. 

 (t)  Amounts of Rates and Charges. To the extent permitted by law, SMUD hereby 
covenants to establish, maintain and collect rates and charges with respect to the Electric System 
sufficient to pay the Parity Bonds, Parity Subordinated Debt, Parity Notes, Parity Notes 
Reimbursement Agreements, the Notes and all Obligations due and owing hereunder.  

(u) Maintenance of Insurance. SMUD maintains self-insurance for general liabilities, 
property damage and workers’ compensation claims. SMUD shall, at all times, continue to 
maintain such self-insurance or shall use its best efforts to maintain or cause to be maintained 
insurance or reserves against loss from such hazards and risks to the person or property of others 
as are usually insured or reserved against by those with rights and interests in property similar to 

-31-




 

   
  
  

   
  

 

     
   

  

  
        

 

 

  

 
 

  

  
 

  
   

   
     

 

the Electric System. SMUD shall also procure, and maintain at all times adequate fidelity 
insurance or bonds on all officers and employees handling or responsible for any Electric System 
revenues, such insurance or bonds to be in an aggregate amount at least equal to the maximum 
amount of such Electric System revenues at any one time in the custody of all such officers and 
employees or in the amount of one million dollars ($1,000,000), whichever is  less.  The  
insurance described above may be provided as a part of any comprehensive fidelity and other 
insurance and not separately for the Electric System. 

(v) Sale or Other Disposition of Property. SMUD will not sell or otherwise dispose of 
any property essential to the proper operation of the Electric System or to the maintenance of the 
Revenues. SMUD will not enter into any lease or agreement which impairs or impedes the 
operation of the Electric System or which otherwise impairs or impedes the rights of the 
Bondholders (as defined in the Master Bond Resolution) or the Bank with respect to Revenues.  
Subject to the preceding sentence, nothing contained herein shall prevent SMUD from entering 
into sale and leaseback agreements pursuant to which SMUD may acquire the use of property 
subject to the terms of such sale and leaseback agreements. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of the Master Bond Resolution, 
SMUD may sell or otherwise dispose of its accounts receivable and customer loan balances due to 
SMUD provided that: 

(1) SMUD delivers to the Trustee (as defined in the Master Bond Resolution): 

(a) a certificate of SMUD to the effect that the amount derived by 
SMUD from the sale or other disposition of such accounts receivable or loan 
balances is a result of the sale or other disposition of such accounts receivable or 
loan balances upon fair and reasonable terms no less favorable to SMUD than the 
terms of a comparable arm’s-length transaction treated as a sale and not a loan 
under generally accepted accounting principles; and 

(b) a written statement or report of an independent certified public 
accountant to the effect that, based on the audited financial statements of SMUD 
for the most recent fiscal year for which audited financial statements are available 
and after giving effect to such transaction by reducing Revenues for such fiscal 
year by the difference between the face amount of such accounts receivable or loan 
balances and the amount derived by SMUD from the sale or other disposition of 
such accounts receivable or loan balances, the debt service ratio computed 
pursuant to Section 5.04 of the Master Bond Resolution would not have been 
reduced to less than 1.40:1.0. 

 (w)  Liens. Except as permitted by the Master Resolution, the Subordinated Bond 
Resolution or the Note Resolution or as otherwise acceptable to the Bank, SMUD will not 
(a) issue any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of similar nature payable out of or 
secured by a security interest in or a pledge or assignment of the Electric System revenues 
pledged under the Master Resolution, the Subordinated Bond Resolution or the Note Resolution 

-32-




 

 
 

  

   
      

   
 

    
   

   

    
 

       

 
 

 
   

  
  

 
  

 

    
  

 
 
 

 
 

and held or set aside by SMUD thereunder, or (b) create or cause to be created any Lien on the 
Electric System revenues. 

(x) Reserved. 

(y) Further Assurances. SMUD agrees to do such further acts and things and to 
execute and deliver to the Bank such additional assignments, agreements, powers and 
instruments as the Bank may reasonably require or reasonably deem advisable to carry into effect 
the purposes of this Agreement and the Fee Letter or to better assure and confirm to the Bank its 
rights, powers and remedies hereunder and under the SMUD Program Documents.

 (z)  Immunity. SMUD covenants that it will not claim immunity on the grounds of  
sovereignty or other similar grounds with respect to itself from (i) suit or (ii) jurisdiction of any 
court because of its status as a political subdivision of the State of California. 

(aa) Ratings. SMUD shall maintain (i) long-term unenhanced ratings from at least two 
Rating Agencies on Bonds and Parity Bonds, (ii) short-term ratings on the Notes from at least 
two Rating Agencies and (iii) one long-term rating on the Revolving Note from any Rating 
Agency. 

(bb) Swap Contracts. Without the prior written consent of the Bank, SMUD shall not 
enter into any Swap Contracts relating to Debt wherein any termination payments thereunder are 
senior to or on parity with the payment of any Obligation. 

(cc) Shorter Amortization. In the event that SMUD shall, directly or indirectly, enter 
into or otherwise consent to any Bank Agreement relating to Parity Notes or other Debt of 
SMUD secured by a lien on Net Revenues on parity with the Notes which such Bank Agreement 
provides such Person with a shorter amortization period than what is set forth in Section 2.3(b) 
hereof (not taking into account any shorter amortization period that might occur under such 
Bank Agreement because of a default, termination event, or other similar event under such Bank 
Agreement) (each a “Shorter Amortization Period”), SMUD shall provide the Bank with a copy 
of each such Bank Agreement and such Shorter Amortization Period shall automatically be 
deemed to be incorporated into this Agreement and the Bank shall have the benefit of such 
Shorter Amortization Period as if specifically set forth herein. SMUD shall promptly enter into 
an amendment to this Agreement to include such Shorter Amortization Period; provided that the 
Bank shall have and maintain the benefit of such Shorter Amortization Period even if SMUD 
fails to provide such amendment. 

(dd) Incorporation of Covenants by Reference. SMUD agrees that it will perform and 
comply with each and every covenant and agreement required to be performed or observed by it 
in Sections 3.02, 3.05, 3.06 and 6.08 of the Master Bond Resolution and in each of the Program 
Documents, which provisions, as well as related defined terms contained therein, are hereby 
incorporated by reference herein with the same effect as if each and every such provision were 
set forth herein in its entirety all of which shall be deemed to be made for the benefit of the Bank 
and shall be enforceable against SMUD. To the extent that any such incorporated provision 
permits SMUD or any other party to waive compliance with such provision or requires that a 

-33-




 

  

   

  

  
  

 

  
 

 

 
    

 
     

   

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

document, opinion or other instrument or any event or condition be acceptable or satisfactory to 
SMUD or any other party, for purposes of this Agreement, such provision shall be complied with 
unless it is specifically waived by the Bank in writing and such document, opinion or other 
instrument and such event or condition shall be acceptable or satisfactory only if it is acceptable 
or satisfactory to the Bank which shall only be evidenced by the written approval by the Bank of 
the same. No termination or amendment to such covenants and agreements or defined terms or 
release of SMUD with respect thereto made pursuant to the Master Bond Resolution or the 
Program Documents, shall be effective to terminate or amend such covenants and agreements 
and defined terms or release SMUD with respect thereto in each case as incorporated by 
reference herein without the prior written consent of the Bank. Notwithstanding any termination 
or expiration of the Master Bond Resolution or the Program Documents, SMUD shall continue 
to observe such incorporated covenants therein contained for the benefit of the Bank until the 
termination of this Agreement and the payment in full of all Obligations. All such incorporated 
covenants shall be in addition to the express covenants contained herein and shall not be limited 
by the express covenants contained herein nor shall such incorporated covenants be a limitation 
on the express covenants contained herein. 

ARTICLE SIX 
"ARTICLE SIX  DEFAULTS" \L 1 DEFAULTS 

Section 6.1. Events of Default and Remedies "Section 6.1. Events of Default and 
Remedies" \l 2 . If any of the following events shall occur, each such event shall be an “Event of 
Default”: 

(a) SMUD shall fail to pay when due (i) the amount of any Drawing; (ii) the 
principal of any Advance; (iii) the interest on any Advance, and such default shall 
continue unremedied for two (2) Business Days; or (iv) any other amount payable 
hereunder or under the Fee Letter and, solely with respect to clause (iv) hereof, such 
default shall continue unremedied for five (5) Business Days; 

(b) SMUD shall (i) default in the due performance or observance by it of any 
term, covenant or agreement contained in Sections 5.1(a)(i), 5.1(c), 5.1(f), 5.1(g), 5.1(h), 
5.1(i), 5.1(k), 5.1(l), 5.1(m), 5.1(n), 5.1(t), 5.1(v), 5.1(w) or 5.1(z); (ii) default in the due 
performance or observance by it of any other term, covenant or agreement contained in 
Sections 5.1(a)(v), 5.1(a)(vi) or 5.1(a)(vii) and such default shall continue unremedied for 
a period of 5 Business Days; (iii) default in the due performance or observance by it of 
any other terms, covenant or agreement continued in Section 5.1(a)(ii), 5.1(a)(iii), 
5.1(a)(iv) or 5.1(a)(viii) and such default shall continue unremedied for a period  of 5  
Business Days after the Bank has provided written notice to SMUD or (iv) default in the 
due performance or observance by it of any other term, covenant or agreement hereunder 
or under the Fee Letter (other than those referred to in Section 6.1(a), 6.1(b)(i), 6.1(b)(ii) 
or 6.1(b)(iii) hereof) and such default shall continue unremedied for a period of thirty 
(30) days; 

(c) Any representation, warranty, certification or statement made or deemed 
made by SMUD in this Agreement, any Program Document or in any certificate, 

-34-




 

 
 

 
 

  

 

 

 
 

 

  
   

   
 

   

  

  
 

  
  

 
  

financial statement or other document delivered to the Bank pursuant to this Agreement 
shall prove when made or deemed made, in the reasonable judgment of the Bank, to have 
been inaccurate and misleading in any material respect; or 

(d) SMUD shall (i) default in any payment of (A) any Debt payable from or 
secured by Net Revenues beyond the period of grace (not to exceed 30 days), if any, 
provided in the instrument or agreement under which such Debt was created or (B) any 
obligation under any Swap Contract the obligations under which are secured by a lien on 
Net Revenues senior to or on a parity with the Obligations, or (ii) default in the 
observance or performance of any agreement or condition relating to any Debt payable 
from or secured by Net Revenues on parity with or senior to the Obligations or Swap 
Contract or Bank Agreement the obligations under which are payable from or secured by 
Net Revenues on parity with or senior to the Obligations contained in any instrument or 
agreement evidencing, securing or relating thereto, or any other event shall occur or 
condition exist, the effect of which default or other event or condition is to cause, or to 
permit (A) the holder or holders (or a trustee or agent on behalf of such holder or holders) 
of any Debt or (B) the counterparty under any Swap Contract or Bank Agreement, in 
each case, payable from or secured by Net Revenues on parity with or senior to the 
Obligations to cause, with the giving of notice if required, such Debt or obligations under 
such Swap Contract or Bank Agreement to become due prior to its stated maturity; or (iii) 
any Debt secured by a lien on Net Revenues senior to or on a parity with the Obligations 
payable from or secured by Net Revenues or Swap Contract or Bank Agreement the 
obligations under which are payable from or secured by Net Revenues on parity with or 
senior to the Obligations shall be declared to be due and payable, or required to be 
prepaid other than by a regularly scheduled required prepayment, prior to the stated 
maturity thereof; or 

(e) SMUD shall commence a voluntary case or other proceeding seeking 
liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to itself or its debts under any 
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking the 
appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official of itself 
or any substantial part of its property, or shall consent to any such relief or to the 
appointment of or taking possession by any such official in an involuntary case or other 
proceeding commenced against it, or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, or shall fail generally, or in the reasonable judgment of the Bank be unable, to 
pay its debts as they become due, or shall take any action to authorize any of the 
foregoing; or 

(f) An involuntary case or other proceeding shall be commenced against 
SMUD seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to it or its debts 
under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or 
seeking the appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar 
official of it or any substantial part of its property and such case or proceeding is not 
controverted within thirty (30) days and dismissed within sixty (60) days; or an order for 
relief shall be entered against SMUD under the Federal bankruptcy laws as now or 
hereafter in effect; or 

-35-




 

  

   
 

  

 

   

  

 

  
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
  

   

 

      
 

 

(g) (i) A court of competent jurisdiction or other governmental authority with 
appropriate jurisdiction over SMUD shall enter a final and non-appealable judgment, 
order or decree declaring any (x) obligation of SMUD contained in this Agreement, any 
Program Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution or 
(y) Program Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond 
Resolution, in either case, to be invalid, not binding or unenforceable against SMUD or 
(ii) any action is taken by the SMUD Board or any officer of SMUD authorized by the 
SMUD Board to contest the validity or enforceability of this Agreement, any other 
Program Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution or 
the SMUD Board or any officer of SMUD authorized by the SMUD Board repudiates its 
obligations under any Program Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the 
Subordinated Bond Resolution or any provision thereof or with respect to any Debt of 
SMUD secured by or payable from Net Revenues senior to or on a parity with the 
Obligations, or SMUD shall seek an adjudication that this Agreement, any other Program 
Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution is not valid 
and binding; or 

(h) A moratorium shall have been declared or announced by a Governmental 
Authority (whether or not in writing) with respect to any Debt of SMUD secured by Net 
Revenues, Net Subordinated Revenues or Available Revenues; or  

(i) Dissolution or termination of the existence of SMUD; or 

(j) A court of competent jurisdiction shall enter a final and non-appealable 
judgment, order or decree for the payment of money in excess of $10,000,000 shall be 
rendered against SMUD and such judgment or order shall continue, unbonded or 
unsatisfied for a period of 60 days; or 

(k) Any of the funds or accounts established pursuant to the Master Bond 
Resolution, the Subordinated Bond Resolution or the Note Resolution or any funds or 
accounts on deposit, or otherwise to the credit of, such funds or accounts shall become 
subject to any stay, writ, judgment, warrant of attachment, execution or similar process 
by any of the creditors of SMUD relating to an obligation or obligations of SMUD in 
excess of $10,000,000 and such stay, writ, judgment, warrant of attachment, execution or 
similar process shall not be released, vacated or stayed within fifteen (15) days after its 
issue or levy; or 

(l) Any pledge or security interest created by this Agreement, any Program 
Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution to secure 
any amount due by SMUD under this Agreement, the Fee Letter, the Revolving Note or 
with respect to the Notes shall fail to be fully enforceable with the priority required 
hereunder or thereunder; or 

(m) (i) Any event which materially and adversely affects the ability of SMUD 
to observe and perform its obligations under this Agreement or the Fee Letter shall have 
occurred and be continuing, (ii) any event which materially and adversely affects the 

-36-




 

 

 

    

 

 
 

      

  

 
 
 

  

   

 
 

 
 

  
 

 

    
  

 

 

ability of SMUD to observe and perform its obligations under any SMUD Program 
Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution shall have 
occurred and be continuing or (iii) either the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated 
Bond Resolution shall be amended and such amendment materially and adversely affects 
the ability of SMUD to observe and perform its obligations under this Agreement or the 
Fee Letter; or 

(n) An “event of default” (or similar event) shall have occurred under any of 
the Program Documents, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond 
Resolution; or 

(o) There shall be appointed or designated with respect to SMUD, an entity 
such as an organization, board, commission, authority, agency or body to declare a 
financial emergency or similar state of financial distress with respect to it or there shall 
be declared by it or by any legislative or regulatory body with competent jurisdiction over 
it, the existence of a state of financial emergency or similar state of financial distress in 
respect of it; or 

(p) The downgrade by any Rating Agency of its long-term unenhanced rating 
with respect to any Bonds to a level below “Baa3” (or its equivalent) in the case of 
Moody’s, “BBB-” (or its equivalent) in the case of S&P or “BBB-” (or its equivalent) in 
the case of Fitch. 

Section 6.2. Remedies "Section 6.2. Remedies" \l 2 . Upon the occurrence of any Event 
of Default or an Optional Termination Event the Bank may exercise any one or more of the 
following rights and remedies in addition to any other remedies herein or by law provided: 

(a) declare all Obligations to be immediately due and payable, whereupon the 
same shall be immediately due and payable without any further notice of any kind, which 
notice is hereby waived by SMUD; provided, however, that in the case of an Event of 
Default described in Section 6.1(e), 6.1(f) or 6.1(h) hereof, such acceleration shall 
automatically occur (unless such automatic acceleration is waived by the Bank in 
writing); or 

(b) issue a No-Issuance Notice (the effect of which shall be as provided in 
Section 2.18 of this Agreement), reduce the Stated Amount of the Letter of Credit to the 
amount of the then outstanding Notes supported by the Letter of Credit and/or terminate 
the Stated Amount as the then outstanding Notes are paid; or 

(c) issue the Final Drawing Notice (the effect of which shall be to cause the 
Termination Date of the Letter of Credit to occur on the 15th day after the date of receipt 
thereof by the Depositary); or 

(d) with respect to Non-Credit Events of Default only, give notice to SMUD 
that its obligation to make Advances hereunder is terminated (SMUD hereby 
acknowledges that upon the occurrence of a Credit Event of Default, the Bank’s 

-37-




 

 

 

 

   
 

 
 

   
  

  

 

 

 
 

 
 

obligation to make Advances shall automatically terminate without the giving of any 
notice) with respect thereto; or 

(e) pursue any rights and remedies it may have under the Program 
Documents; or 

(f) pursue any other action available at law or in equity. 

Section 6.3. Rating Event. Upon the occurrence of a Rating Event, the Bank may issue a 
No-Issuance Notice (the effect of which shall be as provided in Section 2.18 of this Agreement), 
reduce the Stated Amount of the Letter of Credit to the amount of the then outstanding Notes 
supported by the Letter of Credit and/or terminate the Stated Amount as the then outstanding 
Notes are paid. 

ARTICLE SEVEN 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 7.1. Amendments, Waivers, Etc. No amendment or waiver of any provision of 
this Agreement, or consent to any departure therefrom, shall in any event be effective unless the 
same shall be in writing and signed by the parties hereto, and then such waiver or consent shall 
be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which given. 

Section 7.2. Notices. All notices and other communications provided for hereunder 
(except as provided in Section 2.18(b) hereof) shall be in writing (including required copies) and 
sent by receipted hand delivery (including Federal Express or other receipted courier service), 
facsimile transmission, or regular mail, as follows: 

(a) if to SMUD: Sacramento Municipal Utility District 
6201 S Street 
Sacramento, California 95817-1899 
Attention: Treasurer 
Telephone: (916) 732-6509 
Telecopy: (916) 732-5835 

(b) if to the Bank, with 
respect to the Letter 
of Credit: 

Barclays Bank PLC 
745 Seventh Avenue 
New York, New York 10019 
Attention: Letter of Credit Department 
Telephone:(212) 320-7534 
Telecopy: (212) 412-5011 

(c) if to the Bank, with 
respect to all matters: 

Barclays Bank PLC 
745 Seventh Avenue, 19th Floor 
New York, New York  10019 

-38-




  

 

  
     

  

    

 

   

   
 

   
  

   
   

    
 

  
 

  
   

 
 

  
 

Attention: Cassandra Bolz 
Telephone: (212) 526-3974 
Telecopy: (646) 758-1419 
Email: cassandra.bolz@barclays.com 

(d) if to Depositary: U.S. Bank National Association 
100 Wall Street, Suite 1600 
New York, New York 10005 
Telephone: (212) 361-2892 
Telecopy: (212) 509-4529 

(e) if to the Dealer: Barclays Capital Inc. 
745 Seventh Avenue, Floor 02 
New York, New York 10019 
Attention: Head of the Municipal Short-Term Desk 
Telephone: (212) 528-1011 
Telecopy: (646) 758-1870 

or, as to each Person named above, at such other address as shall be designated by such Person in 
a written notice to the parties hereto. All such notices and other communications shall, when 
delivered, sent by facsimile transmission or mailed, be effective when deposited with the courier, 
sent by facsimile transmission or mailed respectively, addressed as aforesaid, except that 
requests for Draws submitted to the Bank shall not be effective until received by the Bank. 

Section 7.3. Survival of Covenants; Successors and Assigns. (a) All covenants, 
agreements, representations, and warranties made herein and in the certificates delivered 
pursuant hereto shall survive the making of any Drawing or Advance hereunder and shall 
continue in full force and effect until the Letter of Credit shall have terminated and all of the 
Obligations hereunder shall have been paid in full. Whenever in this Agreement any of the 
parties hereto is referred to, such reference shall, subject to the last sentence of this Section, be 
deemed to include the successors and assigns of such party, and all covenants, promises and 
agreements by or on behalf of SMUD which are contained in this Agreement shall inure to the 
benefit of the successors and assigns of the Bank. SMUD may not transfer its rights or 
obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Bank.  The Bank may 
transfer or assign some or all of its rights and obligations under this Agreement and the Letter of 
Credit  with the prior written consent of  SMUD  (which consent  shall not be withheld 
unreasonably), provided that (i) with respect to the Letter of Credit only SMUD has received 
written notice from the Rating Agencies then rating the Notes that the transfer shall not cause the 
lowering, withdrawal or suspension of the ratings then existing on the Notes, and (ii) the Bank 
shall be responsible for all costs resulting from the transfer. No assignment of the Letter of 
Credit shall occur unless and until the provisions of the Note Resolution providing for delivery 
of an Alternate Letter of Credit for the Notes are complied with, treating the assigned Letter of 
Credit as an Alternate Letter of Credit. The Bank agrees to provide SMUD written notice of all 
amounts due and owing the Bank through and including the date of any assignment pursuant to 
this Section 7.3. This Agreement is made solely for the benefit of SMUD and the Bank, and no 

-39-




 

 

  
   

    
   

  
    

 
  

 

   
  

  

  

  

  
 

  

 

   

other Person (including, without limitation, the Depositary, the Dealer or any holder of Notes) 
shall have any right, benefit or interest under or because of the existence of this Agreement. 

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Bank shall be permitted to grant to one or more 
financial institutions (each a “Participant”) a participation or participations in all or any part of 
the Bank’s rights and benefits and obligations under this Agreement and the Letter of Credit on a 
participating basis but not as a party to this Agreement (a “Participation”) without the consent 
of SMUD. In the event of any such grant by the Bank of a Participation to a Participant, the 
Bank shall remain responsible for the performance of its obligations hereunder, and SMUD shall 
continue to deal solely and directly with the Bank in connection with the Bank’s rights and 
obligations under this Agreement. SMUD agrees that each Participant shall, to the extent of its 
Participation, be entitled to the benefits of this Agreement as if such Participant were the Bank, 
provided that no Participant shall have the right to declare, or to take actions in response to, an 
Event of Default under Section 6.1 hereof; provided further that SMUD’s liability to any 
Participant shall not in any event exceed that liability which SMUD would owe to the Bank but 
for such participation. 

Section 7.4. Unconditional Obligations. The obligations of SMUD under this 
Agreement and the Fee Letter shall be primary, absolute, independent, unconditional and 
irrevocable and shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and 
the Fee Letter, including without limitation the following circumstances: 

(a) Any lack of validity or enforceability of the Letter of Credit, the Program 
Documents or any other agreement or instrument relating to any of the above; 

(b) Any amendment or waiver of, or any consent to or departure from, any provision of 
any of the Program Documents, except for any waiver or consent granted by the Bank; 

(c) The existence of any claim, setoff, defense or other rights that SMUD may have at 
any time against the Depositary, any beneficiary or transferee of the Letter of Credit (or any 
Person for whom the Depositary, any such beneficiary or any such transferee may be acting), the 
Bank or any other Person, whether in connection with this Agreement, the Program Documents 
or any unrelated transaction; 

(d) Any breach of contract or other dispute between SMUD and the Depositary, any 
beneficiary or transferee of the Letter of Credit (or any Person for whom the Depositary, any 
such beneficiary or any such transferee may be acting), any Owner, the Bank or any other 
Person; 

(e) Any demand, statement or any other document presented under the Letter of Credit 
or hereunder proving to have been forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect or any 
statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect whatsoever; 

(f) Payment by the Bank under the Letter of Credit against presentation of a draft or 
certificate which does not comply strictly with the terms of the Letter of Credit; 

-40-




 

  

    

    

 
 

 
 
 

  
 

   

 

    
  

   
 
 

 

              

  
   

 
  

  
  

   

(g) Any non-application or misapplication by the Depositary or any paying agent or 
otherwise of the proceeds of any Drawing; or 

(h) The failure by the Bank to honor any Drawing under the Letter of Credit or to make 
any payment demanded under the Letter of Credit on the grounds that the demand for such 
payment does not conform strictly to the terms and conditions of the Letter of Credit.  

Section 7.5. Liability of Bank;  Indemnification. (a)(i) Except as provided in this 
Agreement, the Bank shall not be obligated to issue any further credits, to cure any defaults 
under any Program Document or otherwise, or in any other manner to extend any financial 
consideration or accommodation to SMUD. 

(ii) The Bank shall not be deemed to have waived or released any of its rights or 
remedies (whether specified in or arising under this Agreement, the Fee Letter or otherwise 
available to it by law or agreement) unless the Bank shall have signed a written waiver or 
release. Delay or failure to act on the Bank’s part shall not constitute a waiver of or otherwise 
preclude enforcement of any of their rights and remedies. All of the Bank’s rights and remedies 
shall be cumulative and may be exercised separately or concurrently. The Bank need not resort 
to any particular right or remedy before exercising or enforcing any other, and the Bank’s resort 
to any right or remedy shall not preclude the exercise or enforcement of any other right or 
remedy. 

(iii) SMUD assumes all risks of the acts or omissions of the Depositary, any transferee 
of the Letter of Credit, the Dealer, the Depositary or any paying agent for the Notes with respect 
to its use of the Letter of Credit and the application of proceeds drawn thereunder; provided that 
this assumption with respect to the Bank is not intended to, and shall not, preclude SMUD’s 
pursuing such rights and remedies as it may have against the Depositary, such transferee, the 
Dealer or any such paying agent at law or under any other agreement. Neither the Bank nor any 
of its officers, directors, employees or agents shall be liable or responsible for: 

(A) The use that may be made of the Letter of Credit or for any acts or 
omissions of the Depositary or any transferee of the Letter of Credit in connection 
therewith; 

(B) The form, validity, sufficiency, accuracy or genuineness of documents, or 
of any endorsements thereon, even if such documents should prove to be in any or all 
respects invalid, insufficient, inaccurate, fraudulent or forged, so long as the Bank was 
not grossly negligent or guilty of willful misconduct as determined by a court of 
competent jurisdiction; 

(C) Payment by the Bank against presentation of documents that do not 
comply strictly with the terms of the Letter of Credit, including failure of any documents 
to bear any reference or adequate reference to the Letter of Credit; 

(D) The validity or sufficiency of any instrument transferring or assigning or 
purporting to transfer or assign the Letter of Credit or the rights or benefits thereunder or 

-41-




 

   

   

 

  

   
  

 
 

 
  

 

  
  

  
 

  
 

   
 

  
     

  

    

    
 

proceeds thereof, in whole or in part, which may prove to be invalid or ineffective for any 
reason; 

(E) Errors, omissions, interruptions or delays in transmission or delivery of 
any messages by telex, mail, cable, telegraph, facsimile or otherwise, whether or not they 
have been in cipher, including any Drawings under the Letter of Credit; 

(F) Errors in interpretation of technical terms; or 

(G) Any consequences arising from causes beyond the control of the Bank, 
including, without limitation, any Government Acts; 

provided that, notwithstanding anything in the preceding clauses (A) through (G) to the contrary, 
SMUD shall have a claim against the Bank, and the Bank shall be liable to SMUD, to the extent, 
but only to the extent, of any direct, as opposed to consequential, damages suffered by SMUD 
that SMUD proves were caused by (A) the Bank’s failure to pay under the Letter of Credit after 
the presentation to it by the Depositary of a sight draft and certificate strictly complying with the 
terms and conditions of the Letter of Credit or (B) the Bank’s willful or grossly negligent 
payment under the Letter of Credit as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final 
non-appealable judgment. 

In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, the Bank may accept documents that 
appear on their face to be in order, without responsibility for further investigation, regardless of 
any notice or information to the contrary. 

(b)(i) To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, SMUD agrees to indemnify, 
save and hold harmless each Bank-Related Person from and against: (A) any and all claims, 
demands, actions or causes of action that may at any time (including at any time following 
repayment of the Obligations) be asserted or imposed against any Bank-Related Person arising 
out of or relating to this Agreement, the Letter of Credit, the Fee Letter or any Program 
Document, the use or contemplated use of the proceeds of any Drawing, any Advance, or the 
relationship of SMUD and the Bank under this Agreement or any Program Document; (B) any 
investigative, administrative or judicial proceeding by any Governmental Authority arising out of 
or related to a claim, demand, action or cause of action described in subsection (A) above; and 
(C) any and all liabilities (including liabilities under indemnities), losses, costs or expenses 
(including attorney costs) that any Bank-Related Person suffers or incurs as a result of the 
assertion of any foregoing claim, demand, action, cause of action or proceeding, or as a result of 
the preparation of any defense in connection with any foregoing claim, demand, action, cause of 
action or proceeding, in all cases, and whether or not a Bank-Related Person is a party to such 
claim, demand, action, cause of action or proceeding; provided that no Bank-Related Person 
shall be entitled to indemnification for any claim caused by its own gross negligence or willful 
misconduct. The agreements in this subsection shall survive the termination of the Letter of 
Credit and repayment of all of the Obligations. 

(ii) To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, SMUD shall also indemnify 
and hold harmless the Bank from any transfer taxes, documentary taxes, assessments or charges 

-42-




 

     
  

 

   

  

    
 

    
 

 
 

     
 

   
 

 
   

    

  
  

   

  

  

 
 

made by any Governmental Authority by reason of the execution and delivery of this Agreement 
and the Program Documents or the issuance  of the Letter  of Credit. The agreements in this 
subsection shall survive the termination of the Letter of Credit and repayment of all of the 
Obligations. 

Section 7.6. Expenses. SMUD will promptly pay (i) the reasonable fees and expenses of 
counsel to the Bank incurred in connection with the preparation, execution and delivery of this 
Agreement and the other Program Documents, (ii) the reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the 
Bank incurred in connection with the preparation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and 
the other Program Documents, (iii) the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel to the Bank 
with respect to advising the Bank as to the rights and responsibilities under this Agreement after 
the occurrence of an Event of Default and (iv) all reasonable costs and expenses, if any, in 
connection with the administration and enforcement of this Agreement and any other documents 
which may be delivered in connection herewith or therewith, including in each case the fees and 
disbursements of counsel to the Bank. In addition, SMUD agrees to pay, after the occurrence of 
an Event of Default, all reasonable costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and costs of 
settlement) incurred by the Bank in enforcing any obligations or in collecting any payments due 
from SMUD hereunder by reason of such Event of Default or in connection with any refinancing 
or restructuring of the credit arrangements provided under this Agreement in the nature of a 
“workout” or of any insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings. The obligations of SMUD under 
this Section 7.6 shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

Section 7.7. No Waiver; Conflict. No failure by the Bank to exercise, and no delay by 
the Bank in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder, nor any course of dealing with 
respect to any of the same, shall operate as a waiver thereof, preclude any other or further 
exercise thereof nor shall a single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further 
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power, or privilege. The rights, remedies, 
powers and privileges herein provided and provided under each other Program Document are 
cumulative, and not exclusive of any rights, remedies, powers and privileges provided by law. 

Section 7.8. Modification, Amendment, Waiver, Etc. No modification, amendment or 
waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective unless the same shall be in writing 
and signed in accordance with Section 7.1 hereof. 

Section 7.9. Dealing with SMUD, the Depositary, and/or the Dealer. The Bank and its 
affiliates may accept deposits from, extend credit to and generally engage in any kind of 
banking, trust or other business with SMUD, the Depositary, and/or the Dealer regardless of the 
capacity of the Bank hereunder. 

Section 7.10. Severability. Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or 
unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such 
prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or affecting 
the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction, and all other remaining 
provisions hereof will be construed to render them enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by 
law. 

-43-




 

  
 

  

  
 

   

   

   

   

  

 

  
 

 
 

  

   
 

   
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

Section 7.11. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more 
counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original, but when taken together shall constitute 
but one agreement and any of the parties hereto may execute this Agreement by signing any such 
counterpart. 

Section 7.12. Table of Contents; Headings.  The table of  contents and the section and 
subsection headings used herein have been inserted for convenience of reference only and do not 
constitute matters to be considered in interpreting this Agreement. 

SECTION 7.13. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. THIS AGREEMENT REPRESENTS THE FINAL AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE PARTIES HERETO WITH RESPECT TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF AND MAY NOT BE 

CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS, OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS 

OF THE PARTIES HERETO AS TO SUCH SUBJECT MATTER. 

 Section 7.14. Governing Law. PURSUANT TO SECTION 5-1401 OF THE NEW 
YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW (OR ANY SUCCESSOR STATUTE THERETO), 
THIS AGREEMENT AND THE FEE LETTER SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A CONTRACT 
UNDER, AND SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND APPLICABLE 
FEDERAL LAW; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE CAPACITY, POWER AND 
AUTHORITY OF SMUD TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OBLIGATIONS 
OF SMUD HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND 
INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
AND APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW WITHOUT REGARD TO CHOICE OF LAW RULES.     

Section 7.15. Waiver of Jury Trial. (a) TO THE FULL EXTENT PERMITTED BY 
LAW, SMUD AND THE BANK EACH WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO A TRIAL 
BY JURY FOR ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION BASED UPON OR ARISING OUT 
OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE FEE LETTER, THE LETTER OF CREDIT, 
ANY OF THE OTHER PROGRAM DOCUMENTS, THE MASTER BOND RESOLUTION, 
THE SUBORDINATED BOND RESOLUTION OR THE TRANSACTIONS 
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY. EACH OF SMUD AND THE BANK 
FURTHER AGREES THAT ANY SUCH CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION SHALL BE 
TRIED BY A COURT TRIAL WITHOUT JURY. WITHOUT LIMITING THE FOREGOING, 
TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE PARTIES FURTHER AGREE THAT THEIR 
RESPECTIVE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IS WAIVED BY OPERATION OF THIS 
SECTION AS TO ANY ACTION, COUNTERCLAIM OR OTHER PROCEEDING WHICH 
SEEKS, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, TO CHALLENGE THE VALIDITY OR 
ENFORCEABILITY OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE FEE LETTER, AND/OR THE LETTER 
OF CREDIT OR ANY PROVISION HEREOF OR THEREOF. THIS WAIVER SHALL 
APPLY TO ANY SUBSEQUENT AMENDMENTS, RENEWALS, SUPPLEMENTS OR 
MODIFICATIONS TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE FEE LETTER, AND/OR THE LETTER OF 
CREDIT. 

(b) In the event the waiver of jury trial as set forth in subsection (a) of this Section shall 
be declared void or unenforceable, each of SMUD and the Bank agrees to refer the dispute to a 

-44-




 

 
 

   
 

  

 

   
    

 
  

 
 

 
 

  

 

 

  

  

  

 
 

 

judicial referee in accordance with the provisions of Section 638 et seq. of the California Code of 
Civil Procedure. 

Section 7.16. Right of Setoff; Other Collateral “Section 7.16 Right of Setoff; Other 
Collateral” \l 2 . (a) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the 
Bank is hereby authorized at any time and from time to time without notice to SMUD (any such 
notice being expressly waived by SMUD), and to the fullest extent permitted by law, to setoff, to 
exercise any banker’s lien or any right of attachment and apply any and all balances, credits, 
deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final), accounts or monies at any 
time held and other indebtedness at any time owing by the Bank to or for the account of SMUD 
(irrespective of the currency in which such accounts, monies or indebtedness may be 
denominated and the Bank is authorized to convert such accounts, monies and indebtedness into 
United States dollars) against any and all of the Obligations of SMUD, whether or not the Bank 
shall have made any demand for any amount owing to the Bank by SMUD; provided, however, 
that any such set-off, exercise of banker’s lien or any right of attachment shall be limited to 
(i) balances, credits, deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final), accounts 
or monies or (ii) indebtedness owed by the Bank to or for the account of SMUD, the proceeds of 
which would otherwise be available to pay or satisfy or otherwise secure the Notes, the 
Reimbursement Obligations or any other indebtedness or obligations of SMUD secured or 
payable on a parity with or subordinate to the Lien on Net Revenues securing the Notes and the 
Reimbursement Obligations; and provided further, however, that the exercise of any such set-off, 
banker’s lien or right of attachment and the application of any such balances, credits, deposits, 
accounts, monies or proceeds of indebtedness that would constitute Revenues or other funds 
pledged pursuant to the Master Bond Resolution, Subordinated Bond Resolution or Note 
Resolution shall be subject to the terms, conditions and lien and payment priorities set forth in 
the Master Bond Resolution, the Subordinated Bond Resolution and the Note Resolution. 

(b) The rights of the Bank under this Section 7.16 are in addition to, in augmentation of, 
and, except as specifically provided in this Section 7.16, do not derogate from or impair, other 
rights and remedies (including, without limitation, other rights of setoff) which the Bank may 
have hereunder or under the other Program Documents. 

Section 7.17. USA Patriot Act. The Bank hereby notifies SMUD that, pursuant to the 
requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107 56 signed into law October 26, 
2001) (the “Patriot Act”), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies 
SMUD, which information includes the name and address of SMUD and other information that 
will allow the Bank to identify SMUD in accordance with the Patriot Act. SMUD hereby agrees 
that it shall promptly provide such information upon request by the Bank. 

Section 7.18. Assignment to Federal Reserve Bank. The Bank may assign and pledge all 
or any portion of the Obligations owing to it to any Federal Reserve Bank or the United States 
Treasury as collateral security pursuant to Regulation  A of the Board of Governors of the 
Federal Reserve System and any Operating Circular issued by such Federal Reserve Bank or to 
any state or local governmental entity or with respect to public deposits; provided that any 
payment in respect of such assigned Obligations made by SMUD or on its behalf to the Bank in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement shall satisfy SMUD’s Obligations hereunder in 

-45-




 

 

   
  

 

   

  
 
  

  
 

    
 

   

   
 

     
        
  

   
 

   

 

 

respect of such assigned Obligation to the extent of such payment. No such assignment shall 
release the Bank from its obligations hereunder. 

Section 7.19. No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship. In connection with all aspects of 
each transaction contemplated hereby (including in connection with any amendment, waiver or 
other modification hereof or of any other Program Document), SMUD acknowledges and agrees 
that: (a) (i) the services regarding this Agreement provided by the Bank and any Affiliate thereof 
are arm’s-length commercial transactions between SMUD, on the one hand, and the Bank and its 
Affiliates, on the other hand, (ii) SMUD has consulted its own legal, accounting, regulatory and 
tax advisors to the extent it has deemed appropriate, and (iii) SMUD is capable of evaluating, 
and understands and accepts, the terms, risks and conditions of the transactions contemplated 
hereby and by the other Program Documents; (b) (i) the Bank and its Affiliates each is and has 
been acting solely as a principal and, except as expressly agreed in writing by the relevant 
parties, has not been, is not, and will not be acting as an advisor, agent or fiduciary pursuant to 
Section 15B of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, for SMUD or any other Person  and  
(ii) neither the Bank nor any of its Affiliates has any  obligation to SMUD with respect to the 
transactions contemplated hereby except those obligations expressly set forth herein and in the 
other Program Documents; and (c) the Bank and its Affiliates may be engaged in a broad range 
of transactions that involve interests that differ from those of SMUD, and neither the Bank nor 
any of its Affiliates has any obligation to disclose any of such interests to SMUD.  To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, SMUD  hereby waives and releases any claims that it may have against 
the Bank or any of its Affiliates with respect to any breach or alleged breach of agency or 
fiduciary duty in connection with any aspect of any transactions contemplated hereby. 

Section 7.20. Amendment and Restatement. This Agreement amends and restates in its 
entirety the Original Agreement and from and after the Effective Date all references made to the 
Original Agreement in any other instrument or document shall without more, be deemed to refer 
to this Agreement.  This Agreement shall become effective and supersede all provisions of the 
Original Agreement upon the execution of this Agreement by each of the parties hereto and the 
fulfillment of all conditions precedent hereof but is not intended to be or operate as a novation or 
an accord and satisfaction of the Original Agreement or the indebtedness, obligations and 
liabilities of SMUD evidenced or provided for thereunder. 

[EXECUTION PAGE FOLLOWS] 

-46-




 

  

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, SMUD and the Bank have duly executed this Agreement as of the 
date first above written. 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By:______________________________________ 
Name:_________________________________ 
Title:__________________________________ 

BARCLAYS BANK PLC 

By:______________________________________ 
Name:  Cassandra Bolz 
Title: Authorized Signatory for and on behalf 

of Barclays Bank PLC 

[Signature Page to Amended and Restated Reimbursement Agreement] 




 

 

 
  

 

APPENDIX I 


FORM OF LETTER OF CREDIT
	



 

 

 

 
 

 
  

 

  
 

 
 

 

 
 

  
  

  
 

 

  
 
 

  

  
 

 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF REVOLVING NOTE 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT
	

COMMERCIAL PAPER NOTES
	
SERIES L 


February [__], 2022 $153,698,631 

The Sacramento Municipal Utility District (“SMUD”), for value received, hereby 
promises to pay to the order of Barclays Bank PLC (the “Bank”), pursuant to that certain 
Amended and Restated Reimbursement Agreement dated as of February 1, 2022 (the 
“Reimbursement Agreement”), between SMUD and the Bank and that certain Fee Letter dated as 
of February [__], 2022 (the “Fee Letter”), between SMUD and the Bank, at the office of the 
Bank at Barclays Bank PLC, 745 Seventh Avenue, 19th Floor, New York, New York 10019, the 
aggregate unpaid principal amount of all Obligations (as defined in the Reimbursement 
Agreement) pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement and the Fee Letter on the dates and in the 
amounts provided for in the Reimbursement Agreement and the Fee Letter. 

SMUD promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of all Drawings, Unpaid 
Drawings and Advances and all other Obligations owed to the Bank under the Reimbursement 
Agreement and the Fee Letter on the dates and at the rate or rates provided for in the 
Reimbursement Agreement and the Fee Letter. All payments of principal and interest shall be 
made in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at the time of payment is 
legal tender for public and private debts in immediately available funds. All capitalized terms 
used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings specified in the 
Reimbursement Agreement. 

This Revolving Note is the Revolving Note referred to in the Reimbursement Agreement 
and is entitled to the benefits thereof and of the Program Documents referred to therein. As 
provided in the Reimbursement Agreement, this Revolving Note is subject to prepayment, in 
whole or in part, in accordance with the terms of the Reimbursement Agreement. 

The Bank agrees, by acceptance of this Revolving Note, that it will make a notation on 
the schedule attached hereto of all Drawings, Unpaid Drawing and Advances evidenced hereby 
and all principal payments and prepayments made hereunder and of the date to which interest 
hereon has been paid, all as provided in the Reimbursement Agreement; provided, however, that 
the failure to make any such notation shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligation of SMUD 
hereunder with respect to payments of principal of and interest on this Revolving Note. 

This Revolving Note is authorized by SMUD to be issued to provide funds to pay the 
principal amount of Notes theretofore issued to for the purposes set forth in the Note Resolution 
and for other authorized purposes. This Revolving Note is issued under and pursuant to and in 
full compliance with the Reimbursement Agreement providing for the issuance and sale and 
fixing the form and details of this Revolving Note. 



 

 

   
 

 

 

This Revolving Note is an obligation of SMUD secured by a lien on the Available 

Revenues as more fully described in Section 2.17 of the Reimbursement Agreement. 

It is hereby certified that all conditions, acts and things essential to the validity of this 
Revolving Note exist, have happened and have been done and that every requirement of law 
affecting the issuance hereof has been duly complied with. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank] 

-2-




 

 

 

  

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, SMUD, has caused this Revolving Note to be executed by an 
authorized officer of SMUD and this Revolving Note to be dated as of date set forth above. 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By:______________________________________ 
Name:_________________________________ 

      Title:__________________________________ 



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

     
  

  
 

  
  

 

  

   
   

 

 

EXHIBIT B 


FORM OF NO-ISSUANCE NOTICE
	

U.S. Bank National Association 
100 Wall Street, Suite 1600 
New York, New York 10005 
Attention: [______________] 

The undersigned, a duly authorized signatory of Barclays Bank PLC (the “Bank”), 
hereby certify to U.S. Bank National Association (the “Depositary”), with reference to 
Irrevocable Letter of Credit No. [SB-_____] (the “Letter of Credit,” the terms defined therein 
and not otherwise defined herein being used herein as therein defined) issued by the Bank in 
favor of the Depositary, as follows: 

1. We hereby notify you that, in accordance with the terms of the Amended 
and Restated Reimbursement Agreement dated as of February 1, 2022 (as the same may 
at any time be amended or modified and in effect, the “Reimbursement Agreement”), 
between the Scaramento Municipal Utility District and the Bank, an Event of Default, an 
Optional Termination Event or a Rating Event (as defined in the Reimbursement 
Agreement) has occurred and is continuing. 

2. Subject to the following sentence, you shall cease authenticating Notes, as 
provided in the second paragraph of Section 3(b) of the Depositary Agreement, unless 
and until we rescind this No-Issuance Notice. If you receive this No-Issuance Notice 
after 11:00 A.M. New York City time, on a Business Day you shall cease authenticating 
Notes on the next Business Day. 

3. This No-Issuance Notice shall not affect our obligation to honor demands 
for payment under the Letter of Credit with respect to Notes authenticated prior to your 
receipt of this No-Issuance Notice (or, subject to paragraph 2 above, on the same 
Business Day that you receive this No-Issuance Notice), and you shall continue to have 
the right to draw under the Letter of Credit to pay the principal of and accrued interest on 
maturing Notes authenticated prior to your receipt of this No-Issuance Notice (or, subject 
to paragraph 2 above, authenticated on the same Business Day that you receive this 
No-Issuance Notice). 

-1-



 

 

 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed and delivered this Notice as of the 
______ day of _______________, _____. 

BARCLAYS BANK PLC, as the Bank 

By ____________________________________ 
Name: _______________________________ 
Title: ________________________________ 



 
 
 

 

 
     

 

           

Contract Renewal with Barclays Bank 
Third Amended and Restated Fee Letter dated as of February 23, 2022 



  
 

  
   

 
  

 

   

    

 

  
 

  

  
    

  
    

 
 

 

 

  
  

  

   
  

 
 

DRAFT 


THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED FEE LETTER
	

DATED AS OF FEBRUARY 23, 2022 


Reference is hereby made to (i) that certain Amended and Restated Reimbursement 
Agreement dated as of February 1, 2022 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise 
modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof, the “Agreement”), between the 
SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT, a municipal utility district of the State of California 
(“SMUD”), and BARCLAYS BANK PLC (the “Bank”), relating to the Sacramento Municipal 
Utility District, Commercial Paper Notes, Series L (the “Notes”), (ii) that certain Irrevocable 
Letter of Credit dated February 23, 2022, as amended and extended to date and as may be further 
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms 
thereof (the “Letter of Credit”), issued by the Bank pursuant to the Agreement, supporting the 
Notes and (iii) that certain Second Amended and Restated Fee Letter dated as of October 22, 
2018 (the “Existing Fee Letter”), between SMUD and the Bank. Capitalized terms not 
otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Agreement or the Letter of 
Credit, as applicable. 

SMUD has requested that the Bank agree to certain amendments to the Existing  Fee  
Letter, and the Bank has agreed to such amendments. For the sake of clarity and convenience, 
the parties hereto wish to amend and restate the Existing Fee Letter in its entirety. The purpose 
of this Third Amended and Restated Fee Letter (this “Fee Letter”) is to confirm the agreement 
between the Bank and SMUD with respect to, among other things, the Letter of Credit Fees (as 
defined below) and certain other fees payable to the Bank. This Fee Letter is the “Fee Letter” 
referenced in the Agreement and the terms hereof are incorporated by reference into the 
Agreement. This Fee Letter and the Agreement are to be construed as one agreement between 
the SMUD and the Bank, and all obligations hereunder are to be construed as obligations 
thereunder. All references to amounts due and payable under the Agreement will be deemed to 
include all amounts, fees and expenses payable under this Fee Letter. 

ARTICLE I. FEES AND OTHER AGREEMENTS. 

Section 1.1. Letter of Credit Fees. SMUD hereby agrees to pay to the Bank on April 1, 
2022, for the period commencing on the Effective Date, and ending on March 31, 2022, and in 
arrears on the first Business Day of each July, October, January and April occurring thereafter to 
the Termination Date, and on the Termination Date (each, a “Quarterly Payment Date”), a 
non-refundable facility fee in an amount equal to the applicable rate per annum corresponding to 
the Rating, as specified below (the “Letter of Credit Fee Rate”), on the Stated Amount of the 
Letter of Credit (without regard to any reduction of the Stated Amount of the Letter of Credit 
subject to reinstatement) from time to time in effect (the “Letter of Credit Fees”) for each day 
during each related fee period: 

(i) For the period from and including February 23, 
2022, to but excluding August 1, 2022, the Letter of Credit Fee 

8a 2 Third A&R Fee Letter (Barclays) SMUD 4884-4960-9990 v5.doc 
1967934 



   
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
   

   
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 

 

 
     

 
 

     

Rate shall be determined in accordance with the pricing matrix set 
forth below: 

MOODY’S FITCH LETTER OF CREDIT 
LEVEL RATING S&P  RATING RATING FEE RATE 

Level 1 

Level 2 

Level 3 

Level 4 

Level 5 

A2 or above 

A3 

Baa1 

Baa2 

Baa3 

A or above 

A-

BBB+ 

BBB 

BBB-

A or above 

A-

BBB+ 

BBB 

BBB-

0.34% 

0.54% 

0.74% 

0.94% 

1.14% 

(ii) For the period from and including August 1, 2022, 
and at all times thereafter, the Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall be 
determined in accordance with the pricing matrix set forth below: 

LEVEL 
MOODY’S 
RATING S&P  RATING 

FITCH 
RATING 

LETTER OF CREDIT 
FEE RATE 

Level 1 A2 or above A or above A or above 0.26% 
Level 2 A3 A- A- 0.46% 
Level 3 Baa1 BBB+ BBB+ 0.66% 
Level 4 Baa2 BBB BBB 0.86% 
Level 5 Baa3 BBB- BBB- 1.06% 

The following paragraph shall be applicable to both clause (i) (including the pricing 
matrix) and clause (ii) (including the pricing matrix) above. In the event of a split rating (i.e., 
one of the Rating Agencies’ Rating is different than the Rating of either of the other Rating 
Agencies), the Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall be based upon the Level in which the lowest of the 
two highest Ratings appears. In the event that less than three Rating Agencies then assign a 
long-term unenhanced rating to long-term Bonds (as defined in the Master Bond Resolution), the 
Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall be based upon the Level in which the lower Rating appears. Any 
change in the Letter of Credit Fee Rate resulting from a change in a Rating shall be and become 
effective as of and on the date of the announcement of the change in such Rating. References to 
ratings levels above are references to rating categories as presently determined by the Rating 
Agencies and in the event of adoption of any new or changed rating system, the rating from the 
Rating Agency in question referred to above shall be deemed to refer to the rating category under 
the new rating system that most closely approximates the applicable rating category as currently 
in effect. Upon the occurrence of and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Letter 
of Credit Fee Rate shall increase by 2.00% per annum above the Letter of Credit Fee Rate 
otherwise in effect. The Letter of Credit Fees shall be payable as set forth above, together with 
interest on the Letter of Credit Fees from the date payment is due until payment in full at the 
Default Rate. 

-2-




  
 

 

 

    
  

  
 

   
   

 

  
 

    
   

  
     

 
 

   
 

   
   

   

    
 

 

 Section 1.2. Draw Fees. SMUD hereby agrees to pay to the Bank a non-refundable 
draw fee equal to $2,000 per year payable on February 23, 2022 and on each anniversary of such 
date occurring prior to the Termination Date. 

 Section 1.3. Amendment Fee. SMUD hereby agrees to pay to the Bank on the date of 
any amendment to this Agreement, the Letter of Credit or any Program Document, an 
amendment fee, of $2,500 (or such other amount that is satisfactory to the Bank and SMUD) plus 
the reasonable fees and expenses of any legal counsel retained by the Bank in connection 
therewith. In addition, SMUD hereby agrees to pay to the Bank on the date on which the Bank 
consents or provides a waiver with respect to any Program Document, a waiver or consent fee, as 
applicable, as determined by the Bank at the time of such request (or such other amount that is 
satisfactory to the Bank and SMUD) plus the reasonable fees and expenses of any legal counsel 
retained by the Bank in connection therewith. Such transaction charges shall be payable on the 
date of such amendment, waiver or consent. 

Section 1.4. Transfer Fee. SMUD hereby agrees to pay to the Bank on the date of each 
transfer of the Letter of Credit to a successor Depositary, a non-refundable transfer fee in an 
amount equal to $2,000, plus the reasonable fees and expenses of any legal counsel retained by 
the Bank in connection therewith. 

Section 1.5. Termination Fee; Reduction Fee.  (a) SMUD hereby agrees to pay to the 
Bank a termination fee in connection with any termination or replacement of the Letter of Credit 
by SMUD prior to February 23, 2023, in an amount equal to the product of (1) the Letter of 
Credit Fee Rate in effect on the date of such termination or replacement, (2) the Stated Amount 
in effect as of the date of termination and (3) a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the 
number of days from and including the date of such termination or replacement to and including 
February 23, 2023, and the denominator of which is 360 (the “Termination Fee”), payable on the 
date of such termination or replacement. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any provision in the 
Agreement to the contrary, SMUD may terminate or replace the Letter of Credit in accordance 
with the Note Resolution at any time without payment of the Termination Fee if such termination 
or replacement is as a result of (i) Moody’s having lowered the short-term debt rating of the 
Bank below “P-1” (or its equivalent), Fitch having lowered its short-term debt rating of the 
Bank below “F1” (or its equivalent) or S&P having lowered its short-term debt rating of the 
Bank below “A-1” (or its equivalent), (ii) the Bank imposing increased costs on SMUD in 
accordance with Section 2.14 of the Agreement, (iii) the ability of SMUD to issue Notes being 
terminated or SMUD’s commercial paper program being permanently retired and so long as no 
portion of the source of funds for such termination of the ability of SMUD to issue Notes or the 
permanent retirement of the commercial paper program represents proceeds of commercial paper 
or similar short-term indebtedness supported by a letter of credit, liquidity facility or another 
form of liquidity support or credit enhancement or directly purchased by a bank or other 
financial institution or (iv) the occurrence of a Trading Differential of (A) in the event the 
Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association Index (“SIFMA”) is greater than 50 basis 
points, the lesser of (x) 50% of SIFMA or (y) 100 basis points over SIFMA or (B) in the event 
SIFMA is less than or equal to 50 basis points, 25 basis points over SIFMA, in any case, for 35 
consecutive days; provided, however, that all amounts payable hereunder and under the 
Agreement shall be paid to the Bank on or prior to the date of such termination. 

-3-




 

 
 

 
 

 

  

   
 

  
  

     
 

 
 

  
 

  

  
  

 

 

    
 

   

   

     

    

    

       

    

 

As used herein, the term “Trading Differential” means, for any day, a rate per annum 
equal to (x) the interest rate borne by the Notes, so long as the interest on the Notes is excludable 
from gross income for federal income tax purposes or taxable, as applicable, and is not included 
in the calculation of alternative minimum tax, less (y) the average interest rate determined by an 
independent financial advisor reasonably acceptable to the Bank on such day borne by 
commercial paper notes issued by or on behalf of municipal utilities in the United States with 
approximately the same maturities as the Notes, the interest rate on which is excludable from 
gross income for federal income tax purposes or taxable, as applicable, the underlying ratings on 
which are the same as or lower than the underlying ratings then assigned to the Notes and the 
payment of the principal and interest on which is enhanced by credit facilities provided by 
commercial banks rated at least “P-1” by Moody’s, “A-1” by S&P and “F1” by Fitch, as 
calculated by the Bank. 

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing and anything set forth herein or in the Agreement to 
the contrary, SMUD agrees not to permanently reduce the Stated Amount below the Stated 
Amount in effect as of the date hereof prior to February 23, 2023, without the payment by 
SMUD to the Bank of a reduction fee in connection with each and every permanent reduction of 
the Stated Amount in an amount equal to the product of (A) the Letter of Credit Fee Rate in 
effect on the date of such reduction, (B) the difference between the Stated Amount (without 
regard to any reduction of the Stated Amount subject to reinstatement) prior to such reduction 
and the Stated Amount (without regard to any reduction of the Stated Amount subject to 
reinstatement) after such reduction, and (C) a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the 
number of days from and including the date of such reduction to and including February 23, 
2023, and the denominator of which is 360 (the “Reduction Fee”). Notwithstanding the 
foregoing or any provision in the Agreement to the contrary, SMUD may reduce the Stated 
Amount without payment of the Reduction Fee if such reduction is a result of a permanent 
reduction in SMUD’s ability to issue Notes and so long as no portion of the source of funds for 
such reduction represents proceeds of commercial paper notes or similar short-term indebtedness 
supported by a letter of credit, liquidity facility or another form of liquidity support or credit 
enhancement or directly purchased by a bank or other financial institution. 

ARTICLE II. MISCELLANEOUS. 

Section 2.1. Amendments. No amendment to this Fee Letter shall become effective 
without the prior written consent of SMUD and the Bank. 

Section 2.2. Governing Law.  PURSUANT TO SECTION 5-1401 OF  THE NEW YORK 

GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW (OR ANY SUCCESSOR STATUTE THERETO), THIS FEE LETTER SHALL 
BE DEEMED TO BE A CONTRACT UNDER, AND SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND  

INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE  LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND APPLICABLE 

FEDERAL LAW; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE CAPACITY, POWER AND AUTHORITY OF SMUD TO 

ENTER INTO THIS FEE LETTER AND THE OBLIGATIONS OF SMUD HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED 
BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF 
CALIFORNIA AND APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW WITHOUT REGARD TO CHOICE OF LAW RULES. 

-4-




     
     

 
 

     
 

   
 

 

  

 

  
   

    
 

 

 

 

Section 2.3. Counterparts. This Fee Letter may be executed in two or more 
counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original but both or all of which, when taken 
together, shall constitute but one instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature 
page of this Fee Letter by facsimile transmission or by e-mail with a pdf copy or other 
replicating image attached, will be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of 
this Fee Letter, and any printed or copied version of any signature page so delivered will have 
the same force and effect as an originally signed version of such signature page. 

Section 2.4. Severability. Any provision of this Fee Letter which is prohibited, 
unenforceable or not authorized in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to 
the extent of such prohibition, unenforceability or non-authorization without invalidating the 
remaining provisions hereof or affecting the validity, enforceability or legality of such provision 
in any other jurisdiction. 

 Section 2.5. No Disclosure. Unless required by law, SMUD shall not deliver or permit, 
authorize or consent to the delivery of this Fee Letter to any Person or for posting on the 
Electronic Municipal Market Access website as provided by the Municipal Securities 
Rulemaking Board unless the Bank provides its prior written consent. 

Section 2.6. Third Amended and Restated Fee Letter. This Fee Letter amends and 
restates in its entirety the Existing Fee Letter. Reference to this specific Fee Letter need not be 
made in any agreement, document, instrument, letter, certificate, the Agreement, the Existing Fee 
Letter itself, or any communication issued or made pursuant to or with respect to the Existing 
Fee Letter, any reference to the Existing Fee Letter being sufficient to refer to the Existing Fee 
Letter as amended and restated hereby, and more specifically, any and all references to the “Fee 
Letter” in the Agreement shall mean this Fee Letter. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW] 

-5-




 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Fee Letter to be duly executed 
and delivered by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first set forth 
above. 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By:______________________________________ 
Name: Russell Mills 
Title: Treasurer 

BARCLAYS BANK PLC 

By:______________________________________ 
Name: Cassandra Bolz 
Title: Authorized Signatory for and on behalf 

of Barclays Bank PLC 

Signature Page to Third Amended and Restated Fee Letter 



 
 
 

 

 
     

 

         
           

           

            

Contract Renewal with Barclays Bank 
Draft Second Supplemental Resolution (Supplemental to Resolution No. 11-12-05,
 

Adopted December 1, 2011, as Supplemented and Amended by Resolution No. 18-05-12,
 
Adopted May 17, 2018) Authorizing the Increase of the Aggregate Principal Amount of 


Commercial Paper Notes, Series L that may be Outstanding from Time To Time
 



  
 

 

 

 

 
   

  
 

   
  

   

 
  

 
 

    
 

  
 

 
  

DRAFT 


RESOLUTION NO. ___________________ 


SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL RESOLUTION 

(SUPPLEMENTAL TO RESOLUTION NO. 11-12-05, 


ADOPTED DECEMBER 1, 2011, AS SUPPLEMENTED AND AMENDED BY 

RESOLUTION NO. 18-05-12, ADOPTED MAY 17, 2018) 


AUTHORIZING THE INCREASE OF THE AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF 

COMMERCIAL PAPER NOTES, SERIES L THAT MAY BE OUTSTANDING FROM 


TIME TO TIME 


WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of SMUD adopted Resolution No. 11-12-05 (the 
“Original Resolution”) authorizing the issuance of SMUD’s Commercial Paper Notes, Series K 
in two subseries (collectively, the “Series K Notes”) in an amount not to exceed $100,000,000 
outstanding at any one time and SMUD’s Commercial Paper Notes, Series L in two subseries 
(collectively, the “Series L Notes”) in a principal amount not to exceed $100,000,000 
outstanding at any one time under (a) Articles 6a and 6b of Chapter 6 of the Municipal Utility 
District Act (California Public Utilities Code Section 12850 et seq.), (b) Chapter 7.5 of the 
Municipal Utility District Act (California Public Utilities Code Section 13371 et seq.) and (c) 
Article 11 of Chapter 3 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the California Government Code 
(California Government Code Section 53580 et seq.); 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of SMUD adopted Resolution No. 18-05-12 (the 
“First Supplemental Resolution” and, together with the Original Resolution, the “Amended 
Resolution”) authorizing the increase of the aggregate principal amount of the Series K Notes 
that may be outstanding at any one time under the Original Resolution to $188,750,000; 

WHEREAS, SMUD has determined that it is in its best interests to authorize the increase 
of the aggregate principal amount of the Series L Notes that may be outstanding at any one time 
under the Amended Resolution to $150,000,000; 

WHEREAS, subject to the terms of the Reimbursement Agreements (as defined in the 
Original Resolution), Section 7.01 of the Original Resolution permits the modification or 
amendment of the Original Resolution to increase the principal amount of Notes (as defined in 
the Original Resolution) that may be issued thereunder without notice to or the consent of any 
Noteholder (as defined in the Original Resolution); 

WHEREAS, SMUD has determined to modify and amend the Amended Resolution as set 
forth in this Second Supplemental Resolution to provide for the increase in the principal amount 
of the Series L Notes that may be issued under the Amended Resolution; 

WHEREAS, no Notes are currently outstanding under the Amended Resolution and 
SMUD has determined to make certain additional modifications and amendments to the 
Amended Resolution as set forth in this Second Supplemental Resolution, subject to the terms of 
the Reimbursement Agreements; 

OHSWEST:261393686.5 



  
 

   
   

 

  

 
 

 

   
 

 
 

   
 

  

 
  

     
 

  
 

  
  

 

 
  

   
 

   

WHEREAS, upon the termination of the current Letter of Credit for the Series K Notes, 
SMUD has determined that it will no longer issue Series K Notes under the Amended 
Resolution; 

WHEREAS, the amendments set forth in this Second Supplemental Resolution will not 
go into effect until any conditions precedent to the effectiveness of such amendments set forth in 
the Reimbursement Agreements have been satisfied; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Sacramento 
Municipal Utility District, as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.01. Definitions. Unless the context otherwise requires, all capitalized terms 
used in this Second Supplemental Resolution and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings 
given thereto in the Original Resolution. 

ARTICLE II 

AMENDMENTS TO AMENDED RESOLUTION 

Section 2.01. Authorization. The increase of the aggregate principal amount of the 
Series L Notes that may be outstanding under the Amended Resolution to $150,000,000 is 
hereby authorized. Section 2.01 of the Original Resolution, as previously amended by the First 
Supplemental Resolution, is hereby amended to read in full as follows: 

“Section 2.01. Authorization. The Series K Notes (consisting, 
collectively, of the Subseries K-1 Notes and the Subseries K-2 Notes) may be issued in 
an unlimited aggregate principal amount so long as the aggregate principal amount of the 
Series K Notes outstanding at any one time plus the interest on such outstanding Series K 
Notes payable at the maturity thereof does not exceed the Stated Amount (as defined in 
the Series K Letter of Credit), as reduced and reinstated from time to time as provided in 
the Series K Letter of Credit, and the outstanding aggregate principal amount of the 
Series K Notes does not exceed $188,750,000. Subject to the immediately preceding 
sentence and the other conditions set forth in this Resolution, the Series K Notes may be 
issued as either Subseries K-1 Notes or Subseries K-2 Notes as determined by the 
Authorized Officer authorizing the issuance of Series K Notes pursuant to Section 2.02 
hereof. 

The Series L Notes (consisting, collectively, of the Subseries L-1 Notes 
and the Subseries L-2 Notes) may be issued in an unlimited aggregate principal amount 
so long as the aggregate principal amount of the Series L Notes outstanding at any one 
time plus the interest on such outstanding Series L Notes payable at the maturity thereof 
does not exceed the Stated Amount (as defined in the Series L Letter of Credit), as 
reduced and reinstated from time to time as provided in the Series L Letter of Credit, and 
the outstanding aggregate principal amount of the Series L Notes does not exceed 

OHSWEST:261393686.5 2 



  
 

 
  

 

  

 
 

 

 

  
  

  
   

    
 

 

   
   

  
 

 
 

  

$150,000,000. Subject to the immediately preceding sentence and the other conditions 
set forth in this Resolution, the Series L Notes may be issued as either Subseries L-1 
Notes or Subseries L-2 Notes as determined by the Authorized Officer authorizing the 
issuance of Series L Notes pursuant to Section 2.02 hereof.” 

Section 2.02. Amendment of Section 1.01 of the Original Resolution. The definition of 
“Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreement” set forth in Section 1.01 of the Original Resolution is 
hereby amended to read in full as follows: 

‘“Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreement” means any credit 
enhancement agreement or similar agreement or any credit agreement or other 
arrangement which may be entered into by SMUD with respect to a series of Parity Notes 
issued by SMUD and designated by SMUD as such in connection with the issuance of 
such series of Parity Notes.’ 

ARTICLE III 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 3.01. Additional Actions. The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, 
any Member of the Executive Committee, the Treasurer, the Secretary or the Chief Financial 
Officer and the other officers of SMUD are hereby authorized and directed, jointly and severally, 
to do any and all things and to execute and deliver any and all documents (including but not 
limited to reimbursement agreements, fee letters, depositary agreements, tax certificates, dealer 
agreements, commercial paper memoranda and/or amendments to any of the foregoing) which 
they may deem necessary or advisable in order to effectuate the purposes of this Second 
Supplemental Resolution. 

Section 3.02. Series K Notes. Upon the termination of the current Letter of Credit for 
the Series K Notes, SMUD agrees that no Series K Notes will thereafter be issued under the 
Amended Resolution. 

Section 3.03. Effect of Second Supplemental Resolution. The amendments to the 
Amended Resolution set forth in this Second Supplemental Resolution will not go into effect 
until any conditions precedent to the effectiveness of such amendments set forth in the 
Reimbursement Agreements have been satisfied. The Amended Resolution is hereby ratified 
and confirmed and shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with the terms and  
provisions thereof, as modified and amended by this Second Supplemental Resolution. 

OHSWEST:261393686.5 3 



8b
 



   
  

   

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 

  

 

   

    
        

  

 
  

   
     

   
   

   
  

   
  

  
    

 
  

   

    

   

    

 

  

  

 
 

 

  
  

 
 

   

SSS No. BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
STAFFING SUMMARY SHEET 

Committee Meeting & Date 

TR22-002 
Finance & Audit - 02/15/22 
Board Meeting Date 
February 17, 2022 

TO TO 

1. Jennifer Davidson 6. 

2. Gary King 7. 

3. Lora Anguay 8. 

4. Scott Martin 9. Legal 

5. 10. CEO & General Manager 

Consent Calendar Yes X No If no, schedule a dry run presentation. Budgeted X Yes No (If no, explain in Cost/Budgeted   
section.) 

FROM (IPR) DEPARTMENT MAIL STOP EXT. DATE SENT 

Russell Mills Treasury B355 6509 01/13/2022 
NARRATIVE: 
Requested Action: Authorize the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager to negotiate and execute: 

a. A three-and-one-half-year contract renewal and expansion to $150,000,000 with Barclays Bank 
(Barclays) for a Letter of Credit (Barclays LOC) that supports the outstanding Commercial Paper 
Series L, with terms substantially similar to the attached term sheet. 

b. A three-year contract renewal and expansion to $150,000,000 with Bank of America, N.A. (BAML) 
for a Letter of Credit (BAML LOC) that supports the outstanding Commercial Paper Series M, 
with terms substantially similar to the attached term sheet. 

c. A four-year contract with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (Wells Fargo) for a new Line of Credit (Line) 
that supports a new $100,000,000 Line of Credit Series N, with terms substantially similar to the 
attached term sheet. 

Summary: SMUD currently has a $400 million commercial paper program expiring soon which provides a funding 
mechanism for SMUD’s capital program, and a source of liquidity, without the long lead time needed for a 
bond issuance. These contracts restructure and extend that program. Series L and Series M are credit 
enhancements necessary for the commercial paper program investors. Series N is a direct lending contract 
that allows SMUD to borrow funds directly from Wells Fargo. With the Series L and Series M renewals and 
expansions, and the new Series N contract, SMUD was able to maintain a $400,000,000 short-term 
borrowing portfolio, lower overall program fees, and portfolio diversification.  

Board Policy: 
(Number & Title) 

Strategic Direction SD-3, Access to Credit Markets. 

Benefits: The line of credit and letters of credit provide liquidity and funding to support SMUD’s capital program.  

Cost/Budgeted: Fees and expenses are estimated to be $3.40 million over the life of the contracts and are included in budget 
forecasts. 

Alternatives: Issue fixed rate debt/bonds at a higher borrowing cost and with a longer lead time. 

Affected Parties: Treasury, Legal 

Coordination: Treasury, Legal 

Presenter: Russell Mills, Director of Risk Management & Treasurer 

Additional Links: 

SUBJECT 
Letter of Credit (LOC) Renewal for Three Contracts 

ITEM NO. (FOR LEGAL USE ONLY) 

8b 
ITEMS SUBMITTED AFTER DEADLINE WILL BE POSTPONED UNTIL NEXT MEETING. 

SMUD-1516 1/16 Forms Management            Page  0  



 
 
 

 

 
      

 

     

Contract Renewal with Bank of America 
First Amendment to Reimbursement Agreement 



  

  
 
  

   

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
  

  

DRAFT 


FIRST AMENDMENT TO REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 

This First Amendment to Reimbursement Agreement (this “Amendment”) dated 
February __, 2022 (the “Amendment Date”), is  between SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY 

DISTRICT, a municipal utility district of the State of California (together with its successors and 
assigns, “SMUD”) and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., a national banking association (together with 
its successors and assigns, the “Bank”). All capitalized terms terms herein and not defined 
herein shall have the meanings set forth in the hereinafter defined Agreement. 

W I T N E S S E T H  

WHEREAS, SMUD and the Bank have previously entered into that certain Reimbursement 
Agreement dated as of February 1, 2019 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise 
modified to date, the “Agreement”), relating to Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit No. 
68145016, supporting SMUD’s Commercial Paper Notes, Series M; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 7.1 of the Agreement, the Agreement may be amended by 
a written amendment thereto, executed by SMUD and the Bank; and 

WHEREAS, SMUD has requested that certain amendments be made to the Agreement, and 
the Bank has agreed to make such amendments to the Agreement as described herein subject to 
the terms and conditions set forth herein. 

NOW  THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the parties hereto hereby agree as 
follows: 

SECTION 1. AMENDMENTS. 

Upon the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3 hereof, the 
Agreement is hereby amended as follows: 

1.01. The following defined term in Section 1.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended in 
its entirety and as so amended shall be restated to read as follows: 

“Debt” means for any Person (without duplication) (i) all 
indebtedness created, assumed or incurred in any manner by such Person  
representing money borrowed (including by the issuance of debt securities), 
(ii) all obligations of such Person for the deferred purchase price of property 
or services (other than trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of 
business), (iii) all obligations secured by any Lien upon property of such 
Person, whether or not such Person has assumed or become liable for the 
payment of such obligations (other than collateralized commodity swaps the 
obligations under which are either (a) not secured by a Lien on Net Revenues 
or (b) secured by a Lien on Net Revenues subordinate to the Obligations), 
(iv) all obligations of such Person as lessee under leases (as determined under 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 87 Leases, or any 

8b 1 SMUD-BANA First Amendment to Reimbursement Agreement (2).doc 
4110904 



 

 
 

     

 

               

 
 

  
   

  

    

 

 

   

  
    

successor guidance) shown on the liabilities side of the balance sheet of such 
Person, (v) all obligations of such Person on or with respect to letters of credit, 
banker’s acceptances and other evidences of indebtedness representing 
extensions of credit whether or not representing obligations for borrowed 
money, (vi) certificates of participation evidencing an undivided ownership 
interest in payments made by such Person (A) as lessee under any lease of 
property which in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
would be required to be capitalized on the balance sheet of such Person, (B) as 
purchaser under an installment sale agreement or (C) otherwise as an obligor 
in connection therewith, and (vii) all Debt of any other Person of the kind 
referred to in clauses (i) through (vi) above which is guaranteed (regardless of 
form) directly or indirectly in any manner by such Person. 

1.02. Section 2.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety and as so amended 
shall be restated to read as follows: 

Section 2.1. Issuance of Letter of Credit. Upon the terms, subject to 
the conditions and relying upon the representations and warranties set forth in 
this Agreement or incorporated herein by reference, the Bank agrees to issue 
the Letter of Credit substantially in the form of Appendix I hereto.  The Letter 
of Credit shall be in the original stated amount of $153,698,631 (calculated as 
the sum of the maximum principal amount of the Notes supported by the 
Letter of Credit (i.e., $150,000,000) plus interest thereon at a maximum rate 
of ten percent (10%) per annum for a period of ninety (90) days calculated on 
the basis of a year of 365 days and the actual number of day elapsed) (the 
“Original Stated Amount”). 

1.03. Section 5.1(bb) is hereby amended in its entirety and as so amended shall be 
restated to read as follows: 

(bb) Swap Contracts. Without the prior written consent of the 
Bank, SMUD shall not enter into any Swap Contracts relating to Debt wherein 
any termination payments thereunder are senior to or on parity with the 
payment of any Obligation. 

1.04. All references to $111,250,000 contained in the Agreement shall be amended and 
restated to reference $150,000,000. 

1.05. Article Seven of the Agreement is hereby amended by adding thereto a new 
Section 7.19 to read as follows and to appear in the appropriate numerical sequence:  

Section 7.19. US QFC Stay Rules. 

(a) Recognition of U.S. Resolution Regimes. In the event that any party that is 
a Covered Entity becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution 
Regime, the transfer of this Agreement (and any interest and obligation in or under this 

-2-



 

 
 

  
 

 
  

 

  

 
 

 
 

    
    

 
  

   
 

  

 

   

 
 

 
 

Agreement and any property securing this Agreement) from such Covered Entity will be 
effective to the same extent as the transfer would be effective under the U.S. Special 
Resolution Regime if this Agreement (and any such interest, obligation and property) 
were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States. In the 
event that any party that is a Covered Entity or a BHC Act Affiliate of such party 
becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, Default Rights 
against such party with respect to this Agreement are permitted to be exercised to no 
greater extent than such Default Rights could be exercised under the U.S. Special 
Resolution Regime if this Agreement were governed by the laws of the United States or a 
state of the United States. The requirements of this paragraph (a) apply notwithstanding 
the provisions of paragraph (b). 

(b) Limitation on the Exercise of Certain Rights Related to Affiliate 
Insolvency Proceedings. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in  this Agreement or  
any related agreement, but subject to the requirements of paragraph (a), no party to this 
Agreement shall be permitted to exercise any Default Right against a party that is a 
Covered Entity with respect to this Agreement that is related, directly or indirectly, to a 
BHC Act Affiliate of such Covered Entity becoming subject to Insolvency Proceedings, 
except to the extent the exercise of such Default Right would be permitted under 12 
C.F.R. § 252.84, 12 C.F.R. § 47.5, or 12 C.F.R. § 382.4, as applicable. After a BHC Act 
Affiliate  of a party that  is a Covered  Entity has become  subject to Insolvency 
Proceedings, any party that seeks to exercise a Default Right against such Covered Entity 
with respect to this Agreement shall have the burden of proof, by clear and convincing 
evidence, that the exercise of such Default Right is permitted hereunder. 

“BHC Act Affiliate” of a party means an “affiliate” (as such term is defined 
under, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 1841(k)) of such party. 

“Covered Entity” means any of the following: 

(a) a “covered entity” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance 
with, 12 C.F.R. § 252.82(b); 

(b) a “covered bank” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance 
with, 12 C.F.R. § 47.3(b); or 

(c) a “covered FSI” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in 
accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 382.2(b). 

“Default Right” has the meaning assigned to that term in, and shall be interpreted 
in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. §§ 252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable. 

“Insolvency Proceeding” means a receivership, insolvency, liquidation, 
resolution, or similar proceeding. 

-3-



 

 

 

 

 
 

  
 

 

   

 

   

  

 

  

 

 

 

 
    

   

“U.S. Special Resolution Regime” means each of (i) the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder and (ii) Title II of the Dodd-
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the regulations promulgated 
thereunder. 

1.06. Exhibit A to the Agreement is hereby amended and as so amended shall be 
restated to read as set forth on Exhibit B attached hereto.   

[SECTION 2. REQUEST FOR EXTENSION OF STATED TERMINATION DATE. 

SMUD hereby requests that the Bank extend the Stated Expiration Date to 
February ____, 2025, and the Bank agrees to such request and will deliver to the 
Depository a Notice of Extension substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A to 
effectuate such extension.]1 

SECTION 3. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT. 

This Amendment shall be effective as of the Amendment Date subject to the satisfaction 
of or waiver by the Bank of all of the following conditions precedent: 

2.01. Delivery by SMUD to the Bank of an executed counterpart of this Amendment, the 
Revolving Note, the Amended and Restated Fee Letter dated February ___, 2022 between 
SMUD and the Bank, and the First Amendment to Letter of Credit dated February __, 2021 
executed by the Bank. 

2.02. Receipt by the Bank of a customary certificate executed by appropriate officers of 
SMUD including the incumbency and signature of the officer of SMUD executing this 
Amendment and a certified copy of the authorizing resolution. 

2.03. All other legal matters pertaining to the execution and delivery of this Amendment 
shall be satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel. 

SECTION 3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SMUD. 

3.01. SMUD hereby represents and warrants that the following statements shall be true 
and correct as of the date hereof: 

(a) the representations and warranties of SMUD contained in Article Five of the 
Agreement and in each of the Program Documents are true and correct on and as of the 
date hereof as though made on and as of such date (except to the extent the same 
expressly relate to an earlier date and except that the representations contained in 
Section 4.1(e) of the Agreement shall be deemed to refer to the most recent financial 

Under review by the Bank’s LC Department to determine whether a separate notice of extension is needed 
together with an amendment to LC to effectuate the extension and increase.  

-4-

1 



 

 

 

   

 

 
 

 

 
 

  

    

 
 

  
   

 

 
    

     
   

  

   

       

  

   

   

    

statements of SMUD delivered to the Bank pursuant to Section 5.1(a) of the Agreement); 
and 

(b) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would 
result from the execution of this Amendment. 

3.02. In addition to the representations given in Article Five of the Agreement, SMUD 
hereby represents and warrants as follows: 

(a) The execution, delivery and performance by SMUD of this Amendment, 
the Fee Letter, and the Agreement, as amended hereby, are within its powers, have been 
duly authorized by all necessary action and do not contravene any law, rule or regulation, 
any judgment, order or decree or any contractual restriction binding on or affecting 
SMUD. 

(b) No authorization, approval or other action by, and no notice to or filing 
with, any governmental authority or regulatory body is required for the due execution, 
delivery and performance by SMUD of this Amendment, the Fee Letter, the Agreement, 
as amended hereby. 

(c) This Amendment, the Fee Letter, and the Agreement, as amended hereby, 
constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of SMUD enforceable against SMUD in 
accordance with their respective terms, except that (i) the enforcement thereof may be  
limited by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, liquidation, moratorium and other 
laws relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights and remedies generally, 
the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and by the limitations on legal 
remedies against SMUD, and (ii) no representation or warranty is expressed as to the 
availability of equitable remedies. 

SECTION 4. MISCELLANEOUS. 

4.01. Except as specifically amended herein, the Agreement shall continue in full 
force and effect in accordance with its terms. Reference to this Amendment need not be made in 
any note, document, agreement, letter, certificate, the Agreement or any communication issued 
or made subsequent to or with respect to the Agreement, it being hereby agreed that any 
reference to the Agreement shall be sufficient to refer to, and shall mean and be a reference to, 
the Agreement, as hereby amended. In case any one or more of the provisions contained herein 
should be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability 
of the remaining provisions contained herein shall not in any way be affected or impaired hereby.  
PURSUANT TO SECTION 5-1401 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW (OR ANY 
SUCCESSOR STATUTE THERETO), THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A CONTRACT UNDER, 
AND SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE  
LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT 
THE CAPACITY, POWER AND AUTHORITY OF SMUD TO ENTER INTO THIS AMENDMENT AND THE 

OBLIGATIONS OF SMUD HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED 

-5-



 

  

  
       

 
 

 
 

 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW 

WITHOUT REGARD TO CHOICE OF LAW RULES. 

4.02. This Amendment may be simultaneously executed in several counterparts, each of 
which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 
This Amendment may be delivered by the exchange of signed signature pages by facsimile 
transmission or by e-mail with a pdf copy or other replicating image attached, and any printed or 
copied version of any signature page so delivered shall have the same force and effect as an 
originally signed version of such signature page. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW] 

-6-



    

  

 

  

  

 
  

 

  
  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly 
executed and delivered as of the Amendment Date. 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. 

By: ____________________________________ 
Name: Brent Riley  
Title:  Senior Vice President 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By: ____________________________________ 
Name:  Russell Mills 
Title:  Treasurer 

Signature Page to First Amendment to Reimbursement Agreement 



 

 

   
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF NOTICE OF EXTENSION 

ANNEX E 

TO
	

IRREVOCABLE TRANSFERABLE LETTER OF CREDIT
	

NO. 68145016 


February __, 2022 
U.S. Bank National Association, as Depositary 
100 Wall Street, Suite 1600 
New York, New York 10005 
Attention: Corporate Trust Department 

Re: Notice of Extension 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Reference is hereby made to that certain Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit 
No. 68145016 dated February 28, 2019 (as amended through the date hereof, the “Letter of 
Credit”), established by us in your favor as Depositary.  We hereby notify you that the Letter of 
Credit Expiration Date of the Letter of Credit has been extended to February ___, 2025. 

You are hereby authorized to attach this Notice of Extension to the Letter of Credit and to 
treat this Notice of Extension as extending the Letter of Credit Expiration Date of the Letter of 
Credit. 

Very truly yours, 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. 

By: ____________________________________ 
Name: _______________________________ 
Title: ________________________________ 



 

 

   
 
   

 
 

 
  

 

 

  

 

 
  

 

 

 
 

  
  

 
 

 

  
 
 

  

EXHIBIT B 

EXHIBIT A 

AMENDED AND RESTATED REVOLVING NOTE 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT
	

COMMERCIAL PAPER NOTES
	
SERIES M 


February __, 2021 $153,698,631 

The Sacramento Municipal Utility District (“SMUD”), for value received, hereby 
promises to pay to the order of Bank of America, N.A. (the “Bank”), pursuant to that certain 
Reimbursement Agreement dated as of February 1, 2019 (as amended, restated, or otherwise 
modified from time to time, the “Reimbursement Agreement”), between SMUD and the Bank 
and that certain Fee Letter dated February ___, 2021 (as amended, restated, or otherwise 
modified from time to time, the “Fee Letter”), between SMUD and the Bank, at the office of the 
Bank at 211 N. Robinson Ave., OK1-100-02-30, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102, the 
aggregate unpaid principal amount of all Obligations (as defined in the Reimbursement 
Agreement) pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement and the Fee Letter on the dates and in the 
amounts provided for in the Reimbursement Agreement and the Fee Letter. 

SMUD promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of all Drawings, Unpaid 
Drawings and Advances and all other Obligations owed to the Bank under the Reimbursement 
Agreement and the Fee Letter on the dates and at the rate or rates provided for in the 
Reimbursement Agreement and the Fee Letter. All payments of principal and interest shall be 
made in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at the time of payment is 
legal tender for public and private debts in immediately available funds. All capitalized terms 
used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings specified in the 
Reimbursement Agreement. 

This Amended and Restated Revolving Note is the Revolving Note referred to in the 
Reimbursement Agreement and is entitled to the benefits thereof and of the Program Documents 
referred to therein. As provided in the Reimbursement Agreement, this Revolving Note is 
subject to prepayment, in whole or in part, in accordance with the terms of the Reimbursement 
Agreement. 

The Bank agrees, by acceptance of this Revolving Note, that it will make a notation on 
the schedule attached hereto of all Drawings, Unpaid Drawing and Advances evidenced hereby 
and all principal payments and prepayments made hereunder and of the date to which interest 
hereon has been paid, all as provided in the Reimbursement Agreement; provided, however, that 
the failure to make any such notation shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligation of SMUD 
hereunder with respect to payments of principal of and interest on this Revolving Note. 



 

 

  
 

 

 

   
 

     
 

 
 

   

 

This Revolving Note is authorized by SMUD to be issued to provide funds to pay the 
principal amount of Notes theretofore issued to for the purposes set forth in the Note Resolution 
and for other authorized purposes. This Revolving Note is issued under and pursuant to and in 
full compliance with the Reimbursement Agreement providing for the issuance and sale and 
fixing the form and details of this Revolving Note. 

This Revolving Note is an obligation of SMUD secured by a lien on the Available 
Revenues as more fully described in Section 2.17 of the Reimbursement Agreement. 

It is hereby certified that all conditions, acts and things essential to the validity of this 
Revolving Note exist, have happened and have been done and that every requirement of law 
affecting the issuance hereof has been duly complied with. 

This Amended and Restated Revolving Note amends and restates in its entirety that 
certain Revolving Note dated February 28, 2019 (the “Existing Note”). This Amended and 
Restated Revolving Note shall become effective and supersede all provisions of the Existing 
Note upon the issuance of this Amended and Restated Revolving Note by SMUD and the 
fulfillment of all conditions precedent hereof but is not intended to be or operate as a novation or 
an accord and satisfaction of the Existing Note or the indebtedness, obligations and liabilities of 
SMUD evidenced or provided for thereunder. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank] 

-2-



  

 

 

 

 

  
  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, SMUD has caused this Revolving Note to be executed by an 
authorized officer of SMUD and this Revolving Note to be dated as of date set forth above. 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By: _______________________________________ 
Name:  Russell Mills 
Title:  Treasurer 



 

 

 
 

  
  

 

   

    

    

    

    

    
 

SCHEDULE FOR REVOLVING NOTE
	

DATED FEBRUARY ___, 2021 

BY SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT
	

PAYABLE TO BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
	

DATE 

AMOUNT OF 

DRAWING OR 

ADVANCE 

MADE 

AMOUNT OF 

PRINCIPAL 
PAID 

DATE TO 

WHICH 

INTEREST 
PAID DUE DATE 

NOTATION 

MADE BY 



 

       
 

 

 

 

 

   

 

    
   

 

EXECUTION VERSION 

REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 

dated as of February 1, 2019, 

between 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

and 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. 

relating to: 

$111,250,000 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT,
 

COMMERCIAL PAPER NOTES,
 
SERIES M 


SMUD form of Reimbursement Agreement 4845-2559-2192 v10 
4219796 



 

 

 
 

  

 

   

 

  
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

  
 

  

   

  

 

REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 

(This Table of Contents is not a part of this 

Reimbursement Agreement and is only
 

for convenience of reference)
 

SECTION DESCRIPTION PAGE 

Parties ...............................................................................................................................................1
 

ARTICLE ONE DEFINITIONS .................................................................................................1
 

Section 1.1. Definitions........................................................................................................1
 
Section 1.2. Incorporation of Certain Definitions by Reference .......................................10
 
Section 1.3. Accounting Terms and Determinations .........................................................10
 
Section 1.4. Interpretation ..................................................................................................10
 

ARTICLE TWO LETTER OF CREDIT......................................................................................11
 

Section 2.1. Issuance of Letter of Credit............................................................................11
 
Section 2.2. Letter of Credit Drawings ..............................................................................11
 
Section 2.3. Drawings Converted to Advances .................................................................11
 
Section 2.4. Reimbursement of Drawings Not Converted to Advances;
 

Reimbursement of Interest Component of Drawings .............................12
 
Section 2.5. Fees ................................................................................................................13
 
Section 2.6. The Revolving Note.......................................................................................13
 
Section 2.7. Substitute Letter of Credit; Reduction of Stated Amount..............................13
 
Section 2.8. Computation of Interest and Fees ..................................................................14
 
Section 2.9. Payment Due on Non-Business Day to Be Made on Next
 

Business Day...........................................................................................14
 
Section 2.10. Late Payments................................................................................................14
 
Section 2.11. Source of Funds .............................................................................................14
 
Section 2.12. Extension of Stated Expiration Date..............................................................14
 
Section 2.13. Net of Taxes, Etc............................................................................................15
 
Section 2.14. Increased Costs ..............................................................................................15
 
Section 2.15. Margin Regulations........................................................................................17
 
Section 2.16. Maximum Rate; Payment of Fee ...................................................................17
 
Section 2.17. Security for Obligations.................................................................................17
 
Section 2.18. Commercial Paper Notes Operations.............................................................17
 
Section 2.19. Method of Payment; Etc. ...............................................................................18
 

ARTICLE THREE CONDITIONS PRECEDENT ............................................................................18
 

Section 3.1. Conditions Precedent to Issuance of the Letter of Credit ..............................18
 

ARTICLE FOUR REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES........................................................20
 

Section 4.1. Representations of SMUD .............................................................................20
 

-i



 

  

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

    
  

ARTICLE FIVE COVENANTS................................................................................................25
 

Section 5.1. Covenants of SMUD......................................................................................25
 

ARTICLE SIX DEFAULTS...................................................................................................31
 

Section 6.1. Events of Default and Remedies ....................................................................31
 
Section 6.2. Remedies ........................................................................................................34
 
Section 6.3. Rating Event...................................................................................................35
 

ARTICLE SEVEN MISCELLANEOUS ........................................................................................35
 

Section 7.1. Amendments, Waivers, Etc. ...........................................................................35
 
Section 7.2. Notices. ..........................................................................................................35
 
Section 7.3. Survival of Covenants; Successors and Assigns............................................36
 
Section 7.4. Unconditional Obligations. ............................................................................37
 
Section 7.5 Liability of Bank; Indemnification ................................................................38
 
Section 7.6. Expenses and Taxes. ......................................................................................40
 
Section 7.7. No Waiver; Conflict. ......................................................................................40
 
Section 7.8. Modification, Amendment, Waiver, Etc. .......................................................41
 
Section 7.9. Dealing with SMUD, the Depositary, and/or the Dealer. ..............................41
 
Section 7.10. Severability. ...................................................................................................41
 
Section 7.11. Counterparts. ..................................................................................................41
 
Section 7.12. Table of Contents; Headings..........................................................................41
 
Section 7.13. Entire Agreement ...........................................................................................41
 
Section 7.14. Governing Law ..............................................................................................41
 
Section 7.15. Waiver of Jury Trial.......................................................................................41
 
Section 7.16 Right of Setoff; Other Collateral....................................................................42
 
Section 7.17. USA Patriot Act .............................................................................................42
 
Section 7.18. Assignment to Federal Reserve Bank ............................................................43
 

Appendix I — Form of Letter of Credit 
Exhibit A — Form of Revolving Note 

-ii



 

       
  

       
      

  

 

           
           

          
       

        
          

        
          

 

         
            

 

         
 

     
    

 

         
             

 

 

         
        

         

REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 

This REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT dated as of February 1, 2019 (together with all 
amendments, supplements and other modifications hereto, this “Agreement”), between 
SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT, a municipal utility district of the State of California 
(together with its successors and assigns, “SMUD”) and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., a national 
banking association (together with its successors and assigns, the “Bank”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority granted by the laws of the State of California, 
particularly Articles 6a and 6b of Chapter 6 of the Municipal Utility Act (California Public Utilities 
Code Section 12850 et seq.), Chapter 7.5 of the Municipal Utility District Act (California Public 
Utilities Code Section 13371 et seq.) and Article 11 of Chapter 3 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 
of the California Government Code (California Government Code Section 53.80 et seq.), and 
Resolution No. 19-02-02 (the “Note Resolution”) adopted by the Board of Directors of SMUD, 
on February 21, 2019, SMUD has established a commercial paper program providing for the 
issuance of up to $111,250,000 in aggregate principal amount of its Commercial Paper Notes, 
Series M (the “Notes”); and 

WHEREAS, SMUD has requested the Bank to issue the Letter of Credit (as hereinafter 
defined) to the Depositary, as beneficiary, in order to assure timely payment of the principal of 
and interest on the Notes on their respective maturity dates; and 

WHEREAS, the Bank is prepared to issue the Letter of Credit upon the terms and conditions 
stated in this Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the agreements set forth herein and in order to induce 
the Bank to issue the Letter of Credit, the Bank and SMUD agree as follows: 

ARTICLE ONE 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1. Definitions. As used in this Agreement: 

“Act” means the Municipal Utility District Act, constituting Division 6 of the 
Public Utilities Code of the State of California, and all laws of the State of California 
amendatory thereof or supplemental thereto. 

“Advance” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a) hereof. 

“Affiliate” means, as to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly 
controlling, controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, such Person. 
A Person shall be deemed to be “controlled by” any other Person if such other Person 



 

             
        

          
 

  

         
          

         
         

         
          

              
 

      
             

          
         

 

       
            

 

  

       
          

        
       

         
   

           
          

           
           
            

            
         

possesses, directly or indirectly, power (a) to vote 10% or more of the securities (on a fully 
diluted basis) having ordinary voting power for the election of directors or managing 
general partners; or (b) to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of 
such Person whether by contract or otherwise. 

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof. 

“Alternate Letter of Credit” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Amortization End Date” means, with respect to any Advance, the earliest to occur 
of: (i) the fifth (5th) anniversary of the date on which the related Advance was made, (ii) the 
date on which an Alternate Letter of Credit becomes effective in substitution of the Letter 
of Credit with respect to the Notes, and (iii) the date on which the Stated Amount is 
permanently reduced to zero or the Letter of Credit is otherwise terminated prior to the 
Stated Expiration Date, including as a result of the occurrence of an Event of Default 
(provided, however, that the occurrence of a Rating Event at any time after the Stated 
Expiration Date shall not result in an Amortization End Date). 

“Amortization Payment Date” means, with respect to each Advance, (a) the first 
Business Day to occur on or after the six (6) month anniversary of the date the related 
Advance is made and the first Business Day of each sixth (6th) calendar month occurring 
thereafter prior to the related Amortization End Date and (b) the related Amortization End 
Date. 

“Authorized SMUD Representative” means the Chief Executive Officer and 
General Manager of SMUD, any Member of the Executive Committee of SMUD, the Chief 
Financial Officer of SMUD, the Treasurer of SMUD and/or the Secretary of SMUD. 

“Available Revenues” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Bank” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof. 

“Bank Agreement” means any credit agreement, bond purchase agreement, 
liquidity agreement or other agreement or instrument (or any amendment, supplement or 
modification thereto) entered into by SMUD with any Person, directly or indirectly, or 
otherwise consented to by SMUD, under which any Person or Persons undertakes to make 
loans, extend credit or liquidity to SMUD in connection with any of SMUD’s Debt payable 
from or secured by a lien on Net Revenues senior to or on a parity with the Obligations. 

“Bank Rate” means the rate of interest per annum with respect to any Advance 
(i) for any day commencing on the date such Advance is made to and including the 
ninetieth (90th) day next succeeding the date such Advance is made, equal to the Base Rate 
from time to time in effect, and (ii) for any day commencing on the ninety-first (91st) day 
next succeeding the date such Advance is made and at all times thereafter, equal to the sum 
of the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus one percent (1.0%); provided, however, 
that immediately and automatically upon the occurrence of an Event of Default (and 

-2



 

           

     
  

              
               

           
  

 

  

          
           

       
        

              
         

       
        

        
          

        
            

         
 

 

          
  

         
  

          

   

      
          

without any notice given with respect thereto) and during the continuance of such Event of 
Default, “Bank Rate” shall mean the Default Rate. 

“Bank-Related Persons” means the Bank, its Affiliates and the officers, directors, 
employees, agents and attorneys-in-fact of the Bank and Affiliates. 

“Base Rate” means, for any day, a fluctuating rate of interest per annum equal to 
the greatest of (i) the Prime Rate in effect at such time plus one percent (1.00%), (ii) the 
Federal Funds Rate in effect at such time plus two percent (2.00%), (iii) the LIBOR Rate 
in effect at such time plus two percent (2.00%), and (iv) seven percent (7.00%) 

“Bonds” has the meaning set forth in the Master Bond Resolution. 

“Business Day” has the meaning set forth in the Letter of Credit. 

“Change in Law” means the occurrence, after the Closing Date, of any of the 
following: (a) the adoption or taking effect of any Law, rule, regulation or treaty, (b) any 
change in any Law, rule, regulation or treaty or in the administration, interpretation, 
implementation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority or (c) the making 
or issuance of any request, rule, guideline or directive (whether or not having the force of 
law) by any Governmental Authority; provided that notwithstanding anything herein to the 
contrary, (i) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all 
requests, rules, guidelines or directives thereunder or issued in connection therewith and 
(ii) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives promulgated by the Bank for International 
Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar 
authority) or the United States or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to 
Basel III, shall in each case be deemed to be a “Change in Law”, regardless of the date 
enacted, adopted or issued. 

“Closing Date” means February 26, 2019, which is the date on which the Letter of 
Credit shall be issued (subject to the satisfaction (or waiver by the Bank) of the conditions 
precedent set forth in Section 3.1 hereof). 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any successor 
statute thereto, and the regulations promulgated thereunder. 

“Credit Default” means any condition or event which with the giving of notice or 
lapse of time or both would, unless cured or waived, become a Credit Event of Default. 

“Credit Event of Default” means any of those Events of Default set forth in 
Sections 6.1(a), 6.1(d), 6.1(e), 6.1(f), 6.1(g), 6.1(h), 6.1(i), 6.1(j), 6.1(k), 6.1(l), 6.1(m), 
6.1(n), 6.1(o) and 6.1(p) hereof. 

“Dealer” means Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, in its 
capacity as dealer under the Dealer Agreement, together with any successors or assigns, or 

-3



 

           
 

      
       

           
       
  

        
       

          
         

    
 

     
          

        
       

         
 

         
   

       
       

           
       

         
          

 

         
  

               
 

   
 

      
         

 

         
 

such other entity or entities as may be selected by SMUD with the prior written consent of 
the Bank to act as a dealer or co-dealer with respect to the Notes. 

“Dealer Agreement” means that certain Dealer Agreement, dated February 28, 
2019, between SMUD and the Dealer, as the same may be amended, supplemented or 
extended from time to time pursuant to the terms thereof and hereof, and (ii) any other 
dealer agreement entered into from time to time in connection with the Notes and approved 
by the Bank. 

“Debt” means for any Person (without duplication) (i) all indebtedness created, 
assumed or incurred in any manner by such Person representing money borrowed 
(including by the issuance of debt securities), (ii) all obligations of such Person for the 
deferred purchase price of property or services (other than trade accounts payable arising 
in the ordinary course of business), (iii) all obligations secured by any Lien upon property 
of such Person, whether or not such Person has assumed or become liable for the payment 
of such obligations (other than collateralized commodity swaps the obligations under 
which are either (a) not secured by a Lien on Net Revenues or (b) secured by a Lien on Net 
Revenues subordinate to the Obligations), (iv) all obligations of such Person as lessee 
under any lease of property which in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles would be required to be capitalized on the balance sheet of such Person, (v) all 
obligations of such Person on or with respect to letters of credit, banker’s acceptances and 
other evidences of indebtedness representing extensions of credit whether or not 
representing obligations for borrowed money, (vi) certificates of participation evidencing 
an undivided ownership interest in payments made by such Person (A) as lessee under any 
lease of property which in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles would 
be required to be capitalized on the balance sheet of such Person, (B) as purchaser under 
an installment sale agreement or (C) otherwise as an obligor in connection therewith, and 
(vii) all Debt of any other Person of the kind referred to in clauses (i) through (vi) above 
which is guaranteed (regardless of form) directly or indirectly in any manner by such 
Person. 

“Default” means any condition or event which with the giving of notice or lapse 
of time or both would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default. 

“Default Rate” means a per annum rate of interest equal to the sum of the Base 
Rate from time to time in effect plus three percent (3.00%). 

“Depositary” means U.S. Bank National Association and its permitted successors 
and assigns. 

“Depositary Agreement” means that certain Depositary Agreement dated as of 
February 28, 2019, between SMUD and the Depositary, as the same may be supplemented 
or amended from time to time pursuant to the terms thereof and hereof. 

“Designated Jurisdiction” means any country or territory to the extent that such 
country or territory itself is the subject of any Sanction.  

-4



 

  

 

       
  

 

  

            
        
        
            

             
       

        
         

          
  

        
           

        
  

  

      
         

 

        
          

         
 

        
 

         
           

      

“Dollars” and the sign “$” means lawful money of the United States of America.
 

“Drawing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4 hereof.
 

“Electric System” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 


“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as 

amended, or any successor statute thereto. 

“Event of Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1 hereof. 

“Excess Interest” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16 hereof. 

“Federal Funds Rate” means, for any day, the rate per annum equal to the weighted 
average of the rates on overnight federal funds transactions with members of the Federal 
Reserve System arranged by federal funds brokers on such day, as published by the Federal 
Reserve Bank of New York on the Business Day next succeeding such day; provided that 
(a) if such day is not a Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such 
rate on such transactions on the next preceding Business Day as so published on the next 
succeeding Business Day, and (b) if no such rate is so published on such next succeeding 
Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rate (rounded 
upward, if necessary, to a whole multiple of 1/100 of 1%) charged to the Bank on such day 
on such transactions as determined by the Bank. 

“Fee Letter” means that certain Fee Letter, dated the Closing Date, between SMUD 
and the Bank, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time 
by written instrument executed by the Bank and SMUD, the terms of which are 
incorporated herein by reference. 

“Final Drawing Notice” has the meaning set forth in the Letter of Credit. 

“Fiscal Year” means the twelve-month period commencing on January 1 of each 
year and ending on December 31 of the same calendar year or such other twelve-month 
period as SMUD may from time to time determine as it Fiscal Year. 

“Fitch” means Fitch, Inc. and its successors, and if such Person shall for any reason 
no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Fitch” shall be deemed to 
refer to any nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by SMUD that is 
acceptable to the Bank in its sole discretion. 

“Government Acts” means any act or omission to act, whether rightful or wrongful, 
of any present or future de jure or de facto government or Governmental Authority. 

“Governmental Authority” means the government of the United States or any other 
nation, or of any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, 
authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising 

-5



 

     
       

      
 

      
        

         
      

        
   

 

        
             

          

  

  

           
         

       
         

         
          

            
        

         
          

        
 

          
           

 

     
   

    
         

 

executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of 
or pertaining to government (including, without limitation, the Financial Conduct 
Authority, the Prudential Regulation Authority and any supra-national bodies such as the 
European Union or the European Central Bank). 

“Laws” means, collectively, all international, foreign, federal, state and local 
statutes, treaties, rules, guidelines, regulations, ordinances, codes and administrative or 
judicial precedents or authorities, including the interpretation or administration thereof by 
any Governmental Authority charged with the enforcement, interpretation or 
administration thereof, and all applicable administrative orders, directed duties, requests, 
licenses, authorizations and permits of, and agreements with, any Governmental Authority, 
in each case whether or not having the force of law. 

“Letter of Credit” means that certain irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of 
credit issued by the Bank for the account of SMUD in favor of the Depositary supporting 
the Notes, in the form of Appendix I hereto, with appropriate insertions, as amended and 
supplemented. 

“Letter of Credit Fee” has the meaning set forth in the Fee Letter. 

“Letter of Credit Fee Rate” has the meaning set forth in the Fee Letter. 

“LIBOR Rate” means, for any date, the rate per annum equal to the London 
Interbank Offered Rate, or a comparable or successor rate which rate is approved by the 
Bank, as published on the applicable Bloomberg screen page (or such other commercially 
available source providing such quotations as may be designated by the Bank from time to 
time) at or about 11:00 a.m., London time, two (2) London Banking Days prior to such 
date for United States dollar deposits with a term of one month commencing that day; 
provided that (i) to the extent a comparable or successor rate is approved by the Bank in 
connection herewith, the approved rate shall be applied in a manner consistent with market 
practice; provided, further that to the extent such market practice is not administratively 
feasible for the Bank, such approved rate shall be applied in a manner as otherwise 
reasonably determined by the Bank and (ii) if the LIBOR Rate shall be less than zero, such 
rate shall be deemed zero for purposes of this Agreement. 

“Lien” means, with respect to any property, tangible or intangible, real or personal, 
any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest or other encumbrance of any kind in 
respect of such property. 

“London Banking Day” means any day on which dealings in United States dollar 
deposits are conducted by and between banks in the London interbank eurodollar market. 

“Master Bond Resolution” means Resolution No. 6649 of SMUD, adopted on 
January 7, 1971, and amended and supplemented from time to time in accordance with the 
terms thereof. 

-6



 

        
     

     
  

         
      

   

        
  

        
  

      
          

        
 

  

 
 

 

         
 

  

  

   
          

        
  

     
 

         
  

            
       

         

“Material Adverse Effect” or “Material Adverse Change” means (a) with respect 
to SMUD, a material adverse effect upon SMUD’s business, assets, liabilities, financial 
condition, results of operations or business prospects, and (b) with respect to SMUD’s 
obligations under this Agreement, the Fee Letter or any other SMUD Program Document, 
a material adverse effect upon (i) the binding nature, validity or enforceability of SMUD’s 
obligations hereunder or thereunder, (ii) SMUD’s ability to perform its obligations 
hereunder or thereunder or (iii) the rights, security or interests of the Bank. 

“Maximum Interest Rate” means the maximum interest rate on the Notes as 
provided in the Note Resolution, which initially shall be 12% per annum. 

“Maximum Rate” means the maximum non-usurious lawful rate of interest 
permitted by applicable law. 

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service and its successors, and if such Person 
shall for any reason no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, 
“Moody’s” shall be deemed to refer to any nationally recognized securities rating agency 
designated by SMUD that is acceptable to the Bank in its sole discretion. 

“Net Revenues” has the meaning set forth in the Master Bond Resolution. 

“Net Subordinated Revenues” has the meaning set forth in the Subordinated Bond 
Resolution. 

“No-Issuance Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.18(b) hereof. 

“Non-Credit Event of Default” means those Events of Default set forth in 
Sections 6.1(b) and 6.1(c) hereof. 

“Note Resolution” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof. 

“Notes” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof. 

“Obligations” means the Reimbursement Obligations (which includes amounts 
owing to the Bank evidenced by the Revolving Note), the Letter of Credit Fees and all 
other obligations of SMUD to the Bank arising under or in relation to this Agreement, the 
Fee Letter or any of the other Program Documents. 

“Offering Memorandum” means the Commercial Paper Memorandum dated 
February 28, 2019, relating to the Notes. 

“Optional Termination Event” means (i) a consolidation or merger of SMUD or 
the Electric System into another entity whereby either (a) as a result of such consolidation 
or merger, SMUD or the Electric System is not the surviving entity or (b) such 
consolidation or merger could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse 
Effect, or (ii) the failure of SMUD to comply with generally accepted accounting principles 

-7



 

         

  

  

 

        
 

  

  

        
    

      
  

    
       
          

 

 

            
            

      
        

         
              

 

      
          

 

         
 

applicable to governmental entities and such failure shall continue for a period of forty-five 
(45) consecutive days after SMUD has actual knowledge of such failure. 

“Original Stated Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1 hereof. 

“Parent” means any Person controlling the Bank. 

“Parity Bonds” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Parity Notes” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Note 
Resolution. 

“Parity Subordinated Debt” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Participant” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(b) hereof. 

“Participation” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(b) hereof. 

“Payment Account” means Bank of America, N.A., at ABA #026009593, Credit: 
Scranton-Standby Unit, Account No.: 45358 83980, Reference: Sacramento Municipal 
Utility District, LC# 68145016, Address: Bank of America, 1 Fleet Way, Scranton, PA 
18507, or such other account as the Bank may designate from time to time. 

“Person” means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a 
limited liability company, an association, a joint venture, a trust, an unincorporated 
organization or any other entity or organization, including a government or political 
subdivision or any agency or instrumentality thereof. 

“Plan” means a pension plan providing benefits for employees of any Person. 

“Prime Rate” means on any day, the rate of interest in effect for such day as 
publicly announced from time to time by the Bank as its “prime rate.” The “prime rate” 
is a rate set by the Bank based upon various factors including the Bank’s costs and desired 
return, general economic conditions and other factors, and is used as a reference point for 
pricing some loans, which may be priced at, above, or below such announced rate. Any 
change in such rate announced by the Bank shall take effect at the opening of business on 
the day specified in the public announcement of such change. 

“Program Documents” means this Agreement, the Revolving Note, the Letter of 
Credit, the Fee Letter, the Depositary Agreement, the Notes, the Dealer Agreement, the 
Note Resolution and any documents related thereto. 

“Property” means any interest in any kind of property or asset, whether real, 
personal or mixed, or tangible or intangible, whether now owned or hereafter acquired. 

-8



 

 
          

      
 

           
        

   
             

           
 

            
 

       
           

    
 

 

 

  

       
         
       

 

     

  

   

“Rating” means, with respect to any Rating Agency, the lowest rating assigned by 
such Rating Agency to any senior lien, long-term Bonds (without regard to bond insurance 
or any other form of credit enhancement) of SMUD. 

“Rating Agency” and “Rating Agencies” means, individually or collectively, as 
applicable, Moody’s, S&P and Fitch. 

“Rating Event” means the occurrence of a downgrade by any Rating Agency of its 
long-term rating with respect to any senior lien, long-term Bonds (without regard to bond 
insurance or any other form of credit enhancement) of SMUD to a level below “Baa1” (or 
its equivalent) in the case of Moody’s, “BBB+” (or its equivalent) in the case of S&P or 
“BBB+” (or its equivalent) in the case of Fitch and such downgrade shall continue for a 
period of one hundred sixty (160) days. 

“Recipient” means the Bank or any other recipient of any payment to be made by 
or on account of any obligation of SMUD hereunder. 

“Reimbursement Obligations” means any and all obligations of SMUD to 
reimburse the Bank for Drawings under the Letter of Credit and all obligations to repay the 
Bank for any Advance, including, in each instance, all interest accrued thereon, which 
obligations are evidenced and secured by the Revolving Note. 

“Revenues” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Revolving Note” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6 hereof. 

“Sanction(s)” means any economic or financial sanction administered or enforced 
by the United States Government (including, without limitation, OFAC). 

“S&P” means S&P Global Ratings, and its successors, and if such division shall 
for any reason no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “S&P” shall 
be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated 
by SMUD that is acceptable to the Bank in its sole discretion. 

“SMUD” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof. 

“SMUD Board” means the board of directors of SMUD. 

“SMUD Program Documents” means the Program Documents to which SMUD is 
a party (including, without limitation, the Note Resolution). 

“State” means the State of California. 

“Stated Amount” has the meaning set forth in the Letter of Credit. 

“Stated Expiration Date” has the meaning set forth in the Letter of Credit. 

-9



 

       

         
           

           
         

  

 

        
  

  

     
         

        

      
 

        
          

            
       

    
      

  
        

         
      

       
       

         
       

            
 

“Subordinated Bond Resolution” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Subordinated Bonds” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Swap Contract” means any and all interest rate swap transactions or any other 
similar interest rate hedging transactions that hedge the interest rate on securities or other 
obligations issued by or on behalf of SMUD (including any options to enter into any of the 
foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to any master 
agreement. 

“Taxes” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.13 hereof. 

“Termination Date” has the meaning set forth in the Letter of Credit. 

“2017 Financial Statements” means the audited financial statements of SMUD for 
the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2017. 

“Unpaid Drawing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4 hereof. 

Section 1.2. Incorporation of Certain Definitions by Reference. Each capitalized term 
used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning provided therefor in the Note 
Resolution and, if not defined therein, in the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond 
Resolution, as applicable. 

Section 1.3. Accounting Terms and Determinations. All accounting terms not specifically 
defined herein shall be construed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Section 1.4. Interpretation. The following rules shall apply to the construction of this 
Agreement and the Fee Letter unless the context requires otherwise: (a) the singular includes the 
plural, and the plural the singular; (b) words importing any gender include the other gender and 
the neuter gender; (c) references to statutes are to be construed as including all statutory provisions 
consolidating, and all regulations promulgated pursuant to, such statutes; (d) references to 
“writing” include printing, photocopy, typing, lithography and other means of reproducing words 
in a tangible visible form; (e) the words “including,” “includes” and “include” shall be deemed to 
be followed by the words “without limitation”; (f) references to the introductory paragraph, 
recitals, articles, sections (or clauses or subdivisions of sections), exhibits, appendices, annexes or 
schedules are to those of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated; (g) references to agreements 
and other contractual instruments shall be deemed to include all subsequent amendments and other 
modifications to such instruments, but only to the extent that such amendments and other 
modifications are permitted or not prohibited by the terms of this Agreement; (h) article and 
section headings in this Agreement are included herein for convenience of reference only and shall 
not constitute a part of this Agreement for any other purpose; and (i) unless otherwise indicated, 
references to Persons include their respective permitted successors and assigns. 

-10



 

  

        
     

      
           

              
              

               
 

       
            

           
 

           
             

          
            

          
           

         
           
          
              

          
         

           
          
          

 
              

         
           

            
           

          
 

           

ARTICLE TWO 

LETTER OF CREDIT 

Section 2.1. Issuance of Letter of Credit. Upon the terms, subject to the conditions and 
relying upon the representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement or incorporated herein 
by reference, the Bank agrees to issue the Letter of Credit substantially in the form of Appendix I 
hereto. The Letter of Credit shall be in the original stated amount of $113,993,151 (calculated as 
the sum of the maximum principal amount of the Notes supported by the Letter of Credit (i.e., 
$111,250,000) plus interest thereon at a maximum rate of ten percent (10%) per annum for a period 
of ninety (90) days calculated on the basis of a year of 365 days and the actual number of day 
elapsed) (the “Original Stated Amount”). 

Section 2.2. Letter of Credit Drawings. The Depositary is authorized to make drawings 
under the Letter of Credit in accordance with its terms. SMUD hereby directs the Bank to make 
payments under the Letter of Credit in the manner therein provided. SMUD hereby irrevocably 
approves reductions and reinstatements of the Stated Amount as provided therein. 

Section 2.3. Drawings Converted to Advances. 

(a) Making of Advances. The Bank agrees that if (i) the Bank shall honor any Drawing 
under the Letter of Credit with respect to the payment of the principal on maturing Notes, (ii) the 
principal portion of such Drawing shall not be reimbursed in full on the date of such Drawing, and 
(iii)(x)(A) no Credit Default or Credit Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing on 
the date of such Drawing and (B) no event described in clause (b) of the definition of Material 
Adverse Change shall have occurred, the principal portion of such Drawing which is not so 
reimbursed by SMUD to the Bank shall automatically convert to and constitute an advance made 
by the Bank to SMUD on the date and in an amount equal to the principal portion of such Drawing 
(or a portion thereof) or (y)(A) the Bank shall not have terminated its obligation to make Advances 
as a result of a Non-Credit Event of Default pursuant to Section 6.2(d) hereof and (B) no event 
described in clause (b) of the definition of Material Adverse Change shall have occurred, the 
principal portion of such Drawing which is not so reimbursed by SMUD to the Bank shall 
automatically convert to and constitute an advance made by the Bank to SMUD on the date and in 
an amount equal to the principal portion of such Drawing (or portion thereof) (individually an 
“Advance” and, collectively, the “Advances”). Each Advance when made shall constitute 
reimbursement of the principal portion of the related Drawing in an amount equal to the principal 
amount of such Advance; and each Advance when made shall preclude, to the extent of the amount 
of such Advance, the related Drawing from being or constituting an Unpaid Drawing. Unless 
SMUD shall have otherwise previously advised the Bank in writing, the honoring by the Bank of 
any Drawing under the Letter of Credit shall be deemed to constitute a representation and warranty 
by SMUD that on the date of such Drawing, no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is 
continuing and no event described in clause (b) of the definition of Material Adverse Change shall 
have occurred. 

(b) Payment of Principal and Interest on Advances. Except as otherwise required or 
permitted by Section 2.3(c) or 2.3(d) hereof, SMUD shall repay, or cause to be repaid, the unpaid 

-11



 

        
          

        
           

         
       

           
          

                
             

               
          

        
 

            
           

          
           

 

            
          

         
             

            
             

   

         
           

        
 

      
    

           
             

           
        
             

           
         

       
        

amount of each Advance on each Amortization Payment Date applicable to such Advance (each 
such payment of the unpaid principal amount of any Advance shall be referred to herein as a 
“Principal Payment”), with the final installment in an amount equal to the entire then outstanding 
principal amount of such Advance being due and payable on the related Amortization End Date 
(the period commencing on the date such Advance is made and ending on the related Amortization 
End Date is herein referred to as the “Amortization Period”). Each Principal Payment shall be 
that amount of principal which will result in equal (as nearly as possible) aggregate Principal 
Payments over the applicable Amortization Period. SMUD shall pay interest on the unpaid amount 
of each Advance from the date of such Advance until paid in full at a rate per annum equal to the 
Bank Rate from time to time in effect; provided that from and after the occurrence of an Event of 
Default, such Advance shall bear interest at the per annum rate equal to the Default Rate from time 
to time in effect. Interest on each Advance shall be payable monthly, in arrears, on the first 
Business Day of each calendar month for the immediately preceding calendar month (commencing 
with the first such date to occur after the making of the related Advance) and upon prepayment or 
maturity of such Advance. 

(c) Optional Prepayment. (i) SMUD may prepay or cause to be prepaid the amount of 
any Advance outstanding in whole or in part in a minimum amount of $100,000 and in integral 
multiples of $100,000 in excess thereof with accrued interest to the date of such repayment on the 
amount prepaid. Any prepayment in part under this Section 2.3(c) shall be applied by the Bank 
against each such Advance, in the order in which each such Advance was made. 

(ii) Any prepayment made under Section 2.3(c)(i) hereof shall be applied by the Bank as 
a reimbursement of the related Drawing (and as a prepayment of the Advance resulting from such 
Drawing) and SMUD irrevocably authorizes the Bank to reinstate the amount available to be 
drawn under the Letter of Credit by the amount of such prepayment; provided, however, that the 
Depositary shall not issue any Notes (the aggregate principal and interest of which is payable from 
the amount of the Letter of Credit so reinstated) for sale or otherwise until the Letter of Credit has 
been reinstated pursuant to the terms of the Letter of Credit. 

(d) Mandatory Prepayment. In the event that the Depositary issues any Notes while any 
Advance remains unpaid, SMUD shall apply the proceeds of any such Notes to the prepayment of 
such outstanding Advance. Any prepayment in part under this Section 2.3(d) shall be applied 
against each such Advance in the order in which each such Advance was made. 

Section 2.4. Reimbursement of Drawings Not Converted to Advances; Reimbursement of 
Interest Component of Drawings. (a) If (x)(A) a Credit Default or a Credit Event of Default shall 
have occurred and be continuing on the date of such Drawing or (B) an event described in 
clause (b) of the definition of Material Adverse Change shall have occurred or (y) the Bank shall 
have terminated its obligation to make Advances as a result of a Non-Credit Event of Default 
pursuant to Section 6.2(d) hereof, SMUD agrees to pay, or to cause to be paid, to the Bank (i) on 
each date on which the Bank shall honor any demand for payment under the Letter of Credit (each 
such payment by the Bank being herein referred to as a “Drawing”) a sum equal to the amount so 
paid under the Letter of Credit (any amount so paid until reimbursed being herein referred to as an 
“Unpaid Drawing”), plus (ii) except as provided in the last sentence of this Section 2.4, interest 
on the amount of each such Unpaid Drawing from and including the date such Drawing is paid 

-12



 

          
              

                
            

            
             

            
        

               
           

    

            
 

         
           

 

           
            

            
   

         
            

      
         

 
       

           
           

  
            

           
            
    

 

      
               

            
            

         
            
           

until the Bank is reimbursed in full for such Unpaid Drawing at such fluctuating interest rate per 
annum as shall be in effect from time to time which rate per annum for each day shall be equal to 
the Default Rate in effect for such day. If (x)(A) a Credit Default or a Credit Event of Default 
shall have occurred and be continuing on the date of any Drawing or (B) an event described in 
clause (b) of the definition of Material Adverse Change shall have occurred or (y)(A) the Bank 
shall have terminated its obligation to make Advances as a result of a Non-Credit Event of Default 
pursuant to Section 6.2(d) hereof on or prior to the date of any Drawing, SMUD shall be obligated, 
without notice or demand for reimbursement (which notice is hereby waived by SMUD), to 
reimburse the Bank for any Drawing on the same day as made. SMUD and the Bank agree that 
the reimbursement in full for each Drawing on the day such Drawing is made is intended to be a 
contemporaneous exchange for new value given to SMUD by the Bank. 

(b) The interest component of any Drawing under the Letter of Credit shall be due and 
payable on the date of such Drawing. 

(c) If any portion of any Drawing is reimbursed at or prior to 4:00 P.M., New York 
time, on the same day on which it is made, no interest shall be payable on the related portion of 
such Drawing. 

Section 2.5. Fees. SMUD shall pay to the Bank the nonrefundable Letter of Credit Fees 
at the times and in the amounts set forth in the Fee Letter, the terms of such Fee Letter being 
incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth herein. SMUD shall also pay to the Bank all 
other fees and other amounts at the times and in the amounts set forth in the Fee Letter. 

Section 2.6. The Revolving Note. All Obligations shall be made against and evidenced by 
SMUD’s promissory note payable to the order of the Bank in the principal amount equal to the 
Original Stated Amount, such note to be executed and delivered to the Bank on the Closing Date 
in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto with appropriate insertions (the “Revolving Note”). All 
Obligations and all payments and prepayments on account of the principal of and interest on each 
Obligation shall be recorded by the Bank on its books and records, which books and records shall, 
absent manifest error, be conclusive as to amounts payable by SMUD hereunder and under the 
Revolving Note. The Bank may, but shall not be required to, complete the schedule attached to 
the Revolving Note to reflect the making and status of Drawings and Advances, provided that the 
failure to make or any error in making any such endorsement on such schedule shall not limit, 
extinguish or in any way modify the obligation of SMUD to repay the Drawings, Unpaid Drawings 
or Advances. SMUD shall pay principal and interest on the Revolving Note on the dates and at 
the rates provided for in Sections 2.3 and 2.4 hereof with respect to Unpaid Drawings and 
Advances. 

Section 2.7. Substitute Letter of Credit; Reduction of Stated Amount. (a) SMUD agrees 
not to replace the Letter of Credit (or to direct the Depositary to terminate the Letter of Credit 
without a replacement letter of credit being substituted therefor) except upon (i) the payment by 
SMUD to the Bank of any and all fees associated therewith as set forth in the Fee Letter, (ii) the 
payment to the Bank of all fees, expenses and other amounts due and owing hereunder and under 
the Fee Letter to and including the date of termination of the Letter of Credit, (iii) the payment to 
the Bank of all principal and accrued interest owing on the Revolving Note (including, without 

-13



 

         
          

         
 

         
           

          
   

        
            

              
          

         
             

          
      

 

         
              

           
  

         
          

            
      

       
         

        
      

        
        

           
         

         
            

         
 

limitation any Unpaid Drawings or outstanding Advances), and (iv) providing the Bank notice of 
its intention to do so at least fifteen (15) days prior to the date of such termination or replacement; 
provided that all payments to the Bank referred to in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) above shall be made 
with immediately available funds. 

(b) Reduction Fees. Notwithstanding the foregoing and anything set forth herein to the 
contrary, SMUD agrees not to permanently reduce the Original Stated Amount of the Letter of 
Credit except in accordance with the terms of the Program Documents and upon the payment of 
any and all fees associated therewith as set forth in the Fee Letter. 

Section 2.8. Computation of Interest and Fees. Fees payable hereunder and under the Fee 
Letter shall be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days and the actual number of days elapsed.  
Interest payable hereunder shall be calculated on the basis of a year of 365 days and the actual 
number of days elapsed. Interest shall accrue during each period during which interest is computed 
from and including the first day thereof to but excluding the last day thereof. 

Section 2.9. Payment Due on Non-Business Day to Be Made on Next Business Day. If 
any sum becomes payable pursuant to this Agreement or the Fee Letter on a day which is not a 
Business Day, the date for payment thereof shall be extended, without penalty, to the next 
succeeding Business Day, and such extended time shall be included in the computation of interest 
and fees. 

Section 2.10. Late Payments. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event 
of Default, any Obligation not paid when due shall bear interest until paid in full at a rate per 
annum equal to the Default Rate. 

Section 2.11. Source of Funds. All payments made by the Bank pursuant to the Letter of 
Credit shall be made from funds of the Bank, and not from the funds of any other Person. 

Section 2.12. Extension of Stated Expiration Date. If SMUD on any date which is not more 
than one hundred eighty (180) days and no less than ninety (90) days prior to the Stated Expiration 
Date (as the same may be extended from time to time) submits to the Bank a written request for 
an extension of the Stated Expiration Date for a period as specified in such written request, the 
Bank will make reasonable efforts to respond to such request within thirty (30) days after receipt 
of all information necessary, in the Bank’s reasonable judgment, to permit the Bank to make an 
informed credit decision. In the event the Bank fails to definitively respond to such request within 
such period of time, such Bank shall be deemed to have refused to grant the extension requested.  
The Bank may, in its sole and absolute discretion, decide to accept or reject any such proposed 
extension and no extension shall become effective unless the Bank shall have consented thereto in 
writing. The consent of the Bank, if granted, shall be conditioned upon the preparation, execution 
and delivery of documentation in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Bank and 
consistent with this Agreement. If such an extension request is accepted by the Bank in its absolute 
discretion, the then current Stated Expiration Date for the Letter of Credit shall be extended to the 
date agreed to by SMUD and the Bank and the Bank shall deliver to the Issuing and Payment 
Agent a notice of the extension of the Stated Expiration Date in the form of Annex E to the Letter 
of Credit. 

-14



 

            
             

           
             

            
         

            
          

        
            

              
             

     
       

          
          

         
              

         
          
  

       
             

       
            

 

           
 

      
 

       
         

 

           
           

          
  

Section 2.13. Net of Taxes, Etc. (a) All payments made by SMUD hereunder and under the 
Fee Letter shall be made without setoff, counterclaim or other defense. All such payments will be 
made free and clear of, and without deduction or withholding for, any present or future taxes, 
levies, imposts, duties, fees, assessments or other charges of whatever nature now or hereafter 
imposed by any jurisdiction or by any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein 
(but excluding, except as provided below, any tax imposed on or measured by the overall net 
income of the Bank, its Parent or their Affiliates pursuant to the laws of the jurisdiction (or any 
political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein) under which the Bank, its Parent or 
their Affiliates are organized) and all interest, penalties or similar liabilities with respect thereto 
(collectively, “Taxes”). If SMUD shall be required by any law, rule or regulation to deduct any 
Taxes from or in respect of any sum payable under this Agreement or any Program Document to 
the Bank, (i) the sum payable shall be increased as necessary so that after making all required 
deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable under this Section), the 
Bank receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been 
made, (ii) SMUD shall make such deductions, (iii) SMUD shall pay the full amount deducted to 
the relevant taxation authority or other authority in accordance with applicable laws, rules and 
regulations and (iv) within 45 days after the date of such payment, SMUD shall furnish to the Bank 
the original or a certified copy of a receipt evidencing payment thereof. SMUD will to the 
maximum extent permitted by applicable law indemnify and hold harmless the Bank, and 
reimburse the Bank upon its written request, for the amount of any Taxes so levied or imposed and 
paid by the Bank. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything contained in paragraph (a) of this Section 2.13, SMUD 
shall have no liability to the Bank for any taxes to the extent incurred by or imposed on the Bank 
more than one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the date the above-described certificate is given 
to SMUD with respect thereto (the “Cut-Off-Date”), except where (A) the Bank had no actual 
knowledge of the action resulting in such taxes as of the Cut-Off-Date or (B) such taxes apply to 
the Bank retroactively to a date prior to the Cut-Off-Date. 

(c) The obligations of SMUD under this Section 2.13 shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement for a period of one hundred eighty (180) days after such termination. 

Section 2.14. Increased Costs. (a) Increased Costs Generally. If any Change in Law 
shall: 

(i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit, 
compulsory loan, insurance charge or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with 
or for the account of, or credit extended or participated in by, the Bank; 

(ii) subject any Recipient to any taxes (except for changes in the rate of tax on 
the overall net income of the Recipient) on its loans, loan principal, letters of credit, 
commitments, or other obligations, or its deposits, reserves, other liabilities or capital 
attributable thereto; 

-15



 

         
              

  

               
          

            
             

       
 

           
          

              
            

               
          

        
           

         
 

           
        

              
            

          

        
            

            
       

          
           

         
           

  

         
             

         
         
          

      
            

(iii) impose on the Bank or the London interbank market any other condition, 
cost or expense affecting this Agreement, the Fee Letter or the Letter of Credit or any 
participation therein; 

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to the Bank of 
participating in, issuing or maintaining the Letter of Credit, or to reduce the amount of any 
sum received or receivable by the Bank hereunder (whether of principal, interest or any 
other amount) then, upon request of the Bank, SMUD will pay to the Bank such additional 
amount or amounts as will compensate the Bank for such additional costs incurred or 
reduction suffered. 

(b) Capital Requirements. If the Bank determines that any Change in Law affecting the 
Bank or the Bank’s holding company, if any, regarding capital or liquidity requirements has or 
would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on the Bank’s capital or liquidity or on the 
capital or liquidity of the Bank’s holding company, if any, as a consequence of this Agreement, 
the Fee Letter or the Letter of Credit issued by the Bank, to a level below that which the Bank or 
the Bank’s holding company could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking into 
consideration the Bank’s policies and the policies of the Bank’s holding company with respect to 
capital adequacy), then from time to time SMUD will pay to the Bank such additional amount or 
amounts as will compensate the Bank or the Bank’s holding company for any such reduction 
suffered. 

(c) Certificates for Reimbursement. A certificate of the Bank setting forth the amount or 
amounts necessary, including in reasonable detail the basis for the calculation, to compensate the 
Bank or its holding company, as the case may be, as specified in subsection (a) or (b) of this 
Section and delivered to SMUD shall be conclusive absent manifest error. SMUD shall pay the 
Bank the amount shown as due on any such certificate within thirty (30) days after receipt thereof. 

(d) Delay in Requests.  Failure or delay on the part of the Bank to demand compensation 
pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section shall not constitute a waiver of the Bank’s 
right to demand such compensation; provided that SMUD shall not be required to compensate the 
Bank pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section for any increased costs incurred or 
reductions suffered more than six (6) months prior to the date that the Bank notifies SMUD of the 
Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and of the Bank’s intention to 
claim compensation therefor (except that, if the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs 
or reductions is retroactive, then the six (6) month period referred to above shall be extended to 
include the period of retroactive effect thereof). 

(e) Survival. The obligations of SMUD under this Section 2.14 shall survive the 
termination of the Letter of Credit and the repayment of all Obligations hereunder for a period of 
one hundred eighty (180) days after such termination or repayment; provided, however, that in the 
event any Change in Law provides for retroactive increased costs or retroactive imposition of 
capital adequacy or liquidity requirements, as described in this Section 2.14, the Bank may impose 
such costs on SMUD in accordance with the terms of this Section 2.14; provided, further, however, 
that the foregoing proviso shall only apply to any Change in Law occurring not later than two (2) 
years after the date this Agreement terminates and all Obligations have been paid in full. 

-16



 

         
              

            
         
              

         
        

 

         
            

           
         

         
           

         
         

        
   

       
             

             
             

  

     
       

           
       

        
              

         
           

    
           

       
            

           
 

          
         
 

Section 2.15. Margin Regulations. No portion of the proceeds of any Drawings under the 
Letter of Credit shall be used by SMUD (or the Depositary or any other Person on behalf of 
SMUD) for the purpose of “purchasing” or “carrying” any margin stock or used in any manner 
which might cause the borrowing or the application of such proceeds to violate Regulation U, 
Regulation T, or Regulation X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or any 
other regulation of said Board of Governors or to violate the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, in each case as in effect on the date or dates of such Drawings or Advances and such use 
of proceeds. 

Section 2.16. Maximum Rate; Payment of Fee. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary 
notwithstanding, if the rate of interest due hereunder shall exceed the Maximum Rate for any 
period for which interest is payable, then (i) interest at the Maximum Rate shall be due and payable 
with respect to such interest period and (ii) interest at the rate equal to the difference between 
(A) the rate of interest calculated in accordance with the terms hereof without regard to the 
Maximum Rate and (B) the Maximum Rate (the “Excess Interest”), shall be deferred until such 
date as the rate of interest calculated in accordance with the terms hereof ceases to exceed the 
Maximum Rate, at which time SMUD shall pay to the Bank, with respect to amounts then payable 
to the Bank that are required to accrue interest hereunder, such portion of the deferred Excess 
Interest as will cause the rate of interest then paid to the Bank to equal the Maximum Rate, which 
payments of deferred Excess Interest shall continue to apply to such unpaid amounts hereunder 
until all deferred Excess Interest is fully paid to the Bank. To the extent permitted by law, upon 
the termination of the Letter of Credit, in consideration for the limitation of the rate of interest 
otherwise payable hereunder, SMUD shall pay to the Bank a fee equal to the amount of all unpaid 
deferred Excess Interest. 

Section 2.17. Security for Obligations. This Agreement constitutes a Reimbursement 
Agreement (as defined in the Note Resolution) under the Note Resolution and has all rights and 
benefits thereof. In order to secure the timely payment of all Obligations and to secure the 
performance and observance of all of the covenants, agreements and conditions contained in this 
Agreement and the Fee Letter, SMUD has pledged the Available Revenues to the Bank (for the 
benefit of the Bank and any Affiliate of the Bank to whom any Obligation is at any time owed), 
pursuant to and on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Note Resolution. The 
pledge of Available Revenues under the Note Resolution constitutes a valid pledge of and charge 
and lien upon the Available Revenues, has attached and is effective, binding, and enforceable 
against SMUD, its successors, purchasers of any of the Available Revenues, creditors, and all 
others asserting rights therein to the extent set forth in, and in accordance with, the Note 
Resolution, irrespective of whether those parties have notice of the lien on, security interest in and 
pledge of the Available Revenues and without the need for any physical delivery, recordation, 
filing or further act. 

Section 2.18. Commercial Paper Notes Operations. 

(a) Issuance Generally. SMUD will permit Notes to be issued, and authorize the 
Depositary to issue Notes, only in accordance with the terms of the Note Resolution and this 
Agreement. 

-17



 

          
       

         
          

         
               

          
          

             
            

            
           

          
              

           
           

              
           
            
               

 

         
              
            

           
          

   

 

       
            

       
  

       
       

         
       

          
       

 

(b) No-Issuance Notices; Final Drawing Notice. Notes may be issued from time to time 
prior to the Stated Expiration Date in accordance herewith and with the Note Resolution so long 
as (i) the Depositary is not in receipt of instructions then in effect given pursuant to this 
Section 2.18(b) and in substantially the form attached to the Letter of Credit as Annex G (a 
“No-Issuance Notice”), and not rescinded, by the Bank not to issue Notes and (ii) the Depositary 
is not in receipt of the Final Drawing Notice. The Bank may deliver a Final Drawing Notice at 
any time when (A) an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or (B) an Optional 
Termination Event shall have occurred and be continuing and the Bank may deliver a No-Issuance 
Notice at any time when (x) an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, (y) an 
Optional Termination Event shall have occurred and be continuing or (z) a Rating Event shall have 
occurred and be continuing. A No-Issuance Notice or the Final Drawing Notice shall be effective 
when received by the Depositary; provided, however, that a No-Issuance Notice or the Final 
Drawing Notice received by the Depositary after 11:00 A.M., New York time, on any day on which 
Notes are being issued shall be effective on the next succeeding day. A No-Issuance Notice or the 
Final Drawing Notice may be given by facsimile or electronic mail transmission, confirmed in 
writing within twenty-four (24) hours, but the failure to so confirm such No-Issuance Notice or 
the Final Drawing Notice in writing shall not render such No-Issuance Notice or the Final Drawing 
Notice ineffective. The Bank will furnish a copy of any No-Issuance Notice or the Final Drawing 
Notice to SMUD and the Dealer promptly following delivery thereof to the Depositary, but the 
failure to furnish any such copy shall not render ineffective such No-Issuance Notice or the Final 
Drawing Notice. 

Section 2.19. Method of Payment; Etc. All payments to be made by SMUD under this 
Agreement and the Fee Letter shall be made at the Payment Account not later than 4:00 P.M. (New 
York time) on the date when due and shall be made in lawful money of the United States of 
America in freely transferable and immediately available funds. All payments received by the 
Bank after 4:00 P.M. (New York time) shall be deemed to have been made on the next succeeding 
Business Day and any applicable interest or fees shall continue to accrue. 

ARTICLE THREE 

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT 

Section 3.1. Conditions Precedent to Issuance of the Letter of Credit. As conditions 
precedent to the obligation of the Bank to issue the Letter of Credit, SMUD shall provide to the 
Bank on the Closing Date, each in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel, 
Chapman and Cutler LLP (hereinafter, “Bank’s Counsel”): 

(i) Approvals. The Bank shall have received an executed counterpart of this 
Agreement duly executed by SMUD and the Bank and an executed original of the 
Revolving Note and copies of all action taken by SMUD (including, without limitation, 
any resolution adopted or passed by SMUD in connection therewith) approving the 
execution and delivery by SMUD of this Agreement, the Fee Letter, the Revolving Note 
and the other Program Documents, in each case, certified by an authorized official of 
SMUD as complete and correct as of the date hereof. 

-18



 

          
        

         
          

 

       
 

       
          

        
        

     
        

         
        

   
         

        
 

       
         

  
        

           
          

 

         
   

        
          

           
 

        

           
  

(ii) Incumbency of Officials. The Bank shall have received an incumbency 
certificate of SMUD in respect of each of the officials who is authorized to (a) sign this 
Agreement, the Revolving Note and the other Program Documents on behalf of SMUD 
and (b) take actions for SMUD under this Agreement, the Revolving Note and the other 
Program Documents. 

(iii) Opinion of Note Counsel. The Bank shall have received an opinion of note 
counsel or a reliance letter thereon. 

(iv) Opinion of Counsel to SMUD. The Bank shall have received an opinion 
addressed to the Bank and dated the Closing Date of the general counsel for SMUD, in 
form and substance satisfactory to the Bank, and addressing (i) SMUD’s existence, (ii) 
SMUD’s power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Fee Letter and to 
perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder, (iii) SMUD’s execution and delivery of 
this Agreement and the Fee Letter, (iv) the enforceability of SMUD’s obligations under 
this Agreement and the Fee Letter, (v) that SMUD has obtained all consents necessary to 
execute, deliver and perform this Agreement and the Fee Letter, (vi) the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement and the Fee Letter by SMUD will not violate any law, order or 
agreement to which SMUD is subject or to which SMUD is a party, and (vii) there is no 
litigation pending or threatened against SMUD that would prevent SMUD from executing 
and delivering this Agreement and the Fee Letter or performing its obligations hereunder 
and thereunder. 

(v) Note Resolution and Other Program Documents. The Bank shall have 
received (a) a certified copy of the Note Resolution, the Master Bond Resolution (or a 
certified copy of the annotated version thereof) and the Subordinated Bond Resolution (or 
a certified copy of the annotated version thereof) which have been adopted prior to the 
Closing Date, all certified by an authorized officer of SMUD as being in full force and 
effect and (b) fully executed or certified copies, as applicable, of all other Program 
Documents. 

(vi) Financial Information. The Bank shall have received copies of any 
financial information of SMUD that the Bank may reasonably request. 

(vii) Legality; Material Adverse Change. The Bank shall have determined (in 
its sole discretion) that (a) neither the making of any Advances nor the consummation of 
any of the transactions contemplated by the Note Resolution, the Notes, this Agreement or 
any other Program Document will violate any law, rule, guideline or regulation applicable 
to SMUD, the Bank, the Letter of Credit or this Agreement, and (b) no Material Adverse 
Change shall have occurred since December 31, 2017. 

(viii) Fees, Etc. The Bank shall have received payment of the fees, costs and 
expenses payable on the Closing Date. 

-19



 

        
           

  

         
  

      
      

          
 

           
          

          
  

      
        

      
       

 

          
 

          
              
        

         
     

 

        
             

         
           

   
        

(ix) Revolving Note. The Bank shall have received (a) an executed Revolving 
Note and (b) written evidence satisfactory to the Bank that a CUSIP number has been 
obtained and reserved from Standard & Poor’s CUSIP Service for the Revolving Note. 

(x) Closing Certificate. The Bank shall have received a certificate from SMUD 
executed by the Authorized SMUD Representative, dated the Closing Date, stating that: 

(a) the representations and warranties of SMUD contained in this 
Agreement and each certificate furnished or delivered by SMUD to the Bank 
pursuant hereto are true and correct on and as of the Closing Date as though made 
on and as of such date; 

(b) no “default” or “event of default” under any Program Document to 
which SMUD is a party and no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is 
continuing or would result from the entering into or performance under this 
Agreement and the other Program Documents; and 

(c) except as has been disclosed to the Bank in writing prior to the 
Closing Date, there has been no Material Adverse Change since December 31, 
2017. 

(xi) Other Documents. The Bank shall have received such other documents, 
certificates, and opinions as the Bank or the Bank’s counsel shall have reasonably 
requested. 

ARTICLE FOUR 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 4.1. Representations of SMUD.  In order to induce the Bank to issue the Letter of 
Credit, SMUD represents and warrants to the Bank as follows: 

(a) Existence and Power. SMUD is a municipal utility district organized and existing 
under and by virtue of the Act, and is possessed of full powers to own and lease (as lessor and 
lessee) real and personal property, to own and operate the Electric System, to conduct its other 
business as presently conducted and to enter into contracts such as this Agreement and the SMUD 
Program Documents, which powers have been validly exercised in connection with the 
transactions effected by this Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents. 

(b) Authorization; Contravention; Approvals. The execution, delivery and performance 
by SMUD of this Agreement, the Fee Letter and the SMUD Program Documents and the other 
documents contemplated hereby and thereby are within the powers of SMUD, have been duly 
authorized by all necessary actions and (i) do not contravene the Act or any other law, rule, 
regulation, order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or award or any indenture, 
agreement, lease, instrument or other contractual restriction binding on or affecting SMUD and 

-20



 

 
             

              
    

        
             
         

            
         

            
       

        
        

          
 

         
           

         
        

         
        

 

         
        

            
        

          
            

          
              

 
              

          
              

         
         

           
           

           
           

            
 

(ii) except as provided in or contemplated by this Agreement and the Program Documents, do not 
result in or require the creation of any Lien, security interest or other charge or encumbrance upon 
or with respect to any asset of SMUD. SMUD is not in violation of or in default in any material 
respect under any law, rule, regulation, order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or 
award that would prevent or is reasonably likely to prevent SMUD from performing its obligations 
under this Agreement or the SMUD Program Documents. SMUD is not in violation of or in default 
in any material respect under any indenture, agreement, lease, instrument or other contractual 
restriction and is not in violation of or in default in any respect under any of the SMUD Program 
Documents that would prevent or is reasonably likely to prevent SMUD from performing its 
obligations under this Agreement or the SMUD Program Documents. No Default or Event of 
Default has occurred and is continuing. All orders, consents and other authorizations or approvals 
of all Governmental Authorities and all other Persons have been obtained (and no additional 
authorization, approval or other action by, and no notice to or filing or registration with, any 
Governmental Authority is required to be made or obtained by SMUD) for the due execution, 
delivery and performance by SMUD of this Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents. 

(c) Enforceability. This Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents, and other 
documents contemplated hereby and thereby to which SMUD is a party or by which it is bound, 
are legally valid and binding obligations of SMUD enforceable against SMUD in accordance with 
their respective terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by (i) bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally; (ii) general principles of equity; 
(iii) the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases; and (iv) to the limitations on legal 
remedies against municipal utility districts in the State of California. 

(d) Litigation. Except as disclosed in the Offering Memorandum or in writing to the 
Bank prior to the Closing Date, there are no actions, suits, proceedings, inquiries or investigations, 
at law or in equity, before any court, Governmental Authority or arbitrator pending or, to the best 
knowledge of SMUD, threatened, against or directly involving SMUD (including, without 
limitation, the ability of SMUD to establish and collect rates for the generation, transmission and 
distribution of electric power), affecting the existence of SMUD, the title of any officials to their 
respective offices or affecting or seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the execution or delivery of 
this Agreement or any Program Document, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity or 
enforceability of the Notes, this Agreement, any Program Document or contesting the tax-exempt 
status of the Notes, or contesting in any way the completeness or accuracy of the Offering 
Memorandum or any supplements or amendments thereto, or contesting the powers of SMUD or 
any authority for the issuance of the Notes, the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the 
SMUD Program Documents, nor, to the best, knowledge of SMUD, is there any basis therefor, 
which, if determined adversely to SMUD (i) would adversely affect the validity or enforceability 
of, or the authority or ability of SMUD to perform its obligations under, this Agreement, the Fee 
Letter or any SMUD Program Documents, (ii) would, in the reasonable opinion of SMUD, have a 
material adverse effect on the business, financial position or results of operations of SMUD or 
(iii) would adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Notes from gross income for Federal 
income tax purposes or the exemption of such interest from State of California personal income 
taxes. 

-21



 

        
         

      
       

 

           
      

        
         

 

       
       

        
             

         
         

               
       

          
 

       
    

 

          
  

             
          

      
            

   

          
           

     
        

     
 

         
            

            
          

(e) Financial Information. (i) The audited financial statements of SMUD included in the 
2017 Financial Statements, true and correct copies of which have heretofore been delivered or 
made available to the Bank, fairly present, in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles the financial position of SMUD and its results of operations and changes in financial 
position at the dates and for the periods indicated. 

(ii) Except as has been disclosed in writing to the Bank prior to the Closing Date, since 
December 31, 2017, there has been no material adverse change in the business, financial position 
or results of operations of SMUD which could reasonably be expected to result in a material 
adverse effect on SMUD’s ability to perform its obligations hereunder or thereunder or the rights, 
security or interests of the Bank. 

(iii) Except as reflected in the financial statements included in the 2017 Financial 
Statements or as described in the Offering Memorandum or as has been disclosed in writing to the 
Bank prior to the Closing Date and except for SMUD’s obligations set forth in this Agreement and 
the SMUD Program Documents, there are as of the date hereof no liabilities or obligations with 
respect to SMUD of any nature whatsoever (whether absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise 
and whether or not due) which, in the aggregate, would be material to SMUD. SMUD does not 
know of any basis for the assertion against SMUD of any liability or obligation of any nature 
whatsoever that is not reflected in the financial statements included in the 2017 Financial 
Statements or the Offering Memorandum or other written disclosure to the Bank delivered prior 
to the Closing Date which, in the aggregate, could be material to SMUD. 

(f) Disclosure. No written information furnished by SMUD to the Bank in connection 
with this Agreement (except information which has been superseded by subsequent information 
provided by SMUD) includes any untrue statement of a material fact. 

(g) Environmental Matters. Except as disclosed in the Offering Memorandum or in 
writing to the Bank prior to the Closing Date, SMUD has not received notice to the effect that the 
operations of the Electric System are not in compliance with any of the requirements of applicable 
Federal, state or local environmental, health and safety statutes and regulations or are the subject 
of any governmental investigation evaluating whether any remedial action is needed to respond to 
a release of any toxic or hazardous waste or substance into the environment, in each case which 
non-compliance or remedial action could have a Material Adverse Effect. 

(h) Plans. SMUD currently has a Plan which is in compliance in all respects with the 
requirements of the applicable laws of the State of California, including without limitation the 
obligation to pay contributions on behalf of its employees in accordance therewith, and SMUD 
has no Plan which is subject to the requirements of ERISA. No condition exists or event or 
transaction has occurred with respect to any Plan which could reasonably be expected to result in 
the incurrence by SMUD of any material liability, fine or penalty. 

(i) Regulations U and X. SMUD is not engaged in the business of extending credit for 
the purpose of purchasing or carrying margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U or X 
issued by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System); and no proceeds of any Notes 
will be used to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any margin stock. 

-22



 

         
         

          
              

 

            
               

       
              

        
 

      
         

           
             

 
   

          
             

              

       
          

      
       

     
     

     
         

    
           

  

            
          

           
          

        
          

 

(j) Tax-Exempt Status. SMUD has not taken any action or omitted to take any action, 
and knows of no action taken or omitted to be taken by any other Person, which action, if taken or 
omitted, would adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Notes of Subseries M-1 from gross 
income for Federal income tax purposes or the exemption of such interest from State of California 
personal income taxes. 

(k) Security. The Note Resolution creates a pledge of the Available Revenues as security 
for the punctual payment of the interest and principal due with respect to the Notes, the Parity 
Notes, the Obligations owed to the Bank hereunder and all Parity Notes Reimbursement 
Agreements. All actions necessary to create a pledge of the Available Revenues have been duly 
and validly taken. SMUD’s obligation to pay the Obligations is pari passu with its obligation to 
pay the Notes, Parity Notes and all Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreements. 

(l) Constitutional Matters. There is no amendment, or, to the best knowledge of SMUD, 
proposed amendment certified for placement on a statewide ballot, to the Constitution of the State 
of California or any published administrative interpretation of the Constitution of the State of 
California or any State of California law, or any legislation which has passed either house of the 
State legislature, or any published judicial decision interpreting any of the foregoing, the effect of 
which could reasonably be expected to have Material Adverse Effect. 

(m) No Sovereign Immunity. SMUD represents that it is not entitled to claim immunity 
on the grounds of sovereignty or other similar grounds with respect to itself from (i) suit or 
(ii) jurisdiction of any court because of its status as a political subdivision of the State of California. 

(n) Incorporation of Representations and Warranties by Reference. SMUD hereby 
makes to the Bank, as of the Closing Date, every representation and warranty made by it in SMUD 
Program Documents, which representations and warranties, as well as the defined terms contained 
therein that are necessary for a correct interpretation thereof, are incorporated herein by this 
reference with the same effect as if each and every such provision and defined term were set forth 
herein in its entirety. No amendment, modification, termination or replacement of any such 
representations, warranties, covenants and definitions contained in the SMUD Program 
Documents shall be effective to amend, modify, terminate or replace the representations, 
warranties, covenants and definitions incorporated herein by this reference, without the prior 
written consent of the Bank. The representations and warranties of SMUD in all of the SMUD 
Program Documents are true and correct in all material respects. 

(o) No Violation of Usury Laws. The terms of the Notes and the Note Resolution 
regarding the calculation and payment of interest on the Notes do not violate any applicable usury 
laws of the State of California and, assuming that the Bank is an exempted class of persons within 
the meaning of Article 15 of the California Constitution, the terms of this Agreement, the Fee 
Letter, and the Revolving Note regarding the calculation and payment of interest and fees and 
other amounts due under this Agreement, the Fee Letter, and the Revolving Note do not violate 
any applicable usury laws of the State of California. 

-23



 

          
   

             
       

      
           

          
          

           

           

          
  

          
        

     
       

  

            
     

             
 

  

          
           

        

      
      

  
 

(p) Compliance. SMUD is in substantial compliance with all laws, ordinances, orders, 
rules and regulations applicable to it, except to the extent noncompliance could not reasonably be 
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 

(q) Default. SMUD is not in default in the performance, observance or fulfillment of any 
of the obligations, covenants or conditions contained in any SMUD Program Document, the 
Master Bond Resolution, the Subordinated Bond Resolution or any other resolution, agreement or 
instrument to which it is a party which could have a Material Adverse Effect. No Default or Event 
of Default has occurred and is continuing. 

(r) Depositary and Dealer. U.S. Bank National Association (or a successor or assign 
approved in writing by the Bank) is the duly appointed and acting Depositary and Merrill Lynch, 
Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (or a successor or assign approved in writing by the Bank) is 
the duly appointed Dealer. 

(s) Insurance. The properties of SMUD are insured in accordance with the terms of the 
Master Bond Resolution. 

(t) Taxes. SMUD has filed any Federal, state and other material tax returns and reports 
required to be filed, and has paid all Federal, state and other material taxes, assessments, fees and 
other governmental charges levied or imposed upon them or their properties, income or assets 
otherwise due and payable, except those which are being contested in good faith by appropriate 
proceedings diligently conducted and for which adequate reserves have been provided in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. There is no proposed tax assessment 
against SMUD that would, if made, have a Material Adverse Effect. 

(u) Casualty. Neither the business nor the Property of SMUD is currently affected by 
any fire, explosion, accident, strike, lockout or other labor dispute, drought, storm, hail, 
earthquake, embargo, act of God or of the public enemy or other casualty (whether or not covered 
by insurance), which could have a Material Adverse Effect. 

(v) Sanctions Concerns and Anti-Corruption Laws. 

(a) Sanctions Concerns. Neither SMUD, nor, to the knowledge of SMUD, any 
director, officer, or employee thereof, is (i) currently the subject or target of any Sanctions, (ii) 
included on OFAC’s List of Specially Designated Nationals, or (iii) located, organized or resident 
in a Designated Jurisdiction. 

(b) Anti-Corruption Laws. SMUD has conducted its business in compliance with the 
United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 and other similar anti-corruption legislation 
applicable in California, and has instituted and maintained policies and procedures designed to 
promote and achieve compliance with such laws. 

ARTICLE FIVE 

-24



 

         
             

  

         
 

         
             

         
  

      
          

            
     

           
        

        
          

        
      

 

        
        

              
            

 

  

        
       

       
          

            
      

        
  

       
       

 

COVENANTS 

Section 5.1. Covenants of SMUD. SMUD will do the following so long as any amounts 
may be drawn under the Letter of Credit or any Obligations remain outstanding under this 
Agreement, unless the Bank shall otherwise consent in writing: 

(a) Reports and Other Information. SMUD will furnish, or cause to be furnished, at 
SMUD’s expense to the Bank: 

(i) As soon as possible and in any event within five (5) Business Days after the 
knowledge (actual or constructive) or notice of occurrence of any Event of Default, a 
statement of the Authorized SMUD Representative setting forth details of such Event of 
Default and the action that SMUD proposes to take with respect thereto; 

(ii) As soon as available and in any event within two hundred seventy 
(270) days after the end of each Fiscal Year of SMUD, a copy of the audited financial 
statements of SMUD for such year, including a balance sheet of SMUD as at the end of 
such Fiscal Year and the related statements of revenues, expenses and changes in fund 
balances and statement of cash flows, all in reasonable detail and reported on by a firm of 
nationally recognized independent certified public accountants, and the report of such firm 
of independent certified public accountants shall state, without qualification, that such 
financial statements present fairly the financial position of SMUD as of the end of such 
Fiscal Year, the results of operations, the changes in fund balances and cash flows of 
SMUD for such Fiscal Year then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles; 

(iii) Simultaneously with the delivery of each set of financial statements referred 
to in clause (ii) above, a certificate of an Authorized SMUD Representative stating whether 
there exists on the date of such certificate any Event of Default or Default and, if any Event 
of Default or Default then exists, setting forth the details thereof and the action that SMUD 
is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto; 

(iv) Reserved; 

(v) As soon as practicable and in any event within ten (10) Business Days after 
SMUD obtains actual knowledge of: (A) any litigation, arbitration or governmental 
proceeding pending against SMUD that challenges SMUD’s ability to perform its 
obligations under this Agreement and/or the SMUD Program Documents; or (B) any other 
event or condition that would prevent or is reasonably likely to prevent SMUD from 
performing its obligations under this Agreement and/or the SMUD Program Documents, 
in each case a statement of the Authorized SMUD Representative setting forth details 
describing the same and the steps being taken with thereto; 

(vi) As soon as practicable, notice of any disclosure documents publicly 
distributed in connection with any issue of Parity Bonds, Parity Subordinated Debt or 
Parity Notes; 

-25



 

          
         

   

       
          

 

         
            

        
           

          
         

         
          
  

       
        

 

           
   

         
 

           
 

        
         

        
       

        
        

 
          

       
          

 

          
         

      
         

(vii) As soon as practicable, notice of any change in, or the withdrawal of, any 
rating of Bonds or Subordinated Bonds (without regard to bond insurance or any other 
form of credit enhancement) by any Rating Agency; and 

(viii) From time to time, such additional information regarding the financial 
position, results of operations, business or prospects of SMUD as the Bank may reasonably 
request. 

(b) Books and Records; Inspections. SMUD will keep proper books of record and 
account with respect to the Electric System in which full and correct entries shall be made of assets 
and liabilities, financial transactions and business of SMUD in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles. SMUD will upon reasonable notice permit any Person designated by the 
Bank in writing to visit any of the properties of SMUD, and to examine the books and financial 
records of SMUD relating to the Electric System and make copies thereof or extracts therefrom, 
and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of SMUD relating to SMUD with the principal 
officers of SMUD all at such reasonable times during normal business hours and as often as the 
Bank may reasonably request. 

(c) Maintain Existence. SMUD shall take no action that would terminate its existence, 
rights and franchises as a municipal utility district duly organized and existing under the 
Constitution and laws of the State of California. 

(d) Compliance with Laws. SMUD will comply with the requirements of all laws, rules, 
regulations and orders of any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over SMUD and/or the 
Electric System, noncompliance with which would materially adversely affect the ability of 
SMUD to perform its obligations under this Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents. 

(e) Compliance with Agreements. SMUD will observe and perform all of its obligations 
under this Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents. 

(f) Incorporation of Covenants by Reference. SMUD, by this reference, hereby 
incorporates into this Agreement those covenants and agreements made by it in the SMUD 
Program Documents, as such covenants and agreements exist on the date hereof, as if such 
covenants and agreements were set forth herein in their entirety together with all defined terms 
and interpretative provisions necessary for a complete understanding thereof. The incorporated 
provisions shall be in addition to the express covenants contained herein and shall not be limited 
by the express covenants contained herein nor shall the incorporated provisions be a limitation on 
the express covenants contained herein. In the event of a conflict between the covenants and 
agreements set forth in this Article V (other than the incorporated provisions) and the incorporated 
provisions, the covenants and agreements set forth in the other provisions of Article V shall 
prevail. 

(g) SMUD Program Documents. SMUD will not amend, supplement or otherwise 
modify, or agree to the amendment, modification or termination of, any of the SMUD Program 
Documents (including, without limitation, an amendment to the Note Resolution reducing the 
Maximum Interest Rate to a rate below 12%) if such action could reasonably be expected to 

-26



 

         
  

          
       

          
          
      

 

   
           

 

           
              

             
        

             
               

       
   

        
             
                

 
   

           
        

        
               

  

            
           

 

     
  

    
          

 

adversely affect SMUD’s ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement or the SMUD 
Program Documents or adversely affect the business, financial position or results of operations of 
SMUD, in each case, without the prior written consent of the Bank (the Bank shall provide SMUD 
its determination as to whether or not it consents to any amendment, supplement or modification 
to any SMUD Program Documents within ten (10) Business Days of written notice from SMUD 
of such amendment, supplement or modification). SMUD shall provide written notice to the Bank 
of any proposed amendment to the Master Bond Resolution or Subordinated Bond Resolution (and 
a copy of such proposed amendment) at least ten (10) calendar days prior to its effective date. 

(h) Depositary and Dealer.  (i)  SMUD shall not remove the Depositary or the Dealer or 
appoint any successor thereto without the prior written consent of the Bank, which consent shall 
not be unreasonably withheld. 

(ii) If a Dealer fails to perform its duties under, and in accordance with the terms of, the 
Dealer Agreement, SMUD shall, at the written direction of the Bank, remove such Dealer. If the 
Depositary or the Dealer is removed or resigns, SMUD shall use its best efforts to appoint a 
successor thereto as soon as practicable and, in the case of resignation, no later than the resignation 
effective date. Any proposed Depositary (or any of its affiliates) or Dealer (or any of its affiliates) 
shall be rated at least A2/A/A by at least two Rating Agencies at the time of becoming the 
Depositary or the Dealer, as applicable, and have minimum capital of $500,000,000 unless such 
rating and/or capital requirement shall be waived by the Bank. 

(i) Alternate Letter of Credit. SMUD agrees that any termination of the Letter of Credit 
as a result of the provision of any Alternate Letter of Credit will require, as a condition thereto, 
that SMUD or the issuer of the Alternate Letter of Credit will provide funds on the date of such 
termination or provision, which funds will be sufficient to pay in full at the time of termination of 
the Letter of Credit all Obligations due to the Bank hereunder. 

(j) Commercially Reasonable Efforts. In the event SMUD does not request an extension 
of the Stated Expiration Date or the Bank denies or fails to respond to a request to extend the Stated 
Expiration Date, SMUD shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to (i) secure an Alternate 
Letter of Credit in full and complete replacement for the Letter of Credit or (ii) otherwise refinance 
the Notes on or prior to the expiration of the Letter of Credit. 

(k) Return of Letter of Credit. SMUD shall, upon the occurrence of the Termination 
Date, cause the Depositary to surrender the Letter of Credit to the Bank for cancellation on the 
Termination Date. 

(l) Offering Memorandum. (i) SMUD shall not change any reference to the Bank in the 
Offering Memorandum without the Bank’s prior written consent thereto. 

(ii) SMUD shall not make reference to the Bank in any other offering document without 
the Bank’s prior written consent thereto (other than references to the name of the Bank solely in 
the Bank’s capacity as the letter of credit provider with respect to the Notes). 

-27



 

              

            
            

 

         
     

     
           

        
   

 

           
        

           
            

      
            

             
      

           
            

            
            

             
 

         
         

      
            

        
       

        
 

           
     

          
 

(m) Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of the Notes will be expended in the manner set forth 
in the Note Resolution. 

(n) Ranking of Obligations. SMUD shall not take any action that would result in the 
Obligations not ranking at least pari passu in right of payment from Available Revenues with the 
Notes, Parity Notes and Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreements. 

(o) Investments. SMUD will not, directly or indirectly, invest in instruments and 
securities other than those permitted by, and in accordance with, California Government Code 
Sections 53600 to 53609, the Master Bond Resolution, the Subordinated Bond Resolution or the 
Program Documents. SMUD will not permit SMUD to encumber its cash position nor schedule 
the interest payment dates and maturities of its investments in a manner which impedes, hinders 
or interferes with the availability of funds to meet SMUD’s expected cash needs. 

(p) Reserved. 

(q) Plans. SMUD will (i) remain at all times in compliance with any applicable law 
(including any legally available grace periods) with respect to any Plan, and (ii) maintain each Plan 
as to which it may have any liability in compliance in all material respects with the provisions of 
applicable law, the failure to comply with which could subject SMUD to any tax or penalty which 
tax or penalty, taken together, with all other taxes and penalties which could be assessed against 
SMUD by reason of all other non-compliances, would have a material adverse effect on the 
business, financial position or results of operations of SMUD. 

(r) Payment of Taxes, Etc. SMUD will pay and discharge, or cause to be paid and 
discharged, all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges which may hereafter be 
lawfully imposed upon SMUD on account of the Electric System or any portion thereof and which, 
if unpaid, might impair the security of the Notes, when the same shall become due, but nothing 
herein contained shall require SMUD to pay any such tax, assessment or charge so long as it shall 
in good faith contest the validity thereof. SMUD will duly observe and conform to all valid 
material requirements of any Governmental Authority relative to the Electric System or any part 
thereof. 

(s) Operation and Maintenance of Electric System. SMUD will operate, maintain and 
preserve the Electric System in good repair and working order in conformity with standards 
customarily followed for municipal power supply, transmission and distribution systems of like 
size and character. SMUD will from time to time make necessary and proper repairs, renewals, 
replacements and substitutions to the properties of the Electric System, so that business carried on 
in connection with the Electric System shall and can be conducted in an efficient and economical 
manner, and will operate the Electric System in an efficient and economical manner. SMUD shall 
not use the Electric System to conduct any business other than that which is lawfully permitted. 

(t) Amounts of Rates and Charges. To the extent permitted by law, SMUD hereby 
covenants to establish, maintain and collect rates and charges with respect to the Electric System 
sufficient to pay the Parity Bonds, Parity Subordinated Debt, Parity Notes, Parity Notes 
Reimbursement Agreements, the Notes and all Obligations due and owing hereunder. 

-28



 

         
          

        
           

          
          

          
            

            
        

    
 

            
              

              
           

         
         
                
  

            
      

   

   

          
            

           
       

        
 

        
          

          
        

            
              

        
   

 

(u) Maintenance of Insurance. SMUD maintains self-insurance for general liabilities, 
property damage and workers’ compensation claims. SMUD shall, at all times, continue to 
maintain such self-insurance or shall use its best efforts to maintain or cause to be maintained 
insurance or reserves against loss from such hazards and risks to the person or property of others 
as are usually insured or reserved against by those with rights and interests in property similar to 
the Electric System. SMUD shall also procure, and maintain at all times adequate fidelity 
insurance or bonds on all officers and employees handling or responsible for any Electric System 
revenues, such insurance or bonds to be in an aggregate amount at least equal to the maximum 
amount of such Electric System revenues at any one time in the custody of all such officers and 
employees or in the amount of one million dollars ($1,000,000), whichever is less. The insurance 
described above may be provided as a part of any comprehensive fidelity and other insurance and 
not separately for the Electric System. 

(v) Sale or Other Disposition of Property. SMUD will not sell or otherwise dispose of 
any property essential to the proper operation of the Electric System or to the maintenance of the 
Revenues. SMUD will not enter into any lease or agreement which impairs or impedes the 
operation of the Electric System or which otherwise impairs or impedes the rights of the 
Bondholders (as defined in the Master Bond Resolution) or the Bank with respect to Revenues. 
Nothing contained herein shall prevent SMUD from entering into sale and leaseback agreements 
pursuant to which SMUD may acquire the use of property subject to the terms of such sale and 
leaseback agreements. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of the Master Bond Resolution, 
SMUD may sell or otherwise dispose of its accounts receivable and customer loan balances due to 
SMUD provided that: 

(1) SMUD delivers to the Trustee (as defined in the Master Bond Resolution): 

(a) a certificate of SMUD to the effect that the amount derived by 
SMUD from the sale or other disposition of such accounts receivable or loan 
balances is a result of the sale or other disposition of such accounts receivable or 
loan balances upon fair and reasonable terms no less favorable to SMUD than the 
terms of a comparable arm’s-length transaction treated as a sale and not a loan under 
generally accepted accounting principles; and 

(b) a written statement or report of an independent certified public 
accountant to the effect that, based on the audited financial statements of SMUD 
for the most recent fiscal year for which audited financial statements are available 
and after giving effect to such transaction by reducing Revenues for such fiscal year 
by the difference between the face amount of such accounts receivable or loan 
balances and the amount derived by SMUD from the sale or other disposition of 
such accounts receivable or loan balances, the debt service ratio computed pursuant 
to Section 5.04 of the Master Bond Resolution would not have been reduced to less 
than 1.40:1.0. 

-29



 

       
           

               
   

        
          

 

            
         
               

  
      

            
         

 

            
           

          
          

  

            
       

        
  

           
             

         
         
   

  
        

      
          

           
        

        
 

(w) Liens. Except as permitted by the Master Resolution, the Subordinated Bond 
Resolution or the Note Resolution or as otherwise acceptable to the Bank, SMUD will not (a) issue 
any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of similar nature payable out of or secured by 
a security interest in or a pledge or assignment of the Electric System revenues pledged under the 
Master Resolution, the Subordinated Bond Resolution or the Note Resolution and held or set aside 
by SMUD thereunder, or (b) create or cause to be created any Lien on the Electric System 
revenues. 

(x) Liquidity Provider Rating. Upon the request of the Bank, SMUD shall use its best 
efforts to obtain from at least one Rating Agency, an unenhanced long-term investment grade (i.e., 
“Baa3” or better by Moody’s or “BBB-” or better by S&P and/or Fitch) rating for the Revolving 
Note. 

(y) Further Assurances.  SMUD agrees to do such further acts and things and to execute 
and deliver to the Bank such additional assignments, agreements, powers and instruments as the 
Bank may reasonably require or reasonably deem advisable to carry into effect the purposes of this 
Agreement and the Fee Letter or to better assure and confirm to the Bank its rights, powers and 
remedies hereunder and under the SMUD Program Documents. 

(z) Immunity. SMUD covenants that it will not claim immunity on the grounds of 
sovereignty or other similar grounds with respect to itself from (i) suit or (ii) jurisdiction of any 
court because of its status as a political subdivision of the State of California. 

(aa) Ratings. SMUD shall maintain (i) long-term unenhanced ratings from at least two 
Rating Agencies on Bonds and Parity Bonds, (ii) short-term ratings on the Notes from at least two 
Rating Agencies and (iii) one long-term rating on the Revolving Note from any Rating Agency. 

(bb) Swap Contracts. Without the prior written consent of the Bank, SMUD shall not 
enter into any Swap Contracts relating to Debt (i) wherein any termination payments thereunder 
are senior to or on parity with the payment of any Obligation or (ii) which requires SMUD to post 
cash collateral to secure its obligations thereunder. 

(cc) Shorter Amortization. In the event that SMUD shall, directly or indirectly, enter into 
or otherwise consent to any Bank Agreement relating to Parity Notes or other Debt of SMUD 
secured by a lien on Net Revenues on parity with the Notes which such Bank Agreement provides 
such Person with a shorter amortization period than what is set forth in Section 2.3(b) hereof (not 
taking into account any shorter amortization period that might occur under such Bank Agreement 
because of a default, termination event, or other similar event under such Bank Agreement) (each 
a “Shorter Amortization Period”), SMUD shall provide the Bank with a copy of each such Bank 
Agreement and such Shorter Amortization Period shall automatically be deemed to be 
incorporated into this Agreement and the Bank shall have the benefit of such Shorter Amortization 
Period as if specifically set forth herein. SMUD shall promptly enter into an amendment to this 
Agreement to include such Shorter Amortization Period; provided that the Bank shall have and 
maintain the benefit of such Shorter Amortization Period even if SMUD fails to provide such 
amendment. 

-30



 

        
        

        
        

          
               

        
            
         
       

            
            
        

           
       

         
           

         
               

       
       

 

         
  

            
             

             
         

   

             
    

       
             

      
            
         

         
 

(dd) Incorporation of Covenants by Reference. SMUD agrees that it will perform and 
comply with each and every covenant and agreement required to be performed or observed by it 
in each of the other Program Documents, which provisions, as well as related defined terms 
contained therein, are hereby incorporated by reference herein with the same effect as if each and 
every such provision were set forth herein in its entirety all of which shall be deemed to be made 
for the benefit of the Bank and shall be enforceable against SMUD. To the extent that any such 
incorporated provision permits SMUD or any other party to waive compliance with such provision 
or requires that a document, opinion or other instrument or any event or condition be acceptable 
or satisfactory to SMUD or any other party, for purposes of this Agreement, such provision shall 
be complied with unless it is specifically waived by the Bank in writing and such document, 
opinion or other instrument and such event or condition shall be acceptable or satisfactory only if 
it is acceptable or satisfactory to the Bank which shall only be evidenced by the written approval 
by the Bank of the same. No termination or amendment to such covenants and agreements or 
defined terms or release of SMUD with respect thereto made pursuant to the other Program 
Documents, shall be effective to terminate or amend such covenants and agreements and defined 
terms or release SMUD with respect thereto in each case as incorporated by reference herein 
without the prior written consent of the Bank. Notwithstanding any termination or expiration of 
the other Program Document, SMUD shall continue to observe the covenants therein contained 
for the benefit of the Bank until the termination of this Agreement and the payment in full of all 
Obligations. All such incorporated covenants shall be in addition to the express covenants 
contained herein and shall not be limited by the express covenants contained herein nor shall such 
incorporated covenants be a limitation on the express covenants contained herein. 

ARTICLE SIX 

DEFAULTS 

Section 6.1. Events of Default and Remedies. If any of the following events shall occur, 
each such event shall be an “Event of Default”: 

(a) SMUD shall fail to pay when due (i) the amount of any Drawing; (ii) the 
principal of any Advance; (iii) the interest on any Advance, and such default shall continue 
unremedied for two (2) Business Days; or (iv) any other amount payable hereunder or 
under the Fee Letter and, solely with respect to clause (iv) hereof, such default shall 
continue unremedied for five (5) Business Days; 

(b) SMUD shall (i) default in the due performance or observance by it of any 
term, covenant or agreement contained in Sections 5.1(a)(i), 5.1(c), 5.1(f), 5.1(g), 5.1(h), 
5.1(i), 5.1(k), 5.1(l), 5.1(m), 5.1(n), 5.1(t), 5.1(v), 5.1(w), 5.1(x) or 5.1(z); (ii) default in 
the due performance or observance by it of any other term, covenant or agreement 
contained in Sections 5.1(a)(v), 5.1(a)(vi) or 5.1(a)(vii) and such default shall continue 
unremedied for a period of 5 Business Days; (iii) default in the due performance or 
observance by it of any other terms, covenant or agreement continued in Section 5.1(a)(ii), 
5.1(a)(iii), 5.1(a)(iv) or 5.1(a)(viii) and such default shall continue unremedied for a period 
of 5 Business Days after the Bank has provided written notice to SMUD; or (iv) default in 

-31



 

             
          

          
 

      
       

 
          

 

            
            

       
         

            
             
            

           
        

           
           

  
       

          
          

            
           

         
          

          
 

          
         

            
          

            
           

             
           

 

         
        

            

the due performance or observance by it of any other term, covenant or agreement 
hereunder or under the Fee Letter (other than those referred to in Section 6.1(a), 6.1(b)(i), 
6.1(b)(ii) or 6.1(b)(iii) hereof) and such default shall continue unremedied for a period of 
thirty (30) days; 

(c) Any representation, warranty, certification or statement made or deemed 
made by SMUD in this Agreement, any Program Document or in any certificate, financial 
statement or other document delivered to the Bank pursuant to this Agreement shall prove 
when made or deemed made, in the reasonable judgment of the Bank, to have been 
inaccurate and misleading in any material respect; or 

(d) SMUD shall (i) default in any payment of (A) any Debt payable from or 
secured by Net Revenues beyond the period of grace (not to exceed 30 days), if any, 
provided in the instrument or agreement under which such Debt was created or (B) any 
obligation under any Swap Contract the obligations under which are secured by a lien on 
Net Revenues senior to or on a parity with the Obligations, or (ii) default in the observance 
or performance of any agreement or condition relating to any Debt payable from or secured 
by Net Revenues on parity with or senior to the Obligations or Swap Contract or Bank 
Agreement the obligations under which are payable from or secured by Net Revenues on 
parity with or senior to the Obligations contained in any instrument or agreement 
evidencing, securing or relating thereto, or any other event shall occur or condition exist, 
the effect of which default or other event or condition is to cause, or to permit (A) the 
holder or holders (or a trustee or agent on behalf of such holder or holders) of any Debt or 
(B) the counterparty under any Swap Contract or Bank Agreement, in each case, payable 
from or secured by Net Revenues on parity with or senior to the Obligations to cause, with 
the giving of notice if required, such Debt or obligations under such Swap Contract or Bank 
Agreement to become due prior to its stated maturity; or (iii) any Debt secured by a lien on 
Net Revenues senior to or on a parity with the Obligations payable from or secured by Net 
Revenues or Swap Contract or Bank Agreement the obligations under which are payable 
from or secured by Net Revenues on parity with or senior to the Obligations shall be 
declared to be due and payable, or required to be prepaid other than by a regularly 
scheduled required prepayment, prior to the stated maturity thereof; or 

(e) SMUD shall commence a voluntary case or other proceeding seeking 
liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to itself or its debts under any 
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking the 
appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official of itself or 
any substantial part of its property, or shall consent to any such relief or to the appointment 
of or taking possession by any such official in an involuntary case or other proceeding 
commenced against it, or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or 
shall fail generally, or in the reasonable judgment of the Bank be unable, to pay its debts 
as they become due, or shall take any action to authorize any of the foregoing; or 

(f) An involuntary case or other proceeding shall be commenced against 
SMUD seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to it or its debts 
under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking 

-32



 

          
         

          
  

          
         

         
      

      
 

            
  

       
        

      
            
            

      
 

         
            

 

  

         
            
       

 

         
        

       
       

          
     

          
 

         
      

            
          

 

the appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official of it or 
any substantial part of its property and such case or proceeding is not controverted within 
thirty (30) days and dismissed within sixty (60) days; or an order for relief shall be entered 
against SMUD under the Federal bankruptcy laws as now or hereafter in effect; or 

(g) (i) A court of competent jurisdiction or other governmental authority with 
appropriate jurisdiction over SMUD shall enter a final and non-appealable judgment, order 
or decree declaring any (x) obligation of SMUD contained in this Agreement, any Program 
Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution or 
(y) Program Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution, 
in either case, to be invalid, not binding or unenforceable against SMUD or (ii) any action 
is taken by the SMUD Board or any officer of SMUD authorized by the SMUD Board to 
contest the validity or enforceability of this Agreement, any other Program Document, the 
Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution or the SMUD Board or any 
officer of SMUD authorized by the SMUD Board repudiates its obligations under any 
Program Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution or 
any provision thereof or with respect to any Debt of SMUD secured by or payable from 
Net Revenues senior to or on a parity with the Obligations, or SMUD shall seek an 
adjudication that this Agreement, any other Program Document, the Master Bond 
Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution is not valid and binding; or 

(h) A moratorium shall have been declared or announced by a Governmental 
Authority (whether or not in writing) with respect to any Debt of SMUD secured by Net 
Revenues, Net Subordinated Revenues or Available Revenues; or 

(i) Dissolution or termination of the existence of SMUD; or 

(j) A court of competent jurisdiction shall enter a final and non-appealable 
judgment, order or decree for the payment of money in excess of $10,000,000 shall be 
rendered against SMUD and such judgment or order shall continue, unbonded or 
unsatisfied for a period of 60 days; or 

(k) Any of the funds or accounts established pursuant to the Master Bond 
Resolution, the Subordinated Bond Resolution or the Note Resolution or any funds or 
accounts on deposit, or otherwise to the credit of, such funds or accounts shall become 
subject to any stay, writ, judgment, warrant of attachment, execution or similar process by 
any of the creditors of SMUD relating to an obligation or obligations of SMUD in excess 
of $10,000,000 and such stay, writ, judgment, warrant of attachment, execution or similar 
process shall not be released, vacated or stayed within fifteen (15) days after its issue or 
levy; or 

(l) Any pledge or security interest created by this Agreement, any Program 
Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution to secure any 
amount due by SMUD under this Agreement, the Fee Letter, the Revolving Note or with 
respect to the Notes shall fail to be fully enforceable with the priority required hereunder 
or thereunder; or 

-33



 

        
          

        
          
      

       
       

          
 

            
        

 

       
     

 
           

               
 

         
           

              
 

            
             

  

         
              
            

     
        

 

           
         

           
 

             
              

  

(m) (i) Any event which materially and adversely affects the ability of SMUD 
to observe and perform its obligations under this Agreement or the Fee Letter shall have 
occurred and be continuing, (ii) any event which materially and adversely affects the ability 
of SMUD to observe and perform its obligations under any SMUD Program Document, 
the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution shall have occurred and 
be continuing or (iii) either the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond 
Resolution shall be amended and such amendment materially and adversely affects the 
ability of SMUD to observe and perform its obligations under this Agreement or the Fee 
Letter; or 

(n) An “event of default” (or similar event) shall have occurred under any of 
the Program Documents, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond 
Resolution; or 

(o) There shall be appointed or designated with respect to SMUD, an entity 
such as an organization, board, commission, authority, agency or body to declare a 
financial emergency or similar state of financial distress with respect to it or there shall be 
declared by it or by any legislative or regulatory body with competent jurisdiction over it, 
the existence of a state of financial emergency or similar state of financial distress in respect 
of it; or 

(p) The downgrade by any Rating Agency of its long-term unenhanced rating 
with respect to any Bonds to a level below “Baa3” (or its equivalent) in the case of 
Moody’s, “BBB-” (or its equivalent) in the case of S&P or “BBB-” (or its equivalent) in 
the case of Fitch. 

Section 6.2. Remedies. Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default or an Optional 
Termination Event the Bank may exercise any one or more of the following rights and remedies 
in addition to any other remedies herein or by law provided: 

(a) declare all Obligations to be immediately due and payable, whereupon the 
same shall be immediately due and payable without any further notice of any kind, which 
notice is hereby waived by SMUD; provided, however, that in the case of an Event of 
Default described in Section 6.1(e), 6.1(f) or 6.1(h) hereof, such acceleration shall 
automatically occur (unless such automatic acceleration is waived by the Bank in writing); 
or 

(b) issue a No-Issuance Notice (the effect of which shall be as provided in 
Section 2.18 of this Agreement), reduce the Stated Amount of the Letter of Credit to the 
amount of the then outstanding Notes supported by the Letter of Credit and/or terminate 
the Stated Amount as the then outstanding Notes are paid; or 

(c) issue the Final Drawing Notice (the effect of which shall be to cause the 
Termination Date of the Letter of Credit to occur on the 15th day after the date of receipt 
thereof by the Depositary); or 

-34



 

         
      
          

          
 

          
 

  

      
         

              
           

 

          
           

          
  

      
       

        
 

   
 

  
  
  

  

(d) with respect to Non-Credit Events of Default only, give notice to SMUD 
that its obligation to make Advances hereunder is terminated (SMUD hereby acknowledges 
that upon the occurrence of a Credit Event of Default, the Bank’s obligation to make 
Advances shall automatically terminate without the giving of any notice) with respect 
thereto; or 

(e) pursue any rights and remedies it may have under the Program Documents; 
or 

(f) pursue any other action available at law or in equity. 

Section 6.3. Rating Event. Upon the occurrence of a Rating Event, the Bank may issue a 
No-Issuance Notice (the effect of which shall be as provided in Section 2.18 of this Agreement), 
reduce the Stated Amount of the Letter of Credit to the amount of the then outstanding Notes 
supported by the Letter of Credit and/or terminate the Stated Amount as the then outstanding Notes 
are paid. 

ARTICLE SEVEN 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 7.1. Amendments, Waivers, Etc. No amendment or waiver of any provision of 
this Agreement, or consent to any departure therefrom, shall in any event be effective unless the 
same shall be in writing and signed by the parties hereto, and then such waiver or consent shall be 
effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which given. 

Section 7.2. Notices. All notices and other communications provided for hereunder 
(except as provided in Section 2.18(b) hereof) shall be in writing (including required copies) and 
sent by receipted hand delivery (including Federal Express or other receipted courier service), 
facsimile transmission, or regular mail, as follows: 

(a)	 if to SMUD: Sacramento Municipal Utility District 
6201 S Street 
Sacramento, California 95817-1899 
Attention: Treasurer 
Telephone: (916) 732-6509 
Telecopy: (916) 732-5835 

-35



 

 
  

 

  
 

 
  

     
 
  

  

 
 

  

 

      

  
  

  

  
  

       
 

 

  
  

  
 

 
     

       
  

 

       
     
             

             
        

          

(b) if to the Bank, with Bank of America, N.A. 
respect to the Letter 1 Fleet Way 
of Credit: PA6-580-02-30 

Scranton, Pennsylvania 18507 
Attention: Standby Letter of Credit 
Department 
Telephone: (800) 370-7519 
Telecopy: (800) 755-8743 

(c) if to the Bank, with Bank of America, N.A. 
respect to all matters: 211 N. Robinson Ave. 

OK1-100-02-30 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102 
Attention: Brent Riley, Senior Vice 
President 
Telephone: (405) 230-1717 
Telecopy: (866) 681-1873 

(d) if to Depositary: U.S. Bank National Association 
100 Wall Street, Suite 1600 
New York, New York  10005 
Telephone: (212) 361-2892 
Telecopy: (212) 509-4529 

(e) if to the Dealer: Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith 
Incorporated 
One Bryant Park, Ninth Floor 
New York, New York 10036 
Attention: Tax Exempt Money Market Desk 
Telephone: (212) 449-5101 
Telecopy: (646) 736-6960 
Email:              DGTEMM@BAML.com 

or, as to each Person named above, at such other address as shall be designated by such Person in 
a written notice to the parties hereto. All such notices and other communications shall, when 
delivered, sent by facsimile transmission or mailed, be effective when deposited with the courier, 
sent by facsimile transmission or mailed respectively, addressed as aforesaid, except that requests 
for Draws submitted to the Bank shall not be effective until received by the Bank. 

Section 7.3. Survival of Covenants; Successors and Assigns. (a) All covenants, 
agreements, representations, and warranties made herein and in the certificates delivered pursuant 
hereto shall survive the making of any Drawing or Advance hereunder and shall continue in full 
force and effect until the Letter of Credit shall have terminated and all of the Obligations hereunder 
shall have been paid in full. Whenever in this Agreement any of the parties hereto is referred to, 
such reference shall, subject to the last sentence of this Section, be deemed to include the 

-36



 

      
          

          
                

          
        

 
           

                
              

            
         
             

            
         
                 

          
          

         
        

            
        

        
          

          
          

         
          

       
        

         
 

             
    

           
             

 

           
               

successors and assigns of such party, and all covenants, promises and agreements by or on behalf 
of SMUD which are contained in this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and 
assigns of the Bank. SMUD may not transfer its rights or obligations under this Agreement without 
the prior written consent of the Bank. The Bank may transfer or assign some or all of its rights 
and obligations under this Agreement and the Letter of Credit with the prior written consent of 
SMUD (which consent shall not be withheld unreasonably), provided that (i) with respect to the 
Letter of Credit only SMUD has received written notice from the Rating Agencies then rating the 
Notes that the transfer shall not cause the lowering, withdrawal or suspension of the ratings then 
existing on the Notes, and (ii) the Bank shall be responsible for all costs resulting from the transfer. 
No assignment of the Letter of Credit shall occur unless and until the provisions of the Note 
Resolution providing for delivery of an Alternate Letter of Credit for the Notes are complied with, 
treating the assigned Letter of Credit as an Alternate Letter of Credit. The Bank agrees to provide 
SMUD written notice of all amounts due and owing the Bank through and including the date of 
any assignment pursuant to this Section 7.3. This Agreement is made solely for the benefit of 
SMUD and the Bank, and no other Person (including, without limitation, the Depositary, the 
Dealer or any holder of Notes) shall have any right, benefit or interest under or because of the 
existence of this Agreement. 

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Bank shall be permitted to grant to one or more 
financial institutions (each a “Participant”) a participation or participations in all or any part of 
the Bank’s rights and benefits and obligations under this Agreement and the Letter of Credit on a 
participating basis but not as a party to this Agreement (a “Participation”) without the consent of 
SMUD. In the event of any such grant by the Bank of a Participation to a Participant, the Bank 
shall remain responsible for the performance of its obligations hereunder, and SMUD shall 
continue to deal solely and directly with the Bank in connection with the Bank’s rights and 
obligations under this Agreement. SMUD agrees that each Participant shall, to the extent of its 
Participation, be entitled to the benefits of this Agreement as if such Participant were the Bank, 
provided that no Participant shall have the right to declare, or to take actions in response to, an 
Event of Default under Section 6.1 hereof; provided further that SMUD’s liability to any 
Participant shall not in any event exceed that liability which SMUD would owe to the Bank but 
for such participation. 

Section 7.4. Unconditional Obligations. The obligations of SMUD under this Agreement 
and the Fee Letter shall be primary, absolute, independent, unconditional and irrevocable and shall 
be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Fee Letter, including 
without limitation the following circumstances: 

(a) Any lack of validity or enforceability of the Letter of Credit, the Program 
Documents or any other agreement or instrument relating to any of the above; 

(b) Any amendment or waiver of, or any consent to or departure from, any 
provision of any of the Program Documents, except for any waiver or consent granted by 
the Bank; 

(c) The existence of any claim, setoff, defense or other rights that SMUD may 
have at any time against the Depositary, any beneficiary or transferee of the Letter of Credit 

-37



 

            
        

 

         
               

           
  

           
         

   

            
   

         
  

            
            

          

     
           

          

           
           

              
              

              
           

            
    

           
               

           
      

 

(or any Person for whom the Depositary, any such beneficiary or any such transferee may 
be acting), the Bank or any other Person, whether in connection with this Agreement, the 
Program Documents or any unrelated transaction; 

(d) Any breach of contract or other dispute between SMUD and the Depositary, 
any beneficiary or transferee of the Letter of Credit (or any Person for whom the 
Depositary, any such beneficiary or any such transferee may be acting), any Owner, the 
Bank or any other Person; 

(e) Any demand, statement or any other document presented under the Letter 
of Credit or hereunder proving to have been forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in 
any respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect whatsoever; 

(f) Payment by the Bank under the Letter of Credit against presentation of a 
draft or certificate which does not comply strictly with the terms of the Letter of Credit; 

(g) Any non-application or misapplication by the Depositary or any paying 
agent or otherwise of the proceeds of any Drawing; or 

(h) The failure by the Bank to honor any Drawing under the Letter of Credit or 
to make any payment demanded under the Letter of Credit on the grounds that the demand 
for such payment does not conform strictly to the terms and conditions of the Letter of 
Credit. 

Section 7.5. Liability of Bank; Indemnification. (a)(i) Except as provided in this 
Agreement, the Bank shall not be obligated to issue any further credits, to cure any defaults under 
any Program Document or otherwise, or in any other manner to extend any financial consideration 
or accommodation to SMUD. 

(ii) The Bank shall not be deemed to have waived or released any of its rights or remedies 
(whether specified in or arising under this Agreement, the Fee Letter or otherwise available to it 
by law or agreement) unless the Bank shall have signed a written waiver or release. Delay or 
failure to act on the Bank’s part shall not constitute a waiver of or otherwise preclude enforcement 
of any of their rights and remedies. All of the Bank’s rights and remedies shall be cumulative and 
may be exercised separately or concurrently. The Bank need not resort to any particular right or 
remedy before exercising or enforcing any other, and the Bank’s resort to any right or remedy shall 
not preclude the exercise or enforcement of any other right or remedy. 

(iii) SMUD assumes all risks of the acts or omissions of the Depositary, any transferee of 
the Letter of Credit, the Dealer, the Depositary or any paying agent for the Notes with respect to 
its use of the Letter of Credit and the application of proceeds drawn thereunder; provided that this 
assumption with respect to the Bank is not intended to, and shall not, preclude SMUD’s pursuing 
such rights and remedies as it may have against the Depositary, such transferee, the Dealer or any 

-38



 

               
 

                
   

          
        

      
           

 

        
            

    

            
            

  
 

       
        

    

  

         
 

        
            

             
             

            
             

            
 

       
          

 

         
        

             

such paying agent at law or under any other agreement. Neither the Bank nor any of its officers, 
directors, employees or agents shall be liable or responsible for: 

(A) The use that may be made of the Letter of Credit or for any acts or omissions 
of the Depositary or any transferee of the Letter of Credit in connection therewith; 

(B) The form, validity, sufficiency, accuracy or genuineness of documents, or 
of any endorsements thereon, even if such documents should prove to be in any or all 
respects invalid, insufficient, inaccurate, fraudulent or forged, so long as the Bank was not 
grossly negligent or guilty of willful misconduct as determined by a court of competent 
jurisdiction; 

(C) Payment by the Bank against presentation of documents that do not comply 
strictly with the terms of the Letter of Credit, including failure of any documents to bear 
any reference or adequate reference to the Letter of Credit; 

(D) The validity or sufficiency of any instrument transferring or assigning or 
purporting to transfer or assign the Letter of Credit or the rights or benefits thereunder or 
proceeds thereof, in whole or in part, which may prove to be invalid or ineffective for any 
reason; 

(E) Errors, omissions, interruptions or delays in transmission or delivery of any 
messages by telex, mail, cable, telegraph, facsimile or otherwise, whether or not they have 
been in cipher, including any Drawings under the Letter of Credit; 

(F) Errors in interpretation of technical terms; or 

(G) Any consequences arising from causes beyond the control of the Bank, 
including, without limitation, any Government Acts; 

provided that, notwithstanding anything in the preceding clauses (A) through (G) to the contrary, 
SMUD shall have a claim against the Bank, and the Bank shall be liable to SMUD, to the extent, 
but only to the extent, of any direct, as opposed to consequential, damages suffered by SMUD that 
SMUD proves were caused by (A) the Bank’s failure to pay under the Letter of Credit after the 
presentation to it by the Depositary of a sight draft and certificate strictly complying with the terms 
and conditions of the Letter of Credit or (B) the Bank’s willful or grossly negligent payment under 
the Letter of Credit as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final non-appealable 
judgment. 

In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, the Bank may accept documents that 
appear on their face to be in order, without responsibility for further investigation, regardless of 
any notice or information to the contrary. 

(b) (i) To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, SMUD agrees to indemnify, 
save and hold harmless each Bank-Related Person from and against: (A) any and all claims, 
demands, actions or causes of action that may at any time (including at any time following 

-39



 

        
             

             
            

           
       

       
          

          
     

           
        
         

             
 

           
        

            
           

   

        
      

         
     

       
        

           
       

        
       

           
         
           

         
               

 

        
           
              

                 
        

            
  

repayment of the Obligations) be asserted or imposed against any Bank-Related Person arising out 
of or relating to this Agreement, the Letter of Credit, the Fee Letter or any Program Document, the 
use or contemplated use of the proceeds of any Drawing, any Advance, or the relationship of 
SMUD and the Bank under this Agreement or any Program Document; (B) any investigative, 
administrative or judicial proceeding by any Governmental Authority arising out of or related to a 
claim, demand, action or cause of action described in subsection (A) above; and (C) any and all 
liabilities (including liabilities under indemnities), losses, costs or expenses (including attorney 
costs) that any Bank-Related Person suffers or incurs as a result of the assertion of any foregoing 
claim, demand, action, cause of action or proceeding, or as a result of the preparation of any 
defense in connection with any foregoing claim, demand, action, cause of action or proceeding, in 
all cases, and whether or not a Bank-Related Person is a party to such claim, demand, action, cause 
of action or proceeding; provided that no Bank-Related Person shall be entitled to indemnification 
for any claim caused by its own gross negligence or willful misconduct. The agreements in this 
subsection shall survive the termination of the Letter of Credit and repayment of all of the 
Obligations. 

(ii) To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, SMUD shall also indemnify and 
hold harmless the Bank from any transfer taxes, documentary taxes, assessments or charges made 
by any Governmental Authority by reason of the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the 
Program Documents or the issuance of the Letter of Credit. The agreements in this subsection 
shall survive the termination of the Letter of Credit and repayment of all of the Obligations. 

Section 7.6. Expenses and Taxes. SMUD will promptly pay (i) the reasonable fees and 
expenses of counsel to the Bank incurred in connection with the preparation, execution and 
delivery of this Agreement and the other Program Documents, (ii) the reasonable out-of-pocket 
expenses of the Bank incurred in connection with the preparation, execution and delivery of this 
Agreement and the other Program Documents, (iii) the reasonable fees and disbursements of 
counsel to the Bank with respect to advising the Bank as to the rights and responsibilities under 
this Agreement after the occurrence of an Event of Default and (iv) all reasonable costs and 
expenses, if any, in connection with the administration and enforcement of this Agreement and 
any other documents which may be delivered in connection herewith or therewith, including in 
each case the fees and disbursements of counsel to the Bank. In addition, SMUD agrees to pay, 
after the occurrence of an Event of Default, all reasonable costs and expenses (including attorneys’ 
fees and costs of settlement) incurred by the Bank in enforcing any obligations or in collecting any 
payments due from SMUD hereunder by reason of such Event of Default or in connection with 
any refinancing or restructuring of the credit arrangements provided under this Agreement in the 
nature of a “workout” or of any insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings. The obligations of SMUD 
under this Section 7.6 shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

Section 7.7. No Waiver; Conflict. No failure by the Bank to exercise, and no delay by the 
Bank in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder, nor any course of dealing with respect 
to any of the same, shall operate as a waiver thereof, preclude any other or further exercise thereof 
nor shall a single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the 
exercise of any other right, power, or privilege. The rights, remedies, powers and privileges herein 
provided and provided under each other Program Document are cumulative, and not exclusive of 
any rights, remedies, powers and privileges provided by law. 

-40



 

    
              

 

     
 

            
 

     
        
         

          
           

        
         

          

       
        

  

       

          

        

     

         

           

            

          

          

           

        

         

      

           

               

             

        

            

          

Section 7.8. Modification, Amendment, Waiver, Etc. No modification, amendment or 
waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective unless the same shall be in writing 
and signed in accordance with Section 7.1 hereof. 

Section 7.9. Dealing with SMUD, the Depositary, and/or the Dealer. The Bank and its 
affiliates may accept deposits from, extend credit to and generally engage in any kind of banking, 
trust or other business with SMUD, the Depositary, and/or the Dealer regardless of the capacity of 
the Bank hereunder. 

Section 7.10. Severability. Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or 
unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such 
prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or affecting 
the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction, and all other remaining 
provisions hereof will be construed to render them enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by 
law. 

Section 7.11. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, 
each of which shall constitute an original, but when taken together shall constitute but one 
agreement and any of the parties hereto may execute this Agreement by signing any such 
counterpart. 

Section 7.12. Table of Contents; Headings. The table of contents and the section and 
subsection headings used herein have been inserted for convenience of reference only and do not 
constitute matters to be considered in interpreting this Agreement. 

SECTION 7.13. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. THIS AGREEMENT REPRESENTS THE FINAL AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE PARTIES HERETO WITH RESPECT TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF AND MAY NOT BE 

CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS, OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS 

OF THE PARTIES HERETO AS TO SUCH SUBJECT MATTER. 

Section 7.14. Governing Law. PURSUANT TO SECTION 5-1401 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL 

OBLIGATIONS LAW (OR ANY SUCCESSOR STATUTE THERETO), THIS AGREEMENT AND THE FEE 

LETTER SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A CONTRACT UNDER, AND SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND 

CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND 

APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE CAPACITY, POWER AND AUTHORITY OF 

SMUD TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OBLIGATIONS OF SMUD HEREUNDER SHALL BE 

GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE 

OF CALIFORNIA AND APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW WITHOUT REGARD TO CHOICE OF LAW RULES. 

Section 7.15. Waiver of Jury Trial. (a) TO THE FULL EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, SMUD 
AND THE BANK EACH WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY JURY FOR ANY CLAIM OR 

CAUSE OF ACTION BASED UPON OR ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE FEE 

LETTER, THE LETTER OF CREDIT, ANY OF THE OTHER PROGRAM DOCUMENTS, THE MASTER BOND 

RESOLUTION, THE SUBORDINATED BOND RESOLUTION OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED 

HEREBY OR THEREBY. EACH OF SMUD AND THE BANK FURTHER AGREES THAT ANY SUCH CLAIM OR 

CAUSE OF ACTION SHALL BE TRIED BY A COURT TRIAL WITHOUT JURY. WITHOUT LIMITING THE 

-41



 

         

       

         

          

           

       

        

              
         

          

           
             

          
          

          
             

          
         

        
              

           
        

           
              
           

         
          
          

          
      

         
 

  
     

        
 

       
           

     
 

FOREGOING, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE PARTIES FURTHER AGREE THAT THEIR 

RESPECTIVE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IS WAIVED BY OPERATION OF THIS SECTION AS TO ANY 

ACTION, COUNTERCLAIM OR OTHER PROCEEDING WHICH SEEKS, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, TO 

CHALLENGE THE VALIDITY OR ENFORCEABILITY OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE FEE LETTER, AND/OR THE 

LETTER OF CREDIT OR ANY PROVISION HEREOF OR THEREOF. THIS WAIVER SHALL APPLY TO ANY 

SUBSEQUENT AMENDMENTS, RENEWALS, SUPPLEMENTS OR MODIFICATIONS TO THIS AGREEMENT, 
THE FEE LETTER, AND/OR THE LETTER OF CREDIT. 

(b) In the event the waiver of jury trial as set forth in subsection (a) of this Section shall 
be declared void or unenforceable, each of SMUD and the Bank agrees to refer the dispute to a 
judicial referee in accordance with the provisions of Section 638 et seq. of the California Code of 
Civil Procedure. 

Section 7.16. Right of Setoff; Other Collateral. (a) Upon the occurrence and during the 
continuance of an Event of Default, the Bank is hereby authorized at any time and from time to 
time without notice to SMUD (any such notice being expressly waived by SMUD), and to the 
fullest extent permitted by law, to setoff, to exercise any banker’s lien or any right of attachment 
and apply any and all balances, credits, deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional 
or final), accounts or monies at any time held and other indebtedness at any time owing by the 
Bank to or for the account of SMUD (irrespective of the currency in which such accounts, monies 
or indebtedness may be denominated and the Bank is authorized to convert such accounts, monies 
and indebtedness into United States dollars) against any and all of the Obligations of SMUD, 
whether or not the Bank shall have made any demand for any amount owing to the Bank by SMUD; 
provided, however, that any such setoff, exercise of banker’s lien or any right of attachment shall 
be limited to (i) balances, credits, deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or 
final), accounts or monies or (ii) indebtedness owed by the Bank to or for the account of SMUD, 
the proceeds of which would otherwise be available to pay or satisfy or otherwise secure the Notes, 
the Reimbursement Obligations or any other indebtedness or obligations of SMUD secured or 
payable on a parity with or subordinate to the Lien on Net Revenues securing the Notes and the 
Reimbursement Obligations; and provided further, however, that the exercise of any such setoff, 
banker’s lien or right of attachment and the application of any such balances, credits, deposits, 
accounts, monies or proceeds of indebtedness that would constitute Revenues or other funds 
pledged pursuant to the Master Bond Resolution, Subordinated Bond Resolution or Note 
Resolution shall be subject to the terms, conditions and lien and payment priorities set forth in the 
Master Bond Resolution, the Subordinated Bond Resolution and the Note Resolution. 

(b) The rights of the Bank under this Section 7.16 are in addition to, in augmentation of, 
and, except as specifically provided in this Section 7.16, do not derogate from or impair, other 
rights and remedies (including, without limitation, other rights of setoff) which the Bank may have 
hereunder or under the other Program Documents. 

Section 7.17. USA Patriot Act. The Bank hereby notifies SMUD that, pursuant to the 
requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107 56 signed into law October 26, 2001) 
(the “Patriot Act”), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies SMUD, 
which information includes the name and address of SMUD and other information that will allow 

-42



 

            
   

          
            

    
             

            
        

         
         

 

     
    

         
   

      
      

  
       

       
            

           
            

 
           

   
           

          
          

         
 

  

the Bank to identify SMUD in accordance with the Patriot Act. SMUD hereby agrees that it shall 
promptly provide such information upon request by the Bank. 

Section 7.18. Assignment to Federal Reserve Bank. The Bank may assign and pledge all 
or any portion of the Obligations owing to it to any Federal Reserve Bank or the United States 
Treasury as collateral security pursuant to Regulation A of the Board of Governors of the Federal 
Reserve System and any Operating Circular issued by such Federal Reserve Bank or to any state 
or local governmental entity or with respect to public deposits; provided that any payment in 
respect of such assigned Obligations made by SMUD or on its behalf to the Bank in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement shall satisfy SMUD’s Obligations hereunder in respect of such 
assigned Obligation to the extent of such payment. No such assignment shall release the Bank 
from its obligations hereunder. 

Section 7.19. No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship. In connection with all aspects of 
each transaction contemplated hereby (including in connection with any amendment, waiver or 
other modification hereof or of any other Program Document), SMUD acknowledges and agrees 
that:  (a) (i) the services regarding this Agreement provided by the Bank and any Affiliate thereof 
are arm’s-length commercial transactions between SMUD, on the one hand, and the Bank and its 
Affiliates, on the other hand, (ii) SMUD has consulted its own legal, accounting, regulatory and 
tax advisors to the extent it has deemed appropriate, and (iii) SMUD is capable of evaluating, and 
understands and accepts, the terms, risks and conditions of the transactions contemplated hereby 
and by the other Program Documents; (b) (i) the Bank and its Affiliates each is and has been acting 
solely as a principal and, except as expressly agreed in writing by the relevant parties, has not been, 
is not, and will not be acting as an advisor, agent or fiduciary pursuant to Section 15B of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, for SMUD or any other Person and (ii) neither the Bank nor any 
of its Affiliates has any obligation to SMUD with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby 
except those obligations expressly set forth herein and in the other Program Documents; and (c) the 
Bank and its Affiliates may be engaged in a broad range of transactions that involve interests that 
differ from those of SMUD, and neither the Bank nor any of its Affiliates has any obligation to 
disclose any of such interests to SMUD.  To the fullest extent permitted by Law, SMUD  hereby 
waives and releases any claims that it may have against the Bank or any of its Affiliates with 
respect to any breach or alleged breach of agency or fiduciary duty in connection with any aspect 
of any transactions contemplated hereby. 

[Execution Page Follows] 

-43



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, SMUD and the Bank have duly executed this Agreement as of the 
date first above written. 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By:~C¥-~ 
Na~ ~ 
Title: Treasurer 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. 

By: ~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Name: Brent Riley 
Title: Senior Vice President 

Signature Page lo Reimbursement Agreement 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, SMUD and the Bank have duly executed this Agreement as of the 
date first above written. 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By: ~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Name: Russell Mills 
Title: Treasurer 

BANK OF AMERICA, N .A. 

By~---
Name: Brent Rliey 
Title: Senior Vice President 

Signature Page to Reimbursement Agreement 



 

   

APPENDIX I
 

FORM OF LETTER OF CREDIT
 



       
 

    

   
 

 

 

 

 

          
     

        
     

      
        

    
      

         
           

           
     

 
           

  

          
         

           
           

      
 

          

IRREVOCABLE TRANSFERABLE LETTER OF CREDIT
 

NO. 68145016 


BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
 
1 FLEET WAY
 

PA6 580 0230
 
SCRANTON, PA 18507-1999 


February 28, 2019
 

U.S. Bank National Association, 
  as Depositary 
100 Wall Street, Suite 1600 
New York, New York  10005 
Attention: Corporate Trust Department 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

1. At the request of the Sacramento Municipal Utility District (“SMUD”), Bank of 
America, N.A. (the “Bank”), hereby establishes in favor of U.S. Bank National Association, as 
depositary (together with its successors and assigns, the “Depositary”) under the Depositary 
Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2019 (together with any amendments or supplements thereto, 
the “Depositary Agreement”), between SMUD and the Depositary, its Irrevocable Transferable 
Letter of Credit No. 68145016 (the “Letter of Credit”) issued pursuant to the Reimbursement 
Agreement dated as of February 1, 2019 (as amended, modified, restated or supplemented, the 
“Reimbursement Agreement”), between SMUD, and the Bank, in the initial stated amount of 
$113,993,151 (the “Original Stated Amount”), which may be drawn upon by the Depositary to 
pay the principal of SMUD’s Commercial Paper Notes, Series M (the “Notes”) on the stated 
maturities thereof together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon. On the date hereof, the 
Original Stated Amount consists of $111,250,000, which represents the maximum aggregate 
principal amount of the Notes authorized to be issued by SMUD pursuant to the Note Resolution, 
and $2,743,151, which represents interest thereon for a period of 90 days at the rate of 10% per 
annum and a year of 365 days. 

2. This Letter of Credit shall expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date (the 
“Termination Date”) which is the earliest of: (i) February 25, 2022 (the “Letter of Credit 
Expiration Date”), as such date may be extended in a Notice of Extension from the Bank to the 
Depositary and SMUD in the form attached hereto as Annex E, (ii) the date of payment of a 
Drawing, not subject to reinstatement, which when added to all other Drawings honored 
hereunder which were not subject to reinstatement as provided herein, in the aggregate equals the 
Original Stated Amount on the date of issuance hereof as adjusted pursuant to the terms and 

Letter of Credit (BANA-SMUD CP Series M) 4816-7324-7621 v4 
4219796 



           
        

             
             

         
  

            
               

            
 

           
       

            
         

 

          
          
          
            

              
        

       
         

         
         

             
         

          
           

 

           
             

        
              

        
        

          
           

 
           

            
       

       

conditions of this Letter of Credit, (iii) the Bank’s receipt of a certificate signed by your duly 
authorized officer in the form of Annex C attached hereto appropriately completed, or (iv) the 
earlier of (a) the 15th calendar day after the date on which you receive the Final Drawing Notice, 
and (b) the date on which the Drawing resulting from the delivery of the Final Drawing Notice is 
honored hereunder. All drawings hereunder shall be paid from immediately available funds of 
the Bank.  The “Stated Amount” shall mean the Original Stated Amount (i) less the amount of all 
prior reductions pursuant to drawings with respect to the payment at maturity of the principal of 
and interest at maturity of the Notes, (ii) less the amount of any reduction thereof pursuant to a 
reduction certificate in the form of Annex B hereto, (iii) plus the amount of all reinstatements as 
herein provided. 

3. Upon receipt by the Bank, of a certificate in the form of Annex B hereto (a 
“Reduction Certificate”) appropriately completed and signed by a duly authorized representative 
of the Depositary, at least five Business Days prior to the date specified in such certificate for the 
reduction of the Stated Amount, the Stated Amount shall be reduced to the amount set forth 
therein.  

4. Funds under this Letter of Credit are available to you against your presentation of a 
drawing certificate in the form of (i) Annex A-1 (with respect to the payment at maturity of the 
principal of and interest at maturity on Notes), or (ii) Annex A-2 (with respect to the payment at 
maturity of the principal of and interest to maturity on Notes and that otherwise mature on or 
after the date that you receive notice from us in the form of Annex F hereto (the “Final Drawing 
Notice”), attached hereto (any such certificate being a “Drawing”) to the Bank, at Bank of 
America, N.A., 1 Fleet Way, PA6-580-02-30, Scranton, PA 18507-1999, or by telecopier at 
telecopier number (800) 755-8743, Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Department, Reference: 
Letter of Credit No. 68145016, Sacramento Municipal Utility District, or at such other address 
and/or number which may be designated by the Bank by written notice delivered to the 
Depositary. You shall use your best efforts to give telephonic notice of a drawing to us at 
(800) 370-7519 OPT 1 on the Business Day prior to such drawing, but such notice shall not be a 
condition precedent to a drawing hereunder. Each Drawing so presented shall have all blanks 
appropriately filled in and shall be signed by an authorized officer of the Depositary and shall be 
in the form of a letter on the letterhead of the Depositary delivered or telecopied to the Bank. 

5. The Bank hereby agrees that all demands for payment made under and in strict 
compliance with the terms of this Letter of Credit will be duly honored upon receipt of each 
Drawing request as specified in paragraph 5 hereof and if presented at the aforesaid office on or 
before the Termination Date. If a Drawing is received by the Bank at or prior to 11:30 a.m., 
New York City time, on a Business Day, and provided that the documents presented in 
connection therewith strictly conform to the terms and conditions hereof, payment shall be made 
of the amount specified in immediately available funds, no later than 2:30 p.m., New York City 
time, on the same Business Day. If a Drawing is received by the Bank hereunder after 
11:30 a.m., New York City time, on a Business Day, such Drawing shall be deemed to have been 
made at the opening of business on the next succeeding Business Day. Payments made 
hereunder will be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to you at U.S. Bank 
Trust National Association, ABA No. 091000022, BNF: U.S. Bank Trust N.A., Account No. 
A/C 1731-0185-1827 , Ref SEI#: 221236000 Series M1 or 251536000 Series M2, Reference: 

-2



          
     

          
             

         
          
         

         
  

      
           

          
             

           
         

 

             
               

            
           

           
          

  

          
      

        
 

           
 

         
          

      
          
             

           
        

         
      

 

Sacramento Municipal Utility District Series M. Such account may be changed only by 
presentation to the Bank of a letter in form satisfactory to the Bank specifying a different account 
with the Depositary and executed by the Depositary. “Business Day” shall mean any day other 
than (a) a Saturday or Sunday or a day on which institutions are authorized or required by law or 
executive order to be closed in the States of California, or New York for commercial banking 
purposes, (b) a day on which the New York Stock Exchange is authorized or required by law or 
executive order to be closed; and (c) a day upon which commercial banks are authorized or 
required by law or executive order to be closed in the cities and states in which demands for 
payment may be presented under this Letter of Credit (initially, Scranton, Pennsylvania). 

6. Multiple drawings may be made hereunder, provided that subject to paragraph 8 
hereof each Drawing honored by the Bank hereunder shall pro tanto reduce the Stated Amount 
of this Letter of Credit and the Bank’s liability in respect thereof. Such reduction shall be 
effective whether or not the Drawing complied with the terms of this Letter of Credit and 
notwithstanding any acts or omissions, whether authorized or unauthorized, of the Depositary or 
any officer, director, employee or agent of the Depositary in connection with any drawing 
hereunder or the proceeds thereof or otherwise in connection with this Letter of Credit. 

7. Upon receipt by the Bank of reimbursement of all or any portion of the amount of 
any drawing (except in the case of a drawing resulting from a Final Drawing Notice), the Stated 
Amount shall be automatically reinstated by an amount equal to the amount of said 
reimbursement; provided, however, that no reinstatement of the Stated Amount of the Letter of 
Credit shall occur if the Depositary shall have received (i) written notice from the Bank stating 
that an Event of Default under the Reimbursement Agreement has occurred and is continuing or 
(ii) you have received from a No-Issuance Notice in the form attached hereto as Annex G. 

8. Only the Depositary may make drawings under this Letter of Credit. Upon payment 
as provided in paragraph 6 of the amount specified in a Drawing drawn hereunder, the Bank 
shall be fully discharged of its obligation under this Letter of Credit with respect to such 
Drawing. 

9. This Letter of Credit is intended to apply only to the payment of the principal 
amount of the Notes and/or interest thereon upon maturity. 

10. To the extent not inconsistent with the express terms hereof, this Letter of Credit 
shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the terms of the International Standby 
Practices 1998, International Chamber of Commerce-Publication No. 590 (“ISP98”). As to 
matters not governed by the ISP98, this Letter of Credit shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with Article 5 of the Uniform Commercial Code of the State of New York, without 
regard to conflict of laws. Communications with respect to this Letter of Credit shall be in 
writing and shall be addressed to the Bank, at Bank of America, N.A., at 1 Fleet Way, PA6-580
02-30, Scranton, PA 18507-1999, Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Department, Telephone: 
(800) 370-7519 OPT 1, Reference: Letter of Credit No. 68145016, Sacramento Municipal Utility 
District, specifically referring thereon to this Letter of Credit by its number. 

-3



            
        

          
           

  

       
        

       
      

  

  

   

 
  
  

11. You may transfer your rights under this Letter of Credit in their entirety (but not in 
part) to any transferee who has succeeded to you as Depositary under the Depositary Agreement 
and such transferred rights may be successively transferred. Transfer of your rights under this 
Letter of Credit to any such transferee shall be effected upon the presentation to the Bank of this 
Letter of Credit accompanied by a transfer letter in the form attached hereto as Annex D. 

12. This Letter of Credit sets forth in full our undertaking, and such undertaking shall 
not in any way be modified, amended, amplified or limited by reference to any document, 
instrument or agreement referred to herein (including, without limitation, the Notes), except only 
the certificates and letters referred to herein; and no such reference shall be deemed to 
incorporate herein by reference any document, instrument or agreement. 

Very truly yours, 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. 

By:____________________________________ 
Name: ______________________________ 
Title: _______________________________ 

-4



 

    

 

  
 

  

  

 

      
        

      
  

        
  

        
            

         
      

         
         

          
        
          

         
  

         
           

          

         
           

ANNEX A-1
 
TO
 

IRREVOCABLE TRANSFERABLE LETTER OF CREDIT
 

NO. 68145016
 

Bank of America, N.A. 
1 Fleet Way 
PA6-580-02-30 
Scranton, PA  18507-1999 
Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Department 

Re: Drawing Certificate for Irrevocable Transferable
 
Letter of Credit No. 68145016 


Ladies and Gentlemen: 

U.S. Bank National Association (the “Depositary”) hereby certifies to Bank of America, 
N.A., with reference to Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit No. 68145016 (the “Letter of 
Credit”) issued by the Bank on February 28, 2019 (capitalized terms contained herein are used 
as defined in the Letter of Credit), that: 

1. The undersigned is the Depositary under the Depositary Agreement and 
the Note Resolution, and is acting as the agent for the holders of the Notes. 

2. The Depositary hereby makes a demand on the Bank, for payment under 
the Letter of Credit in the amount of $____________ to be used for the payment of 
principal of, and interest on, the Notes upon the stated maturity thereof. The amount 
hereby demanded is equal to $_________, with $________ being drawn in respect of the 
payment of principal of maturing Notes and $________ being drawn in respect of the 
payment of interest on such maturing Notes. Such amounts were computed in 
compliance with the terms and conditions of the Notes and the Note Resolution. 

3. The amount hereby requested in respect of the payment of principal of, 
accrued interest on, and interest payable to maturity of, the Notes, when added to all prior 
Drawings under the Letter of Credit not previously reinstated, does not exceed the Stated 
Amount. The amount requested for payment hereunder has not been and is not the 
subject of a prior or contemporaneous request for payment under the Letter of Credit. 

4. The amount hereby demanded will not be applied to any payment in 
respect of Notes registered in the name of SMUD or, to the best knowledge of the 
Depositary, any nominee for or any Person who owns such Notes for the sole benefit of 
SMUD. 

5. Upon receipt by the Depositary of the amount demanded hereby, (a) the 
Depositary will apply the same directly to the payment when due of the appropriate 



          
        
         

      
 

         
 

         
        

          
 

     

  

   
  

 
  
  

amount owing on account of principal of and interest on the Notes pursuant to the 
Depositary Agreement and the Note Resolution, (b) no portion of said amount shall be 
applied by the Depositary for any other purpose, and (c) no portion of said amount shall 
be commingled with other funds held by the Depositary, except amounts received 
pursuant to any contemporaneous Drawing hereunder. 

6. Payment by the Bank pursuant to this drawing shall be made to the 
Depositary in accordance with the instructions set forth in the Letter of Credit. 

7. The Depositary acknowledges that pursuant to the terms of the Letter of 
Credit, upon the Bank honoring the drawing made by this certificate, the Stated Amount 
of the Letter of Credit which is available for subsequent drawings is $____________ 
which amount shall be reinstated in accordance with the terms of this Letter of Credit. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Depositary has executed and delivered this Certificate as of 
the ____ day of ____________, ____. 

Very truly yours, 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
as Depositary 

By:____________________________________ 
Name: ______________________________ 
Title: _______________________________ 

-2



 

    

 

  
 

  

  

         
    

          
     

 

        
  

        
          

          
      

         
         

          
         

           
            
 

         
           

          

ANNEX A-2
 
TO
 

IRREVOCABLE TRANSFERABLE LETTER OF CREDIT
 

NO. 68145016
 

Bank of America, N.A. 
1 Fleet Way 
PA6-580-02-30 
Scranton, PA  18507-1999 
Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Department 

Re: Final Drawing Certificate for Irrevocable Transferable
 
Letter of Credit No. 68145016 


The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of the undersigned Depositary (the 
“Depositary”), hereby certifies to Bank of America, N.A. (the “Bank”), with reference to 
Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit No. 68145016 (the “Letter of Credit,” issued by the 
Bank on February 28, 2019 (capitalized terms contained herein are used as defined in the Letter 
of Credit), that: 

1. The undersigned is the Depositary under the Depositary Agreement and 
the Note Resolution, and is acting as the agent for the holders of the Notes. 

2. The Depositary has received the Final Drawing Notice. 

3. The Depositary hereby makes a demand on the Bank for payment under 
the Letter of Credit in an amount of $____________ to be used for payment of the 
principal of and interest on, the Notes upon the stated maturity thereof. The amount 
hereby demanded is equal to $_________, with $________ being drawn in respect of the 
payment of principal of maturing Notes and $________ being drawn in respect of the 
payment of interest on such maturing Notes. Such amounts were computed in 
compliance with the terms and conditions of the Notes and the Note Resolution. 

4. The amount hereby requested in respect of the payment of principal of, 
accrued interest on, and interest payable to maturity of, the Notes does not exceed the 
Stated Amount of the Letter of Credit. The amount requested for payment hereunder has 
not been and is not the subject of a prior or contemporaneous request for payment under 
the Letter of Credit. 

5. The amount hereby demanded will not be applied to any payment in 
respect of Notes registered in the name of SMUD or, to the best knowledge of the 
Depositary, any nominee for or any Person who owns such Notes for the sole benefit of 
SMUD. 



         
           

          
        
         

      
 

         
            
 

         
 

           
        

 

     

  

   
  

 
  
  

6. Upon receipt by the Depositary of the amount demanded hereby, (a) the 
Depositary will apply the same directly to the payment when due of the appropriate 
amount owing on account of principal of and interest on the Notes pursuant to the 
Depositary Agreement and the Note Resolution, (b) no portion of said amount shall be 
applied by the Depositary for any other purpose, and (c) no portion of said amount shall 
be commingled with other funds held by the Depositary, except amounts received 
pursuant to any contemporaneous Drawing hereunder. 

7. This Drawing Certificate is being presented to the Bank on a date which is 
no later than the 15th calendar day after receipt by the Depositary of the Final Drawing 
Notice. 

8. Payment by the Bank pursuant to this drawing shall be made to the 
Depositary in accordance with the instructions set forth in the Letter of Credit. 

9. The Depositary acknowledge that pursuant to the terms of the Letter of 
Credit, upon the Bank honoring the drawing made by this certificate, the Stated Amount 
of the Letter of Credit will be permanently reduced to zero. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed and delivered this Certificate as of 
the ______ day of _______________, _____. 

Very truly yours, 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
as Depositary 

By:____________________________________ 
Name: ______________________________ 
Title: _______________________________ 

-2



    

 

  
 

  

 
 

 

      
       

         
  

      
  

        
          

      
           

         
       

         
  

          
             

       
           

       
 

ANNEX B
 
TO
 

IRREVOCABLE TRANSFERABLE LETTER OF CREDIT
 

NO. 68145016
 

Bank of America, N.A. 
1 Fleet Way 
PA6-580-02-30 
Scranton, PA  18507-1999 
Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Department 

Re: Reduction Certificate of
 
Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit No. 68145016 


Ladies and Gentlemen: 

U.S. Bank National Association (the “Depositary”) hereby certifies to Bank of America, 
N.A. (the “Bank”), with reference to Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit No. 68145016 
(the “Letter of Credit”) issued by the Bank on February 28, 2019 (capitalized terms contained 
herein are used as defined in the Letter of Credit), that: 

1. The undersigned is the Depositary under the Depositary Agreement, and is 
acting as the agent for the owners of the Notes. 

2. The Depositary hereby notifies you, as of the date hereof, SMUD has 
determined that the Stated Amount of the Letter of Credit shall be reduced to 
$____________, of which $____________ represents the principal component of the 
Letter of Credit and $____________ represents the interest component of the Letter of 
Credit. 

3. The Depositary hereby confirms that the aggregate principal amount of 
Notes outstanding, together with the aggregate interest payable on such principal amount 
of Notes outstanding as of the date of this certificate, does not exceed the Stated Amount 
of the Letter of Credit as so reduced. 

4. If any Notes are outstanding as of the date of this Certificate, SMUD has 
informed the Depositary that it will not issue additional Notes unless after the issuance of 
such additional Notes the aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding, together with 
the aggregate interest payable on such principal amount of Notes outstanding, shall be no 
greater than the Stated Amount as reduced pursuant to this Certificate. 

5. The undersigned represents that he/she is a duly authorized representative 
of the Depositary.  



     

  

   
  

 
  
  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Depositary has executed and delivered this Certificate as of 
the ____ day of ____________, ____. 

Very truly yours, 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
as Depositary 

By:____________________________________ 
Name: ______________________________ 
Title: _______________________________ 

-2



    

 

  
 

  

 
 

 

      
          

     
         

       
           
             

          
        

         
 

     

  

   
  

 
  
  

   

ANNEX C
 
TO
 

IRREVOCABLE TRANSFERABLE LETTER OF CREDIT
 

NO. 68145016
 

Bank of America, N.A. 
1 Fleet Way 
PA6-580-02-30 
Scranton, PA  18507-1999 
Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Department 

Re: Termination Certificate of
 
Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit No. 68145016 


Ladies and Gentlemen: 

The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of U.S. Bank National Association, as 
Depositary (the “Depositary”) under the Depositary Agreement dated as of February 1, 2019 
(together with any amendments or supplements thereto, the “Depositary Agreement”), between 
Sacramento Municipal Utility District and the Depositary, hereby certifies to Bank of America, 
N.A. (the “Bank”), with respect to the above-referenced Irrevocable Transferable Letter of 
Credit No. 68145016 (the “Letter of Credit”) issued by the Bank in favor of the Depositary that 
[prior to the date hereof, all of the outstanding Notes, as defined in the Letter of Credit, were 
paid in accordance with their terms] [a substitute Letter of Credit in full and complete 
substitution for the Letter of Credit has been issued and is in effect as of ____________, ____ in 
accordance with the Depositary Agreement]. 

Pursuant to said Depositary Agreement, we are delivering herewith the Letter of Credit 
for cancellation. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Depositary has executed and delivered this Certificate as of 
the ____ day of ____________, ____. 

Very truly yours, 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
as Depositary 

By:____________________________________ 
Name: ______________________________ 
Title: _______________________________ 

 Select appropriate certification. 



  

    

 

   

 

  
 

  

  
 

 

 

_________________________________________ 
 

_________________________________________ 
 

         
    

           
  

         
          

           
           

             
 

         
          

  

ANNEX D
 
TO
 

IRREVOCABLE TRANSFERABLE LETTER OF CREDIT
 

NO. 68145016
 

[LETTERHEAD OF DEPOSITARY] 

[Date] 

Bank of America, N.A. 
1 Fleet Way 
PA6-580-02-30 
Scranton, PA  18507-1999 
Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Department 

Re: Transfer Certificate of 
Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit No. 68145016 

Gentlemen: 

For value received, the undersigned beneficiary hereby irrevocably transfers to: 

(Name of Transferee) 

(Address) 

(the “Transferee”) as successor Depositary under the Depositary Agreement dated as of 
February 28, 2019 (the “Depositary Agreement”), between U.S. Bank National Association and 
Sacramento Municipal Utility District all rights of the undersigned beneficiary to draw under the 
above-referenced Letter of Credit in its entirety. 

By this transfer, all rights of the undersigned beneficiary in such Letter of Credit are 
transferred to the transferee and the transferee shall have the sole rights as beneficiary thereof, 
including sole rights relating to any amendments, whether increases or extensions, or other 
amendments and whether now existing or hereafter made. All amendments are to be advised 
directly to the transferee without necessity of any consent of or notice to the undersigned 
beneficiary. 

By its signature below, the Transferee acknowledges that it has duly succeeded the 
Transferor as Depositary under the Depositary Agreement, and agrees to be bound by the terms 
of the Depositary Agreement as if it were the original Depositary thereunder. 



       
             

  
  

   
 

 
  

 
  

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
   

 

 
 

 

The original Letter of Credit (and any amendments thereto) is returned herewith, and we 
ask you to endorse the transfer on the reference thereof, and forward it directly to the transferee 
with customary notice of transfer. 

Very truly yours, 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
as Depositary 

By:____________________________________ 
[Insert name and title of authorized officer] 

SIGNATURE OF THE ABOVE OFFICER,
 
DULY AUTHORIZED TO ACT ON
 
BEHALF OF [insert name of
 
Depositary], 

AUTHENTICATED BY:
 

By:____________________________________ 

Name: _________________________________ 

Title: __________________________________ 


Acknowledged by 
[insert name of Transferee] 
as Transferee and successor Issuing and 
Paying Agent 

By:_________________________________ 
Name: ______________________________ 
Title: _______________________________ 

-2



 
  

 

 
 

 

SIGNATURE OF THE ABOVE OFFICER 
DULY AUTHORIZED TO ACT ON BEHALF 
OF [insert name of Transferee], AUTHENTICATED BY: 

By:_________________________________ 
Name: ______________________________ 
Title: _______________________________ 

-3



  

    

 

 
 

 

 

        
     

          
 

     
            

  

   

 
  
  

ANNEX E
 
TO
 

IRREVOCABLE TRANSFERABLE LETTER OF CREDIT
 

NO. 68145016
 

[Date] 
U.S. Bank National Association, as Depositary 
100 Wall Street, Suite 1600 
New York, New York  10005 
Attention: Corporate Trust Department 

Re: Notice of Extension 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Reference is hereby made to that certain Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit 
No. 68145016 dated February 28, 2019 (as amended through the date hereof, the “Letter of 
Credit”), established by us in your favor as Depositary.  We hereby notify you that the Letter of 
Credit Expiration Date of the Letter of Credit has been extended to _______________. 

You are hereby authorized to attach this Notice of Extension to the Letter of Credit and to 
treat this Notice of Extension as extending the Letter of Credit Expiration Date of the Letter of 
Credit. 

Very truly yours, 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. 

By:____________________________________ 
Name: ______________________________ 
Title: _______________________________ 



 

    

 

 
 

 

 

 

   
      

     

 

         
 

        
  

          
          

          
               
      

           
                 
               

            
 

   

 
  
  

ANNEX F 

TO
 

IRREVOCABLE TRANSFERABLE LETTER OF CREDIT
 

NO. 68145016
 

[Date] 
U.S. Bank National Association, as Depositary 
100 Wall Street, Suite 1600 
New York, New York  10005 
Attention: Corporate Trust Department 

Re: Final Drawing Notice 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Reference is made to Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit No. 68145016 (the “Letter 
of Credit”; the terms defined therein and not otherwise defined herein being used herein as 
therein defined) issued by the Bank in your favor as Depositary. 

Please be advised that: 

(1) An Event of Default or an Optional Termination Event under and as 
defined in the Reimbursement Agreement has occurred and is continuing. 

(2) The Bank hereby instructs the Depositary, effective upon receipt of this 
Notice, to cease issuing Notes. 

(3) The Bank hereby notifies the Depositary that (i) effective upon receipt of 
this Certificate, the Stated Amount available to be drawn under the Letter of Credit will 
not be reinstated in accordance with the Letter of Credit, (ii) the Depositary is instructed 
to make the final Drawing under the Letter of Credit to provide for the payment of the 
principal and interest on Notes issued in accordance with the Note Resolution which are 
outstanding and are maturing or are hereafter to mature, and (iii) the Termination Date of 
the Letter of Credit will occur and the Letter of Credit will expire on the earlier of (a) the 
date which is the 15th calendar day after the date of receipt by the Depositary of this 
notice, and (b) the date on which the Drawing resulting from the delivery of this notice is 
honored by us. 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. 

By:____________________________________ 
Name: ______________________________ 
Title: _______________________________ 



  

    

 

 

 

 

        
     

         
       

  

        
           

   
         

     
        

        
       

         
           
 

         
          

        
       

             
        

      
 

ANNEX G
 
TO
 

IRREVOCABLE TRANSFERABLE LETTER OF CREDIT
 

NO. 68145016
 

U.S. Bank National Association, 
  as Depositary 
100 Wall Street, Suite 1600 
New York, New York  10005 
Attention: Corporate Trust Department 

Re: No-Issuance Notice 

The undersigned, duly authorized signatory of Bank of America, N.A. (the “Bank”), hereby 
notifies U.S. Bank National Association (the “Depositary”), with reference to Irrevocable 
Transferable Letter of Credit No. 68145016 (the “Letter of Credit,” the terms defined therein 
and not otherwise defined herein being used herein as therein defined) issued by the Bank in 
favor of the Depositary, as follows: 

1. We hereby notify you that, in accordance with the terms of the 
Reimbursement Agreement dated as of February 1, 2019 (as the same may at any time be 
amended or modified and in effect, the “Reimbursement Agreement”), between 
Sacramento Municipal Utility District (“SMUD”) and the Bank, an Event of Default (as 
defined in the Reimbursement Agreement), an Optional Termination Event (as defined in 
the Reimbursement Agreement) or a Rating Event (as defined in the Reimbursement 
Agreement) has occurred and is continuing 

2. Subject to the following sentence, you shall cease authenticating Notes, as 
provided in Section 3(b) of the Depositary Agreement, unless and until we rescind this 
No-Issuance Notice. If you receive this No-Issuance Notice after 11:00 A.M. New York 
City time, on a Business Day you shall cease authenticating Notes on the next Business 
Day. 

3. This No-Issuance Notice shall not affect our obligation to honor demands 
for payment under the Letter of Credit with respect to Notes authenticated prior to your 
receipt of this No-Issuance Notice (or, subject to paragraph 2 above, on the same 
Business Day that you receive this No-Issuance Notice), and you shall continue to have 
the right to draw under the Letter of Credit to pay the principal of and accrued interest on 
maturing Notes authenticated prior to your receipt of this No-Issuance Notice (or, subject 
to paragraph 2 above, authenticated on the same Business Day that you receive this 
No-Issuance Notice). 



       

   

 
  
  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed and delivered this Notice as of the 
______ day of _______________, _____. 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. 

By:____________________________________ 
Name: ______________________________ 
Title: _______________________________ 

-2



 

 

  

 

  

 

        
          

   
    

         
         

  
  

         
       

         
          

                
         

       
 

        
         

        

            
          

        
       

           
 

           
        

         
          

 

EXHIBIT A 

REVOLVING NOTE 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT
 

COMMERCIAL PAPER NOTES
 

SERIES M
 

February 28, 2019 $113,993,151 

The Sacramento Municipal Utility District (“SMUD”), for value received, hereby promises 
to pay to the order of Bank of America, N.A. (the “Bank”), pursuant to that certain Reimbursement 
Agreement dated as of February 1, 2019 (the “Reimbursement Agreement”), between SMUD and 
the Bank and that certain Fee Letter dated February 26, 2019 (the “Fee Letter”), between SMUD 
and the Bank, at the office of the Bank at 211 N. Robinson Ave., OK1-100-02-30, Oklahoma City, 
Oklahoma 73102, the aggregate unpaid principal amount of all Obligations (as defined in the 
Reimbursement Agreement) pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement and the Fee Letter on the 
dates and in the amounts provided for in the Reimbursement Agreement and the Fee Letter. 

SMUD promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of all Drawings, Unpaid 
Drawings and Advances and all other Obligations owed to the Bank under the Reimbursement 
Agreement and the Fee Letter on the dates and at the rate or rates provided for in the 
Reimbursement Agreement and the Fee Letter. All payments of principal and interest shall be 
made in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at the time of payment is legal 
tender for public and private debts in immediately available funds. All capitalized terms used 
herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings specified in the Reimbursement 
Agreement. 

This Revolving Note is the Revolving Note referred to in the Reimbursement Agreement 
and is entitled to the benefits thereof and of the Program Documents referred to therein. As 
provided in the Reimbursement Agreement, this Revolving Note is subject to prepayment, in 
whole or in part, in accordance with the terms of the Reimbursement Agreement. 

The Bank agrees, by acceptance of this Revolving Note, that it will make a notation on the 
schedule attached hereto of all Drawings, Unpaid Drawing and Advances evidenced hereby and 
all principal payments and prepayments made hereunder and of the date to which interest hereon 
has been paid, all as provided in the Reimbursement Agreement; provided, however, that the 
failure to make any such notation shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligation of SMUD 
hereunder with respect to payments of principal of and interest on this Revolving Note. 

This Revolving Note is authorized by SMUD to be issued to provide funds to pay the 
principal amount of Notes theretofore issued to for the purposes set forth in the Note Resolution 
and for other authorized purposes. This Revolving Note is issued under and pursuant to and in full 
compliance with the Reimbursement Agreement providing for the issuance and sale and fixing the 
form and details of this Revolving Note. 



 

          
 

       
          

  

This Revolving Note is an obligation of SMUD secured by a lien on the Available 
Revenues as more fully described in Section 2.17 of the Reimbursement Agreement. 

It is hereby certified that all conditions, acts and things essential to the validity of this 
Revolving Note exist, have happened and have been done and that every requirement of law 
affecting the issuance hereof has been duly complied with. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank] 

-2



       
  

 

 
  
  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, SMUD has caused this Revolving Note to be executed by an 
authorized officer of SMUD and this Revolving Note to be dated as of date set forth above. 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By:_______________________________________ 
Name: _________________________________ 
Title: __________________________________ 



  

   

    

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

SCHEDULE FOR REVOLVING NOTE
 

DATED FEBRUARY 28, 2019 

BY SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT
 

PAYABLE TO BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. 


DATE 

AMOUNT OF 

DRAWING OR 

ADVANCE 

MADE 

AMOUNT OF 

PRINCIPAL 

PAID 

DATE TO 

WHICH 

INTEREST 

PAID DUE DATE 

NOTATION 

MADE BY 



 
 
 

 

 
      

 

         

Contract Renewal with Bank of America 
Amended and Restated Fee Letter dated February ___, 2022 



 

  
 

   
 

  

  

  

     
 

 
 

  
   

   
    

    
 

   

 

  

 

 
      

  

   

 

 
 

 

 

DRAFT 


AMENDED AND RESTATED FEE LETTER
	

DATED FEBRUARY ___, 2022 


Reference is hereby made to (i) that certain Reimbursement Agreement dated as of 
February 1, 2019 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time 
in accordance with the terms thereof, the “Agreement”), between the SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL 

UTILITY DISTRICT, a municipal utility district of the State of California (“SMUD”), and BANK OF 
AMERICA, N.A. (the “Bank”), relating to the Sacramento Municipal Utility District Commercial 
Paper Notes, Series M (the “Notes”), (ii) that certain Irrevocable Letter of Credit dated February 
28, 2019, issued by the Bank pursuant to the Agreement, supporting the Notes (as amended, 
restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms 
thereof, the “Letter of Credit”), and (iii) that certain Fee Letter dated February 28, 2019 (the 
“Existing Fee Letter”) between SMUD and the Bank. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined 
herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Agreement or the Letter of Credit, as applicable. 

SMUD has requested that the Bank make certain modifications to the Existing Fee Letter 
and, for the sake of clarity and convenience, the Bank and SMUD wish to amend and restate the 
Existing Fee Letter in its entirety, and this Amended and Restated Fee Letter (the “Fee Letter”) 
amends and restates the Existing Fee Letter in its entirety. The purpose of this Fee Letter (this 
“Fee Letter”) is to confirm the agreement between the Bank and SMUD with respect to, among 
other things, the Letter of Credit Fees (as defined below) and certain other fees payable to the 
Bank. This Fee Letter is the “Fee Letter” referenced in the Agreement and the terms hereof are 
incorporated by reference into the Agreement. 

ARTICLE I. FEES AND OTHER AGREEMENTS. 

Section 1.1. Letter of Credit Fees. SMUD hereby agrees to pay to the Bank on April 1, 
2022, for the period commencing on January 1, 2022 and ending on March 31, 2022, and 
quarterly in arrears on the first Business Day of each July, October, January and April (each, a 
“Quarterly Payment Date”) occurring prior to the Termination Date, and on the Termination 
Date, a non-refundable facility fee (the “Letter of Credit Fee”) in an amount equal to the rate per 
annum corresponding to the Rating, as specified below (the “Letter of Credit Fee Rate”), on the 
Stated Amount of the Letter of Credit (without regard to any reduction of the Stated Amount of 
the Letter of Credit subject to reinstatement) from time to time in effect for each day during each 
related period: 

(i) For the period commencing on January 1, 2022 to but not including February __, 2022, 
a rate per annum equal to: 

MOODY’S FITCH LETTER OF CREDIT 
LEVEL RATING S&P  RATING RATING FEE RATE 

Level 1 Aa3 or above AA- or above AA- or above 0.29% 
Level 2 A1 A+ A+ 0.39% 

8b 2 SMUD-BANA A&R Fee Letter (1).doc 
4219796 



   

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

   
  

 
 

    

 

  
 

   
 

    
  

  

MOODY’S FITCH LETTER OF CREDIT 
LEVEL RATING S&P  RATING RATING FEE RATE 

Level 3 A2 A A 0.49% 
Level 4 A3 A- A- 0.59% 
Level 5 Baa1 BBB+ BBB+ 0.69% 
Level 6 Baa2 BBB BBB 0.79% 
Level 7 Baa3 BBB- BBB- 0.89% 

(ii) For the period commencing on February ___, 2022 and at all times thereafter, a rate 
per annum equal to: 

MOODY’S FITCH LETTER OF CREDIT 
LEVEL RATING S&P  RATING RATING FEE RATE 

Level 1 Aa3 or above AA- or above AA- or above 0.27% 
Level 2 A1 A+ A+ 0.37% 
Level 3 A2 A A 0.47% 
Level 4 A3 A- A- 0.57% 
Level 5 Baa1 BBB+ BBB+ 0.67% 
Level 6 Baa2 BBB BBB 0.77% 
Level 7 Baa3 BBB- BBB- 0.87% 

The term “Rating” as used herein shall mean the long-term unenhanced debt rating 
assigned by Moody’s, Fitch and S&P to any Debt of SMUD secured by or payable from Net 
Revenues on a parity with Bonds and Parity Bonds. In the event of a split rating (i.e., the Rating 
of one of the Rating Agencies’ is different than the Rating of any of the other Rating Agencies), 
the Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall be based upon the Level in which the lowest of the two 
highest Ratings appears. In the event that less than three Rating Agencies then assign a long-
term unenhanced debt rating to Bonds and Parity Bonds, the Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall be 
based upon the Level in which the lower Rating appears. Any change in the Letter of Credit Fee 
Rate resulting from a change in a Rating shall be and become effective as of and on the date of 
the announcement of the change in such Rating. References to ratings levels above are 
references to rating categories as presently determined by the Rating Agencies and in the event 
of adoption of any new or changed rating system, including, without limitation, any recalibration 
or realignment of Rating in connection with the adoption of a “global” rating scale, the rating 
from the Rating Agency in question referred to above shall be deemed to refer to the rating 
category under the new rating system that most closely approximates the applicable rating 
category as currently in effect. In the event that a Rating is suspended or withdrawn (for the 
avoidance of doubt, a decision by SMUD to cause a Rating Agency to no longer maintain its 
Rating, for non-credit related reasons and not for the purpose of avoiding the occurrence of an 
event of default, shall not constitute a suspension or withdrawal of such Rating) from any Rating 

-2-




   

  
 

  

  

 

 
    

 

 

   
   

   

 

 
  

  
   

    
    

 

  

 
  

Agency or upon the occurrence of and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Letter 
of Credit Fee Rate shall increase to the sum of the Letter of Credit Fee Rate specified above for 
Level 7 above plus 1.50% per annum. The Letter of Credit Fees shall be payable as set forth 
above, together with interest on the Letter of Credit Fees from the date payment is due until 
payment in full at the Default Rate. For the avoidance of doubt, prior to February ___, 2022, the 
Letter of Credit Fees shall be determined in accordance with the Existing Fee Letter. 

Section 1.2. Annual Draw Fee. SMUD hereby agrees to pay to the Bank a non-
refundable draw fee of $2,000, which shall be paid annually in advance within thirty (30) days of 
receipt of an invoice from the Bank.

 Section 1.3. Amendment Fee. SMUD hereby agrees to pay to the Bank on the date of 
any amendment, modification or supplement to the Agreement, the Letter of Credit or this Fee 
Letter or in connection with any amendment to any Program Document which requires a waiver 
from, or the consent of, the Bank, a non-refundable amendment fee in an amount equal to 
$2,500, plus the reasonable fees of any legal counsel retained by the Bank in connection 
therewith. 

Section 1.4. Transfer Fee. SMUD hereby agrees to pay to the Bank on the date of each 
transfer of the Letter of Credit to a successor Depositary, a non-refundable transfer fee in an 
amount equal to $2,500, plus the reasonable fees and expenses of any legal counsel retained by 
the Bank in connection therewith. 

Section 1.5. Termination Fee; Reduction Fee.1 (a) SMUD hereby agrees to pay to the 
Bank a termination fee in connection with any termination or replacement of the Letter of Credit 
by SMUD prior to February ___, 2023, in an amount equal to the difference between (A) the 
product of (i) the Letter of Credit Fee Rate in effect on the date of such termination or 
replacement, (ii) the Stated Amount in effect as of the Closing Date and (iii) a fraction, the 
numerator of which is equal to the number of days from and including the date of such 
termination or replacement to and including February 28, 2020, and the denominator of which is 
360 and (B) any amount paid to the Bank pursuant to Section 1.5(b) hereof (the “Termination 
Fee”), payable on the date of such termination or replacement; provided, however, that no such 
Termination Fee shall be payable if (i) the short-term unenhanced ratings of the Bank are 
reduced below “P-1” (or its equivalent), “A-1” (or its equivalent) or “F1” (or its equivalent), by 
any two of Moody’s, S&P or Fitch, respectively; (ii) the Notes are refinanced in full from the 
proceeds of fixed rate long-term debt issuance or a source of funds which, in either case, does 
not involve the issuance by a bank or other financial institution of a letter of credit, liquidity 
facility, or credit facility or a direct purchase of such debt by a bank or other financial institution; 
or (iii) the Bank imposes on SMUD increased costs pursuant to Section 2.14 of the Agreement; 
provided that this clause (iii) shall not be construed to relieve SMUD of any of its obligations 
under Section 2.14 of the Agreement. 

Subject to review by the Bank.  

-3-


1 



   
 

 
  

 
  

  
  

     
  

 

 
   

 
   

  

 

    
 

   

   

     

    

    

       

    

 

     
     

 
 

     
 

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing and anything set forth herein or in the Agreement to 
the contrary, SMUD agrees not to permanently reduce the Stated Amount below the Stated 
Amount in effect as of the Closing Date prior to February ___, 2023, without the payment by 
SMUD to the Bank of a reduction fee in connection with each and every permanent reduction of 
the Stated Amount in an amount equal to the product of (i) the Letter of Credit Fee Rate in effect 
on the date of such reduction, (ii) the difference between the Stated Amount (without regard to 
any reduction of the Stated Amount subject to reinstatement) prior to such reduction and the 
Stated Amount (without regard to any reduction of the Stated Amount subject to reinstatement) 
after such reduction, and (iii) a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the number of days 
from and including the date of such reduction to and including February 28, 2020, and the 
denominator of which is 360 (the “Reduction Fee”) provided, that no such Reduction Fee shall 
be payable if the short-term unenhanced ratings of the Bank are reduced below “P-1” (or its  
equivalent), “A-1” (or its equivalent) or “F1” (or its equivalent), by any two of Moody’s, S&P 
or Fitch, respectively; provided, however, that no such Reduction Fee shall be payable if (i) the 
short-term unenhanced ratings of the Bank are reduced below “P-1” (or its equivalent), “A-1” 
(or its equivalent) or “F1” (or its equivalent), by any two of Moody’s, S&P or Fitch, 
respectively; (ii) the Notes are refinanced in full from the proceeds of fixed rate long-term debt 
issuance or a source of funds which, in either case, does not involve the issuance by a bank or 
other financial institution of a letter of credit, liquidity facility, or credit facility or a direct 
purchase of such debt by a bank or other financial institution; or (iii) the Bank imposes on 
SMUD increased costs pursuant to Section 2.14 of the Agreement; provided that this clause (iii) 
shall not be construed to relieve SMUD of any of its obligations under Section 2.14 of the 
Agreement. 

ARTICLE II. MISCELLANEOUS. 

Section 2.1. Amendments. No amendment to this Fee Letter shall become effective 
without the prior written consent of SMUD and the Bank. 

Section 2.2. Governing Law.  PURSUANT TO SECTION 5-1401 OF  THE NEW YORK 

GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW (OR ANY SUCCESSOR STATUTE THERETO), THIS FEE LETTER SHALL 
BE DEEMED TO BE A CONTRACT UNDER, AND SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND  

INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE  LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND APPLICABLE 

FEDERAL LAW; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE CAPACITY, POWER AND AUTHORITY OF SMUD TO 

ENTER INTO THIS FEE LETTER AND THE OBLIGATIONS OF SMUD HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED 
BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF 
CALIFORNIA AND APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW WITHOUT REGARD TO CHOICE OF LAW RULES. 

Section 2.3. Counterparts. This Fee Letter may be executed in two or more 
counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original but both or all of which, when taken 
together, shall constitute but one instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature 
page of this Fee Letter by facsimile transmission or by e-mail with a pdf copy or other 
replicating image attached, will be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of 
this Fee Letter, and any printed or copied version of any signature page so delivered will have 
the same force and effect as an originally signed version of such signature page. 

-4-




   
 

 

      
      

 
   

  
 

 
 

 

 

Section 2.4. Severability. Any provision of this Fee Letter which is prohibited, 
unenforceable or not authorized in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to 
the extent of such prohibition, unenforceability or non-authorization without invalidating the 
remaining provisions hereof or affecting the validity, enforceability or legality of such provision 
in any other jurisdiction. 

Section 2.6. Amendment and Restatement. This Fee Letter amends and restates in its 
entirety the Existing Fee Letter but is not intended to be or operate as a novation or an accord 
and satisfaction of the Existing Fee Letter or the indebtedness, obligations and liabilities of 
SMUD evidenced or provided for thereunder. Reference to this specific Fee Letter need not be 
made in any agreement, document, instrument, letter or certificate, the Existing Fee Letter itself 
or any communication issued or made pursuant to or with respect to the Existing Fee Letter, any 
reference to the Existing Fee Letter being sufficient to refer to the Existing Fee Letter as 
amended and restated hereby, and more specifically, any and all references to the Fee Letter in 
the Agreement shall mean this Fee Letter. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW] 

-5-




  

 
   

 

 

 

  
  
 
 
 

 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Fee Letter to be duly executed 
and delivered by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first set forth 
above. 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By:______________________________________ 
Name:  Russell Mills 
Title:  Treasurer 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. 

By:______________________________________ 
Name:  Brent Riley 
Title:  Senior Vice President 

Signature Page to CP Fee Letter (Series M) 



 
 
 

 

 
      

 

          
          

            

Contract Renewal with Bank of America 
Draft First Supplemental Resolution (Supplemental to Resolution No. 19-02-02, Adopted
 

February 21, 2019) Authorizing the Increase of the Aggregate Principal Amount of 

Commercial Paper Notes, Series M that may be Outstanding From Time to Time
 



  
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  
 

 
  

  

DRAFT 


RESOLUTION NO. _____________ 


FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL RESOLUTION 

(SUPPLEMENTAL TO RESOLUTION NO. 19-02-02, 


ADOPTED FEBRUARY 21, 2019) 

AUTHORIZING THE INCREASE OF THE AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF 

COMMERCIAL PAPER NOTES, SERIES M THAT MAY BE OUTSTANDING FROM 


TIME TO TIME 


WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of SMUD adopted Resolution No. 19-02-02 (the 
“Original Resolution”) authorizing the issuance of SMUD’s Commercial Paper Notes, Series M 
in two subseries (collectively, the “Notes”) in an amount not to exceed $111,250,000 outstanding 
at any one time under (a) Articles 6a and 6b of Chapter 6 of the Municipal Utility District Act 
(California Public Utilities Code Section 12850 et seq.), (b) Chapter 7.5 of the Municipal Utility 
District Act (California Public Utilities Code Section 13371 et seq.) and (c) Article 11 of Chapter 
3 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the California Government Code (California Government 
Code Section 53580 et seq.); 

WHEREAS, SMUD has determined that it is in its best interests to authorize the increase 
of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes that may be outstanding at any one time under the 
Original Resolution to $150,000,000; 

WHEREAS, subject to the terms of the Reimbursement Agreement (as defined in the 
Original Resolution), Section 7.01 of the Original Resolution permits the modification or 
amendment of the Original Resolution to increase the principal amount of Notes that may be 
issued thereunder without notice to or the consent of any Noteholder (as defined in the Original 
Resolution); 

WHEREAS, SMUD has determined to modify and amend the Original Resolution as set 
forth in this First Supplemental Resolution to provide for the increase in the principal amount of 
the Notes that may be issued under the Original Resolution; 

WHEREAS, no Notes are currently outstanding under the Original Resolution and 
SMUD has determined to make certain additional modifications and amendments to the Original 
Resolution as set forth in this First Supplemental Resolution, subject to the terms of the 
Reimbursement Agreement; 

WHEREAS, the amendments set forth in this First Supplemental Resolution will not go 
into effect until any conditions precedent to the effectiveness of such amendments set forth in the 
Reimbursement Agreement have been satisfied; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Sacramento 
Municipal Utility District, as follows: 

OHSWEST:261393686.5 



  
 

 
 

 

   

 
 

   

  
  

 

 
  

 

  

 
 

 

 

  
  

  
   

    
 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.01. Definitions. Unless the context otherwise requires, all capitalized terms 
used in this First Supplemental Resolution and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings 
given thereto in the Original Resolution. 

ARTICLE II 

AMENDMENTS TO ORIGINAL RESOLUTION 

Section 2.01. Authorization. The increase of the aggregate principal amount of the 
Notes that may be outstanding under the Original Resolution to $150,000,000 is hereby 
authorized. Section 2.01 of the Original Resolution is hereby amended to read in full as follows: 

“Section 2.01. Authorization. The Notes (consisting, collectively, of the 
Subseries M-1 Notes and the Subseries M-2 Notes) may be issued in an unlimited 
aggregate principal amount so long as the aggregate principal amount of the Notes 
outstanding at any one time plus the interest on such outstanding Notes payable at the 
maturity thereof does not exceed the Stated Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit), 
as reduced and reinstated from time to time as provided in the Letter of Credit, and the 
outstanding aggregate principal amount of the Notes does not exceed $150,000,000.  
Subject to the immediately preceding sentence and the other conditions set forth in this 
Resolution, the Notes may be issued as either Subseries M-1 Notes or Subseries M-2 
Notes as determined by the Authorized Officer authorizing the issuance of Notes 
pursuant to Section 2.02 hereof.” 

Section 2.02. Amendment of Section 1.01 of the Original Resolution. The definition of 
“Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreement” set forth in Section 1.01 of the Original Resolution is 
hereby amended to read in full as follows: 

‘“Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreement” means any credit 
enhancement agreement or similar agreement or any credit agreement or other 
arrangement which may be entered into by SMUD with respect to a series of Parity Notes 
issued by SMUD and designated by SMUD as such in connection with the issuance of 
such series of Parity Notes.’ 

ARTICLE III 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 3.01. Additional Actions. The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, 
any Member of the Executive Committee, the Treasurer, the Secretary or the Chief Financial 
Officer and the other officers of SMUD are hereby authorized and directed, jointly and severally, 
to do any and all things and to execute and deliver any and all documents (including but not 
limited to reimbursement agreements, fee letters, depositary agreements, tax certificates, dealer 
agreements, commercial paper memoranda and/or amendments to any of the foregoing) which 

OHSWEST:261393686.5 2 



  
 

 

   
 

  

they may deem necessary or advisable in order to effectuate the purposes of this First 
Supplemental Resolution. 

Section 3.02. Effect of First Supplemental Resolution. The amendments to the Original 
Resolution set forth in this First Supplemental Resolution will not go into effect until any 
conditions precedent to the effectiveness of such amendments set forth in the Reimbursement 
Agreement have been satisfied. The Original Resolution is hereby ratified and confirmed and 
shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with the terms and provisions thereof, as 
modified and amended by this First Supplemental Resolution. 

OHSWEST:261393686.5 3 



8c
 



   
  

   

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 

  

 

   

    
        

  

 
  

   
     

   
   

   
  

   
  

  
    

 
  

   

    

   

    

 

  

  

 
 

 

  
  

 
 

   

SSS No. BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
STAFFING SUMMARY SHEET 

Committee Meeting & Date 

TR22-002 
Finance & Audit - 02/15/22 
Board Meeting Date 
February 17, 2022 

TO TO 

1. Jennifer Davidson 6. 

2. Gary King 7. 

3. Lora Anguay 8. 

4. Scott Martin 9. Legal 

5. 10. CEO & General Manager 

Consent Calendar Yes X No If no, schedule a dry run presentation. Budgeted X Yes No (If no, explain in Cost/Budgeted   
section.) 

FROM (IPR) DEPARTMENT MAIL STOP EXT. DATE SENT 

Russell Mills Treasury B355 6509 01/13/2022 
NARRATIVE: 
Requested Action: Authorize the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager to negotiate and execute: 

a. A three-and-one-half-year contract renewal and expansion to $150,000,000 with Barclays Bank 
(Barclays) for a Letter of Credit (Barclays LOC) that supports the outstanding Commercial Paper 
Series L, with terms substantially similar to the attached term sheet. 

b. A three-year contract renewal and expansion to $150,000,000 with Bank of America, N.A. (BAML) 
for a Letter of Credit (BAML LOC) that supports the outstanding Commercial Paper Series M, 
with terms substantially similar to the attached term sheet. 

c. A four-year contract with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (Wells Fargo) for a new Line of Credit (Line) 
that supports a new $100,000,000 Line of Credit Series N, with terms substantially similar to the 
attached term sheet. 

Summary: SMUD currently has a $400 million commercial paper program expiring soon which provides a funding 
mechanism for SMUD’s capital program, and a source of liquidity, without the long lead time needed for a 
bond issuance. These contracts restructure and extend that program. Series L and Series M are credit 
enhancements necessary for the commercial paper program investors. Series N is a direct lending contract 
that allows SMUD to borrow funds directly from Wells Fargo. With the Series L and Series M renewals and 
expansions, and the new Series N contract, SMUD was able to maintain a $400,000,000 short-term 
borrowing portfolio, lower overall program fees, and portfolio diversification.  

Board Policy: 
(Number & Title) 

Strategic Direction SD-3, Access to Credit Markets. 

Benefits: The line of credit and letters of credit provide liquidity and funding to support SMUD’s capital program.  

Cost/Budgeted: Fees and expenses are estimated to be $3.40 million over the life of the contracts and are included in budget 
forecasts. 

Alternatives: Issue fixed rate debt/bonds at a higher borrowing cost and with a longer lead time. 

Affected Parties: Treasury, Legal 

Coordination: Treasury, Legal 

Presenter: Russell Mills, Director of Risk Management & Treasurer 

Additional Links: 

SUBJECT 
Letter of Credit (LOC) Renewal for Three Contracts 

ITEM NO. (FOR LEGAL USE ONLY) 

8c 
ITEMS SUBMITTED AFTER DEADLINE WILL BE POSTPONED UNTIL NEXT MEETING. 

SMUD-1516 1/16 Forms Management            Page  0  



 
 
 

 

 
     

 
           

         

Contract with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 
Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of February 1, 2022, between Sacramento
 

Municipal Utility District and Wells Fargo Bank, National Bank
 



 

 

  

 

 

  

 
 

 
 

DRAFT 


REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 

dated as of February 1, 2022, 

between 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

and 

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 

relating to: 

$100,000,000 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT, 


TAXABLE AND TAX-EXEMPT REVOLVING NOTES 


(WELLS FARGO REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT) 


8c 1 SMUD Revolving Credit Agreement (2021) 4865-1162-4198 v12.docx 
4372967 



 

  

 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 

  

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

   

REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 

(This Table of Contents is not a part of this 
Revolving Credit Agreement and is only 

for convenience of reference) 

SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

Parties...............................................................................................................................................1
	

ARTICLE ONE  DEFINITIONS .................................................................................................1
	

Section 1.1. Definitions........................................................................................................1
	
Section 1.2. Incorporation of Certain Definitions by Reference .......................................17
	
Section 1.3. Accounting Terms and Determinations .........................................................17
	
Section 1.4. Interpretation ..................................................................................................17
	
Section 1.5. Rates ...............................................................................................................17
	

ARTICLE TWO  THE CREDIT ................................................................................................18
	

Section 2.1. Commitment to Lend .....................................................................................18
	
Section 2.2. Method of Borrowing, Continuing or Converting Loans; 


Section 2.14. Payment Due on Non-Business Day to Be Made on Next 


Account to Which Proceeds of Loans to Be Credited ............................18
	
Section 2.3. Maturity of Loans and Term Loans ...............................................................20
	
Section 2.4. Interest Rates ..................................................................................................20
	
Section 2.5. Fees ................................................................................................................22
	
Section 2.6. The Revolving Notes .....................................................................................22
	
Section 2.7. Optional Termination or Reduction of Commitment.....................................23
	
Section 2.8. Mandatory Termination or Reduction of Commitment .................................23
	
Section 2.9. Optional Prepayments ....................................................................................23
	
Section 2.10. General Provisions as to Payments ................................................................23
	
Section 2.11. Computation of Interest and Fees ..................................................................23
	
Section 2.12. Benchmark Replacement ...............................................................................23
	
Section 2.13. Determination of Taxability...........................................................................25
	

Business Day...........................................................................................25
	
Section 2.15. Default Rate ...................................................................................................25
	
Section 2.16. Net of Taxes, Etc. ...........................................................................................26
	
Section 2.17. Increased Costs ..............................................................................................27
	
Section 2.18. Margin Regulations ........................................................................................29
	
Section 2.19. Maximum Rate; Payment of Fee ...................................................................29
	
Section 2.20. Security for Obligations .................................................................................29
	
Section 2.21. Method of Payment; Etc. ...............................................................................29
	
Section 2.22. The Term Loans .............................................................................................30
	

ARTICLE THREE  CONDITIONS PRECEDENT ............................................................................30
	

Section 3.1. Conditions Precedent to the effectiveness of this Agreement .......................30
	

-i-




 

 
 
 

  

 

  

 

  

 
 

  

 
 

   
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 3.2. Borrowings During the Revolving Credit Period ..........................................32
	
Section 3.3. Each Tax-Exempt Loan Borrowing ...............................................................33
	
Section 3.4. No Rating; DTC; Offering Document ...........................................................33
	

ARTICLE FOUR  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES........................................................33
	

Section 4.1. Representations of SMUD .............................................................................33
	

ARTICLE FIVE  COVENANTS................................................................................................38
	

Section 5.1. Covenants of SMUD ......................................................................................38
	

ARTICLE SIX  DEFAULTS...................................................................................................45
	

Section 6.1. Events of Default and Remedies ....................................................................45
	
Section 6.2. Remedies ........................................................................................................48
	

ARTICLE SEVEN  MISCELLANEOUS ........................................................................................48
	

Section 7.1. Amendments, Waivers, Etc. ...........................................................................48
	
Section 7.2. Notices. ..........................................................................................................49
	
Section 7.3. Survival of Covenants; Successors and Assigns ............................................49
	
Section 7.4. Unconditional Obligations. ............................................................................51
	
Section 7.5 Liability of Bank; Indemnification ................................................................52
	
Section 7.6. Expenses. .......................................................................................................54
	
Section 7.7. No Waiver; Conflict. ......................................................................................54
	
Section 7.8. Modification, Amendment, Waiver, Etc. .......................................................54
	
Section 7.9. Dealing with SMUD. .....................................................................................54
	
Section 7.10. Severability. ...................................................................................................54
	
Section 7.11. Counterparts. ..................................................................................................55
	
Section 7.12. Table of Contents; Headings. .........................................................................55
	
Section 7.13. Entire Agreement ...........................................................................................55
	
Section 7.14. Governing Law ..............................................................................................55
	
Section 7.15. Waiver of Jury Trial .......................................................................................55
	
Section 7.16 Right of Setoff; Other Collateral....................................................................56
	
Section 7.17. USA Patriot Act .............................................................................................56
	
Section 7.18. Assignment to Federal Reserve Bank ............................................................57
	
Section 7.19. No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship .........................................................57
	
Section 7.20. EMMA Postings.............................................................................................57
	

Exhibit A — Form of Taxable Revolving Note 
Exhibit B — Form of Tax-Exempt Revolving Note 
Exhibit C — Form of Notice of Borrowing 
Exhibit D — Notice of Conversion 
Exhibit E — Form of Request for Extended Funded Period 

-ii-




 

 

  

   
 

    

   

  

 
 

  
 

 
   

  

    

 

 

 

  
 

  
   

 
  

REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 

This REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT dated as of February 1, 2022 (together with all 
amendments, supplements and other modifications hereto, this “Agreement”), between 
SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT, a municipal utility district of the State of California 
(together with its successors and assigns, “SMUD”) and WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL 

ASSOCIATION, a national banking association (together with its successors and assigns, the 
“Bank”). 

W ITNE  S S ET  H: 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority granted by the laws of the State of California, 
particularly Articles 6a and 6b of Chapter 6 of the Municipal Utility Act (California Public Utilities 
Code Section 12850 et seq.), Chapter 7.5 of the Municipal Utility District Act (California Public 
Utilities Code Section 13371 et seq.) and Article 11 of Chapter 3 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 
of the California Government Code (California Government Code Section 53.80 et seq.), and 
Resolution No. 22-02-__ (the “Note Resolution”) adopted by the Board of Directors of SMUD, 
on February [__], 2022, SMUD authorized the issuance of its Taxable Revolving Note (Wells 
Fargo Revolving Credit Agreement) and Tax-Exempt Note (Wells Fargo Revolving Credit 
Agreement) in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $100,000,000 outstanding at any one 
time; and 

WHEREAS, SMUD has requested the Bank to establish the Commitment and execute and 
deliver this Agreement and the Bank is prepared to establish the Commitment upon the terms and 
conditions stated in this Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the agreements set forth herein and in order to induce 
the Bank to establish the Commitment and execute and deliver this Agreement, the Bank and 
SMUD agree as follows: 

ARTICLE ONE 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1. Definitions. As used in this Agreement: 

“Act” means the Municipal Utility District Act, constituting Division 6 of the Public 
Utilities Code of the State of California, and all laws of the State of California amendatory thereof 
or supplemental thereto. 

“Affiliate” means, as to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, 
controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, such Person. A Person shall be 
deemed to be “controlled by” any other Person if such other Person possesses, directly or 
indirectly, power (a) to vote 10% or more of the securities (on a fully diluted basis) having ordinary 



 

 

 

 
   
  

  

   

  

 
 

      

 
   

 

    

voting power for the election of directors or managing general partners; or (b) to direct or cause 
the direction of the management and policies of such Person whether by contract or otherwise. 

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof. 

“Alternate Rate” means, for any day, in the case of Taxable Loans, the Prime Rate and in 
the case of Tax-Exempt Loans, the product of (i) the Prime Rate and (ii) eighty percent (80%). 

“Alternate Rate Loan” means any Loan bearing interest at a rate based upon the Alternate 
Rate as provided in Section 2.4(e) and/or 2.12 hereof. 

“Amortization End Date” means, with respect to any Term Loan, the earliest to occur of: 
(i) the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Facility Maturity Date, and (ii) the date on which the 
Commitment could have been permanently reduced to zero or this Agreement is otherwise 
terminated, including as a result of the occurrence of an Event of Default (provided, however, that 
the occurrence of a Rating Event at any time shall not result in an Amortization End Date). 

“Amortization Payment Date” means, with respect to each Term Loan, (a) the first 
Business Day to occur on or after the one hundred eightieth (180th) calendar day following the 
Facility Maturity Date and the first Business Day of each sixth (6th) calendar month occurring 
thereafter prior to the Amortization End Date and (b) the related Amortization End Date. 

“Authorized SMUD Representative” means the Chief Executive Officer and General 
Manager of SMUD, any Member of the Executive Committee of SMUD, the Chief Financial  
Officer of SMUD, the Treasurer of SMUD and/or the Secretary of SMUD. 

“Available Revenues” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Bank” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof. 

“Bank Affiliate” means the Bank and includes, without limitation, Wells Fargo Municipal 
Capital Strategies, LLC, Wells Fargo Securities (a trade name) and such other Affiliates of the 
Bank as agreed to by the Bank and SMUD. 

“Bank Transferee” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3 hereof. 

“Bank Agreement” means any credit agreement, direct purchase agreement, bond purchase 
agreement, liquidity agreement, standby bond purchase agreement, reimbursement agreement or 
other agreement or instrument (or any amendment, supplement or modification thereto) entered 
into by SMUD with any Person, directly or indirectly, or otherwise consented to by SMUD, under 
which any Person or Persons undertakes to directly purchase, make loans, extend credit or liquidity 
to SMUD in connection with any of SMUD’s Debt payable from or secured by a lien on Net 
Revenues senior to or on a parity with the Obligations. 

“Bank Rate” means the rate of interest per annum with respect to any Term Loan (i) for 
any day commencing on the date such Term Loan is made to and including the ninetieth (90th) 

-2-




 

   
   

      
      

  

 
 

 
  

 

  

 
  

        
  

  
 

  

  
  

  

 

   
 

  

day next succeeding the date such Term Loan is made, equal to the Base Rate from time to time 
in effect, and (ii) for any day commencing on the ninety-first (91st) day next succeeding the date 
such Term Loan is made and at all times thereafter, equal to the sum of the Base Rate from time 
to time in effect plus one percent (1.0%); provided, however, that immediately and automatically 
upon the occurrence of an Event of Default (and without any notice given with respect thereto) 
and during the continuance of such Event of Default, “Bank Rate” shall mean the Default Rate. 

“Bank-Related Persons” means the Bank, its Affiliates and the officers, directors, 
employees, agents and attorneys-in-fact of the Bank and Affiliates. 

“Base Rate” means, for any day, a fluctuating rate of interest per annum equal to the 
greatest of (i) the Prime Rate in effect at such time plus one percent (1.00%), (ii) the Federal Funds 
Rate in effect at such time plus two percent (2.00%) and (iii) seven percent (7.00%) 

“Benchmark” means, initially, Daily Simple SOFR; provided, however, that if a 
Benchmark Transition Event has occurred with respect to Daily Simple SOFR or the then-current 
Benchmark, then “Benchmark” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent that 
such Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior Benchmark pursuant to Section 2.12 hereof. 

“Benchmark Replacement” means with respect to any Benchmark Transition Event, the 
sum of: (a) the alternate benchmark rate that has been selected by the Bank giving due 
consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a replacement benchmark rate or the 
mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (ii) any evolving 
or then-prevailing market convention for determining a benchmark rate as a replacement to the 
then-current Benchmark for U.S. dollar-denominated syndicated or bilateral credit facilities and 
(b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment. Notwithstanding anything herein to the 
contrary, during any period of time while the Benchmark Replacement, determined as provided 
above, would be less than zero percent (0.0%), the Benchmark Replacement shall be deemed to 
be zero percent (0.0%). 

“Benchmark Replacement Adjustment” means, with respect to any replacement of the 
then-current Benchmark with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement, the spread adjustment, or 
method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or 
negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Bank giving due consideration to (i) any 
selection or recommendation by the Relevant Governmental Body at such time of a spread 
adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement 
of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement by the Relevant 
Governmental Body or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a 
spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the 
replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for U.S. 
dollar-denominated syndicated or bilateral credit facilities at such time. 

“Benchmark Replacement Date” means the earlier to occur of the following events with 
respect to the then-current Benchmark: 

-3-




 

  
      

  
 

 
 

   
  

  

  

 

      
 

   

  

 
 

 

 

 
 

   
 

 

 
  

 

(a) in the case of clause (a) or (b) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition 
Event,” the later of (i) the SOFR Determination Day occurring on or after the date of the 
public statement or publication of information referenced therein and  (ii) the SOFR  
Determination Day following the date on which the administrator of such Benchmark (or 
the published component used in the calculation thereof) permanently or indefinitely 
ceases to provide such Benchmark; 

(b) in the case of clause (c) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” 
the SOFR Determination Day occurring on  or after the first date  on which such 
Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) has been 
determined and announced by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or 
such component thereof) or the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such 
Benchmark (or such component thereof) to be non-representative or non-compliant with 
or non-aligned with the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) 
Principles for Financial Benchmarks; provided that such non-representativeness, non-
compliance or non-alignment will be determined by reference to the most recent statement 
or publication referenced in such clause (c) and even if such Benchmark (or such 
component thereof) continues to be provided on such date; or 

(c) in the case of clause (d) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” 
the SOFR Determination Day occurring on or after the first date that both (i) an alternate 
benchmark rate for purposes of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement” and (ii) a 
Benchmark Replacement Adjustment, have been selected by the Bank. 

“Benchmark Transition Event” means the occurrence of one or more of the following 
events with respect to the then-current Benchmark: 

(a) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the 
administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation 
thereof) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide such 
Benchmark (or such component thereof), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at 
the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will 
continue to provide such Benchmark (or such component thereof); 

(b) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory 
supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in 
the calculation thereof), the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the 
Federal Reserve Bank of New York, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the 
administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with 
jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component) or a court or 
an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for such 
Benchmark (or such component), which states that the administrator of such Benchmark 
(or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide such Benchmark (or such 
component thereof), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such 
statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide 
such Benchmark (or such component thereof); 

-4-




 

 
 

 

    

 
  

  
   

 

 
  

   
   

  
  

 
  

 

 

 

(c) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the 
administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation 
thereof) or the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the 
published component used in the calculation thereof), announcing that such Benchmark 
is not, or as of a specified future date will not be, representative or in compliance with or 
aligned with the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) 
Principles for Financial Benchmarks; or 

(d) the failure of the Benchmark Administrator to publish the Benchmark (or 
the published component used in the calculation thereof) for the applicable tenor for a 
continuous period of thirty (30) U.S. Government Securities Business Days 
(notwithstanding any temporary “last print” concept in the definition of “SOFR” or any 
analogous replacement definition), provided that, there is then no successor administrator 
that will continue to provide such Benchmark (or such component thereof). 

“Benchmark Transition Start Date” means, in the case of a related Benchmark Transition 
Event, the earlier of (a) the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date and (b) if such Benchmark 
Transition Event is a public statement or publication of information of a prospective event, the 90th 

day prior to the expected date of such event as of such public statement or publication of 
information (or if the expected date of such prospective event is fewer than 90 days after such 
statement or publication, the date of such statement or publication). 

“Benchmark Unavailability Period” means the period (if any) (x) beginning at the time 
that a Benchmark Replacement Date has occurred if, at such time, no Benchmark Replacement 
has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under each of the other 
Program Documents in accordance with Section 2.12 hereof and (y) ending at the time that a 
Benchmark Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes of establishing 
SOFR. 

“Bonds” has the meaning set forth in the Master Bond Resolution. 

“Borrowing” means the borrowing of a Loan, as requested in each Notice of Borrowing. 

“Business Day” means a day which is not (a) a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday on which 
banking institutions in Los Angeles, California or New York, New York are authorized by law to 
close, (b) a day on which the New York Stock Exchange or the Federal Reserve Bank is closed or 
(c) a day on which the principal offices of the Bank are closed.   

“Change in Law” means the occurrence, after the Closing Date, of any of the following:  
(a) the adoption or taking effect of any Law, rule, regulation or treaty, including, without limitation 
Risk-Based Capital Guidelines, (b) any change in any Law, rule, regulation or treaty or in the 
administration, interpretation, implementation or application thereof by any Governmental 
Authority or (c) the making or issuance of any request, rule, ruling, guideline, regulation or 
directive (whether or not having the force of law) by any Governmental Authority; provided that 
notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (i) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, rulings, guidelines, regulations or directives 

-5-




 

  
   

  

 

 

 

      
  

        

 
   

 

   
  

    
  

 
 

  
 

 

thereunder or issued in connection therewith and (ii) all requests, rules, rulings, guidelines, 
regulations or directives promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel 
Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States of 
America or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall in each case be 
deemed to be a “Change in Law,” regardless of the date enacted, adopted or issued. 

“Closing Date” means February __, 2022, subject to the satisfaction (or waiver by the 
Bank) of all of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3.1 hereof. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any successor statute 
thereto, and the regulations promulgated thereunder 

“Commitment” means the amount of $100,000,000, as such amount may be reduced from 
time to time or terminated pursuant to Sections 2.7, 2.8 and 6.2 hereof. 

“Commitment Fee” has the meaning set forth in the Fee Agreement. 

“Confidential Information” means any permitted redactable information regarding 
SMUD, the Bank or any Affiliate of the Bank including, without limitation, address and account 
information, e-mail addresses, telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, names and signatures of 
officers, employees and signatories. 

“Conforming Changes” means, with respect to either the use or administration of SOFR  
(other than a Loan for which the Benchmark is Daily Simple SOFR) or the use, administration, 
adoption or implementation of any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or 
operational changes (including, without limitation, changes to the definition of “U.S. Government 
Securities Business Day,” the definition of “Business Day,” the timing and frequency of 
determining rates and making payments of interest, the timing of borrowing requests or 
prepayment, conversion or continuation notices, the applicability and length of lookback periods 
and other technical, administrative or operational matters) that the Bank decides may be 
appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of a Benchmark Replacement or to permit 
the use and administration of SOFR (other than a Loan for which the Benchmark is Daily Simple 
SOFR) or a Benchmark Replacement by the Bank in a manner substantially consistent with market 
practice (or, if the Bank decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not 
administratively feasible or if the Bank determines that no market practice for the administration 
of any such rate exists, in such other manner of administration as the Bank decides is reasonably 
necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement and the other Program 
Documents). 

“Credit Event of Default” means any of those Events of Default set forth in Sections 6.1(a), 
6.1(d), 6.1(e), 6.1(f), 6.1(g), 6.1(h), 6.1(i), 6.1(j), 6.1(k), 6.1(l), 6.1(m), 6.1(n), 6.1(o) and 6.1(p) 
hereof. 

“Daily Simple SOFR” means, for any day (a “SOFR Rate Day”), a rate per annum equal to 
the greater of (a) SOFR for the day (such day, a “SOFR Determination Day”) that is five (5) U.S. 
Government Securities Business Days prior to (i) if such SOFR Rate Day is a U.S. Government 

-6-




 

         
 

 
    

   
   

  

 
 

 
    

 
         

 
 

   
  

 
    

  

 
 

  

Securities  Business  Day, such  SOFR Rate  Day  or (ii) if  such SOFR  Rate Day is  not a U.S.  
Government Securities Business Day, the U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately 
preceding such SOFR Rate Day, in each case, as such SOFR is published by the SOFR 
Administrator on the SOFR Administrator’s Website; provided that if by 5:00 p.m. on the second 
(2nd) U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately following any SOFR Determination 
Day, SOFR in respect of such SOFR Determination Day has not been published on the SOFR 
Administrator’s Website and a Benchmark Replacement Date with respect to Daily Simple SOFR 
has not occurred, then SOFR for such SOFR Determination Day will be SOFR as published in 
respect of the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which such SOFR was 
published on the SOFR Administrator’s Website; provided further that SOFR as determined 
pursuant to this proviso shall be utilized for purposes of calculation of Daily Simple SOFR for no 
more than three (3) consecutive SOFR Rate Days and (b) zero percent (0.0%).  Any change 
in Daily Simple SOFR due to a change in SOFR shall be effective from and including the effective 
date of such change in SOFR without notice to SMUD. 

“Debt” means for any Person (without duplication) (i) all indebtedness created, assumed 
or incurred in any manner by such Person representing money borrowed (including by the issuance 
of debt securities), (ii) all obligations of such Person for the deferred purchase price of property or 
services (other than trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of business), (iii) all 
obligations secured by any Lien upon property of such Person, whether or not such Person has 
assumed or become liable for the payment of such obligations (other than collateralized 
commodity swaps the obligations under which are either (a) not secured by a Lien on Net Revenues 
or (b) secured by a Lien on Net Revenues subordinate to the Obligations), (iv) all obligations of 
such Person as lessee under finance leases (as determined under Financial Accounting Standards 
Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842, Leases, or any successor guidance) shown 
on the liabilities side of the balance sheet of such Person, (v) all obligations of such Person on or 
with respect to letters of credit, banker’s acceptances and other evidences of indebtedness 
representing extensions of credit whether or not representing obligations for borrowed money, 
(vi) certificates of participation evidencing an undivided ownership interest in payments made by 
such Person (A) as lessee under any lease of property which in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles would be required to be capitalized on the balance sheet of such Person, 
(B) as purchaser under an installment sale agreement or (C) otherwise as an obligor in connection 
therewith, and (vii) all Debt of any other Person of the kind referred to in clauses (i) through (vi) 
above which is guaranteed (regardless of form) directly or indirectly in any manner by such Person. 

“Default” means any condition or event which with the giving of notice or lapse of time 
or both would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default. 

“Default Rate” means a per annum rate of interest equal to the sum of the Base Rate from 
time to time in effect plus three percent (3.00%). 

“Designated Jurisdiction” means any country or territory to the extent that such country 
or territory itself is the subject of any Sanction. 

“Determination of Taxability” means and shall be deemed to have occurred on the first to 
occur of the following: 

-7-




 

 
   

 
  

  
  

 
 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
    

   
  

(i) on the date on which SMUD files any statement, supplemental statement or 
other tax schedule, return or document which discloses that an Event of Taxability shall 
have in fact occurred; 

(ii) the date on which the Bank or any Noteholder or former Noteholder notifies 
SMUD that it has received a written opinion by a nationally recognized firm of attorneys 
of substantial expertise on the subject of tax-exempt municipal finance to the effect that an 
Event of Taxability shall have occurred unless, within one hundred eighty (180) days after 
receipt by SMUD of such notification from the Bank or such Noteholder or any former 
Noteholder, SMUD shall deliver to the Bank, the Noteholder and any former Noteholder a 
ruling or determination letter issued to or on behalf of SMUD by the Commissioner of the 
Internal Revenue Service or the Director of Tax-Exempt Bonds of the Tax-Exempt and 
Government Entities Division of the Internal Revenue Service (or any other government 
official exercising the same or a substantially similar function from time to time, including 
an employee subordinate to one of these officers who has been authorized to provide such 
ruling or determination letter) or a written opinion of its Note Counsel to the effect that, 
after taking into consideration such facts as form the basis for the opinion that an Event of 
Taxability has occurred, an Event of Taxability shall not have occurred; 

(iii) the date on which SMUD shall be advised in writing by the Commissioner 
of the Internal Revenue Service or the Director of Tax-Exempt Bonds of the Tax-Exempt 
and Government Entities Division of the Internal Revenue Service (or any other 
government official exercising the same or a substantially similar function from time to 
time, including an employee subordinate to one of these officers who has been authorized 
to provide such advice) that, based upon filings of SMUD, or upon any review or audit of 
SMUD or upon any other ground whatsoever, an Event of Taxability shall have occurred; 
or 

(iv) the date on which SMUD shall receive notice from the Noteholder or any 
former Noteholder that the Internal Revenue Service (or any other government official or 
agency exercising the same or a substantially similar function from time to time) has 
assessed as includable in the gross income of the Bank, such Noteholder or such former 
Noteholder the interest on the Tax-Exempt Note or Tax-Exempt Loan due to the occurrence 
of an Event of Taxability; 

provided, however, no Determination of Taxability shall occur under subparagraph (iii) or (iv) 
hereunder unless SMUD has been afforded the opportunity, at its expense, to contest any such 
assessment or opinion, and, further, no Determination of Taxability shall occur until such contest, 
if made, has been finally determined; provided further, however, that upon demand from the Bank, 
such Noteholder or former Noteholder, SMUD shall promptly reimburse, the Bank, such 
Noteholder or former Noteholder for any payments, including any taxes, interest, penalties or other 
charges, the Bank, such Noteholder or former Noteholder shall be obligated to make as a result of 
the Determination of Taxability. 

“Dollars” and the sign “$” means lawful money of the United States of America. 

-8-




 

 
 

 
  

 

 
 

  
 

 
 

   

 

 
   

 

   
 
 

  

“Electric System” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or 
any successor statute thereto. 

“Event of Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1 hereof. 

“Event of Taxability” means a (i) change in Law or fact or the interpretation thereof, or the 
occurrence or existence of any fact, event or circumstance (including, without limitation, the taking 
of any action by SMUD, or the failure to take any action by SMUD, or the making by SMUD of 
any misrepresentation herein or in any certificate given in connection with the Tax-Exempt Note 
or Tax-Exempt Loans) which has the effect of causing interest paid or payable on any Tax-Exempt 
Note or any Tax-Exempt Loan to become includable in the gross income of the Bank, the 
Noteholder or any former Noteholder for federal income tax purposes or (ii) the entry of any decree 
or judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction, or the taking of any official action by the Internal 
Revenue Service or SMUD of the Treasury, which decree, judgment or action shall be final under 
applicable procedural law, in either case, which has the effect of causing interest paid or payable 
on any Tax-Exempt Note or any Tax-Exempt Loan to become includable in the gross income of 
the Bank, the Noteholder or any former Noteholder for federal income tax purposes with respect 
to any Tax-Exempt Note or any Tax-Exempt Loan. 

“Excess Interest” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.19 hereof. 

“Excluded Taxes” means, with respect to the Bank or any Participant, (a) taxes imposed 
on or measured by its overall net income (however denominated), and franchise taxes imposed on 
it (in lieu of net income taxes), by the jurisdiction (or any political subdivision thereof) under the 
laws of which the Bank or such Participant is organized or in which its principal office is located, 
and (b) any branch profits taxes imposed by the United States of America or any similar tax 
imposed by any other jurisdiction in which SMUD is located. 

“Facility Maturity Date” means February [__], 2026, or, if such day is not a Business Day, 
the next preceding Business Day. 

“Favorable Opinion of Note Counsel” means a written opinion of Note Counsel, addressed 
to SMUD and the Bank to the effect that the new Benchmark Replacement will not adversely affect 
the exclusion from gross income of interest on the Tax-Exempt Loans or the Tax-Exempt Note for 
federal income tax purposes. 

“Federal Funds Rate” means, for any day, the rate per annum equal to the weighted 
average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve 
System arranged by Federal funds brokers on such day, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank 
of New York on the Business Day next succeeding such day; provided that: (a) if such day is not 
a Business Day, then the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions 
on the next preceding Business Day as so published on the next succeeding Business Day; and 
(b) if no such rate is so published on such next succeeding Business Day, then the Federal Funds 
Rate for such day shall be the average rate (rounded upward, if necessary, to a whole multiple of 

-9-




 

 
 

  

  

 
   

 

  

 

 
 

   

 
  

  

 
 

  

one-hundredth of one percent) charged to the Bank on such day on such transactions as determined 
by the Bank. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if the Federal Funds Rate as 
determined as provided above would be less than zero percent (0.0%), then the Federal Funds Rate 
shall be deemed to be zero percent (0.0%). 

“Fee Agreement” means that certain Fee Agreement, dated the Closing Date, between 
SMUD and the Bank, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time 
by written instrument executed by the Bank and SMUD, the terms of which are incorporated herein 
by reference. 

“Fiscal Year” means the twelve-month period commencing on January 1 of each year and 
ending on December 31 of the same calendar year or such other twelve-month period as SMUD 
may from time to time determine as it Fiscal Year. 

“Fitch” means Fitch Ratings, Inc. and its successors, and if such Person shall for any 
reason no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Fitch” shall be deemed to 
refer to any nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by SMUD that is acceptable 
to the Bank in its sole discretion. 

“Government Acts” means any act or omission to act, whether rightful or wrongful, of any 
present or future de jure or de facto government or Governmental Authority. 

“Governmental Authority” means the government of the United States or any other nation, 
or of any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, 
instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, 
legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to 
government (including, without limitation, the Financial Conduct Authority, the Prudential 
Regulation Authority and any supra-national bodies such as the European Union or the European 
Central Bank); provided, however, that, for the purposes of Sections 2.16 and 2.17 hereof only, 
“Governmental Authority” means the government of the United States of America or any other 
nation or any political subdivision thereof or any governmental or quasi-governmental entity, 
including any court, department, commission, board, bureau, agency, administration, central bank, 
service, district or other instrumentality of any governmental entity or other entity exercising 
executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory, fiscal, monetary or administrative powers or 
functions of or pertaining to government (including any supra-national bodies such as the 
European Union or European Central Bank), or any arbitrator, mediator or other Person with 
authority to bind a party at law. 

“Indemnified Taxes” means Taxes other than Excluded Taxes. 

“Interest Payment Date” means with respect to each Loan and each Term Loan, the tenth 
(10th) calendar day of each calendar month (with the first Interest Payment Date being March 10, 
2022), the Facility Maturity Date and such earlier date on which all Loans and Term Loans are 
required to be paid in full in accordance with the terms hereof or, if applicable, on the Amortization 
End Date. 

-10-




 

  
 

    
  

 

 

 
  

  

 

   
 

 

     

 

  
   

  

 

 

“Laws” means, collectively, all international, foreign, federal, state and local statutes, 
treaties, rules, guidelines, regulations, ordinances, codes and administrative or judicial precedents 
or authorities, including the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental 
Authority charged with the enforcement, interpretation or administration thereof, and all applicable 
administrative orders, directed duties, requests, licenses, authorizations and permits of, and 
agreements with, any Governmental Authority, in each case whether or not having the force of 
law. 

“Lien” means, with respect to any property, tangible or intangible, real or personal, any 
mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest or other encumbrance of any kind in respect of 
such property. 

“Loan” means a Loan to be made by the Bank in accordance with the applicable Notice of 
Borrowing. The term “Loan” means, individually, a Taxable Loan or a Tax-Exempt Loan and 
“Loans” means Taxable Loans or Tax-Exempt Loans, or a combination thereof, as applicable. 

“Majority Noteholder” means the Noteholders with a majority of the aggregate ownership 
interest in Loans and Term Loans evidenced by the Taxable Note and Tax-Exempt Note from time 
to time. As of the Closing Date, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, is the Majority 
Noteholder. 

“Master Bond Resolution” means Resolution No. 6649 of SMUD, adopted on January 7, 
1971, and amended and supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof. 

“Material Adverse Effect” or  “Material Adverse Change” means (a) with respect to 
SMUD, a material adverse effect upon SMUD’s business, assets, liabilities, financial condition, 
results of operations or business prospects, and (b) with respect to SMUD’s obligations under this 
Agreement, the Fee Agreement or any other SMUD Program Document, a material adverse effect 
upon (i) the binding nature, validity or enforceability of SMUD’s obligations hereunder or 
thereunder, (ii) SMUD’s ability to perform its obligations hereunder or thereunder or (iii) the 
rights, security or interests of the Bank. 

“Maximum Federal Corporate Tax Rate” means, on any given day, the maximum rate of 
income taxation imposed on corporations pursuant to Section 11(b) of the Code, as in effect as of 
such day (or, if as a result of a change in the Code, the rate of income taxation imposed on 
corporations generally shall not be applicable to the Bank, the maximum statutory rate of federal 
income taxation which could apply to the Bank). 

“Maximum Interest Rate” means the maximum interest rate on the Revolving Notes as 
provided in the Note Resolution, which initially shall be 12% per annum. 

“Maximum Rate” means the maximum non-usurious lawful rate of interest permitted by 
applicable law. 

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service and its successors, and if such Person shall 
for any reason no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Moody’s” shall be 

-11-




 

 

 
 

 

   
 

  

 

 

  
 

 
 

    
    

    
 

deemed to refer to any nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by SMUD that is 
acceptable to the Bank in its sole discretion. 

“Net Revenues” has the meaning set forth in the Master Bond Resolution. 

“Net Subordinated Revenues” has the meaning set forth in the Subordinated Bond 
Resolution. 

“Non-Bank Transferee” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(c) hereof. 

“Non-Credit Event of Default” means those Events of Default set forth in Sections 6.1(b) 
and 6.1(c) hereof 

“Noteholder” means the Bank and each Bank Transferee or Non-Bank Transferee pursuant 
to the terms hereof so long as such Bank Transferee or Non-Bank Transferee owns an interest in 
the Taxable Note or the Tax-Exempt Note, as applicable, and shall include any holder of Term 
Loans. 

“Note Counsel” means Orrick Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, or any other firm of attorneys 
nationally recognized on the subject of tax-exempt municipal finance selected by SMUD. 

“Note Resolution” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof. 

“Notice of Borrowing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a)(i) hereof. 

“Notice of Conversion” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a)(ii) hereof 

“Obligations” means the Loans and Term Loans (which includes amounts owing to the 
Bank evidenced by and payable under the Revolving Notes), the Commitment Fees and all other 
obligations of SMUD to the Bank arising under or in relation to this Agreement, the Fee Agreement 
or any of the other Program Documents (including any amounts to reimburse the Bank for any 
advances or expenditures by it under any of such documents). 

“Optional Termination Event” means (i) a consolidation or merger of SMUD or the 
Electric System into another entity whereby either (a) as a result of such consolidation or merger, 
SMUD or the Electric System is not the surviving entity or (b) such consolidation or merger could 
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, or (ii) the failure of SMUD to 
comply with generally accepted accounting principles applicable to governmental entities and such 
failure shall continue for a period of forty-five (45) consecutive days after SMUD has actual 
knowledge of such failure. 

“Parity Bonds” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Parity Notes” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

-12-




 

 
 

 
 

    
   

  
    

    
 

   

   
  

 

 

  
 

 

   

“Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Note 
Resolution. 

“Parity Subordinated Debt” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Participant” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(b) hereof.  

“Participation” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(b) hereof. 

“Payment Account” means ____________, or such other account as the Bank may 
designate from time to time. 

“Person” means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a limited 
liability company, an association, a joint venture, a trust, an unincorporated organization or any 
other entity or organization, including a government or political subdivision or any agency or 
instrumentality thereof. 

“Plan” means a pension plan providing benefits for employees of any Person. 

“Prime Rate” means on any day, the rate of interest per annum then most recently 
established by the Bank as its “prime rate.” Any such rate is a general reference rate of interest, 
may not be related to any other rate, and may not be the lowest or best rate actually charged by the 
Bank to any customer or a favored rate and may not correspond with future increases or decreases 
in interest rates charged by other lenders or market rates in general, and that the Bank may make 
various business or other loans at rates of interest having no relationship to such rate.  If the Bank 
ceases to establish or publish a prime rate from which the Prime Rate is then determined, the 
applicable variable rate from which the Prime Rate is determined thereafter shall be instead the 
prime rate reported in The Wall Street Journal (or the average prime rate if a high and a low prime 
rate are therein reported), and the Prime Rate shall change without notice with each change in such 
prime rate as of the date such change is reported. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, 
if the Prime Rate determined as provided above would be less than zero percent (0.0%), then the 
Prime Rate shall be deemed to be zero percent (0.0%). 

“Program Documents” means this Agreement, the Revolving Notes, the Fee Agreement, 
the Note Resolution and any documents related thereto. 

“Property” means any interest in any kind of property or asset, whether real, personal or 
mixed, or tangible or intangible, whether now owned or hereafter acquired. 

“Rating” means, with respect to any Rating Agency, the lowest rating assigned by such 
Rating Agency to any senior lien, long-term Bonds (without regard to bond insurance or any other 
form of credit enhancement) of SMUD. 

“Rating Agency” and “Rating Agencies” means, individually or collectively, as 
applicable, Moody’s, S&P and Fitch. 

-13-




 

   

 

 

  

 
   

 

  

  

   

  
  

 
 

 

     
 

 

“Rating Event” means the occurrence of a downgrade by any Rating Agency of its 
long-term rating with respect to any senior lien, long-term Bonds (without regard to bond insurance 
or any other form of credit enhancement) of SMUD to a level below “Baa1” (or its equivalent) in 
the case of Moody’s, “BBB+” (or its equivalent) in the case of S&P or “BBB+” (or its equivalent) 
in the case of Fitch and such downgrade shall continue for a period of one hundred sixty (160) 
days. 

“Recipient” means the Bank, each Participant, each Noteholder and any other recipient of 
any payment to be made by or on account of any obligation of SMUD hereunder. 

“Relevant Governmental Body” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve 
System and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or 
convened by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and/or the Federal Reserve 
Bank of New York or any successor thereto. 

“Revenues” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Revolving Credit Period” means the period from and including the Closing Date to and 
including the Termination Date. 

“Revolving Notes” means the Taxable Note and the Tax-Exempt Note. 

“Risk-Based Capital Guidelines” means (a) the risk-based capital guidelines in effect in 
the United States of America, including transition rules, and (b) the corresponding capital 
regulations promulgated by regulatory authorities outside the United States of America including 
transition rules, and any amendment to such regulations. 

“Sanction” or  “Sanctions” means any economic or financial sanction administered or 
enforced by the United States Government (including, without limitation, those administered by 
the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC), the U.S. 
Department of State, the U.S. Department of Commerce, or through any existing or future statute 
or executive order. 

“S&P” means S&P Global Ratings, and its successors, and if such division shall for any 
reason no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “S&P” shall be deemed to 
refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by SMUD that is 
acceptable to the Bank in its sole discretion. 

“SMUD” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof. 

“SMUD Board” means the board of directors of SMUD. 

“SMUD Program Documents” means the Program Documents to which SMUD is a party 
(including, without limitation, the Note Resolution). 

-14-




 

 
 

 

  
 

  
 

 

 

   

 

   
 

   
  

 
  

“SOFR” means a rate equal to the secured overnight financing rate as administered by the 
SOFR Administrator. 

“SOFR Administrator” means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor 
administrator of the secured overnight financing rate). 

“SOFR Administrator’s Website” means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New 
York, currently at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source for the secured overnight 
financing rate identified as such by the SOFR Administrator from time to time. 

“SOFR Determination Day” has the meaning specified in the definition of “Daily Simple 
SOFR”. 

“SOFR Rate Day” has the meaning specified in the definition of “Daily Simple SOFR”. 

“State” means the State of California. 

“Subordinated Bond Resolution” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Subordinated Bonds” has the meaning set forth in the Note Resolution. 

“Swap Contract” means any and all interest rate swap transactions or any other similar 
interest rate hedging transactions that hedge the interest rate on securities or other obligations 
issued by or on behalf of SMUD (including any options to enter into any of the foregoing), whether 
or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to any master agreement. 

“Taxable Applicable Spread” has the meaning set forth in the Fee Agreement. 

“Taxable Daily SOFR Rate” means a per annum rate of interest equal to the sum of the 
Taxable Applicable Spread plus Daily Simple SOFR.  The Taxable Daily SOFR Rate shall be 
rounded upwards to the fifth decimal place.  Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of 
an Event of Default the Taxable Daily SOFR Rate shall equal the Default Rate. 

“Taxable Date” means the date on which interest on any Tax-Exempt Loan or Tax-Exempt 
Note is first includable in the gross income of any holder thereof (including, without limitation, 
the Bank) as a result of an Event of Taxability as such date is established pursuant to a 
Determination of Taxability. 

“Taxable Loan” means a Loan that is identified as a Taxable Loan in the Notice of  
Borrowing or Notice of Conversion, or a Term Loan that refunded one or more Loans which were 
Taxable Loans. 

“Taxable Note” means the Sacramento Municipal Utility District Taxable Revolving Note 
(Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Agreement), such note to be executed and delivered to the Bank 
on the Closing Date in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto with appropriate insertions, executed 

-15-


http:http://www.newyorkfed.org


 

 
  

 
 

   

 
 

   

  
  

 

 
 

 

  
 

 
  

 

 

     

and delivered by SMUD, as the same may be amended, modified, restated or supplemented from 
time to time by written instrument executed by the Bank and SMUD. 

“Taxable Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.13 hereof. 

“Taxable Rate” means, with respect to a Taxable Period, the product of (i) the interest rate 
on the applicable Tax-Exempt Loan or Tax-Exempt Note during such period and (ii) the quotient 
of (A) one divided by (B) one minus the then current Maximum Federal Corporate Tax Rate. 

“Tax-Exempt Applicable Spread” has the meaning set forth in the Fee Agreement. 

“Tax-Exempt Daily SOFR Rate” means a per annum rate of interest equal to sum of (a) the 
Tax-Exempt Applicable Spread plus (b) the product of (i) Daily Simple SOFR multiplied by 
(ii) 0.80. The Tax-Exempt Daily SOFR Rate shall be rounded upwards to the fifth decimal 
place. Upon the occurrence and during the occurrence of an Event of Default the Tax-Exempt 
Daily SOFR Rate shall equal the Default Rate. 

“Tax-Exempt Loan” means a Loan that is identified as a Tax-Exempt Loan in the Notice 
of Borrowing, or a Term Loan that refunded one or more Loans which were Tax-Exempt Loans. 

“Tax-Exempt Note” means the Sacramento Municipal Utility District Tax-Exempt 
Revolving Note (Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Agreement), dated the date the Closing Date, in 
the form of Exhibit B attached hereto with appropriate insertions, executed and delivered by 
SMUD, as the same may be amended, modified, restated or supplemented from time to time by 
written instrument executed by the Bank and SMUD. 

“Taxes” means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings 
(including backup withholding), assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental 
Authority, including any interest, fines, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto. 

“Term Loans” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.22(a) hereof. 

“Termination Date” means the Facility Maturity Date or, if earlier, the date on which the 
Commitment is terminated or permanently reduced to zero in accordance with the terms hereof. 

“U.S. Government Securities Business Day” means any day except for (i) a Saturday, (ii) 
a Sunday or (iii) a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association 
recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for 
purposes of trading in United States government securities; provided, that for purposes of notice 
requirements in Section 2.2, in each case, such day is also a Business Day. 

“Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement 
excluding the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment. 

“2020 Financial Statements” means the audited financial statements of SMUD for the 
Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2020. 

-16-




 

  

  
 

  

  
  

  
 

 

  

   

 
  

  
    

 
 

 
 

    

    
 

   

  
 

 
 

Section 1.2. Incorporation of Certain Definitions by Reference. Each capitalized term 
used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning provided therefor in the Note 
Resolution and, if not defined therein, in the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond 
Resolution, as applicable. 

Section 1.3. Accounting Terms and Determinations. All accounting terms not specifically 
defined herein shall be construed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Section 1.4. Interpretation. The following rules shall apply to the construction of this 
Agreement and the Fee Agreement unless the context requires otherwise: (a) the singular includes 
the plural, and the plural the singular; (b) words importing any gender include the other gender 
and the neuter gender; (c) references to statutes are to be construed as including all statutory 
provisions consolidating, and all regulations promulgated pursuant to, such statutes; (d) references 
to “writing” include printing, photocopy, typing, lithography and other means of reproducing 
words in a tangible visible form; (e) the words “including,” “includes” and “include” shall be 
deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation”; (f) references to the introductory 
paragraph, recitals, articles, sections (or clauses or subdivisions of sections), exhibits, appendices, 
annexes or schedules are to those of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated; (g) references to 
agreements and other contractual instruments shall be deemed to include all subsequent 
amendments and other modifications to such instruments, but only to the extent that such 
amendments and other modifications are permitted or not prohibited by the terms of this 
Agreement; (h) article and section headings in this Agreement are included herein for convenience 
of reference only and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement for any other purpose; and 
(i) unless otherwise indicated, references to Persons include their respective permitted successors 
and assigns. 

Section 1.5. Rates. The Bank does not warrant or accept any responsibility for, and shall 
not have any liability with respect to (a) the continuation of, administration of, submission of, 
calculation of or any other matter related to the Benchmark, any component definition thereof or 
rates  referred to  in the definitions thereof or  with respect to  any alternative, successor or 
replacement rate thereto (including any Benchmark Replacement), including whether the 
composition or characteristics of any such alternative, successor or replacement rate (including 
any Benchmark Replacement) will be similar to, or produce the same value or economic 
equivalence of, or have the same volume or liquidity as, the Benchmark, the Tax-Exempt Rate or 
the Taxable Rate or any other Benchmark, the Tax-Exempt Rate or the Taxable Rate prior to its 
discontinuance or unavailability, or (b) the effect, implementation or composition of any 
Conforming Changes. The Bank and its affiliates or other related entities may engage in 
transactions that affect the calculation of the Benchmark, the Tax-Exempt Rate or the Taxable 
Rate any alternative, successor or replacement rate (including any Benchmark Replacement) or 
any relevant adjustments thereto, in each case, in a manner adverse to SMUD. The Bank may 
select information sources or services in its reasonable discretion to ascertain the Benchmark, any 
component definition thereof or rates referred to in the definitions thereof, in each case pursuant 
to the terms of this Agreement, and shall have no liability to SMUD or any other person or entity 
for damages of any kind, including direct or indirect, special, punitive, incidental or consequential 
damages, costs, losses or expenses (whether in tort, contract or otherwise and whether at law or in 

-17-




 

 

 

 

 

   
 

 
    

 

  
  

 
 

 
  

    
  

    
       

 
     

 

     
 

  

 
 

equity), for any error or calculation of any such rate (or component thereof) provided by any such 
information source or service. 

ARTICLE TWO 

THE CREDIT 

Section 2.1. Commitment to Lend. 

 (a)  Loans. During the Revolving Credit Period, the Bank agrees, on the terms and 
conditions set forth in this Agreement, to make revolving loans to SMUD pursuant to this Section 
from time to time in amounts such that the aggregate principal amount of Loans by the Bank at 
any one time outstanding shall not exceed the amount of the Commitment. Within the foregoing 
limit and subject to the terms and conditions of Section 2.2 hereof, SMUD may borrow under this 
subsection (a), repay or, to the extent permitted by Section 2.9 hereof, prepay, the Loans and 
re-borrow at any time during the Revolving Credit Period under this subsection (a). 

(b) Extension of Revolving Credit Period. (i) No later than 90 days prior to the Facility 
Maturity Date, SMUD may request the Bank to extend the then current Facility Maturity Date for 
a period as agreed to by SMUD and the Bank. If the Bank, in its sole discretion, elects to extend 
the Facility Maturity Date then in effect, they shall deliver to SMUD within 30 days of receiving 
a request, a written notice of extension (herein referred to as a “Notice of Extension”) designating 
the date to which the Facility Maturity Date is being extended. Such extension of the Facility 
Maturity Date shall be effective, after receipt of such Notice of Extension, on the Business Day 
following the date of delivery of such Notice of Extension, and thereafter all references in this 
Agreement to the Facility Maturity Date shall be deemed to be references to the date designated 
as such in the most recent Notice of Extension delivered to SMUD. Any date to which the Facility 
Maturity Date has been extended in accordance with this Section 2.1(b) may be extended in like 
manner. If the Bank fails to provide SMUD with a Notice of Extension as provided hereinabove, 
the Bank shall be deemed not to have consented to SMUD’s request. The Bank shall use 
commercially reasonable efforts to promptly notify SMUD if it will not extend the Facility 
Maturity Date, but the Bank’s failure to do so shall be deemed a denial of the extension request. 

(ii) Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is understood and agreed that the foregoing 
provisions are intended for the convenience of the parties only and shall in no respect prohibit the 
parties from agreeing to extend the Revolving Credit Period under other circumstances or at other 
times. In the event the Revolving Credit Period is extended under any other circumstances, the 
Bank shall give prompt written notice thereof to SMUD. 

(iii) If the Revolving Credit Period is extended, whether pursuant to subsection (i) above 
or otherwise, such extension shall be conditioned upon the prompt preparation, execution and 
delivery of documentation, satisfactory to SMUD and the Bank and their respective counsel. 

Section 2.2. Method of Borrowing, Continuing or Converting Loans; Account to Which 
Proceeds of Loans to Be Credited. (a)(i) In the case of any Borrowing, SMUD shall give the Bank 

-18-




 

  
 

    
 

 
 

   

 
    

 

 
    

 

  

 
    

 
  

   

 
 

 

 

  
 

notice in the form of Exhibit C hereto, executed by an Authorized SMUD Representative (a 
“Notice of Borrowing”), and SMUD shall telephonically confirm the Bank’s receipt of such 
Notice of Borrowing, by not later than 11:00 a.m. (Pacific time) on any Business Day, specifying: 

(A) the date of such Borrowing, which shall be a Business Day during the 
Revolving Credit Period that is at least two (2) U.S. Government Securities Business Days 
following the Bank’s receipt of such Notice of Borrowing, 

(B) the aggregate amount of such Borrowing (which shall not exceed the 
difference between (i) the amount of the Commitment and (ii) the aggregate principal 
amount of Loans then outstanding), 

(C) whether such Borrowing will be a Taxable Loan or a Tax-Exempt Loan, 
and 

(D) that the following items are attached and delivered to Note Counsel, if the 
Borrowing is a Tax-Exempt Loan, a tax certificate or supplement to an existing tax 
certificate, including a completed Form 8038-G, relating to such Borrowing, in each case 
in a form acceptable to Note Counsel. 

(ii) SMUD may convert any Tax-Exempt Loan to a Taxable Loan, only upon two (2) 
U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior written notice by giving appropriate notice to the 
Bank prior to 11:00 a.m., (Pacific time), on such required prior U.S. Government Securities 
Business Day in the form of Exhibit D hereto with blanks appropriately completed (each, a “Notice 
of Conversion”). 

(b) Subject to the provisions of subsection (a) of this Section 2.2, by not later than 
3:00 p.m. (Pacific time) on the date of each Borrowing, the Bank shall, subject to satisfaction of 
the requirements of Section 2.2 and Article Three hereof, wire transfer, in federal or other 
immediately available funds, the proceeds of such Borrowing to SMUD on the Borrowing date 
specified in the Notice of Borrowing, so long as such Borrowing date occurs during the Revolving 
Credit Period and is at least two (2) U.S. Government Securities Business Days following the 
Bank’s receipt of such Notice of Borrowing, as specified in such Notice of Borrowing, in 
immediately available funds, an amount equal to the Loan thereby requested. The Bank shall wire 
transfer, in federal or other immediately available funds, the proceeds of such Borrowing to the 
following account: _________; provided, however, that SMUD may, from time to time, change 
such account by written notice to the Bank, executed by an Authorized SMUD Representative, 
given to the Bank at its address referred to in Section 7.2 hereof. 

(c) The Bank shall not be obligated to honor more than one Borrowing with respect to a 
Taxable Loan or more than one Borrowing with respect to a Tax-Exempt Loan on any Business 
Day. 

(d) Each Loan shall be in the principal amount requested by SMUD pursuant to each 
notice in the form of Exhibit C hereto but in any event in a minimum principal amount of $100,000 
or such greater amount which is an integral multiple of $100,000 in excess thereof.  

-19-




 

  

 
 

   

    

  
  

  
  

    
 

 

 
 

  
   

 
   

 
    

     
  

  
 

    
 

Section 2.3. Maturity of Loans and Term Loans. (a) Each Loan included in any 
Borrowing shall mature, and the principal amount thereof (together with all accrued and unpaid 
interest therein) shall be due and payable by SMUD, on the Facility Maturity Date or such earlier 
date on which all Loans or the related Loans become due and payable in accordance with the terms 
hereof. 

(b) The Term Loans shall mature, and the principal amount thereof (together with all 
accrued and unpaid interest thereon) shall be due and payable by SMUD, on the Amortization End 
Date or such earlier date on which all Term Loans become due and payable in accordance with the 
terms hereof. 

Section 2.4. Interest Rates. (a) Subject to subsections (d) and (e) below, and Section 2.15 
hereof, each Loan (other than a Term Loan) which is a Taxable Loan shall bear interest on the 
outstanding principal amount thereof, for each day from the date such Loan is advanced until it is 
paid in full, at a rate per annum equal to the Taxable Daily SOFR Rate, and such interest shall be 
payable by SMUD on each Interest Payment Date and on the Termination Date.   

(b) Subject to subsections (d), (e) and (f) below, and Section 2.15 hereof, each Loan 
(other than a Term Loan) which is a Tax-Exempt Loan shall bear interest on the outstanding 
principal amount thereof, for each day from the date such Loan is advanced until it is paid in full, 
at a rate per annum equal to the Tax-Exempt Daily SOFR Rate, and such interest shall be payable 
by SMUD on each Interest Payment Date and on the Termination Date.  

(c) Interest on the Tax-Exempt Loans is to be excluded from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes.  Interest on Taxable Loans, Alternate Rate Loans and other amounts owing 
hereunder (other than Tax-Exempt Loans) is to be includable in the Bank’s gross income for 
federal income tax purposes. 

(d) The Bank shall determine the applicable interest rate for the Loans on each SOFR 
Determination Day while such Loan is outstanding.  Interest on each Loan shall accrue each day 
such Loan is outstanding commencing on and including the date such Loan is advanced by the 
Bank hereunder until such Loan is paid in full. The Bank will send SMUD a hyperlink to the 
SOFR Administrator’s Website, as such hyperlink may updated from time to time. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) with respect to a Loan designated to bear interest with respect 
to the Taxable Daily SOFR Rate that is advanced pursuant to new Borrowing, the rate for such 
Loan shall be the same rate as for all outstanding Loans bearing interest with respect to the Taxable 
Daily SOFR Rate and (ii) with respect to a Loan designated to bear interest with respect to the 
Tax-Exempt Daily SOFR Rate that is advanced pursuant to new Borrowing, the rate for such Loan 
shall be the same rate as for all outstanding Loans bearing interest with respect to the Tax-Exempt 
Daily SOFR Rate. 

(e) Circumstances Affecting Benchmark Availability. (i) Subject to Section 2.12 hereof, 
if for any reason (A) the Bank shall determine (which determination shall be conclusive and 
binding absent manifest error) that reasonable and adequate means do not exist for ascertaining 
Daily Simple SOFR pursuant to the definition thereof or (B) the Bank shall determine (which 
determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that Daily Simple SOFR does 

-20-




 

 
    

 
     

 
 

   
  

  
   

 

  

 

  
 

 
  

 

 
   

    
 

  
       

    
 

  

  

 
 

not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to the Bank of making or maintaining such Loans, then, 
in each case, the Bank shall promptly give notice thereof to SMUD; provided, however, that the 
Bank will advise SMUD of (B) immediately above only in the event that a similar determination 
would be made with respect to similarly situated issuers under similar circumstances, as such 
circumstances are determined by the Bank in the Bank’s commercially reasonable discretion. 
Upon notice thereof by the Bank to SMUD, any obligation of the Bank to make Loans shall be 
suspended (to the extent of the affected Loans) until the Bank revokes such notice. Upon receipt 
of such notice, (x) SMUD may revoke any pending request for a borrowing of Loans (to the extent 
of the affected Loans) or, failing that, SMUD will be deemed to have converted any such request 
into a request for a borrowing of or conversion to Alternate Rate Loans in the amount specified 
therein and (y) any outstanding affected Loans will be deemed to have been converted into 
Alternate Rate Loans immediately. Upon any such prepayment or conversion, SMUD shall also 
pay accrued interest on the amount so prepaid or converted. 

 (ii)  Laws Affecting SOFR Availability. If, after the date hereof, the introduction 
of, or any change in, any applicable law or any change in the interpretation or 
administration thereof by any Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency 
charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by the Bank with 
any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any such Governmental 
Authority, central bank or comparable agency, shall make it unlawful or impossible for the 
Bank to honor its obligations hereunder to make or maintain any Loan, or to determine or 
charge interest based upon SOFR or Daily Simple SOFR, the Bank shall promptly give 
notice to SMUD (an “Illegality Notice”). Thereafter, until the Bank notifies SMUD that 
the circumstances giving rise to such determination no longer exist, any obligation of the 
Bank to make Loans shall be suspended. Upon receipt of an Illegality Notice, if necessary 
to avoid such illegality and upon demand from the Bank, (A) SMUD may, at its option, 
prepay all Loans or (B) if not prepaid at SMUD’s option, SMUD shall convert all Loans to 
Alternate Rate Loans, on the Interest Payment Date therefor, if the Bank may lawfully 
continue to maintain such Loans to such day, or immediately, if the Bank may not lawfully 
continue to maintain such Loans to such day. Upon any such prepayment or conversion, 
SMUD shall also pay accrued interest on the amount so prepaid or converted. 

(iii) The Bank shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide advance 
notice of the events and/or conditions set forth in this Section 2.4(e); provided, however, 
that (i) since the timing of such events are not within the Bank’s sole control, SMUD 
acknowledges and agrees that it may be impossible for the Bank to determine if such events 
are occurring before they occur and, in such case, the Bank shall use commercially 
reasonable efforts to provide such notice when reasonably possible and (ii) the failure of 
the Bank to provide any such notice shall not affect the effectiveness of the terms and 
conditions of this Section 2.4(e). 

(f) Upon a Determination of Taxability, all Tax-Exempt Loans shall bear interest at the 
Taxable Rate. 

(g) Subject to Section 2.15 hereof, the Term Loans shall bear interest on the outstanding 
principal amount thereof, for each date from the date of extension of such Term Loan until it 

-21-




 

 
  

  
      

  
 

 
  

  
    

  

 

 

 
 

 

  
  

 

  

 

    

 
 

 
    

  

becomes due, at a rate per annum equal to the Bank Rate. Such interest shall be payable by SMUD 
on each Interest Payment Date and on the Amortization End Date (or such earlier date on which 
all Term Loans become due and payable in accordance with the terms hereof).  

Section 2.5. Fees. (a) SMUD hereby agrees to pay and perform its obligations provided 
for  in the Fee  Agreement, including the payment by  SMUD to  the  Bank of the nonrefundable 
Commitment Fees and the other fees, expenses and payments described in the Fee Agreement at 
the times, on the dates and in the amounts specified in the Fee Agreement, the terms of such Fee 
Agreement being incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth herein. Any references 
herein or in any other document to the Commitment Fee and such other fees, expenses and 
payments owed to the Bank hereunder without specific reference to the Fee Agreement shall be 
read so as to include the Fee Agreement, and any reference to this Agreement shall be deemed to 
include a reference to the Fee Agreement. The Fee Agreement and this Agreement shall be 
construed as one agreement between SMUD and the Bank and all obligations under the Fee 
Agreement shall be construed as obligations hereunder. 

(b) If SMUD shall fail to pay any amount payable hereunder and/or under the Fee 
Agreement as and when due, each such unpaid amount shall bear interest for each day from and 
including the date it was due until paid in full at the applicable Default Rate and shall be payable 
by SMUD on demand. 

(c) SMUD shall pay within thirty (30) days after demand any amounts advanced by or 
on behalf of the Bank to the extent required to cure any Default, Event of Default or event of 
nonperformance hereunder or any Program Document, together with interest at the Default Rate. 

Section 2.6. The Revolving Notes. (a) All Taxable Loans and other Obligations (other 
than Tax-Exempt Loans) shall be made against and evidenced by the Taxable Note. All Taxable 
Loans and other Obligations (other than Tax-Exempt Loans) and all payments and prepayments 
on account of the principal of and interest on each Taxable Loan and other Obligation (other than 
Tax-Exempt Loans) shall be recorded by the Bank on its books and records, which books and 
records shall, absent manifest error, be conclusive as to amounts payable by SMUD hereunder and 
under the Taxable Note. 

(b) All Tax-Exempt Loans shall be made against and evidenced by the Tax-Exempt Note.  
All Tax-Exempt Loans and all payments and prepayments on account of the principal of and 
interest on each Tax-Exempt Loan shall be recorded by the Bank on its books and records, which 
books and records shall, absent manifest error, be conclusive as to amounts payable by SMUD 
hereunder and under the Tax-Exempt Note. 

(c) SMUD’s obligations to repay each Loan and Term Loan and to pay interest thereon 
as provided herein shall be evidenced and secured by the related Revolving Note, and SMUD shall 
pay amounts under the related Revolving Note on each date on which SMUD is required to make 
a principal payment on the related Loan or Term Loan, as applicable, in an amount equal to the 
Loan or Term Loan, as applicable, payment due on such date. The payment of the principal of and 
interest on a Revolving Note shall constitute payment of the principal of and interest on the related 
Loans or Term Loan, as applicable, and the payment of the principal of and interest on the Loans 

-22-




 

   

     
      

  

   
 
 

      
 

  

 

  
    

 

 

  
  

 

 

   

  

or Term Loan, as applicable, shall constitute the payment of principal and interest on the related 
Revolving Note and the failure to make any payment on any Loan or Term Loan, as applicable, 
when due shall be a failure to make a payment on the related Revolving Note and the failure to 
make any payment on the related Revolving Note when due shall be a failure to make a payment 
on the related Loan or Term Loan, as applicable. 

Section 2.7. Optional Termination or Reduction of Commitment. During the Revolving 
Credit Period, SMUD may, upon at least three Business Days’ notice to the Bank, (i) terminate the 
Commitment at any time, if no Loans are outstanding at such time, or (ii) reduce the Commitment 
from time to time by an aggregate amount of $1,000,000 or any larger integral multiple of 
$100,000, provided, that, after giving effect to such reduction of the Commitment, the 
Commitment shall be not less than the amount of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of 
the Loans. 

Section 2.8. Mandatory Termination or Reduction of Commitment. (a) The Commitment 
shall terminate on the Termination Date, and any Loans then outstanding (together with accrued 
interest thereon and all other amounts payable hereunder) shall be due and payable on such date, 
unless such Loans are converted to Term Loans as provided in Section 2.22 hereof. 

(b) If at any time an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the Bank 
may deliver a written notice to that effect to SMUD, and the Commitment shall immediately 
terminate. 

(c) In the event and on such occasion that the principal amount of Loans exceeds the 
Commitment, SMUD shall prepay the Loans in an aggregate amount equal to such excess. 

Section 2.9. Optional Prepayments. SMUD may, upon at least one Business Days’ notice 
to the Bank, prepay any Borrowing in whole at any time, or from time to time in part in amounts 
aggregating $1,000,000 or any larger integral multiple of $100,000, by paying the principal amount 
to be prepaid together with accrued interest thereon to the date of prepayment.   

Section 2.10. General Provisions as to Payments.  SMUD shall make each payment of the 
principal of, and interest on, the Loans and Term Loans and of fees hereunder and under the Fee 
Agreement, not later than 1:00 p.m. (Pacific time) on the date when due, in federal or other funds 
immediately available in Los Angeles, to the Bank at [_________], [____________], ABA: 
[_________], BNF: [_________], Account No.: [_________], Ref: [___________] (or such other 
account as the Bank may specify by written notice to SMUD).   

Section 2.11. Computation of Interest and Fees. Interest with respect to Daily SOFR Rate 
Loans and fees shall be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year based upon the actual number of 
days elapsed and interest with respect to Alternate Rate Loans and Term Loans shall be calculated 
on the basis of a 365 or 366 day year, as applicable, and the actual number of days elapsed. 

 Section 2.12. Benchmark Replacement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 
contained in this Agreement or in any other Program Document, SMUD and Bank agree as 
follows: 

-23-




 

 
   

 
 

 

       
    

  

  
 

 

  
  

    

 
      

     
   

 
 

 
  
    

 
      

  
   

 
 

 

   

 

 (a)  Benchmark Replacement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any 
other Program Document (for the purposes of this Section 2.12(a), a swap agreement is not a 
Program Document), upon the occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event with respect to any 
Benchmark, the Bank shall determine the Benchmark Replacement to calculate SOFR for all 
purposes of this Agreement and the other Program Documents. The Benchmark Replacement 
shall be used to compute SOFR on and after the SOFR Determination Day which first occurs on 
or after the fifth (5th) Business Day after SMUD is provided with notice as described in Section 
2.12(c) hereof. No replacement of a Benchmark with a Benchmark Replacement pursuant to this 
Section 2.12(a) will occur prior to the applicable Benchmark Transition Start Date. Any 
Benchmark Replacement will become effective on the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date 
without any further action or consent of SMUD. 

(b) Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes. In connection with the adoption, 
implementation, use and administration of any Benchmark Replacement, the Bank will have the 
right to make Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary herein or in any other Program Document, any amendments implementing such 
Conforming Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of SMUD or any 
other party hereto or to any other Program Document. 

 (c)  Notices; Standards for Decisions and Determinations. The Bank will promptly notify 
SMUD of (i) the occurrence of any Benchmark Transition Event and the related Benchmark 
Transition Start Date, (ii) the applicable Benchmark Replacement determined by the Bank with 
respect to such Benchmark Transition Event and (iii) the effectiveness of any Conforming Changes 
in connection with the use, administration, adoption or implementation of a Benchmark 
Replacement.   The Bank shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide the notices set forth 
in the immediately preceding sentence ninety (90) days prior to the Benchmark Transition Start 
Date; provided, however, that (i) since the timing of such events are not within the Bank’s sole 
control, SMUD acknowledges and agrees that it may be impossible for the Bank to determine if 
such events are occurring ninety (90) days prior to the Benchmark Transition Start Date and, in 
such case, the Bank shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide such notice when 
reasonably possible and (ii) the failure of the Bank to provide any such notice shall not affect the 
effectiveness of the terms and conditions of this Section 2.12. Any determination, decision or 
election that may be made by the Bank pursuant to this Section 2.12(c), including any 
determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of 
an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any 
selection, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error and may be made in the Bank’s 
sole discretion and without consent SMUD or any other party hereto or to any other Program 
Document. 

(d) Benchmark Unavailability Period. During a Benchmark Unavailability Period, the 
Benchmark shall be the Alternate Rate. Upon the commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability 
Period, SMUD may revoke any pending request for a Borrowing hereunder.

 (e)  Favorable Opinion of Note Counsel. SMUD shall cause a Favorable Opinion of Note 
Counsel to be delivered each time a new Benchmark Replacement is determined for calculation of 
the Tax-Exempt Daily SOFR Rate. 

-24-




 

   
  

 
  

  
   

 
  

 
  

  

 
  

 

 

 

  

 

  
  

 

  

  

  
 

Section 2.13. Determination of Taxability. (i) In the event a Determination of Taxability 
occurs, SMUD hereby agrees to pay to the Bank and each Noteholder within thirty (30) days of 
demand therefor (1) an amount equal to the difference between (A) the amount of interest that 
would have been paid to the Bank and such Noteholder on the Tax-Exempt Note or Tax-Exempt 
Loan, without duplication, during the period for which interest on the such Tax-Exempt Note or 
Tax-Exempt Loan is included in the gross income of the Bank and such Noteholder if the Tax-
Exempt Note or Tax-Exempt Loan had borne interest at the Taxable Rate, beginning on the 
Taxable Date (the “Taxable Period”), and (B) the amount of interest actually paid to the Bank and 
such Noteholder during the Taxable Period, and (2) an amount equal to any interest, penalties or 
charges owed by the Bank and such Noteholder as a result of interest on the Tax-Exempt Note or 
Tax-Exempt Loan becoming included in the gross income of the Bank and such Noteholder, 
together with any and all reasonable attorneys’ fees, court costs, or other reasonable out-of-pocket 
costs incurred by the Bank and such Noteholder in connection therewith; 

(ii) Subject to the provisions of clause (iii) below, the Bank and such Noteholder shall 
afford SMUD the opportunity, at SMUD’s sole cost and expense, to contest (1) the validity of any 
amendment to the Internal Revenue Code which causes the interest on the Tax-Exempt Note or 
Tax-Exempt Loan to be included in the gross income of Bank and such Noteholder or (2) any 
challenge to the validity of the tax exemption with respect to the interest on the Tax-Exempt Note 
or Tax-Exempt Loan, including the right to direct the necessary litigation contesting such 
challenge (including administrative audit appeals); provided that, in no event shall the Bank or a 
Noteholder be required to make available its tax returns (or any other information relating to its 
taxes that it deems confidential) to SMUD or any other Person; and 

(iii) As a condition precedent to the exercise by SMUD of its right to contest set forth in 
clause (ii) above, SMUD shall, upon reasonable demand, within thirty (30) days, reimburse the 
Bank and such Noteholder for any and all reasonable expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees for services that may be required or desirable, as determined by the Bank and such Noteholder 
in its reasonable discretion) that may be incurred by the Bank and such Noteholder in connection 
with any such contest, and shall, within thirty (30) days from demand, reimburse Bank and such 
Noteholder for any and all penalties or other charges payable by the Bank or such Noteholder for 
failure to include such interest in its gross income. 

(iv) Without prejudice to the survival of any other agreement of SMUD hereunder, the 
agreements and obligations of SMUD contained in this Section 2.13 shall survive the termination 
of this Agreement and the payment in full of the Obligations of SMUD thereunder and hereunder. 

Section 2.14. Payment Due on Non-Business Day to Be Made on Next Business Day.  If 
any sum becomes payable pursuant to this Agreement or the Fee Agreement on a day which is not 
a Business Day, the date for payment thereof shall be extended, without penalty, to the next 
succeeding Business Day, and such extended time shall be included in the computation of interest 
and fees. 

Section 2.15. Default Rate. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event 
of Default, all Obligations shall bear interest until paid in full at a rate per annum equal to the 
Default Rate. 

-25-




 

 
   

 

 
  

    

 

 

 
  

 

 
   

 
 

   
 

 
  

       

   

 

  

 
 

 

Section 2.16. Net of Taxes, Etc. (a) Any and all payments to the Bank or any 
Noteholder by SMUD hereunder or with respect to the Loans and Term Loans shall be made free 
and clear of and without deduction or withholding for any and all Indemnified Taxes. If SMUD 
shall be required by law to deduct or withhold any Indemnified Taxes imposed by the United States 
of America or any political subdivision thereof from or in respect of any sum payable hereunder 
or with respect to the Loans and/or Term Loans, then (i) the sum payable shall be increased as may 
be necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to 
additional sums payable under this Section) the Bank or such Noteholder receives an amount equal 
to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been made, (ii) SMUD shall make such 
deductions and (iii) SMUD shall timely pay the full amount deducted to the relevant taxation 
authority or other authority in accordance with applicable law.  If SMUD shall make any payment 
under this Section to or for the benefit of the Bank or such Noteholder with respect to Indemnified 
Taxes and if the Bank or such Noteholder shall claim any credit or deduction for such Indemnified 
Taxes against any other taxes payable by the Bank or such Noteholder to any taxing jurisdiction 
in the United States of America then the Bank or such Noteholder shall pay to SMUD an amount 
equal to the amount by which such other taxes are actually reduced; provided, that the aggregate 
amount payable by the Bank or such Noteholder pursuant to this sentence shall not exceed the 
aggregate amount previously paid by SMUD with respect to such Indemnified Taxes. In addition, 
SMUD agrees to pay any present or future stamp, recording or documentary taxes and any other 
excise or property taxes, charges or similar levies that arise under the laws of the United States of 
America or any state of the United States from any payment made hereunder or under the Loans, 
the Term Loans or from the execution or delivery of this Agreement or the Revolving Notes, or 
otherwise with respect to this Agreement, the Loans or the Term Loans (hereinafter referred to as 
“Other Taxes”). The Bank or such Noteholder shall provide to SMUD within a reasonable time 
a copy of any written notification it receives with respect to Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes 
owing by SMUD to the Bank or such Noteholder hereunder; provided, that the Bank or such 
Noteholder’s failure to send such notice shall not relieve SMUD of its obligation to pay such 
amounts hereunder. SMUD may conduct a reasonable contest of any such Indemnified Taxes with 
the prior written consent of the Bank, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed; 
provided, that SMUD shall, on demand, immediately reimburse the Bank for any and all expenses 
(including attorneys’ fees for services that may be required or desirable, as determined by the Bank 
in its sole discretion) that may be incurred by the Bank in connection with any such contest. 

(b) SMUD shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law and subject to the provisions 
hereof, pay the Bank or such Noteholder for the full amount of Indemnified Taxes and Other Taxes 
including any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes imposed by any jurisdiction on amounts payable 
under this Section paid by the Bank or such Noteholder or any liability (including penalties, interest 
and expenses) arising therefrom or with respect thereto whether or not such Indemnified Taxes or 
Other Taxes were correctly or legally asserted; provided, that SMUD; shall not be obligated to pay 
the Bank or such Noteholder for any penalties, interest or expenses relating to Indemnified Taxes 
or Other Taxes arising from the Bank or such Noteholder’s gross negligence or willful misconduct.  
The Bank or such Noteholder agrees to give notice to SMUD of the assertion of any claim against 
the Bank or such Noteholder relating to such Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes as promptly as is 
practicable after being notified of such assertion; provided, that the Bank or such Noteholder’s 
failure to notify SMUD promptly of such assertion shall not relieve SMUD of its obligation under 
this Section. Payments by SMUD pursuant to this Section shall be made within thirty (30) days 

-26-




 

   

 

 
   

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

   

     
  

   
  

   

from the date the Bank or such Noteholder makes written demand therefor, which demand shall 
be accompanied by a certificate describing in reasonable detail the basis thereof. The Bank or 
such Noteholder agrees to repay to SMUD any refund (including that portion of any interest that 
was included as part of such refund) with respect to Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes paid by 
SMUD pursuant to this Section received by the Bank or such Noteholder for Indemnified Taxes 
or Other Taxes that were paid by SMUD pursuant to this Section and to contest, with the 
cooperation and at the expense of SMUD, any such Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes which the 
Bank or such Noteholder or SMUD reasonably believes not to have been properly assessed. 

(c) Within thirty (30) days after the date of any payment of Indemnified Taxes by SMUD, 
SMUD shall furnish to the Bank the original or a certified copy of a receipt evidencing payment 
thereof.  

(d) Notwithstanding anything contained in paragraphs (a) or (b) of this Section, SMUD 
shall have no liability to the Bank or any Noteholder with respect to any Indemnified Taxes to the 
extent incurred or imposed on the Bank or any Noteholder more than one hundred eighty (180) 
days prior the date written notification thereof is given to SMUD by the Bank (the “Cut-Off 
Date”), except where (A) the Bank had no actual knowledge of the action resulting in such 
Indemnified Taxes as of the Cut-Off Date or (B) such Indemnified Taxes apply to the Bank 
retroactively to a date prior to the Cut-Off Date. 

(d) The obligations of SMUD under this Section 2.16 shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement and the repayment of all Obligations hereunder for a period of one hundred eighty 
(180) days after such termination and final repayment; provided, however, that in the event any 
taxing jurisdiction imposes Indemnified Taxes on the Bank or any Noteholder, as described in this 
Section 2.16, the Bank may impose such Indemnified Taxes on SMUD in accordance with the 
terms of this Section 2.16; provided, further, however, that the foregoing proviso shall only apply 
to any Indemnified Taxes imposed not later than two (2) years after the date this Agreement 
terminates and all Obligations have been paid in full. 

Section 2.17. Increased Costs. (a) Increased Costs Generally. If any Change in Law 
shall: 

(i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, liquidity ratio, special 
deposit, compulsory loan, insurance charge or similar requirement against assets of,  
deposits with or for the account of, or advances, loans or other credit extended or 
participated in by, the Bank or any Recipient; 

(ii) subject any Recipient to any Taxes of any kind whatsoever with respect to 
this Agreement, or change the basis of taxation of payments to the Bank or such Recipient 
in respect thereof (except for Indemnified Taxes covered by Section 2.16 hereof and the 
imposition of, or any change in the rate of any Excluded Tax payable by the Bank or any 
Recipient); or 

(iii) impose on the Bank or any Recipient any other condition, cost or expense 
affecting this Agreement or the Fee Agreement or any participation therein;  

-27-




 

     
  

 
  

  

 
 

    
  

 
 

 

 

    
 

  
  

    

  
  

  
  

   

 
 

  

 

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to the Bank or such Recipient 
related to issuing or maintaining this Agreement, the Commitment or any Loan or Term Loan, or 
to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by the Bank or such Recipient hereunder 
(whether of principal, interest or any other amount) then, upon written request of the Bank, SMUD 
shall promptly pay to the Bank (for the Bank or such Recipient, as the case may be) such additional 
amount or amounts as will compensate the Bank or such Recipient, as the case may be, for such 
additional costs incurred or reduction suffered.  

(b) Capital Requirements. If the Bank or any Recipient determines that any Change in 
Law affecting the Bank or such Recipient or the Bank’s or such Recipient’s parent or holding 
company, if any, regarding capital or liquidity requirements, has or would have the effect of 
reducing the rate of return on the Bank’s or such Recipient’s capital or liquidity or the capital or 
liquidity of such Bank’s or such Recipient’s parent or holding company holding, if any, as a 
consequence of this Agreement, or for maintaining this Agreement, the Commitment or any Loan 
or Term Loan,  to a level below that which the Bank or such Recipient or the Bank’s or such 
Recipient’s parent or holding company could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking 
into consideration the Bank’s or such Recipient’s policies and the policies of the Bank’s or such 
Recipient’s parent or holding company with respect to capital or liquidity adequacy), then from 
time to time upon written request of the Bank SMUD shall promptly pay to the Bank (for the Bank 
or such Recipient, as the case may be) such additional amount or amounts as will compensate the 
Bank or such Recipient or the Bank’s or such Recipient’s parent or holding company for any such 
reduction suffered. 

 (c)  Certificates for Reimbursement. A certificate of the Bank or a Recipient setting forth 
the amount or amounts necessary to compensate the Bank or any such Recipient or the Bank’s or 
any such Recipient’s parent or holding company, as the case may be, as specified in paragraph 
(a) or (b) of this Section and delivered to SMUD, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.  SMUD 
shall pay the Bank or any such Recipient, as the case may be, the amount shown as due on any 
such certificate within thirty (30) days after receipt thereof. Each Recipient shall have the benefits 
of this Section 2.17, but shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under such Section 
than the Bank would have been entitled to receive in connection with the rights transferred. 

(d) Delay in Requests. Failure or delay on the part of the Bank or any such Recipient to 
demand compensation pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section shall not constitute a 
waiver of the Bank’s right to demand such compensation; provided that SMUD shall not be 
required to compensate the Bank pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section for any 
increased costs incurred or reductions suffered more than six (6) months prior to the date that the 
Bank notifies SMUD of the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and 
of the Bank’s intention to claim compensation therefor (except that, if the Change in Law giving 
rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the six (6) month period referred to 
above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof). 

 (e)  Survival. The obligations of SMUD under this Section 2.17 shall survive the 
termination of this Agreement and the repayment of all Obligations hereunder for a period of one 
hundred eighty (180) days after such termination and final repayment; provided, however, that in 
the event any Change in Law provides for retroactive increased costs or retroactive imposition of 

-28-




 

 

 
 

 

  
 

   

    
 

  
  

 
   

      

  

     

 
    

 
 

 

    
 

  
  

capital adequacy or liquidity requirements, as described in this Section 2.17, the Bank may impose 
such costs on SMUD in accordance with the terms of this Section 2.17; provided, further, however, 
that the foregoing proviso shall only apply to any Change in Law occurring not later than two (2) 
years after the date this Agreement terminates and all Obligations have been paid in full. 

 Section 2.18. Margin Regulations. No portion of the proceeds of any Loans or Term Loans 
shall be used by SMUD (or the Depositary or any other Person on behalf of SMUD) for the purpose 
of “purchasing” or “carrying” any margin stock or used in any manner which might cause the 
borrowing or the application of such proceeds to violate Regulation U, Regulation T, or 
Regulation X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or any other regulation of 
said Board of Governors or to violate the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, in each 
case as in effect on the date or dates of such Loans or Term Loans and such use of proceeds. 

Section 2.19. Maximum Rate; Payment of Fee. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary 
notwithstanding, if the rate of interest due hereunder shall exceed the Maximum Rate for any 
period for which interest is payable, then (i) interest at the Maximum Rate shall be due and payable 
with respect to such interest period and (ii) interest at the rate equal to the difference between 
(A) the rate of interest calculated in accordance with the terms hereof without regard to the 
Maximum Rate and (B) the Maximum Rate (the “Excess Interest”), shall be deferred until such 
date as the rate of interest calculated in accordance with the terms hereof ceases to exceed the 
Maximum Rate, at which time SMUD shall pay to the Bank, with respect to amounts then payable 
to the Bank that are required to accrue interest hereunder, such portion of the deferred Excess 
Interest as will cause the rate of interest then paid to the Bank to equal the Maximum Rate, which 
payments of deferred Excess Interest shall continue to apply to such unpaid amounts hereunder 
until all deferred Excess Interest is fully paid to the Bank. To the extent permitted by law, upon 
the termination of the Commitment and/or this Agreement, in consideration for the limitation of 
the rate of interest otherwise payable hereunder, SMUD shall pay to the Bank a fee equal to the 
amount of all unpaid deferred Excess Interest. 

Section 2.20. Security for Obligations. This Agreement constitutes the Revolving Credit 
Agreement (as defined in the Note Resolution) under the Note Resolution and has all rights and 
benefits thereof. In order to secure the timely payment of all Obligations and to secure the 
performance and observance of all of the covenants, agreements and conditions contained in this 
Agreement and the Fee Agreement, SMUD has pledged the Available Revenues to the Bank (for 
the benefit of the Bank and any Affiliate of the Bank to whom any Obligation is at any time owed), 
pursuant to and on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Note Resolution. The 
pledge of Available Revenues under the Note Resolution constitutes a valid pledge of and charge 
and lien upon the Available Revenues, has attached and is effective, binding, and enforceable 
against SMUD, its successors, purchasers of any of the Available Revenues, creditors, and all 
others asserting rights therein to the extent set forth in, and in accordance with, the Note 
Resolution, irrespective of whether those parties have notice of the lien on, security interest in and 
pledge of the Available Revenues and without the need for any physical delivery, recordation, 
filing or further act. 

Section 2.21. Method of Payment; Etc. All payments to be made by SMUD under this 
Agreement and the Fee Agreement shall be made at the Payment Account not later than 4:00 P.M. 

-29-




 

 
   

 
 

    
 

  

 
       

 

  
     

    

 
 

    
 

 

 

    
  

 

   
 

(New York time) on the date when due and shall be made in lawful money of the United States of 
America in freely transferable and immediately available funds. All payments received by the 
Bank after 4:00 P.M. (New York time) shall be deemed to have been made on the next succeeding 
Business Day and any applicable interest or fees shall continue to accrue. 

Section 2.22. The Term Loans. (a) Generally. (i) On the Facility Maturity Date, so long 
as (A) SMUD shall have delivered to the Bank a written request in the form of Exhibit E hereto 
no later than thirty (30) days prior to the Facility Maturity Date, (B) no Credit Default or Credit 
Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing on the Facility Maturity Date, (C) no event 
described in clause (b) of the definition of Material Adverse Change shall have occurred on the 
Facility Maturity Date and (C) the Bank shall not have terminated its obligation to make Term 
Loans as a result of a Non-Credit Event of Default pursuant to Section 6.2(b) hereof, the Loans, if 
any, maturing on such date shall be automatically converted to term loans  (each a “Term Loan” 
and collectively the “Term Loans"), the proceeds of which shall be deemed to have refunded the 
Loans. 

(iii) The Term Loans shall be evidenced by the Taxable Note and the Tax-
Exempt Note, as applicable.  The Term Loans may be repaid in whole or in part on any 
Business Day upon prior written notice from SMUD to the Bank.  

(b) Repayment. SMUD shall pay to the Bank the outstanding principal amount of the 
Term Loans in equal (as nearly as possible) installments on each Amortization Payment Date and 
on the Amortization End Date; provided, however, that, notwithstanding anything contained herein 
to the contrary, the entire principal amount of the Term Loans, plus accrued and unpaid interest 
thereon, shall be due and payable in full on the Amortization End Date (or such earlier date on 
which all Term Loans become due and payable in accordance with the terms hereof). 

ARTICLE THREE 

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT 

Section 3.1. Conditions Precedent to the effectiveness of this Agreement. As conditions 
precedent to the obligation of the Bank to establish the Commitment and execute and deliver this 
Agreement, SMUD shall provide to the Bank on the Closing Date, each in form and substance 
satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel, Chapman and Cutler LLP (hereinafter, “Bank’s 
Counsel”): 

 (i)  Approvals. The Bank shall have received an executed counterpart of this 
Agreement duly executed by SMUD and the Bank and an executed original of each 
Revolving Note and copies of all action taken by SMUD (including, without limitation, 
any resolution adopted or passed by SMUD in connection therewith) approving the 
execution and delivery by SMUD of this Agreement, the Fee Agreement, the Revolving 
Notes and the other Program Documents, in each case, certified by an authorized official 
of SMUD as complete and correct as of the date hereof. 

-30-




 

  

 

   

  
 
  
 

 

   

   
 

 

  
 

  

  

  

  

 (ii)  Incumbency of Officials. The Bank shall have received an incumbency 
certificate of SMUD in respect of each of the officials who is authorized to (a) sign this 
Agreement, the Revolving Notes and the other Program Documents on behalf of SMUD 
and (b) take actions for SMUD under this Agreement, the Revolving Notes and the other 
Program Documents. 

(iii) Opinion of Note Counsel. The Bank shall have received an opinion of Note 
Counsel or a reliance letter thereon. 

 (iv)  Opinion of Counsel to SMUD. The Bank shall have received an opinion 
addressed to the Bank and dated the Closing Date of the general counsel for SMUD, in 
form and substance satisfactory to the Bank, and addressing (i) SMUD’s existence, (ii) 
SMUD’s power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Fee Agreement and to 
perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder, (iii) SMUD’s execution and delivery of 
this Agreement and the Fee Agreement, (iv) the enforceability of SMUD’s obligations 
under this Agreement and the Fee Agreement, (v) that SMUD has obtained all consents 
necessary to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement and the Fee Agreement, (vi) the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Fee Agreement by SMUD will not violate 
any law, order or agreement to which SMUD is subject or to which SMUD is a party, and 
(vii) there is no litigation pending or threatened against SMUD that would prevent SMUD 
from executing and delivering this Agreement and the Fee Agreement or performing its 
obligations hereunder and thereunder. 

(v) Note Resolution and Other Program Documents. The Bank shall have 
received (a) a certified copy of the Note Resolution, the Master Bond Resolution (or a 
certified copy of the annotated version thereof) and the Subordinated Bond Resolution (or 
a certified copy of the annotated version thereof) which have been adopted prior to the 
Closing Date, all certified by an authorized officer of SMUD as being in full force and 
effect and (b) fully executed or certified copies, as applicable, of all other Program 
Documents. 

 (vi)  Financial Information. The Bank shall have received copies of any 
financial information of SMUD that the Bank may reasonably request. 

(vii) Legality; Material Adverse Change. The Bank shall have determined (in 
its sole discretion) that (a) neither the making of any Loans nor the consummation of any 
of the transactions contemplated by the Note Resolution, the Revolving Notes, this 
Agreement or any other Program Document will violate any law, rule, guideline or 
regulation applicable to SMUD, the Bank, the Commitment, the Revolving Notes or this 
Agreement, and (b) no Material Adverse Change shall have occurred since December 31, 
2020. 

 (viii)  Fees, Etc. The Bank shall have received payment of the fees, costs and 
expenses payable on the Closing Date. 

-31-




 

   
  

   

  
 

  
  

      
 

  

 

  
   

 

  

    

    

 (ix)  Revolving Notes. The Bank shall have received (a) executed Revolving 
Notes and (b) written evidence satisfactory to the Bank that a CUSIP number has been 
obtained and reserved from Standard & Poor’s CUSIP Service for each Revolving Note. 

(x) Closing Certificate. The Bank shall have received a certificate from SMUD 
executed by the Authorized SMUD Representative, dated the Closing Date, stating that: 

(a) the representations and warranties of SMUD contained in this 
Agreement and each certificate furnished or delivered by SMUD to the Bank 
pursuant hereto are true and correct on and as of the Closing Date as though made 
on and as of such date; 

(b) no “default” or “event of default” under any Program Document to 
which SMUD is a party and no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is 
continuing or would result from the entering into or performance under this 
Agreement and the other Program Documents; and 

(c) except as has been disclosed to the Bank in writing prior to the 
Closing Date, there has been no Material Adverse Change since December 31, 
2020. 

 (xi)  Other Documents. The Bank shall have received such other documents, 
certificates, and opinions as the Bank or the Bank’s counsel shall have reasonably 
requested. 

(xii) Bank Counsel Opinion. SMUD shall have received an opinion of Bank’s 
Counsel as to the Bank’s execution and delivery of this Agreement and the enforceability 
of the Bank’s obligations under this Agreement. 

Section 3.2. Borrowings During the Revolving Credit Period. The obligation of the Bank 
to make a Loan on the occasion of any Borrowing or to convert any Tax-Exempt Loan to a Taxable 
Loan on or prior to the Termination Date is subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions: 

(a) receipt by the Bank of a Notice of Borrowing (or appropriate notice 
regarding continuation or conversion) as required by Section 2.2 hereof; 

(b) immediately after such Borrowing, continuation or conversion, the 
aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loans will not exceed the amount of the 
Commitment; 

(c) immediately before and as a result of giving effect to such Borrowing, 
continuation or conversion, no Credit Default, Credit Event of Default, Optional 
Termination Event or Rating Event shall have occurred and be continuing;  

-32-




 

  
 

 
   

  
 

   

  

   
  

   

   
  

  

  

 
 

 

  

 

   
  

    
 

(d) immediately before and as a result of giving effect to such Borrowing, 
continuation or conversion, no event described in clause (b) of the definition of Material 
Adverse Change shall have occurred; and 

(e) immediately before such Borrowing, continuation or conversion, the Bank 
shall not have terminated its obligation to make Loans as a result of a Non-Credit Event of 
Default pursuant to Section 6.2(b) hereof. 

Each Borrowing, continuation or conversion hereunder shall be deemed to be a 
representation and warranty by SMUD on the date of such Borrowing as to the facts specified in 
clauses (b), (c) and (d) of this Section. 

Section 3.3. Each Tax-Exempt Loan Borrowing. The obligation of the Bank to make each 
Tax-Exempt Loan hereunder is subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions: 

(a) all conditions set forth in Section 3.2 hereof shall be satisfied prior to the 
making of such Loan; 

(b) the Bank shall have received an executed opinion of Note Counsel 
addressed to SMUD and with a reliance letter to the Bank, in a form acceptable to the Bank, 
to the effect that the interest on the principal of the Tax-Exempt Note evidencing and 
securing such Loan is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes; and 

(c) SMUD shall have executed, and the Bank shall have received an executed 
copy of a tax certificate or supplement to an existing tax certificate, including a completed 
Form 8038-G, relating to such Borrowing, in each case in a form acceptable to Note 
Counsel. 

Section 3.4. No Rating; DTC; Offering Document. Neither Revolving Note shall be 
(i) assigned a specific rating by any Rating Agency, (ii) registered with The Depository Trust 
Company or any other securities depository, (iii) issued pursuant to any type of official statement, 
private placement memorandum or other offering document or (iv) placed or offered by a 
broker-dealer in the capacity of an underwriter or a placement agent. 

ARTICLE FOUR 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 4.1. Representations of SMUD. In order to induce the Bank to establish the 
Commitment and execute and deliver this Agreement, SMUD represents and warrants to the Bank 
as follows: 

 (a)  Existence and Power. SMUD is a municipal utility district organized and existing 
under and by virtue of the Act, and is possessed of full powers to own and lease (as lessor and 
lessee) real and personal property, to own and operate the Electric System, to conduct its other 

-33-




 

    

 
 

  
 

   
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  

  
 

 
 

 
 

    
  

 
  

   

 
   

 
  

 

business as presently conducted and to enter into contracts such as this Agreement and the SMUD 
Program Documents, which powers have been validly exercised in connection with the 
transactions effected by this Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents. 

(b) Authorization; Contravention; Approvals. The execution, delivery and performance 
by SMUD of this Agreement, the Fee Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents and the 
other documents contemplated hereby and thereby are within the powers of SMUD, have been 
duly authorized by all necessary actions and (i) do not contravene the Act or any other law, rule, 
regulation, order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or award or any indenture, 
agreement, lease, instrument or other contractual restriction binding on or affecting SMUD and 
(ii) except as provided in or contemplated by this Agreement and the Program Documents, do not 
result in or require the creation of any Lien, security interest or other charge or encumbrance upon 
or with respect to any asset of SMUD. SMUD is not in violation of or in default in any material 
respect under any law, rule, regulation, order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or 
award that would prevent or is reasonably likely to prevent SMUD from performing its obligations 
under this Agreement or the SMUD Program Documents. SMUD is not in violation of or in default 
in any material respect under any indenture, agreement, lease, instrument or other contractual 
restriction and is not in violation of or in default in any respect under any of the SMUD Program 
Documents that would prevent or is reasonably likely to prevent SMUD from performing its 
obligations under this Agreement or the SMUD Program Documents. No Default or Event of 
Default has occurred and is continuing. All orders, consents and other authorizations or approvals 
of all Governmental Authorities and all other Persons have been obtained (and no additional 
authorization, approval or other action by, and no notice to or filing or registration with, any 
Governmental Authority is required to be made or obtained by SMUD) for the due execution, 
delivery and performance by SMUD of this Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents. 

 (c)  Enforceability. This Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents, and other 
documents contemplated hereby and thereby to which SMUD is a party or by which it is bound, 
are legally valid and binding obligations of SMUD enforceable against SMUD in accordance with 
their respective terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by (i) bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally; (ii) general principles of equity; 
(iii) the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases; and (iv) to the limitations on legal 
remedies against municipal utility districts in the State of California. 

(d) Litigation. Except as disclosed in writing to the Bank prior to the Closing Date, there 
are no actions, suits, proceedings, inquiries or investigations, at law or in equity, before any court, 
Governmental Authority or arbitrator pending or, to the best knowledge of SMUD, threatened, 
against or directly involving SMUD (including, without limitation, the ability of SMUD to 
establish and collect rates for the generation, transmission and distribution of electric power), 
affecting the existence of SMUD, the title of any officials to their respective offices or affecting 
or seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the execution or delivery of this Agreement or any 
Program Document, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the 
Revolving Notes, this Agreement, any Program Document or contesting the tax-exempt status of 
the Tax-Exempt Revolving Note, or contesting the powers of SMUD or any authority for the 
issuance of the Revolving Notes, the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the SMUD 
Program Documents, nor, to the best, knowledge of SMUD, is there any basis therefor, which, if 

-34-




 

 
  

 
 

   
 

  

      

   
 

   
  

   
      

 
  

 

    

     

 

    
  

    

     

       
     

 
  

determined adversely to SMUD (i) would adversely affect the validity or enforceability of, or the 
authority or ability of SMUD to perform its obligations under, this Agreement, the Fee Agreement 
or any SMUD Program Documents, (ii) would, in the reasonable opinion of SMUD, have a 
material adverse effect on the business, financial position or results of operations of SMUD or 
(iii) would adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Tax-Exempt Revolving Note from 
gross income for Federal income tax purposes or the exemption of  such interest  from State of  
California personal income taxes.

 (e)  Financial Information.  (i) The audited financial statements of SMUD included in the 
2020 Financial Statements, true and correct copies of which have heretofore been delivered or 
made available to the Bank, fairly present, in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles the financial position of SMUD and its results of operations and changes in financial 
position at the dates and for the periods indicated. 

(ii) Except as has been disclosed in writing to the Bank prior to the Closing Date, since 
December 31, 2020, there has been no material adverse change in the business, financial position 
or results of operations of SMUD which could reasonably be expected to result in a material 
adverse effect on SMUD’s ability to perform its obligations hereunder or thereunder or the rights, 
security or interests of the Bank. 

(iii) Except as reflected in the financial statements included in the 2020 Financial 
Statements or as has been disclosed in writing to the Bank prior to the Closing Date and except for 
SMUD’s obligations set forth in this Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents, there are as 
of the date hereof no liabilities or obligations with respect to SMUD of any nature whatsoever 
(whether absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise and whether or not due) which, in the 
aggregate, would be material to SMUD. SMUD does not know of any basis for the assertion 
against SMUD of any liability or obligation of any nature whatsoever that is not reflected in the 
financial statements included in the 2020 Financial Statements or other written disclosure to the 
Bank delivered prior to the Closing Date which, in the aggregate, could be material to SMUD. 

(f) Disclosure. No written information furnished by SMUD to the Bank in connection 
with this Agreement (except information which has been superseded by subsequent information 
provided by SMUD) includes any untrue statement of a material fact. 

(g) Environmental Matters. Except as disclosed in writing to the Bank prior to the 
Closing Date, SMUD has not received notice to the effect that the operations of the Electric System 
are not in compliance with any of the requirements of applicable Federal, state or local 
environmental, health and safety statutes and regulations or are the subject of any governmental 
investigation evaluating whether any remedial action is needed to respond to a release of any toxic 
or hazardous waste or substance into the environment, in each case which non-compliance or 
remedial action could have a Material Adverse Effect. 

(h) Plans. SMUD currently has a Plan which is in compliance in all respects with the 
requirements of the applicable laws of the State of California, including without limitation the 
obligation to pay contributions on behalf of its employees in accordance therewith, and SMUD 
has no Plan which is subject to the requirements of ERISA. No condition exists or event or 

-35-




 

 
 

    

    

   

 
 

     
  

 
    

   
 

  
  

    
  

 

     

  

   

 
     

    
  

  
  

transaction has occurred with respect to any Plan which could reasonably be expected to result in 
the incurrence by SMUD of any material liability, fine or penalty.

 (i)  Regulations U and X. SMUD is not engaged in the business of extending credit for 
the purpose of purchasing or carrying margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U or X 
issued by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System); and no proceeds of any Loans 
or Term Loans will be used to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying 
any margin stock. 

 (j)  Tax-Exempt Status. SMUD has not taken any action or omitted to take any action, 
and knows of no action taken or omitted to be taken by any other Person, which action, if taken or 
omitted, would adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Tax-Exempt Note from gross 
income for Federal income tax purposes or the exemption of such interest from State of California 
personal income taxes. 

(k) Security. The Note Resolution creates a pledge of the Available Revenues as security 
for the punctual payment of the interest and principal due with respect to the Revolving Notes, the 
Parity Notes, the Obligations owed to the Bank hereunder and all Parity Notes Reimbursement 
Agreements. All actions necessary to create a pledge of the Available Revenues have been duly 
and validly taken. SMUD’s obligation to pay the Obligations is pari passu with its obligation to 
pay the Revolving Notes, Parity Notes and all Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreements.

 (l)  Constitutional Matters. There is no amendment, or, to the best knowledge of SMUD, 
proposed amendment certified for placement on a statewide ballot, to the Constitution of the State 
of California or any published administrative interpretation of the Constitution of the State of 
California or any State of California law, or any legislation which has passed either house of the 
State legislature, or any published judicial decision interpreting any of the foregoing, the effect of 
which could reasonably be expected to have Material Adverse Effect.

 (m)  No Sovereign Immunity. SMUD represents that it is not entitled to claim immunity 
on the grounds of sovereignty or other similar grounds with respect to itself from (i) suit or 
(ii) jurisdiction of any court because of its status as a political subdivision of the State of California. 

(n) Incorporation of Representations and Warranties by Reference. SMUD hereby 
makes to the Bank every representation and warranty made by it in SMUD Program Documents, 
which representations and warranties, as well as the defined terms contained therein that are 
necessary for a correct interpretation thereof, are incorporated herein by this reference with the 
same effect as if each and every such provision and defined term  were set forth herein  in its  
entirety. No amendment, modification, termination or replacement of any such representations, 
warranties, covenants and definitions contained in the SMUD Program Documents shall be 
effective to amend, modify, terminate or replace the representations, warranties, covenants and 
definitions incorporated herein by this reference, without the prior written consent of the Bank.  
The representations and warranties of SMUD in all of the SMUD Program Documents are true 
and correct in all material respects. 

-36-




 

  
   

  
  

    

 

   
  

 
 

    

 

    
 

 

 
 

 

     

 

   
 

 

 

(o) No Violation of Usury Laws. The terms of the Note Resolution regarding the 
calculation and payment of interest on the Revolving Notes do not violate any applicable usury 
laws of the State of California and, assuming that the Bank is an exempted class of persons within 
the meaning of Article 15 of the California Constitution, the terms of this Agreement, the Fee 
Agreement, and the Revolving Notes regarding the calculation and payment of interest and fees 
and other amounts due under this Agreement, the Fee Agreement, and the Revolving Note do not 
violate any applicable usury laws of the State of California. 

(p) Compliance. SMUD is in substantial compliance with all laws, ordinances, orders, 
rules and regulations applicable to it, except to the extent noncompliance could not reasonably be 
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 

(q) Default. SMUD is not in default in the performance, observance or fulfillment of any 
of the obligations, covenants or conditions contained in any SMUD Program Document, the 
Master Bond Resolution, the Subordinated Bond Resolution or any other resolution, agreement or 
instrument to which it is a party which could have a Material Adverse Effect. 

(r) Reserved.

 (s)  Insurance.  The properties of SMUD are insured in accordance with the terms of the 
Master Bond Resolution. 

 (t)  Taxes. SMUD has filed any Federal, state and other material tax returns and reports 
required to be filed, and has paid all Federal, state and other material taxes, assessments, fees and 
other governmental charges levied or imposed upon them or their properties, income or assets 
otherwise due and payable, except those which are being contested in good faith by appropriate 
proceedings diligently conducted and for which adequate reserves have been provided in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. There is no proposed tax assessment 
against SMUD that would, if made, have a Material Adverse Effect. 

(u) Casualty. Neither the business nor the Property of SMUD is currently affected by 
any fire, explosion, accident, strike, lockout or other labor dispute, drought, storm, hail, 
earthquake, embargo, act of God or of the public enemy or other casualty (whether or not covered 
by insurance), which could have a Material Adverse Effect. 

(v) Sanctions Concerns; Anti-Corruption Laws.  (i) Sanctions Concerns.  Neither  
SMUD, nor, to the knowledge of SMUD, any director, officer, or employee thereof, is (A) 
currently the subject or target of any Sanctions, (B) included on OFAC’s List of Specially 
Designated Nationals, or (C) located, organized or resident in a Designated Jurisdiction. 

(ii) Anti-Corruption Laws. SMUD has conducted its business in compliance 
with the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 and other similar anti-
corruption legislation applicable in California, and has instituted and maintained policies 
and procedures designed to promote and achieve compliance with such laws. 

-37-




 

  
 

   

  

  

    

   
 

     

  

 
 

  

 

 

   

(iii) Anti- Money Laundering Laws. To the best of SMUD’s knowledge, after 
due care and inquiry, SMUD is not under investigation for an alleged violation of anti-
money laundering laws by a governmental authority that enforces such laws. 

(w) Anti-Terrorism Laws. (i) SMUD is not in violation of any laws relating to terrorism 
or money laundering (“Anti-Terrorism Laws”), including Executive Order No. 13224 on Terrorist 
Financing, effective September 24, 2001 (the “Executive Order”), and the Patriot Act; 

(ii) SMUD is not any of the following: 

(A) a Person that is listed in the annex to, or is otherwise subject to the 
provisions of, the Executive Order; 

(B) a Person owned or controlled by, or acting for or on behalf of, any 
Person that is listed in the annex to, or is otherwise subject to the provisions of, the 
Executive Order; 

(C)  a Person  with which the Bank is prohibited from dealing or 
otherwise engaging in any transaction by any Anti-Terrorism Law; 

(D) a Person that commits, threatens or conspires to commit or supports 
“terrorism” as defined in the Executive Order; or 

(E) a Person that is named as a “specially designated national and 
blocked person” on the most current list published by the Office of Foreign Asset 
Control (“OFAC”) or any list of Persons issued by OFAC pursuant to the Executive 
Order at its official website or any replacement website or other replacement 
official publication of such list; 

(iii) SMUD is an electrical utility. To its knowledge, SMUD does not 
(A) conduct any business or engage in making or receiving any contribution of funds, 
goods or services to or for the benefit of any Person described in subsection (ii)(B) above, 
(B) deal in, or otherwise engage in any transaction relating to, any property or interests in 
property blocked pursuant to the Executive Order or (C) engage in or conspires to engage 
in any transaction that evades or avoids, or has the purpose of evading or avoiding, or 
attempts to violate, any of the prohibitions set forth in any Anti-Terrorism Law. 

ARTICLE FIVE 

COVENANTS 

Section 5.1. Covenants of SMUD. SMUD will do the following so long as any amounts 
may be drawn hereunder or any Obligations remain outstanding under this Agreement, unless the 
Bank shall otherwise consent in writing: 

-38-




 

    

   
 

 

 
   

  

 

 
   

    
  

  
     

   
 

 
   

 

 

 

      
 

 
 

 (a)  Reports and Other Information. SMUD will furnish, or cause to be furnished, at 
SMUD’s expense to the Bank: 

(i) As soon as possible and in any event within five (5) Business Days after the 
knowledge (actual or constructive) or notice of occurrence of any Event of Default, a 
statement of the Authorized SMUD Representative setting forth details of such Event of 
Default and the action that SMUD proposes to take with respect thereto; 

(ii) As soon as available and in any event within two hundred seventy 
(270) days after the end of each Fiscal Year of SMUD, a copy of the audited financial 
statements of SMUD for such year, including a balance sheet of SMUD as at the end of 
such Fiscal Year and the related statements of revenues, expenses and changes in fund 
balances and statement of cash flows, all in reasonable detail and reported on by a firm of 
nationally recognized independent certified public accountants, and the report of such firm 
of independent certified public accountants shall state, without qualification, that such 
financial statements present fairly the financial position of SMUD as of the end of such 
Fiscal Year, the results of operations, the changes in fund balances and cash flows of 
SMUD for such Fiscal Year then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles; 

(iii) Simultaneously with the delivery of each set of financial statements referred 
to in clause (ii) above, a certificate of an Authorized SMUD Representative stating whether 
there exists on the date of such certificate any Event of Default or Default and, if any Event 
of Default or Default then exists, setting forth the details thereof and the action that SMUD 
is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto; 

 (iv)  Unaudited Semiannual Financials. As soon as available and in any event 
within 60 days after June 30 and December 31 of each calendar year, a copy of  the  
unaudited internally prepared balance sheet and statement of changes in net asset of SMUD 
for the six month or one year period ended on such date, setting forth in each case in 
comparative form the corresponding figures for the corresponding fiscal period for the 
preceding fiscal year, all in reasonable detail, prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, consistently applied, together with a compliance certificate 
signed by an Authorized SMUD Representative stating that no Event of Default or Default 
has occurred, or if such Event of Default or Default has occurred, specifying the nature of 
such Event of Default or Default, the period of its existence, the nature and status thereof 
and any remedial steps taken or proposed to correct such Event of Default or Default. 

(v) As soon as practicable and in any event within ten (10) Business Days after 
SMUD obtains actual knowledge of: (A) any litigation, arbitration or governmental 
proceeding pending against SMUD that challenges SMUD’s ability to perform its  
obligations under this Agreement and/or the SMUD Program Documents; or (B) any other 
event or condition that would prevent or is reasonably likely to prevent SMUD from 
performing its obligations under this Agreement and/or the SMUD Program Documents, 
in each case a statement of the Authorized SMUD Representative setting forth details 
describing the same and the steps being taken with respect thereto; 

-39-




 

 

 
 

    
 

     

 
  

  
 

      
  

  

     

 

    

   
     

 
  

    
  

   

 
 

(vi) As soon as practicable, notice of any disclosure documents publicly 
distributed in connection with any issue of Parity Bonds, Parity Subordinated Debt or 
Parity Notes; 

(vii) As soon as practicable, notice of any change in, or the withdrawal of, any 
rating of Bonds or Subordinated Bonds (without regard to bond insurance or any other 
form of credit enhancement) by any Rating Agency; and 

(viii) From time to time, such additional information regarding the financial 
position, results of operations, business or prospects of SMUD as the Bank may reasonably 
request. 

(b) Books and Records; Inspections. SMUD will keep proper books of record and 
account with respect to the Electric System in which full and correct entries shall be made of assets 
and liabilities, financial transactions and business of SMUD in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles. SMUD will upon reasonable notice permit any Person designated by the 
Bank in writing to visit any of the properties of SMUD, and to examine the books and financial 
records of SMUD relating to the Electric System and make copies thereof or extracts therefrom, 
and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of SMUD relating to SMUD with the principal 
officers of SMUD all at such reasonable times during normal business hours and as often as the 
Bank may reasonably request. 

 (c)  Maintain Existence. SMUD shall take no action that would terminate its existence, 
rights and franchises as a municipal utility district duly organized and existing under the 
Constitution and laws of the State of California. 

(d) Compliance with Laws. SMUD will comply with the requirements of all laws, rules, 
regulations and orders of any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over SMUD and/or the 
Electric System, noncompliance with which would materially adversely affect the ability of 
SMUD to perform its obligations under this Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents. 

 (e)  Compliance with Agreements. SMUD will observe and perform all of its obligations 
under this Agreement and the SMUD Program Documents. 

(f) Incorporation of Covenants by Reference. SMUD, by this reference, hereby 
incorporates into this Agreement those covenants and agreements made  by  it in  the  SMUD  
Program Documents, as such covenants and agreements exist on the date hereof, as if such 
covenants and agreements were set forth herein in their entirety together with all defined terms 
and interpretative provisions necessary for a complete understanding thereof. The incorporated 
provisions shall be in addition to the express covenants contained herein and shall not be limited 
by the express covenants contained herein nor shall the incorporated provisions be a limitation on 
the express covenants contained herein. In the event of a conflict between the covenants and 
agreements set forth in this Article V (other than the incorporated provisions) and the incorporated 
provisions, the covenants and agreements set forth in the other provisions of Article V shall 
prevail. 

-40-




 

    

 
  

 
 

   
   

 
  

  

        
   

  

  

    
 

  
 

 

       

  
 

     
 

(g) SMUD Program Documents. SMUD will not amend, supplement or otherwise 
modify, or agree to the amendment, modification or termination of, any of Sections 3.02, 3.05, 
3.06, 5.01, 5.02 and 6.08 of the Master Bond Resolution, Sections 3.02, 3.04, 3.04, 5.01, 5.02 and 
6.05 of the Subordinated Bond Resolution or any of the SMUD Program Documents (including, 
without limitation, an amendment to the Note Resolution reducing the Maximum Interest Rate to 
a rate below 12%) if such action could reasonably be expected to (i) adversely affect SMUD’s 
ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement or the SMUD Program Documents, (ii) 
adversely affect the business, financial position or results of operations of SMUD or (iii) adversely 
affect the rights, interests, security or remedies of the Bank, in each case, without the prior written 
consent of the Bank (the Bank shall provide SMUD its determination as to whether or not it 
consents to any amendment, supplement or modification to any SMUD Program Documents 
within ten (10) Business Days of written notice from SMUD of such amendment, supplement or 
modification). SMUD shall provide written notice to the Bank of any proposed amendment to the 
Master Bond Resolution or Subordinated Bond Resolution (and a copy of such proposed 
amendment) at least ten (10) calendar days prior to its effective date. 

(h) Reserved. 

 (i)  Alternate Provider. SMUD agrees that any termination of the Commitment and this 
Agreement as a result of the provision of any alternate credit facility will require, as a condition 
thereto, that SMUD or the issuer of the alternate credit facility will provide funds on the date of 
such termination or provision, which funds will be sufficient to pay in full at the time of termination 
of the Commitment all Obligations due to the Bank hereunder. 

 (j)  Reserved. 

(k) Reserved.

 (l)  Offering Documents. SMUD shall not make reference to the Bank in any offering 
document without the Bank’s prior written consent thereto (other than references to the name of 
the Bank solely in the Bank’s capacity as the credit provider with respect to the Revolving Notes).  
Except as may be required by law (including, but not limited to, federal and state securities laws), 
SMUD shall not use the Bank’s name (other than references to the name of the Bank solely in the 
Bank’s capacity as the credit provider with respect to the Revolving Notes) in any published 
materials (other than SMUD’s staff reports, annual statements, audited financial statements, rating 
agency presentations) without the prior written consent of the Bank. 

 (m)  Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of the Loans and Term Loans will be expended in 
the manner set forth in the Note Resolution and in not in violation of any applicable law. 

(n) Ranking of Obligations. SMUD shall not take any action that would result in the 
Obligations not ranking at least pari passu in right of payment from Available Revenues with the 
Revolving Notes, Parity Notes and Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreements. 

(o) Investments. SMUD will not, directly or indirectly, invest in instruments and 
securities other than those permitted by, and in accordance with, California Government Code 

-41-




 

 
  

 

  

     
  

   

 

         
 

 

 
 

    
  

  
  

    
 

   
   

 

     
  

     
   

  
  

Sections 53600 to 53609, the Master Bond Resolution, the Subordinated Bond Resolution or the 
Program Documents. SMUD will not permit SMUD to encumber its cash position nor schedule 
the interest payment dates and maturities of its investments in a manner which impedes, hinders 
or interferes with the availability of funds to meet SMUD’s expected cash needs. 

(p) Reserved. 

(q) Plans. SMUD will (i) remain at all times in compliance with any applicable law 
(including any legally available grace periods) with respect to any Plan, and (ii) maintain each Plan 
as to which it may have any liability in compliance in all material respects with the provisions of 
applicable law, the failure to comply with which could subject SMUD to any tax or penalty which 
tax or penalty, taken together, with all other taxes and penalties which could be assessed against 
SMUD by reason of all other non-compliances, would have a material adverse effect on the 
business, financial position or results of operations of SMUD. 

(r) Payment of Taxes, Etc. SMUD will pay and discharge, or cause to be paid and 
discharged, all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges which may hereafter be 
lawfully imposed upon SMUD on account of the Electric System or any portion thereof and which, 
if unpaid, might impair the security of the Revolving Notes, when the same shall become due, but 
nothing herein contained shall require SMUD to pay any such tax, assessment or charge so long 
as it shall in good faith contest the validity thereof. SMUD will duly observe and conform to all 
valid material requirements of any Governmental Authority relative to the Electric System or any 
part thereof. 

 (s)  Operation and Maintenance of Electric System. SMUD will operate, maintain and 
preserve the Electric System in good repair and working order in conformity with standards 
customarily followed for municipal power supply, transmission and distribution systems of like 
size and character. SMUD will from time to time make necessary and proper repairs, renewals, 
replacements and substitutions to the properties of the Electric System, so that business carried on 
in connection with the Electric System shall and can be conducted in an efficient and economical 
manner, and will operate the Electric System in an efficient and economical manner. SMUD shall 
not use the Electric System to conduct any business other than that which is lawfully permitted.

 (t)  Amounts of Rates and Charges. To the extent permitted by law, SMUD hereby 
covenants to establish, maintain and collect rates and charges with respect to the Electric System 
sufficient to pay the Parity Bonds, Parity Subordinated Debt, Parity Notes, Parity Notes 
Reimbursement Agreements, the Revolving Notes and all Obligations due and owing hereunder. 

(u) Maintenance of Insurance. SMUD maintains self-insurance for general liabilities, 
property damage and workers’ compensation claims. SMUD shall, at all times, continue to 
maintain such self-insurance or shall use its best efforts to maintain or cause to be maintained 
insurance or reserves against loss from such hazards and risks to the person or property of others 
as are usually insured or reserved against by those with rights and interests in property similar to 
the Electric System. SMUD shall also procure, and maintain at all times adequate fidelity 
insurance or bonds on all officers and employees handling or responsible for any Electric System 
revenues, such insurance or bonds to be in an aggregate amount at least equal to the maximum 

-42-




 

   
  

     
   

   

 
  

     

 

 

  

   
 

     

  
 

  
  

 

    
    

  
 

  
   

amount of such Electric System revenues at any one time in the custody of all such officers and 
employees or in the amount of one million dollars ($1,000,000), whichever is less.  The insurance 
described above may be provided as a part of any comprehensive fidelity and other insurance and 
not separately for the Electric System. 

(v) Sale or Other Disposition of Property. SMUD will not sell or otherwise dispose of 
any property essential to the proper operation of the Electric System or to the maintenance of the 
Revenues. SMUD will not enter into any lease or agreement which impairs or impedes the 
operation of the Electric System or which otherwise impairs or impedes the rights of the 
Bondholders (as defined in the Master Bond Resolution) or the Bank with respect to Revenues.  
Subject to the preceding sentence, nothing contained herein shall prevent SMUD from entering 
into sale and leaseback agreements pursuant to which SMUD may acquire the use of property 
subject to the terms of such sale and leaseback agreements. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of the Master Bond Resolution, 
SMUD may sell or otherwise dispose of its accounts receivable and customer loan balances due to 
SMUD provided that: 

(1) SMUD delivers to the Trustee (as defined in the Master Bond Resolution): 

(a) a certificate of SMUD to the effect that the amount derived by 
SMUD from the sale or other disposition of such accounts receivable or loan 
balances is a result of the sale or other disposition of such accounts receivable or 
loan balances upon fair and reasonable terms no less favorable to SMUD than the 
terms of a comparable arm’s-length transaction treated as a sale and not a loan under 
generally accepted accounting principles; and 

(b) a written statement or report of an independent certified public 
accountant to the effect that, based on the audited financial statements of SMUD 
for the most recent fiscal year for which audited financial statements are available 
and after giving effect to such transaction by reducing Revenues for such fiscal year 
by the difference between the face amount of such accounts receivable or loan 
balances and the amount derived by SMUD from the sale or other disposition of 
such accounts receivable or loan balances, the debt service ratio computed pursuant 
to Section 5.04 of the Master Bond Resolution would not have been reduced to less 
than 1.40:1.0. 

 (w)  Liens. Except as permitted by the Master Bond Resolution, the Subordinated Bond 
Resolution or the Note Resolution or as otherwise acceptable to the Bank, SMUD will not (a) issue 
any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of similar nature payable out of or secured by 
a security interest in or a pledge or assignment of the Electric System revenues pledged under the 
Master Bond Resolution, the Subordinated Bond Resolution or the Note Resolution and held or 
set aside by SMUD thereunder, or (b) create or cause to be created any Lien on the Electric System 
revenues. SMUD shall not, directly or indirectly, incur, create or permit to exist any Lien on all 
or any portion of the Electric System revenue that would affect the priority of Liens in existence 
on the Closing Date. 

-43-




 

  

    

 

    

    

    

    
 

      

  
  

  

  
 

     

    
  

   
   

   
 

  

 

(x) Reserved. 

(y) Further Assurances. SMUD agrees to do such further acts and things and to execute 
and deliver to the Bank such additional assignments, agreements, powers and instruments as the 
Bank may reasonably require or reasonably deem advisable to carry into effect the purposes of this 
Agreement and the Fee Agreement or to better assure and confirm to the Bank its rights, powers 
and remedies hereunder and under the SMUD Program Documents. 

 (z)  Immunity. SMUD covenants that it will not claim immunity on the grounds of  
sovereignty or other similar grounds with respect to itself from (i) suit or (ii) jurisdiction of any 
court because of its status as a political subdivision of the State of California. 

(aa) Ratings. SMUD shall maintain long-term unenhanced ratings from at least two 
Rating Agencies on Bonds and Parity Bonds. 

(bb) Swap Contracts. Without the prior written consent of the Bank, SMUD shall not 
enter into any Swap Contracts relating to Debt wherein any termination payments thereunder are 
senior to or on parity with the payment of any Obligation.  

(cc) Shorter Amortization. In the event that SMUD shall, directly or indirectly, enter into 
or otherwise consent to any Bank Agreement relating to Parity Notes or other Debt of SMUD 
secured by a lien on Net Revenues on parity with the Revolving Notes which such Bank Agreement 
provides such Person with a shorter amortization period than what is set forth in Section 2.22(b) 
hereof (not taking into account any shorter amortization period that might occur under such Bank 
Agreement because of a default, termination event, or other similar event under such Bank 
Agreement) (each a “Shorter Amortization Period”), SMUD shall provide the Bank with a copy 
of each such Bank Agreement and such Shorter Amortization Period shall automatically be 
deemed to be incorporated into this Agreement and the Bank shall have the benefit of such Shorter 
Amortization Period as if specifically set forth herein. SMUD shall promptly enter into an 
amendment to this Agreement to include such Shorter Amortization Period; provided that the Bank 
shall have and maintain the benefit of such Shorter Amortization Period even if SMUD fails to 
provide such amendment. 

(dd) Incorporation of Covenants by Reference. SMUD agrees that it will perform and 
comply with each and every covenant and agreement required to be performed or observed by it 
in each of the Program Documents, which provisions, as well as related defined terms contained 
therein, are hereby incorporated by reference herein with the same effect as if each and every such 
provision were set forth herein in its entirety all of which shall be deemed to be made for the 
benefit of the Bank and shall be enforceable against SMUD. To the extent that any such 
incorporated provision permits SMUD or any other party to waive compliance with such provision 
or requires that a document, opinion or other instrument or any event or condition be acceptable 
or satisfactory to SMUD or any other party, for purposes of this Agreement, such provision shall 
be complied with unless it is specifically waived by the Bank in writing and such document, 
opinion or other instrument and such event or condition shall be acceptable or satisfactory only if 
it is acceptable or satisfactory to the Bank which shall only be evidenced by the written approval 
by the Bank of the same. No termination or amendment to such covenants and agreements or 

-44-




 

   

  

   
 

 

 

  

  

    

  
  

 
 

  
    

 
 

 
  

 

 
  

 

defined terms or release of SMUD with respect thereto made pursuant to the other Program 
Documents, shall be effective to terminate or amend such covenants and agreements and defined 
terms or release SMUD with respect thereto in each case as incorporated by reference herein 
without the prior written consent of the Bank. Notwithstanding any termination or expiration of 
the other Program Document, SMUD shall continue to observe the covenants therein contained 
for the benefit of the Bank until the termination of this Agreement and the payment in full of all 
Obligations. All such incorporated covenants shall be in addition to the express covenants 
contained herein and shall not be limited by the express covenants contained herein nor shall such 
incorporated covenants be a limitation on the express covenants contained herein. 

ARTICLE SIX 

DEFAULTS 

Section 6.1. Events of Default and Remedies. If any of the following events shall occur, 
each such event shall be an “Event of Default”: 

(a) SMUD shall fail to pay when due (i) the principal of any Loan or Term 
Loan; (ii) the interest on any Loan or Term Loan; or (iii) any other amount payable 
hereunder or under the Fee Agreement and, solely with respect to clause (iii) hereof, such 
default shall continue unremedied for five (5) Business Days; 

(b) SMUD shall (i) default in the due performance or observance by it of any 
term, covenant or agreement contained in Sections 5.1(a)(i), 5.1(c), 5.1(f), 5.1(g), 5.1(i), 
5.1(l), 5.1(m), 5.1(n), 5.1(t), 5.1(v), 5.1(w), 5.1(x) or 5.1(z); (ii) default in the due 
performance or observance by it of any other term, covenant or agreement contained in 
Sections 5.1(a)(v), 5.1(a)(vi) or 5.1(a)(vii) and such default shall continue unremedied for 
a period of 5 Business Days; (iii) default in the due performance or observance by it of any 
other terms, covenant or agreement continued in Section 5.1(a)(ii), 5.1(a)(iii), 5.1(a)(iv) or 
5.1(a)(viii) and such default shall continue unremedied for a period of 5 Business Days 
after the Bank has provided written notice to SMUD; or (iv) default in the due performance 
or observance by it of any other term, covenant or agreement hereunder or under the Fee 
Agreement (other than those referred to in Section 6.1(a), 6.1(b)(i), 6.1(b)(ii) or 6.1(b)(iii) 
hereof) and such default shall continue unremedied for a period of thirty (30) days; 

(c) Any representation, warranty, certification or statement made or deemed 
made by SMUD in this Agreement, any Program Document or in any certificate, financial 
statement or other document delivered to the Bank pursuant to this Agreement shall prove 
when made or deemed made, in the reasonable judgment of the Bank, to have been 
inaccurate and misleading in any material respect; or 

(d) SMUD shall (i) default in any payment of (A) any Debt payable from or 
secured by Net Revenues beyond the period of grace (not to exceed 30 days), if any, 
provided in the instrument or agreement under which such Debt was created or (B) any 
obligation under any Swap Contract the obligations under which are secured by a lien on 

-45-




 

 

  
  

   
  

  
 
 

  
   

   
 

 
    

 

  

 
 

 
 

 

 

Net Revenues senior to or on a parity with the Obligations, or (ii) default in the observance 
or performance of any agreement or condition relating to any Debt payable from or secured 
by Net Revenues on parity with or senior to the Obligations or Swap Contract or Bank 
Agreement the obligations under which are payable from or secured by Net Revenues on 
parity with or senior to the Obligations contained in any instrument or agreement 
evidencing, securing or relating thereto, or any other event shall occur or condition exist, 
the effect of which default or other event or condition is to cause, or to permit (A) the 
holder or holders (or a trustee or agent on behalf of such holder or holders) of any Debt or 
(B) the counterparty under any Swap Contract or Bank Agreement, in each case, payable 
from or secured by Net Revenues on parity with or senior to the Obligations to cause, with 
the giving of notice if required, such Debt or obligations under such Swap Contract or Bank 
Agreement to become due prior to its stated maturity; or (iii) any Debt secured by a lien on 
Net Revenues senior to or on a parity with the Obligations payable from or secured by Net 
Revenues or Swap Contract or Bank Agreement the obligations under which are payable 
from or secured by Net Revenues on parity with or senior to the Obligations shall be 
declared to be due and payable, or required to be prepaid other than by a regularly 
scheduled required prepayment, prior to the stated maturity thereof; or 

(e) SMUD shall commence a voluntary case or other proceeding seeking 
liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to itself or its debts under any 
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking the 
appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official of itself or 
any substantial part of its property, or shall consent to any such relief or to the appointment 
of or taking possession by any such official in an involuntary case or other proceeding 
commenced against it, or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or 
shall fail generally, or in the reasonable judgment of the Bank be unable, to pay its debts 
as they become due, or shall take any action to authorize any of the foregoing; or 

(f) An involuntary case or other proceeding shall be commenced against 
SMUD seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to it or its debts 
under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking 
the appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official of it or 
any substantial part of its property and such case or proceeding is not controverted within 
thirty (30) days and dismissed within sixty (60) days; or an order for relief shall be entered 
against SMUD under the Federal bankruptcy laws as now or hereafter in effect; or 

(g) (i) A court of competent jurisdiction or other governmental authority with 
appropriate jurisdiction over SMUD shall enter a final and non-appealable judgment, order 
or decree declaring any (x) obligation of SMUD contained in this Agreement, any Program 
Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution or 
(y) Program Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution, 
in either case, to be invalid, not binding or unenforceable against SMUD or (ii) any action 
is taken by the SMUD Board or any officer of SMUD authorized by the SMUD Board to 
contest the validity or enforceability of this Agreement, any other Program Document, the 
Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution or the SMUD Board or any 
officer of SMUD authorized by the SMUD Board repudiates its obligations under any 

-46-




 

 

  

 

  
 

 

 
 

 

 

   

    
  

 

 

 

    

 

Program Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution or 
any provision thereof or with respect to any Debt of SMUD secured by or payable from 
Net Revenues senior to or on a parity with the Obligations, or SMUD shall seek an 
adjudication that this Agreement, any other Program Document, the Master Bond 
Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution is not valid and binding; or 

(h) A moratorium shall have been declared or announced by a Governmental 
Authority (whether or not in writing) with respect to any Debt of SMUD secured by Net 
Revenues, Net Subordinated Revenues or Available Revenues; or 

(i) Dissolution or termination of the existence of SMUD; or 

(j) A court of competent jurisdiction shall enter a final and non-appealable 
judgment, order or decree for the payment of money in excess of $10,000,000 shall be 
rendered against SMUD and such judgment or order shall continue, unbonded or 
unsatisfied for a period of 60 days; or 

(k) Any of the funds or accounts established pursuant to the Master Bond 
Resolution, the Subordinated Bond Resolution or the Note Resolution or any funds or 
accounts on deposit, or otherwise to the credit of, such funds or accounts shall become 
subject to any stay, writ, judgment, warrant of attachment, execution or similar process by 
any of the creditors of SMUD relating to an obligation or obligations of SMUD in excess 
of $10,000,000 and such stay, writ, judgment, warrant of attachment, execution or similar 
process shall not be released, vacated or stayed within fifteen (15) days after its issue or 
levy; or 

(l) Any pledge or security interest created by this Agreement, any Program 
Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution to secure any 
amount due by SMUD under this Agreement, the Fee Agreement or either Revolving Note 
shall fail to be fully enforceable with the priority required hereunder or thereunder; or 

(m) (i) Any event which materially and adversely affects the ability of SMUD 
to observe and perform its obligations under this Agreement or the Fee Agreement shall 
have occurred and be continuing, (ii) any event which materially and adversely affects the 
ability of SMUD to observe and perform its obligations under any SMUD Program 
Document, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond Resolution shall have 
occurred and be continuing or (iii) either the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated 
Bond Resolution shall be amended and such amendment materially and adversely affects 
the ability of SMUD to observe and perform its obligations under this Agreement or the 
Fee Agreement; or 

(n) An “event of default” (or similar event) shall have occurred under any of 
the Program Documents, the Master Bond Resolution or the Subordinated Bond 
Resolution; or 

-47-




 

 
 

 
      

 
 

 
  

  
  

   

  
 

  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

   
  

(o) There shall be appointed or designated with respect to SMUD, an entity 
such as an organization, board, commission, authority, agency or body to declare a 
financial emergency or similar state of financial distress with respect to it or there shall be 
declared by it or by any legislative or regulatory body with competent jurisdiction over it, 
the existence of a state of financial emergency or similar state of financial distress in respect 
of it; or 

(p) The (i) downgrade by any Rating Agency of its long-term unenhanced 
rating with respect to any Bonds to a level below “Baa3” (or its equivalent) in the case of 
Moody’s, “BBB-” (or its equivalent) in the case of S&P or “BBB-” (or its equivalent) in 
the case of Fitch or (ii) suspension or withdrawal by any Rating Agency of its respective 
long-term unenhanced rating on any Bonds for credit-related reasons.  

Section 6.2. Remedies. Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default or an Optional 
Termination Event the Bank may exercise any one or more of the following rights and remedies 
in addition to any other remedies herein or by law provided: 

(a) declare all Obligations to be immediately due and payable, whereupon the 
same shall be immediately due and payable without any further notice of any kind, which 
notice is hereby waived by SMUD; provided, however, that in the case of an Event of 
Default described in Section 6.1(e), 6.1(f) or 6.1(h) hereof, such acceleration shall 
automatically occur (unless such automatic acceleration is waived by the Bank in writing); 
or 

(b) with respect to Non-Credit Events of Default only, give notice to SMUD 
that its obligation to make Loans and Term Loans hereunder is terminated (SMUD hereby 
acknowledges that upon the occurrence of a Credit Event of Default, the Bank’s obligation 
to make Loans and Term Loans shall automatically terminate without the giving of any 
notice) with respect thereto; or 

(c) pursue any rights and remedies it may have under the Program Documents; 
or 

(d) pursue any other action available at law or in equity. 

ARTICLE SEVEN 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 7.1. Amendments, Waivers, Etc. No amendment or waiver of any provision of 
this Agreement, or consent to any departure therefrom, shall in any event be effective unless the 
same shall be in writing and signed by the parties hereto, and then such waiver or consent shall be 
effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which given. 

-48-




 

  

 

 

 

 

 

    

  
 

   

    
  

  
  

 

Section 7.2. Notices. All notices and other communications provided for hereunder 
(except as provided in Section 2.2(b) hereof) shall be in writing (including required copies) and 
sent by receipted hand delivery (including Federal Express or other receipted courier service), 
facsimile transmission, or regular mail, as follows: 

(a) if to SMUD: Sacramento Municipal Utility District 
6201 S Street 
Sacramento, California 95817-1899 
Attention: Treasurer 
Telephone: 
Telecopy: 

(916) 732-6509 
(916) 732-5835 

(b) if to the Bank, with 
respect to the Loans: 

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 
_________________ 
_________________ 
_________________7 
Attention: _________________ 
Telephone: _________________ 
Telecopy: _________________ 

(c) if to the Bank, with 
respect to all matters: 

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 
_________________ 
_________________ 
_________________7 
Attention: _________________ 
Telephone: _________________ 
Telecopy: _________________ 

or, as to each Person named above, at such other address as shall be designated by such Person in 
a written notice to the parties hereto. All such notices and other communications shall, when 
delivered, sent by facsimile transmission or mailed, be effective when deposited with the courier, 
sent by facsimile transmission or mailed respectively, addressed as aforesaid, except that Notices 
of Borrowings submitted to the Bank shall not be effective until received by the Bank. 

Section 7.3. Survival of Covenants; Successors and Assigns. (a) All covenants, 
agreements, representations, and warranties made herein and in the certificates delivered pursuant 
hereto shall survive the making of any Loan and Term Loan hereunder and shall continue in full 
force and effect until the Commitment and this Agreement shall have terminated and all of the 
Obligations hereunder shall have been paid in full. Whenever in this Agreement any of the parties 
hereto is referred to, such reference shall, subject to the last sentence of this Section, be deemed to 
include the successors and assigns of such party, and all covenants, promises and agreements by 
or on behalf of SMUD which are contained in this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the 
successors and assigns of the Bank and the Noteholders, and their respective permitted successors, 
transferees and assigns as set forth herein.  SMUD may not transfer its rights or obligations under 
this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Bank.  This Agreement is made solely for 

-49-




 

 
  

  
 

   
  

  

   
  

  

  
 

 
 

 
   

 
  

 
 

    
  

 
  

 

   
 

 
   

   

  

the benefit of SMUD and the Bank, and no other Person shall have any right, benefit or interest 
under or because of the existence of this Agreement. 

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Bank and each Noteholder shall be permitted to 
grant to one or more financial institutions (each a “Participant”) a participation or participations 
in all or any part of the Bank’s or such Noteholder’s rights and benefits and obligations under this 
Agreement, the Revolving Notes and the Commitment on a participating basis but not as a party 
to this Agreement (a “Participation”) without the consent of SMUD. In the event of any such 
grant by the Bank or a Noteholder of a Participation to a Participant, the Bank and such Noteholder 
shall remain responsible for the performance of its obligations hereunder, and SMUD shall 
continue to deal solely and directly with the Bank in connection with the Bank’s rights and 
obligations under this Agreement. SMUD agrees that each Participant shall, to the extent of its 
Participation, be entitled to the benefits of this Agreement as if such Participant were the Bank or 
such Noteholder, provided that no Participant shall have the right to declare, or to take actions in 
response to, an Event of Default under Section 6.1 hereof; provided further that SMUD’s liability 
to any Participant shall not in any event exceed that liability which SMUD would owe to the Bank 
but for such participation. 

 (c)  Noteholders Generally. (i) Each Noteholder may, in its sole discretion and in 
accordance with applicable law, from time to time assign, sell or transfer in whole or in part, this 
Agreement, its interest in the Revolving Notes and the Program Documents in accordance with 
the provisions of paragraph (ii) or (iii) of this Section. Each Noteholder may at any time and from 
time to time enter into participation agreements in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (d) 
of this Section. Each Noteholder may at any time pledge or assign a security interest subject to 
the restrictions of Section 7.18 hereof. Wells Fargo Bank, National Association shall be the Bank 
hereunder until such time as the Majority Noteholder designates an alternate Person to serve as the 
Bank hereunder by delivery of written notice to SMUD and such Person accepts and agrees to act 
as the Bank hereunder and under the Program Documents. The Majority Noteholder may so 
designate an alternate Person that is an owner of the Revolving Notes to act as the Bank from time 
to time. Upon acceptance and notification thereof to SMUD, the successor to the Bank for such 
purposes shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all of the rights, powers, privileges 
and responsibilities of the Bank, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association or any other Person 
being replaced as the Bank shall be discharged from its duties and obligations as the Bank 
hereunder. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, neither Wells Fargo Bank, 
National Association nor any other Bank may assign its obligations to advance or make Loans or 
Term Loans pursuant to the terms of this Agreement without the prior written consent of SMUD 
(such consent not to be unreasonably withheld). In addition, if the Bank makes any Loan or Term 
Loan hereunder, the Bank has no present intent to assign or sell any such Loan or Term Loan and 
all or any portion of the Revolving Notes relating thereto.  

 (ii)  Sales and Transfers by Noteholder to a Bank Transferee. Without 
limitation of the foregoing generality, a Noteholder may at any time sell or otherwise 
transfer to one or more transferees all or a portion of the Revolving Notes to a Person that 
is (A) a Bank Affiliate or (B) a trust or other custodial arrangement established by the Bank 
or a Bank Affiliate, the owners of any beneficial interest in which are limited to “qualified 
institutional buyers” as defined in Rule 144A promulgated under the 1933 Act (each, a 

-50-




 

  

 

        

 

   
   

 

 

  
 

    
   

 

 

 
   

   

   

 

     

“Bank Transferee”). From and after the date of such sale or transfer, Wells Fargo Bank, 
National Association (and its successors) shall continue to have all of the rights of the Bank 
hereunder and under the other Program Documents as if no such transfer or sale had 
occurred; provided, however, that (x) no such sale or transfer referred to in clause (ii)(A) 
or (ii)(B) hereof shall in any way affect the obligations of the Bank hereunder, (y) SMUD 
shall be required to deal only with the Bank with respect to any matters under this 
Agreement and (z) in the case of a sale or transfer referred to in clause (b)(i) or (b)(ii) 
hereof, only the Bank shall be entitled to enforce the provisions of this Agreement against 
SMUD. 

(iii) Sales and Transfers by Noteholder to a Non-Bank Transferee.  Without  
limitation of the foregoing generality, a Noteholder may at any time sell or otherwise 
transfer to one or more transferees which are not Bank Transferees but each of which 
constitutes (A) a “qualified institutional buyer” as defined in Rule 144A promulgated under 
the 1933 Act and (B) a commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States, or 
any state thereof, or any other country which is a member of the Organization for Economic 
Cooperation and Development, or a political subdivision of any such country, and, in any 
such case, having a combined capital and surplus, determined as of the date of any transfer 
pursuant to this clause (iii), of not less than $5,000,000,000 (each a “Non-Bank 
Transferee”) all or a portion of the Revolving Notes if (1) written notice of such sale or 
transfer, including that such sale or  transfer is  to a Non-Bank Transferee, together with 
addresses and related information with respect to the Non-Bank Transferee, shall have been 
given to SMUD and the Bank (if different than the Noteholder) by such selling Noteholder 
and Non-Bank Transferee and (2) the Non-Bank Transferee shall have delivered to SMUD 
and the selling Noteholder, an investment letter in substantially the form delivered by the 
Bank on the Closing Date (the “Investor Letter”). 

From and after the date SMUD and the selling Noteholder have received written notice and 
an executed Investor Letter for such Non-Bank Transferee, (A) the Non-Bank Transferee 
thereunder shall be a party hereto and shall have the rights and obligations of a Noteholder 
hereunder and under the other Program Documents, and this Agreement shall be deemed 
to be amended to the extent, but only to the extent, necessary to effect the addition of the 
Non-Bank Transferee, and any reference to the assigning Noteholder hereunder and under 
the other Program Documents shall thereafter refer to such transferring Noteholder and to 
the Non-Bank Transferee to the extent of their respective interests, and (B) if the 
transferring Noteholder no longer owns any Revolving Notes, then it shall relinquish its 
rights and be released from its obligations hereunder and under the Program Documents. 

Section 7.4. Unconditional Obligations. The obligations of SMUD under this Agreement 
and the Fee Agreement shall be primary, absolute, independent, unconditional and irrevocable and 
shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Fee Agreement, 
including without limitation the following circumstances: 

(a) Any lack of validity or enforceability of the Program Documents or any 
other agreement or instrument relating to any of the above; 

-51-




 

   
  

 

 

 
 

    
 

 

 

    

  

   
 

 
  

 
  

    

         

   

  
   

   

(b) Any amendment or waiver of, or any consent to or departure from, any 
provision of any of the Program Documents, except for any waiver or consent granted by 
the Bank; 

(c) The existence of any claim, setoff, defense or other rights that SMUD may 
have at any time against the Bank or any other Person, whether in connection with this 
Agreement, the Program Documents or any unrelated transaction; 

(d) Any breach of contract or other dispute between SMUD and any 
Noteholder, the Bank or any other Person; 

(e) Any demand, statement or any other document presented hereunder proving 
to have been forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect or any statement 
therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect whatsoever; 

(f) Payment by the Bank hereunder against presentation of a draft or certificate 
which does not comply strictly with the terms of this Agreement; or 

(h) The failure by the Bank to honor any Notice of Borrowing hereunder or to 
make any payment demanded hereunder on the grounds that the demand for such payment 
does not conform strictly to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

Section 7.5. Liability of Bank; Indemnification. (a)(i) Except as provided in this 
Agreement, the Bank shall not be obligated to issue any further credits, to cure any defaults under 
any Program Document or otherwise, or in any other manner to extend any financial consideration 
or accommodation to SMUD. 

(ii) The Bank shall not be deemed to have waived or released any of its rights or remedies 
(whether specified in or arising under this Agreement, the Fee Agreement or otherwise available 
to it by law or agreement) unless the Bank shall have signed a written waiver or release. Delay or 
failure to act on the Bank’s part shall not constitute a waiver of or otherwise preclude enforcement 
of any of their rights and remedies. All of the Bank’s rights and remedies shall be cumulative and 
may be exercised separately or concurrently. The Bank need not resort to any particular right or 
remedy before exercising or enforcing any other, and the Bank’s resort to any right or remedy shall 
not preclude the exercise or enforcement of any other right or remedy. 

(iii) Neither the Bank nor any of its officers, directors, employees or agents shall be liable 
or responsible for: 

(A) The use that may be made of the Commitment or the Loans or Term Loans; 

(B) The form, validity, sufficiency, accuracy or genuineness of documents, or 
of any endorsements thereon, even if such documents should prove to be in any or all 
respects invalid, insufficient, inaccurate, fraudulent or forged, so long as the Bank was not 
grossly negligent or guilty of willful misconduct as determined by a court of competent 
jurisdiction; 

-52-




 

  
  
 

   
 

   

  

 

  

 
  

  
 

 

 
   

 
 

 

  
  

   

    
  

 

(C) Payment by the Bank against presentation of documents that do not comply 
strictly with the terms of this Agreement, including failure of any documents to bear any 
reference or adequate reference to this Agreement; 

(D) The validity or sufficiency of any instrument transferring or assigning or 
purporting to transfer or assign this Agreement or the rights or benefits thereunder or 
proceeds thereof, in whole or in part, which may prove to be invalid or ineffective for any 
reason; 

(E) Errors, omissions, interruptions or delays in transmission or delivery of any 
messages by telex, mail, cable, telegraph, facsimile or otherwise, whether or not they have 
been in cipher, including any Notices of Borrowing under this Agreement; 

(F) Errors in interpretation of technical terms; or 

(G) Any consequences arising from causes beyond the control of the Bank, 
including, without limitation, any Government Acts; 

provided that, notwithstanding anything in the preceding clauses (A) through (G) to the contrary, 
SMUD shall have a claim against the Bank, and the Bank shall be liable to SMUD, to the extent, 
but only to the extent, of any direct, as opposed to consequential, damages suffered by SMUD that 
SMUD proves were caused by (A) the Bank’s failure to pay under this Agreement after the 
presentation to it by SMUD of a certificate strictly complying with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement or (B) the Bank’s willful or grossly negligent payment under this Agreement as 
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final non-appealable judgment. 

In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, the Bank may accept documents that 
appear on their face to be in order, without responsibility for further investigation, regardless of 
any notice or information to the contrary. 

(b) (i) To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, SMUD agrees to indemnify, 
save and hold harmless each Bank-Related Person from and against: (A) any and all claims, 
demands, actions or causes of action that may at any time (including at any time following 
repayment of the Obligations) be asserted or imposed against any Bank-Related Person arising out 
of or relating to this Agreement, the Loans and Term Loans, the Fee Agreement or any Program 
Document, the use or contemplated use of the proceeds of any Loan or Term Loan, or the 
relationship of SMUD and the Bank under this Agreement or any Program Document; (B) any 
investigative, administrative or judicial proceeding by any Governmental Authority arising out of 
or related to a claim, demand, action or cause of action described in subsection (A) above; and 
(C) any and all liabilities (including liabilities under indemnities), losses, costs or expenses 
(including attorney costs) that any Bank-Related Person suffers or incurs as a result of the assertion 
of any foregoing claim, demand, action, cause of action or proceeding, or as a result of the 
preparation of any defense in connection with any foregoing claim, demand, action, cause of action 
or proceeding, in all cases, and whether or not a Bank-Related Person is a party to such claim, 
demand, action, cause of action or proceeding; provided that no Bank-Related Person shall be 
entitled to indemnification for any claim caused by its own gross negligence or willful misconduct.  

-53-




 

 

    
 

      

   

  

  
   

  
 

 

  
   

 

   
 

 
  

 

  
  

 
 

  

The agreements in this subsection shall survive the termination of this Agreement and repayment 
of all of the Obligations. 

(ii) To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, SMUD shall also indemnify and 
hold harmless the Bank from any transfer taxes, documentary taxes, assessments or charges made 
by any Governmental Authority by reason of the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the 
Program Documents or the making available of the Commitment The agreements in this 
subsection shall survive the termination of this Agreement and repayment of all of the Obligations. 

Section 7.6. Expenses. SMUD will promptly pay (i) the reasonable fees and expenses of 
counsel to the Bank incurred in connection with the preparation, execution and delivery of this 
Agreement and the other Program Documents, (ii) the reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the 
Bank incurred in connection with the preparation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and 
the other Program Documents, (iii) the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel to the Bank 
with respect to advising the Bank as to the rights and responsibilities under this Agreement after 
the occurrence of an Event of Default and (iv) all reasonable costs and expenses, if any, in 
connection with the administration and enforcement of this Agreement and the Program 
Documents and any other documents which may be delivered in connection herewith or therewith, 
including in each case the fees and disbursements of counsel to the Bank. In addition, SMUD 
agrees to pay, after the occurrence of an Event of Default, all reasonable costs and expenses 
(including attorneys’ and consultants’ fees and costs of  settlement) incurred by the Bank in 
enforcing any obligations or in collecting any payments due from SMUD hereunder by reason of 
such Event of Default or in connection with any refinancing or restructuring of the credit 
arrangements provided under this Agreement in the nature of a “workout” or of any insolvency or 
bankruptcy proceedings. The obligations of SMUD under this Section 7.6 shall survive the 
termination of this Agreement. 

Section 7.7. No Waiver; Conflict. No failure by the Bank to exercise, and no delay by the 
Bank in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder, nor any course of dealing with respect 
to any of the same, shall operate as a waiver thereof, preclude any other or further exercise thereof 
nor shall a single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the 
exercise of any other right, power, or privilege. The rights, remedies, powers and privileges herein 
provided and provided under each other Program Document are cumulative, and not exclusive of 
any rights, remedies, powers and privileges provided by law. 

Section 7.8. Modification, Amendment, Waiver, Etc. No modification, amendment or 
waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective unless the same shall be in writing 
and signed in accordance with Section 7.1 hereof. 

Section 7.9. Dealing with SMUD . The Bank and its affiliates may accept deposits from, 
extend credit to and generally engage in any kind of banking, trust or other business with SMUD 
regardless of the capacity of the Bank hereunder. 

Section 7.10. Severability. Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or 
unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such 
prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or affecting 

-54-




 

 
 

  
 

   
 

       
  

 

 
    

 
  

 
 

 
 

  
 

   

   

   

   

  

      

    

  

    

     

  

      

  

  

     

the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction, and all other remaining 
provisions hereof will be construed to render them enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by 
law. 

Section 7.11. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, 
each of which shall constitute an original, but when taken together shall constitute but one 
agreement and any of the parties hereto may execute this Agreement by signing any such 
counterpart. The parties agree that the electronic signature of a party to this Agreement shall be 
as valid as  an original  signature of  such party and  shall  be effective to bind such party to this 
Agreement. The parties agree that any electronically signed document (including this Agreement) 
shall be deemed (i) to be “written” or “in writing,” (ii) to have been signed and (iii) to constitute a 
record established and maintained in the ordinary course of business and an original written record 
when printed from electronic files.  Such paper copies or “printouts,” if introduced as evidence in 
any judicial, arbitral, mediation or administrative proceeding, will be admissible as between the 
parties to the same extent and under the same conditions as other original business records created 
and maintained in documentary form. Neither party shall contest the admissibility of true and 
accurate copies of electronically signed documents on the basis of the best evidence rule or as not 
satisfying the business records exception to the hearsay rule. For purposes hereof, “electronic 
signature” means a manually-signed original signature that is then transmitted by electronic means; 
“transmitted by electronic means” means sent in the form of a facsimile or sent via the internet as 
a “pdf” (portable document format) or other replicating image attached to an e-mail message; and, 
“electronically signed document” means a document transmitted by electronic means and 
containing, or to which there is affixed, an electronic signature. 

Section 7.12. Table of Contents; Headings. The table of contents and the section and 
subsection headings used herein have been inserted for convenience of reference only and do not 
constitute matters to be considered in interpreting this Agreement. 

SECTION 7.13. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. THIS AGREEMENT REPRESENTS THE FINAL AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE PARTIES HERETO WITH RESPECT TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF AND MAY NOT BE 

CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS, OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS 

OF THE PARTIES HERETO AS TO SUCH SUBJECT MATTER. 

 Section 7.14. Governing Law.  PURSUANT TO SECTION 5-1401 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL 

OBLIGATIONS LAW (OR ANY SUCCESSOR STATUTE THERETO), THIS  AGREEMENT AND THE FEE 
AGREEMENT SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A CONTRACT UNDER, AND SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND  

CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND 

APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE CAPACITY, POWER AND AUTHORITY OF 

SMUD TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OBLIGATIONS OF SMUD HEREUNDER SHALL BE 
GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE 
OF CALIFORNIA AND APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW WITHOUT REGARD TO CHOICE OF LAW RULES. 

Section 7.15. Waiver of Jury Trial.  (a) TO THE FULL EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, SMUD 
AND THE BANK EACH WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY JURY FOR ANY CLAIM OR 

CAUSE OF ACTION BASED UPON OR ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE  FEE 
AGREEMENT, ANY OF THE OTHER PROGRAM DOCUMENTS, THE MASTER BOND RESOLUTION, THE 

-55-




 

   

    

    

    

   

  

       

     

     
 

  

  
 

  
   

 
 

 

 

 
   
  

 

 
 

    

SUBORDINATED BOND RESOLUTION OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY. 
EACH OF SMUD AND THE BANK FURTHER AGREES THAT ANY SUCH CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION 

SHALL BE TRIED BY A COURT TRIAL WITHOUT JURY. WITHOUT LIMITING THE FOREGOING, TO THE 
EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE PARTIES FURTHER AGREE THAT THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHT TO A 
TRIAL BY JURY IS WAIVED BY OPERATION OF THIS SECTION AS TO ANY ACTION, COUNTERCLAIM OR 

OTHER PROCEEDING WHICH SEEKS, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, TO CHALLENGE THE VALIDITY OR 
ENFORCEABILITY OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE FEE AGREEMENT, AND/OR ANY PROVISION HEREOF OR 
THEREOF. THIS WAIVER SHALL APPLY TO ANY SUBSEQUENT AMENDMENTS, RENEWALS, 
SUPPLEMENTS OR MODIFICATIONS TO THIS AGREEMENT AND/OR THE FEE AGREEMENT. 

(b) In the event the waiver of jury trial as set forth in subsection (a) of this Section shall 
be declared void or unenforceable, each of SMUD and the Bank agrees to refer the dispute to a 
judicial referee in accordance with the provisions of Section 638 et seq. of the California Code of 
Civil Procedure. 

Section 7.16. Right of Setoff; Other Collateral. (a) Upon the occurrence and during the 
continuance of an Event of Default, the Bank is hereby authorized at any time and from time to 
time without notice to SMUD (any such notice being expressly waived by SMUD), and to the 
fullest extent permitted by law, to setoff, to exercise any banker’s lien or any right of attachment 
and apply any and all balances, credits, deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional 
or final), accounts or monies at any time held and other indebtedness at any time owing by the 
Bank to or for the account of SMUD (irrespective of the currency in which such accounts, monies 
or indebtedness may be denominated and the Bank is authorized to convert such accounts, monies 
and indebtedness into United States dollars) against any and all of the Obligations of SMUD, 
whether or not the Bank shall have made any demand for any amount owing to the Bank by SMUD; 
provided, however, that any such setoff, exercise of banker’s lien or any right of attachment shall 
be limited to (i) balances, credits, deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or 
final), accounts or monies or (ii) indebtedness owed by the Bank to or for the account of SMUD, 
the proceeds of which would otherwise be available to pay or satisfy or otherwise secure the 
Revolving Notes, the Obligations or any other indebtedness or obligations of SMUD secured or 
payable on a parity with or subordinate to the Lien on Net Revenues securing the Revolving Notes 
and the Obligations; and provided further, however, that the exercise of any such setoff, banker’s 
lien or right of attachment and the application of any such balances, credits, deposits, accounts, 
monies or proceeds of indebtedness that would constitute Revenues or other funds pledged 
pursuant to the Master Bond Resolution, Subordinated Bond Resolution or Note Resolution shall 
be subject to the terms, conditions and lien and payment priorities set forth in the Master Bond 
Resolution, the Subordinated Bond Resolution and the Note Resolution. 

(b) The rights of the Bank under this Section 7.16 are in addition to, in augmentation of, 
and, except as specifically provided in this Section 7.16, do not derogate from or impair, other 
rights and remedies (including, without limitation, other rights of setoff) which the Bank may have 
hereunder or under the other Program Documents. 

Section 7.17. USA Patriot Act. The Bank hereby notifies SMUD that, pursuant to the 
requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107 56 signed into law October 26, 2001) 
(the “Patriot Act”), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies SMUD, 

-56-




 

 

 

   

 

   
        

   
  

 

   

 
     

         

   
   

   

    
 

   
   

 
 

   

which information includes the name and address of SMUD and other information that will allow 
the Bank to identify SMUD in accordance with applicable “know your customer” and anti-money-
laundering rules and regulations, including, without limitation, the Patriot Act. SMUD hereby 
agrees that it shall promptly provide such information upon request by the Bank. 

Section 7.18. Assignment to Federal Reserve Bank. The Bank and each other Noteholder 
may assign and pledge all or any portion of the Obligations owing to it to any Federal Reserve 
Bank or the United States Treasury, including, without limitation, as collateral security pursuant 
to Regulation A of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and any Operating 
Circular issued by such Federal Reserve Bank or to any state or local governmental entity or with 
respect to public deposits; provided that any payment in respect of such assigned Obligations made 
by SMUD or on its behalf to the Bank in accordance with the terms of this Agreement shall satisfy 
SMUD’s Obligations hereunder in respect of such assigned Obligation to the extent of such 
payment. No such assignment shall release the Bank from its obligations hereunder. 

Section 7.19. No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship. In connection with all aspects of 
each transaction contemplated hereby (including in connection with any amendment, waiver or 
other modification hereof or of any other Program Document), SMUD acknowledges and agrees 
that: (a) (i) the services regarding this Agreement provided by the Bank and any Affiliate thereof 
are arm’s-length commercial transactions between SMUD, on the one hand, and the Bank and its 
Affiliates, on the other hand, (ii) SMUD has consulted its own legal, accounting, regulatory and 
tax advisors to the extent it has deemed appropriate, and (iii) SMUD is capable of evaluating, and 
understands and accepts, the terms, risks and conditions of the transactions contemplated hereby 
and by the other Program Documents; (b) (i) the Bank and its Affiliates each is and has been acting 
solely as a principal and, except as expressly agreed in writing by the relevant parties, has not been, 
is not, and will not be acting as an advisor, agent or fiduciary pursuant to Section 15B of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise, for SMUD or any other Person and (ii) neither the 
Bank nor any of its Affiliates has any obligation to SMUD with respect to the transactions 
contemplated hereby except those obligations expressly set forth herein and in the other Program 
Documents; and (c) the Bank and its Affiliates may be engaged in a broad range of transactions 
that involve interests that differ from those of SMUD, and neither the Bank nor any of its Affiliates 
has any obligation to disclose any of such interests to SMUD.  To the fullest extent permitted by 
Law, SMUD  hereby waives and releases any claims that it may have against the Bank or any of 
its Affiliates with respect to any breach or alleged breach of agency or fiduciary duty in connection 
with any aspect of any transactions contemplated hereby. 

 Section 7.20. EMMA Postings. In the event SMUD files with EMMA, this Agreement, any 
Program Documents or any description of the material terms thereof or notice of any agreement to 
covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights or other similar terms with respect thereto, 
either voluntarily or as required pursuant a continuing disclosure agreement or Rule 15c2-12 
promulgated pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Rule”) (each 
such posting, an “EMMA Posting”), SMUD shall (i) provide the Bank with a copy of each EMMA 
Posting prior to submitting or posting on EMMA and (ii) shall not file or permit the filing of any 
EMMA Posting that includes Confidential Information. SMUD acknowledges and agrees that 
although the Bank may request or review edits or redactions of such materials prior to filing, the 
Bank is not responsible for SMUD’s or any other entity’s (including, but not limited to, any broker-

-57-




 

  

 

dealer’s) compliance or noncompliance (or any claims, losses or liabilities arising therefrom) with 
any continuing disclosure agreement or any applicable securities or other laws, including, but not 
limited to, those relating to the Rule. 

[Execution Page Follows] 

-58-




 

    

 

 

 
  

  

 
  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, SMUD and the Bank have duly executed this Agreement as of the 
date first above written. 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By: _______________________________________ 
Name:   ________________________________ 
Title:    ________________________________ 

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 

By: _______________________________________ 
Name:   ________________________________ 
Title:    ________________________________ 

Signature Page to Revolving Credit Agreement
	



 

 

   

 
  

 

 

 

 

 
    

 

 
   

    
  

  
 

 
 

  
 
 

   
 

 
  

EXHIBIT A 

FORM TAXABLE REVOLVING NOTE 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT
	

TAXABLE REVOLVING NOTE (WELLS FARGO REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT) 


February __, 2022 $100,000,000 

The Sacramento Municipal Utility District (“SMUD”), for value received, hereby promises 
to pay to the order of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (the “Bank”), pursuant to that 
certain Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of February 1, 2022 (as amended, restated, 
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof, the 
“Revolving Credit Agreement”), between SMUD and the Bank and that certain Fee Agreement 
dated February __, 2022 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to 
time in accordance with the terms thereof, the “Fee Agreement”), between SMUD and the Bank, 
at the office of the Bank at _________, the aggregate unpaid principal amount of all Obligations 
(as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement) pursuant to the Revolving Credit Agreement and 
the Fee Agreement on the dates and in the amounts provided for in the Revolving Credit 
Agreement and the Fee Agreement. 

SMUD promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of all Taxable Loans, 
related Term Loans and all other Obligations owed to the Bank under the Revolving Credit 
Agreement and the Fee Agreement on the dates and at the rate or rates provided for in the 
Revolving Credit Agreement and the Fee Agreement. All payments of principal and interest shall 
be made in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at the time of payment is 
legal tender for public and private debts in immediately available funds. All capitalized terms used 
herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings specified in the Revolving Credit 
Agreement. 

This Taxable Revolving Note is the Taxable Note referred to in the Revolving Credit 
Agreement and is entitled to the benefits thereof and of the Program Documents referred to therein.  
As provided in the Revolving Credit Agreement, this Taxable Revolving Note is subject to 
prepayment, in whole or in part, in accordance with the terms of the Revolving Credit Agreement. 

The Bank agrees, by acceptance of this Taxable Revolving Note, that it will make a 
notation on the schedule attached hereto of all Taxable Loans evidenced hereby and all principal 
payments and prepayments made hereunder and of the date to which interest hereon has been paid, 
all as provided in the Revolving Credit Agreement; provided, however, that the failure to make 
any such notation shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligation of SMUD hereunder with 
respect to payments of principal of and interest on this Taxable Revolving Note. 



 

    

     

    

   
  

 

This Taxable Revolving Note is authorized by SMUD to be issued to provide funds to pay 
the principal amount of Taxable Loans, related Term Loans and all other Obligations theretofore 
issued to for the purposes set forth in the Note Resolution and for other authorized purposes. This 
Taxable Revolving Note is issued under and pursuant to and in full compliance with the Revolving 
Credit Agreement providing for the issuance and sale and fixing the form and details of this 
Taxable Revolving Note. 

This Taxable Revolving Note is an obligation of SMUD secured by a lien on the Available 
Revenues as more fully described in Section 2.20 of the Revolving Credit Agreement. 

It is hereby certified that all conditions, acts and things essential to the validity of this 
Taxable Revolving Note exist, have happened and have been done and that every requirement of 
law affecting the issuance hereof has been duly complied with. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank] 

-2-




 

 

 

 

 
 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, SMUD has caused this Taxable Revolving Note to be executed by 
an authorized officer of SMUD and this Taxable Revolving Note to be dated as of date set forth 
above. 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By: _______________________________________ 
Name: _________________________________ 
Title: __________________________________ 



 

 

 
 

  
  

 

     

      

      

      

      

      

SCHEDULE FOR TAXABLE REVOLVING NOTE
	

DATED FEBRUARY __, 2022 

BY SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT
	

PAYABLE TO WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
	

DATE 

AMOUNT OF 

TAXABLE 
LOAN MADE 

AMOUNT OF 

PRINCIPAL 
PAID 

DATE TO 

WHICH 

INTEREST 
PAID  DUE DATE 

NOTATION 

MADE BY 



 

 

 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 
    

 

  

    
   

    

 
 

 

 
 

EXHIBIT B 

FORM TAX-EXEMPT REVOLVING NOTE 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT
	

TAX-EXEMPT REVOLVING NOTE (WELLS FARGO REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT) 


February __, 2022 $100,000,000 

The Sacramento Municipal Utility District (“SMUD”), for value received, hereby promises 
to pay to the order of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (the “Bank”), pursuant to that 
certain Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of February 1, 2022 (as amended, restated, 
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof, the 
“Revolving Credit Agreement”), between SMUD and the Bank and that certain Fee Agreement 
dated February __, 2022 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to 
time in accordance with the terms thereof, the “Fee Agreement”), between SMUD and the Bank, 
at the office of the Bank at _________, the aggregate unpaid principal amount of all Obligations 
(as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement) pursuant to the Revolving Credit Agreement and 
the Fee Agreement on the dates and in the amounts provided for in the Revolving Credit 
Agreement and the Fee Agreement. 

SMUD promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of all Tax-Exempt Loans 
and related Term Loans owed to the Bank under the Revolving Credit Agreement and the Fee 
Agreement on the dates and at the rate or rates provided for in the Revolving Credit Agreement 
and the Fee Agreement. All payments of principal and interest shall be made in any coin or 
currency of the United States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for public 
and private debts in immediately available funds. All capitalized terms used herein and not 
otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings specified in the Revolving Credit Agreement. 

This Tax-Exempt Revolving Note is the Tax-Exempt Note referred to in the Revolving 
Credit Agreement and is entitled to the benefits thereof and of the Program Documents referred to 
therein. As provided in the Revolving Credit Agreement, this Tax-Exempt Revolving Note is 
subject to prepayment, in whole or in part, in accordance with the terms of the Revolving Credit 
Agreement. 

The Bank agrees, by acceptance of this Tax-Exempt Revolving Note, that it will make a 
notation on the schedule attached hereto of all Tax-Exempt Loans evidenced hereby and all 
principal payments and prepayments made hereunder and of the date to which interest hereon has 
been paid, all as provided in the Revolving Credit Agreement; provided, however, that the failure 
to make any such notation shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligation of SMUD hereunder 
with respect to payments of principal of and interest on this Tax-Exempt Revolving Note. 

This Tax-Exempt Revolving Note is authorized by SMUD to be issued to provide funds to 
pay the principal amount of Tax-Exempt Loans and related Term Loans theretofore issued to for 



 

 

  

    

    
  

 

the purposes set forth in the Note Resolution and for other authorized purposes. This Tax-Exempt 
Revolving Note is issued under and pursuant to and in full compliance with the Revolving Credit 
Agreement providing for the issuance and sale and fixing the form and details of this Tax-Exempt 
Revolving Note. 

This Tax-Exempt Revolving Note is an obligation of SMUD secured by a lien on the 
Available Revenues as more fully described in Section 2.20 of the Revolving Credit Agreement. 

It is hereby certified that all conditions, acts and things essential to the validity of this Tax-
Exempt Revolving Note exist, have happened and have been done and that every requirement of 
law affecting the issuance hereof has been duly complied with. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank] 

-2-




 

 

 

    

 

 
 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, SMUD has caused this Tax-Exempt Revolving Note to be executed 
by an authorized officer of SMUD and this Tax-Exempt Revolving Note to be dated as of date set 
forth above. 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By: _______________________________________ 
Name: _________________________________ 
Title: __________________________________ 



 

 

 
 

  
  

 

     

      

      

      

      

      

 

SCHEDULE FOR TAX-EXEMPT REVOLVING NOTE
	

DATED FEBRUARY __, 2022 

BY SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT
	

PAYABLE TO WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
	

DATE 

AMOUNT OF 

TAX-EXEMPT 

LOAN MADE 

AMOUNT OF 

PRINCIPAL 
PAID 

DATE TO 

WHICH 

INTEREST 
PAID  DUE DATE 

NOTATION 

MADE BY 



 

 
 

 

 

 

_______________ 
_______________ 

 

 

    

   

 
 
 

 

EXHIBIT C 

FORM OF NOTICE OF BORROWING 

[Date] 

TO: Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (the “Bank”) 

Attention: _______________ 

Telephone: _______________ 

E-mail: _______________ 


with a copy to: 


Wells Fargo Municipal Capital Strategies, LLC  Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
	
375 Park Avenue _______________ 

New York, New York 10152 _______________ 

Telephone: (212) 214-5512 Attention: _______________ 

Attention: Yohann Sidhwa/Matthew Antunes Telephone: _______________ 

E-mail: yohann.sidhwa@wellsfargo.com Facsimile: _______________ 


matthew.antunes@wellsfargo.com E-mail: _______________ 

FROM: Sacramento Municipal Utility District 

Re: Revolving Credit Agreement 

(the “Credit Agreement”) dated as of February 1, 2022, between 


Sacramento Municipal Utility District and the Bank 


We hereby give notice, pursuant to Section 2.2(a) of the Credit Agreement, of the following 
proposed Borrowing: 

Date of Borrowing .......................................................................................... [Date]
	
Loan Principal Amount ....................................................................... [$xx,xxx,xxx]
	
Amount of Loans Outstanding .......................................................... [$xxx,xxx,xxx]
	

mailto:matthew.antunes@wellsfargo.com
mailto:yohann.sidhwa@wellsfargo.com


 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

  
 

 

 
    

 

 

 

 
 

 

The Proceeds of such Loan are to be wire transferred to the following account: 


Pay: Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 
_______________ 
_______________ 

ABA#: _______________ 
Account #: _______________ 
Account Name: _______________ 
Ref: _______________ 

The Loan constituting such Borrowing is 
to be a (check applicable box): 
Taxable Loan [___] 
Tax-Exempt Loan [___] 

[Attached hereto are executed copies of (1) the related Additional Debt Certificate 
and (2) the Supplemental Tax Certificate which includes the related form 8038.] 

The rates of interest on the Loan will not exceed the Maximum Interest Rate. 

The undersigned hereby states and certifies on and as of the date hereof that: 

(a) no Default or Event of Default has occurred or is continuing under the Credit 
Agreement; and 

(b) that each representation and warranty set forth in the Credit Agreement and the 
closing certificate of SMUD dated the Closing Date and relating to the Credit Agreement remains 
true and correct on the date hereof. 

Terms used herein have the meanings assigned to them in the Credit Agreement. 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By: 	 ______________________________ 
Name: _______________________ 
Title: _______________________ 

E-2 




 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

_______________ 
_______________ 

 

 

    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  
   

EXHIBIT D 

[FORM OF NOTICE OF CONVERSION] 

NOTICE OF CONVERSION 

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (the “Bank”) 

Attention: _______________ 

Telephone: _______________ 

E-mail: _______________ 


with a copy to: 


Wells Fargo Municipal Capital Strategies, LLC  Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
	
375 Park Avenue _______________ 

New York, New York 10152 _______________ 

Telephone: (212) 214-5512 Attention: _______________ 

Attention: Yohann Sidhwa/Matthew Antunes Telephone: _______________ 

E-mail: yohann.sidhwa@wellsfargo.com Facsimile: _______________ 


matthew.antunes@wellsfargo.com E-mail: _______________ 

Re: Sacramento Municipal Utility District 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

The undersigned, an Authorized SMUD Representative, refers to the Revolving Credit 
Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2022 (together with any amendments or supplements thereto, 
the “Agreement”), between Sacramento Municipal Utility District and the Bank (the terms defined 
therein being used herein as therein defined) and hereby gives Bank notice irrevocably, pursuant 
to Section 2.2(a)(ii) of the Agreement, of the conversion of the Loan(s) specified herein, that: 

1. The Business Day of the proposed conversion is __________, 20__ (the 
“Conversion Date”), which is at least [three Business Days following the date hereof]. 

2. The aggregate amount of the Loan(s) to be converted is $______________. 

3. The Loan(s) is/are Tax-Exempt Loan(s) to be converted into a Taxable 
Loan(s). 

4. The principal amount of the Loans to be outstanding following the 
conversion will not exceed the Commitment as of the Conversion Date set forth in 1 above. 

mailto:matthew.antunes@wellsfargo.com
mailto:yohann.sidhwa@wellsfargo.com


 

 
 

  
   

   

 

 
 

The undersigned hereby states and certifies on and as of the date hereof that: 

(a) no Default or Event of Default has occurred or is continuing under the 
Credit Agreement; and 

(b) that each representation and warranty set forth in the Credit Agreement and 
the closing certificate of SMUD dated the Closing Date and relating to the Credit 
Agreement remains true and correct on the date of such conversion. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed and delivered this Notice of 
Continuation as of the ______ day of _______________, _____. 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By: 	 __________________________________ 
Name: ____________________________ 
Title: ____________________________ 

E-2 




 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

  
 

 

_______________ 
_______________ 

 

 

    

 

 
   

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT E 


FORM OF
	

REQUEST FOR EXTENDED FUNDED PERIOD
	

[DATE] 

TO: Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (the “Bank”) 

Attention: _______________ 

Telephone: _______________ 

E-mail: _______________ 


with a copy to: 


Wells Fargo Municipal Capital Strategies, LLC  Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
	
375 Park Avenue _______________ 

New York, New York 10152 _______________ 

Telephone: (212) 214-5512 Attention: _______________ 

Attention: Yohann Sidhwa/Matthew Antunes Telephone: _______________ 

E-mail: yohann.sidhwa@wellsfargo.com Facsimile: _______________ 


matthew.antunes@wellsfargo.com E-mail: _______________ 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

The undersigned, Sacramento Municipal Utility District (“SMUD”), hereby refers to the 
Credit Agreement dated as of February 1, 2022, as amended, modified, supplemented or restated 
from time to time (the “Credit Agreement”), between SMUD and Wells Fargo Bank, National 
Association (the “Bank”). All capitalized terms contained herein which are not specifically defined 
shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Credit Agreement. 

SMUD hereby requests, pursuant to Section 2.22 of the Credit Agreement, that the Term 
Loans be payable as provided in Section 2.22 of the Credit Agreement with interest as provided in 
Section 2.22 of the Credit Agreement. 

In connection with such request, SMUD hereby represents and warrants that: 

(a) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing under the 
Agreement on date hereof; and  

(b) the representations and warranties of SMUD set forth in Article Four of the 
Credit Agreement are true and correct on the date hereof. 

mailto:matthew.antunes@wellsfargo.com
mailto:yohann.sidhwa@wellsfargo.com


 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

We have enclosed along with this request the following information:  

1. The nature of any and all Defaults and Events of Default; and  

2. 	 Any other pertinent information previously requested by the Bank. 

Very truly yours, 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By: 	 ______________________________ 
Name:_________________________ 
Title:__________________________ 

E-2 




     Contract with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 
Fee Agreement dated February ___, 2022 



 

 
 

   
 

  

   

  
   

 

  
  

 
 

 
  

 

 

  

   
   

   

   

 

 
  

 

 

DRAFT 


FEE AGREEMENT
	

DATED FEBRUARY __, 2022 


Reference is hereby made to that certain Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of 
February 1, 2022 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time 
in accordance with the terms thereof, the “Agreement”), between the SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL 

UTILITY DISTRICT, a municipal utility district of the State of California (“SMUD”), and WELLS 

FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (the “Bank”), relating to the Sacramento Municipal 
Utility District, Taxable Revolving Note (Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Agreement) and Tax-
Exempt Revolving Note (Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Agreement).  Capitalized terms not  
otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Agreement. 

The purpose of this Fee Agreement (this “Fee Agreement”) is to confirm the agreement 
between the Bank and SMUD with respect to, among other things, the Commitment Fees (as 
defined below), the Taxable Applicable Spread and Tax-Exempt Applicable Spread and certain 
other fees payable to the Bank. This Fee Agreement is the Fee Agreement referenced in the 
Agreement, and the terms hereof are incorporated by reference into the Agreement. This Fee 
Agreement and the Agreement are to be construed as one agreement between SMUD and the 
Bank, and all obligations hereunder are to be construed as obligations thereunder. All references 
to amounts due and payable under the Agreement will be deemed to include all amounts, fees 
and expenses payable under this Fee Agreement. 

ARTICLE I. FEES AND OTHER AGREEMENTS. 

 Section 1.1. Commitment Fees. SMUD hereby agrees to pay to the Bank on April 1, 
2022, for the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on March 31, 2022, and 
quarterly in arrears on the tenth (10th) calendar of each July, October, January and April (each, a 
“Quarterly Payment Date”) occurring prior to the Termination Date, and on the Termination 
Date, a non-refundable commitment fee (the “Commitment Fee”) in an amount equal to the rate 
per annum based upon the applicable Level corresponding to the then applicable Rating (as 
defined below) for each day during the related fee period, as specified below (the “Commitment 
Fee Rate”), on the Unutilized Commitment from time to time in effect for each day during each 
related period: 

MOODY’S FITCH COMMITMENT FEE 
LEVEL RATING S&P  RATING RATING RATE 

Level 1 Aa3 or above AA- or above AA- or above 0.175% 
Level 2 A1 A+ A+ 0.225% 
Level 3 A2 A A 0.275% 
Level 4 A3 A- A- 0.325% 
Level 5 Baa1 BBB+ BBB+ 0.475% 
Level 6 Baa2 BBB BBB 0.725% 
Level 7 Baa3 BBB- BBB- 1.075% 

8c 2 RCA Fee Agreement (SMUD-Wells Fargo) 4886-2122-6758 v10.doc 
4372967 



  
 

  

  
 

   

  
 

  

 
  

   
   

  

   

    
  

  
    

     

  

  
 

 

 
    

The term “Unutilized Commitment” as used herein means the Commitment, as of the 
Closing Date, as permanently reduced from time to time in accordance with the Agreement less 
the outstanding principal amount of any Loans under the Agreement.  The term “Rating” as used 
herein shall mean the long-term unenhanced debt rating assigned by Moody’s, Fitch and S&P to 
any Debt of SMUD secured by or payable from Net Revenues on a parity with Bonds and Parity 
Bonds. In the event of a split rating (i.e., the Rating of one of the Rating Agencies’ is different 
than the Rating of any of the other Rating Agencies), the Commitment Fee Rate shall be based 
upon the Level in which the lower of the two highest Rating appears; provided, however, if less 
than three Rating Agencies then assign a long-term unenhanced debt rating to Bonds and Parity 
Bonds, the Commitment Fee Rate shall be based upon the Level in which the lower Rating  
appears. Any change in the Commitment Fee Rate resulting from a change in a Rating shall be 
and become effective as of and on the date of the announcement of the change in such Rating.  
References to ratings levels above are references to rating categories as presently determined by 
the Rating Agencies and in the event of adoption of any new or changed rating system, 
including, without limitation, any recalibration or realignment of Rating in connection with the 
adoption of a “global” rating scale, the rating from the Rating Agency in question referred to 
above shall be deemed to refer to the rating category under the new rating  system that  most  
closely approximates the applicable rating category as currently in effect. In the event that a 
Rating is suspended or withdrawn (for the avoidance of doubt, a decision by SMUD to cause a 
Rating Agency to no longer maintain its Rating, for non-credit related reasons and not for the 
purpose of avoiding the occurrence of an event of default, shall not constitute a suspension or 
withdrawal of such Rating) from any Rating Agency or upon the occurrence of and during the 
continuance of an Event of Default, the Commitment Fee Rate shall increase to the sum of the 
Commitment Fee Rate specified above for Level 7 above plus 1.00% per annum. The 
Commitment Fees shall be payable as set forth above, together with interest on the Commitment 
Fees from the date payment is due until payment in full at the Default Rate. The Commitment 
Fee shall be payable in immediately available funds and computed on the basis of a year of 360 
days and the actual number of days to elapse. SMUD acknowledges that as of the Closing Date 
the Commitment Fee Rate is that specified above for Level 1. 

Section 1.2. Amendment, Consent or Waiver Fee. SMUD agrees to pay to the Bank on 
the date of each amendment, supplement, or modification to the Agreement or this Fee 
Agreement (or any Program Document, the amendment, supplement or modification of which 
requires the consent of, or waiver from, the Bank), a non-refundable fee equal to $2,500, or such 
other fee as may be agreed to between the Bank and SMUD after the Bank has provided SMUD 
with an estimate of such fee and SMUD has approved such fee estimate in writing plus the 
reasonable fees and expenses of any legal counsel retained by the Bank in connection therewith 
in an amount agreed to by the Bank and SMUD after the Bank has provided SMUD with an 
estimate of such fees and expenses of legal counsel and SMUD has approved such fee and 
expense estimate in writing. 

 Section 1.3. Applicable Spread. For purposes of the Agreement, the “Taxable 
Applicable Spread” and the “Tax-Exempt Applicable Spread,” means  a  rate per annum based  
upon the applicable Level corresponding to the then applicable Rating in the applicable column, 
as specified below: 

-2-




   

 

 
   

 

 

 

  
   

 

 
    

  

  
   

 
 
    

     
  

 

  
   

 
 

 
     

  
  

TAXABLE TAX-EXEMPT 

MOODY’S FITCH APPLICABLE APPLICABLE 

LEVEL RATING S&P  RATING RATING SPREAD SPREAD 

Level 1 Aa3 or above AA- or above AA- or above 0.53% 0.44% 
Level 2 A1 A+ A+ 0.68% 0.59% 
Level 3 A2 A A 0.83% 0.74% 
Level 4 A3 A- A- 0.98% 0.89% 
Level 5 Baa1 BBB+ BBB+ 1.23% 1.14% 
Level 6 Baa2 BBB BBB 1.58% 1.49% 
Level 7 Baa3 BBB- BBB- 2.08% 1.99% 

In the event of a split rating (i.e., the Rating of one of the Rating Agencies’ is different than the 
Rating of any of the other Rating Agencies), the Taxable Applicable Spread and Tax-Exempt 
Applicable Spread shall be based upon the Level in which the lower of the two highest Rating 
appears; provided, however, if less than three Rating Agencies then assign a long-term 
unenhanced debt rating to Bonds and Parity Bonds, the Taxable Applicable Spread and Tax-
Exempt Applicable Spread shall be based upon the Level in which the lower Rating appears.  
Any change in the Taxable Applicable Spread and Tax-Exempt Applicable Spread resulting from 
a change in a Rating shall be and become effective as of and on the date of the announcement of 
the change in such Rating. References to ratings levels above are references to rating categories 
as presently determined by the Rating Agencies and in the event of adoption of any new or 
changed rating system, including, without limitation, any recalibration or realignment of Rating 
in connection with the adoption of a “global” rating scale, the rating from the Rating Agency in 
question referred to above shall be deemed to refer to the rating category under the new rating 
system that most closely approximates the applicable rating category as currently in effect. In 
the event that a Rating is suspended or withdrawn (for the avoidance of doubt, a decision by 
SMUD to cause a Rating Agency to no longer maintain its Rating, for non-credit related reasons 
and not for the purpose of avoiding the occurrence of an event of default, shall not constitute a 
suspension or withdrawal of such Rating) from any Rating Agency or upon the occurrence of 
and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Loans shall bear interest at the Default 
Rate. SMUD acknowledges that as of the Closing Date the Taxable Applicable Spread and Tax-
Exempt Applicable Spread are the spreads that are specified above for Level 1 this Section 1.3. 

Section 1.4. Termination and Reduction Fees. (a) Notwithstanding anything set forth 
herein or in the Agreement to the contrary, SMUD agrees not to terminate, or cause the 
termination or replacement of, the Agreement and/or the Commitment prior to the one (1) year 
anniversary of the Closing Date, except upon the payment by SMUD to the Bank of a 
termination fee (the “Termination Fee”) on the date of such termination or replacement in an 
amount equal to the product of (1) the Commitment Fee Rate in effect on the date of such 
termination or replacement, (2) the Commitment (without regard to any outstanding Loans) on 
the date of termination or replacement of the Agreement and/or the Commitment and (3) a 
fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the number of days from and including the date of 
such termination or replacement until and including the one (1) year anniversary of the Closing 

-3-




  
    

  
  

     

   

   
    

    

   

 
      

    
  

 

 

    
 

   

  

     

   

 

    

 

   

   
     

 
 

     

Date, and the denominator of which is 360; provided, however, that no such Termination Fee 
shall be payable if the Agreement and/or the Commitment is terminated or replaced as a result of 
(i) the Bank imposing on SMUD increased costs pursuant to Section 2.17 of the Agreement 
(provided that this clause (i) shall not be construed to relieve SMUD of any of its obligations 
under Section 2.17 of the Agreement) or (ii) SMUD’s objection in writing to the Benchmark 
Replacement determined by the Bank in replacement of Daily Simple SOFR pursuant to Section 
2.12 of the Agreement. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything set forth herein or in the Agreement to the contrary, 
SMUD agrees not to permanently reduce the Commitment prior to the one (1) year anniversary 
of the Closing Date, without the payment by SMUD to the Bank of a reduction fee (the 
“Reduction Fee”) in connection with each and every permanent reduction of the Commitment 
on the date of such permanent reduction in an amount equal to the product of (A) the 
Commitment Fee Rate in effect on the date of such permanent reduction, (B) the difference 
between the Commitment (without regard to any outstanding Loans) prior to such permanent 
reduction and the Commitment (without regard to any outstanding Loans) after such permanent 
reduction, and (C) a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the number of days from and 
including the date of such permanent reduction until and including the one (1) year anniversary 
of the Closing  Date and the denominator of  which  is 360;  provided, however, that no such 
Reduction Fee shall be payable if the Commitment is permanently reduced as a result of (i) the 
Bank imposing on SMUD increased costs pursuant to Section 2.17 of the Agreement  (provided 
that this clause (i) shall not be construed to relieve SMUD of any of its obligations under Section 
2.17 of the Agreement) or (ii) SMUD’s objection in writing to the Benchmark Replacement 
determined by the Bank in replacement of Daily Simple SOFR pursuant to Section 2.12 of the 
Agreement. 

ARTICLE II. MISCELLANEOUS. 

Section 2.1. Amendments. No amendment to this Fee Agreement shall become effective 
without the prior written consent of SMUD and the Bank. 

Section 2.2. Governing Law.  PURSUANT TO SECTION 5-1401 OF  THE NEW YORK 

GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW (OR ANY SUCCESSOR STATUTE THERETO), THIS  FEE AGREEMENT 

SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A CONTRACT UNDER, AND SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED  

AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE  LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND 

APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE CAPACITY, POWER AND AUTHORITY OF 

SMUD TO ENTER INTO THIS FEE AGREEMENT AND THE OBLIGATIONS OF SMUD HEREUNDER 
SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF 

THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW WITHOUT REGARD TO CHOICE OF LAW 

RULES. 

Section 2.3. Counterparts. This Fee Agreement may be executed in two or more 
counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original but both or all of which, when taken 
together, shall constitute but one instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature 
page of this Fee Agreement by facsimile transmission or by e-mail with a pdf copy or other 
replicating image attached, will be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of 

-4-




    
 

 

 
 

  

 

   
  

 

  
   

 

 

 

this Fee Agreement, and any printed or copied version of any signature page so delivered will 
have the same force and effect as an originally signed version of such signature page. 

Section 2.4. Severability. Any provision of this Fee Agreement which is prohibited, 
unenforceable or not authorized in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to 
the extent of such prohibition, unenforceability or non-authorization without invalidating the 
remaining provisions hereof or affecting the validity, enforceability or legality of such provision 
in any other jurisdiction. 

Section 2.5. Representation by Legal Counsel; Joint Preparation. The parties hereto 
have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Fee Agreement, and each of the 
parties was represented by its respective legal counsel during the negotiation and execution of 
this Fee Agreement. In the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this 
Fee Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties, and no presumption or 
burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any of 
the provisions of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 2.6. No Disclosure. Unless required by law, SMUD shall not deliver or permit, 
authorize or consent to the delivery of this Fee Agreement to any Person or for posting on the 
Electronic Municipal Market Access website as provided by the Municipal Securities 
Rulemaking Board unless the Bank provides its prior written consent. 

Section 2.7. Payment Due on Non-Business Day to Be Made on Next Business Day.  If 
any sum becomes payable pursuant to this Fee Agreement on a day which is not a Business Day, 
the date for payment thereof shall be extended, without penalty, to the next succeeding Business 
Day, and such extended time shall be included in the computation of interest and fees. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW] 

-5-




 

    

 

 
  
 
 
 

  

 
  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Fee Agreement to be duly 
executed and delivered by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first 
set forth above. 

SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

By:_______________________________________ 
Name:  _________________________________ 
Title:    ________________________________ 

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 

By:_______________________________________ 
Name:  _________________________________ 
Title:    ________________________________ 

Signature Page to RCA Fee Agreement (2022) 



 
 
 

 

 
     

 
           

         
           

             
       

Contract with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 
Draft Resolution Authorizing the Issuance of the Sacramento Municipal Utility District
 
Taxable Revolving Note (Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Agreement) and Tax-Exempt
 
Revolving Note (Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Agreement) in an Aggregate Principal
 

Amount Not to Exceed $100,000,000 Outstanding at Any One Time and Authorizing the
 
Execution of Certain Documents in Connection Therewith
 



  
 

 

 
  

   

    

    

     
  

   
 

 

  

 
 

      
 

   
  
 

DRAFT 


RESOLUTION NO. ____________ 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF THE SACRAMENTO 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT TAXABLE REVOLVING NOTE (WELLS FARGO 
REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT) AND TAX-EXEMPT REVOLVING NOTE 
(WELLS FARGO REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT) IN AN AGGREGATE 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $100,000,000 OUTSTANDING AT ANY ONE 
TIME AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS IN 

CONNECTION THEREWITH 

WHEREAS, the Sacramento Municipal Utility District (“SMUD”) has determined that it 
is in its best interests to enter into a Revolving Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, 
National Association (as further defined herein, the “Credit Agreement”) and authorize the 
issuance of its Taxable Revolving Note (Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Agreement) and Tax-
Exempt Revolving Note (Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Agreement) in an aggregate principal 
amount not to exceed $100,000,000 outstanding at any one time (collectively, the “Notes”) under 
(a) Articles 6a and 6b of Chapter 6 of the Municipal Utility District Act (California Public 
Utilities Code Section 12850 et seq.), (b) Chapter 7.5 of the Municipal Utility District Act 
(California Public Utilities Code Section 13371 et seq.) and (c) Article 11 of Chapter 3 of Part 1 
of Division 2 of Title 5 of the California Government Code (California Government Code 
Section 53580 et seq.); 

WHEREAS, the Notes, when issued in accordance with this Resolution, will be Parity 
Notes under and as defined in Resolution No. 11-12-05, adopted by the Board of Directors of 
SMUD on December 1, 2011, as supplemented, modified and amended to the date hereof and as 
hereafter supplemented, modified and amended in accordance with its terms (the “2011 
Resolution”) and Resolution No. 19-02-02, adopted by the Board of Directors of SMUD on 
February 21, 2019, as supplemented, modified and amended to the date hereof and as hereafter 
supplemented, modified and amended in accordance with its terms (the “2019 Resolution”) and 
the Credit Agreement, when executed and delivered, will be a Parity Notes Reimbursement 
Agreement under and as defined in the 2011 Resolution and the 2019 Resolution; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Sacramento 
Municipal Utility District, as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS; INTERPRETATION 

Section 1.01. Definitions. Unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms 
shall, for all purposes of this Resolution and of any resolution supplemental hereto, have the 
meanings herein specified: 

“Act” means the Municipal Utility District Act, constituting Division 6 of the Public 
Utilities Code of the State of California, and all laws of the State of California amendatory 
thereof or supplemental thereto. 

4136-8591-5699.4 



 
  
 

 

    

 

   
 

 

 

 
  

  

 

  

“Authorized Officer” means the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager of 
SMUD, any Member of the Executive Committee of SMUD, the Chief Financial Officer of 
SMUD, the Treasurer of  SMUD, the Secretary  of SMUD, or  the  designee of any such officer, 
and any other officer of SMUD designated by the Board as an Authorized Officer. 

“Available Revenues” for any fiscal period means the sum of (a) the Revenues for such 
fiscal period plus (b) the amounts, if any, withdrawn by SMUD from the Rate Stabilization Fund 
created in the Master Bond Resolution for treatment as Revenues for such fiscal period, less the 
sum of (c) all Maintenance and Operation Costs with respect to the Electric System for such 
fiscal period, (d) all Energy  Payments for such fiscal period not included in Maintenance and 
Operation Costs for the Electric System for such fiscal period, (e) the amounts, if any, withdrawn 
by SMUD from Revenues for such fiscal period for deposit in the Rate Stabilization Fund and (f) 
all amounts required to be paid under the Master Bond Resolution and the Subordinated Bond 
Resolution for principal, interest and reserve fund requirements on the Bonds, the Parity Bonds, 
the Subordinated Bonds and the Parity Subordinated Debt then outstanding, as the same become 
due and payable. 

“Bank” means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, and its permitted successors and 
assigns under the Credit Agreement. 

“Board” means the Board of Directors of SMUD or any other governing board of SMUD 
hereafter provided for pursuant to law. 

“Bonds” means the Sacramento Municipal Utility District Electric Revenue Bonds 
authorized to be issued and at any time outstanding pursuant to the Master Bond Resolution and 
any bonds issued on a parity therewith solely for the purpose of refunding any or all of the 
Bonds. 

“Borrowing” has the meaning given to such term in the Credit Agreement. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

“Credit Agreement” means the Revolving Credit Agreement between SMUD and the 
Bank relating to the Notes, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time 
to time in accordance with the terms thereof. 

“Electric System” means the entire electric system of SMUD, together with all additions, 
betterments, extensions and improvements to that system or any part thereof. 

“Energy/Fuel Contract Letter of Credit Facility Agreement” means any arrangement 
entered into between SMUD and a financial institution, in each case as amended or 
supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof, under which the financial 
institution provides letters of credit from time to time for the account of SMUD to secure 
SMUD’s energy and environmental trading obligations, including the potential posting of 
collateral under SMUD’s energy, natural gas, carbon, and other environmental product, 
purchase, sale and swap agreements. 

2
	
4136-8591-5699.4 



 
  
 

 
 

  

  

  
     

 

    
 

 
  

  
 

  
  

 

 

 

 
  

   
  

“Energy Payments” means, when used with respect to the Electric System, all actual 
costs incurred, or charges made therefor, by SMUD in any particular fiscal year or period to 
which said term is applicable for purchased power (including power purchased from any special 
district included within the boundaries of SMUD), electric and thermal energy and capacity and 
under contracts providing for payments by SMUD for electric or thermal energy or capacity 
whether or not such energy or capacity is delivered or capable of being delivered or otherwise 
made available to or received by or for the account of SMUD. 

“Fee Letter” shall have the meaning given to such term (or any term of similar meaning) 
in the Credit Agreement or the applicable Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreement or 
Energy/Fuel Contract Letter of Credit Facility Agreement. 

“Loan” has the meaning given to such term in the Credit Agreement. 

“Maintenance and Operation Costs” means, when used with respect to the Electric 
System, all actual maintenance and operation costs incurred, or charges made therefor, by 
SMUD in any particular fiscal year or period to which said term is applicable, but only if said 
charges are made in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, and exclusive in 
all cases of depreciation or obsolescence charges or reserves therefor, amortization of intangibles 
or other bookkeeping entries of a similar nature, and also exclusive of all interest charges and 
charges for the payment of principal, or amortization, of bonded or other indebtedness of SMUD. 

Such Maintenance and Operation Costs of the Electric System include, generally, 
purchased power (including power purchased from any special district included within the 
boundaries of SMUD), and such part of the cost of fuel of any type or character (including 
nuclear fuel), taxes, salaries and wages, fees for services, materials and supplies, rents, office 
supplies and all other costs as are charged directly or apportioned to the operation and 
maintenance of the generation, transmission and distribution system, customer accounts, sales 
and administrative functions, or to the general operation of SMUD. 

Said term does not include costs, or charges made therefor, for capital additions, 
replacements, betterments, extensions or improvements to or retirements from the Electric 
System, which under generally accepted accounting principles are properly chargeable to the 
capital account or the reserve for depreciation, and does not include losses from the sale, 
abandonment, reclassification, revaluation or other disposition of any properties of SMUD nor 
such property items, including taxes and fuel, which are capitalized pursuant to the then existing 
accounting practice of SMUD. 

In the event of any dispute arising hereunder, the phrase “generally accepted accounting 
principles,” and all other accounting methods and terminology contained or referred to in this 
Resolution, shall be construed, as nearly as practicable, in conformity with the uniform system of 
accounts, and accounting rules and regulations thereunder, prescribed by the Federal Energy 
Regulatory Commission for private power companies which are subject to its jurisdiction and 
which are engaged in business comparable to the Electric System. 

“Master Bond Resolution” means Resolution No. 6649 of SMUD, adopted on January 7, 
1971, as amended and supplemented from time to time heretofore and hereafter. 

3
	
4136-8591-5699.4 



 
  
 

 

 

 

   
   

     

 

 
 

  
   

 

 
    

     
   

  

“Maximum Interest Rate” means the lesser of (i) 12% per annum or (ii) the maximum 
rate of interest permitted by applicable law or resolution of SMUD. 

“Notes” means, collectively, the Taxable Note and the Tax-Exempt Note. 

“Parity Bonds” means all revenue bonds of SMUD having an equal lien and charge upon 
the Net Revenues (as that term is defined in the Master Bond Resolution) with the Bonds, and 
therefore payable upon a parity with the Bonds (whether or not any Bonds are outstanding), 
including all refunding bonds issued under the Master Bond Resolution and all revenue bonds 
issued on a parity with the Bonds as provided in the Master Bond Resolution. 

“Parity Notes” means the Series K Notes (as defined in the 2011 Resolution), the Series L 
Notes (as defined in the 2011 Resolution), the Series M Notes (as defined in the 2019 
Resolution), and any other notes or evidences of indebtedness incurred by SMUD on a parity 
with the Notes as provided herein. 

“Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreement” means the Series K Reimbursement 
Agreement (as defined in the 2011 Resolution), the Series L Reimbursement Agreement (as 
defined in the 2011 Resolution), the Reimbursement Agreement (as defined in the 2019 
Resolution), and any other credit enhancement agreement or similar agreement or any credit 
agreement or other arrangement which may be entered into by SMUD with respect to a series of 
Parity Notes issued by SMUD and designated by SMUD as such in connection with the issuance 
of such series of Parity Notes. 

“Parity Subordinated Debt” means all revenue bonds of SMUD having an equal lien and 
charge upon the Net Subordinated Revenues (as that term is defined in the Subordinated Bond 
Resolution) and therefore payable on a parity with the Subordinated Bonds and junior to the 
Bonds and Parity Bonds. 

“Resolution” means this Resolution as originally adopted by the Board and as it may 
from time to time be supplemented, modified or amended by any Supplemental Resolution 
adopted pursuant to the provisions hereof. 

“Revenues” means all charges received for, and all other income and receipts derived by 
SMUD from, the operation of the Electric System, or arising from the Electric System, including 
income derived from the sale or use of electric energy generated, transmitted or distributed by 
any facilities of the Electric System, together with any receipts derived from the sale of any 
property pertaining to the Electric System or incidental to the operation of the Electric System or 
from any services performed by SMUD in connection with or incidental to the Electric System, 
or from any source whatsoever directly or indirectly derived from the Electric System, but 
exclusive in every case of any moneys derived from the levy or collection of taxes upon any 
taxable property in SMUD. 

The term “Revenues” also includes any income or revenues derived from the wholesale 
sale of water developed by the White Rock Project (as defined in Resolution No. 4775 of 
SMUD), or the Upper American River Project (as defined in Resolution No. 4938 of SMUD), 
but does not include revenues or income derived from the retail distribution of water through any 
distribution facility hereafter acquired by SMUD. 

4
	
4136-8591-5699.4 



 
  
 

   

    

  

   

  
  

     

 

 

 

 
 

 

   

 
 

    
   

The term “Revenues” also includes all interest, profits or other income derived from the 
investment of any moneys in any fund or account established under the Master Bond Resolution 
or the Subordinated Bond Resolution. 

“SMUD” means the Sacramento Municipal Utility District, a municipal utility district 
duly organized and existing under the Act. 

“Subordinated Bond Resolution” means Resolution No. 85-11-1 adopted by the Board of 
Directors of SMUD on November 7, 1985, as amended and supplemented from time to time 
heretofore and hereafter. 

“Subordinated Bonds” means the electric revenue bonds authorized  to be  issued and at  
any time outstanding pursuant to the Subordinated Bond Resolution and any bonds issued on a 
parity therewith solely for the purpose of refunding any or all of the Subordinated Bonds. 

“Supplemental Resolution” means any resolution then in full force and effect which has 
been duly adopted by the Board at a meeting of the Board duly convened and held, at which a 
quorum was present and acted thereon, amendatory of or supplemental to this Resolution, but 
only if and to the extent that such supplemental resolution is specifically authorized hereunder. 

“Taxable Note” means the Sacramento Municipal Utility District Taxable Revolving 
Note (Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Agreement). 

“Tax-Exempt Note” means the Sacramento Municipal Utility District Tax-Exempt 
Revolving Note (Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Agreement). 

“Term Loan” has the meaning given to such term in the Credit Agreement. 

“2011 Resolution” means Resolution No. 11-12-05, adopted by the Board on December 
1, 2011, as supplemented, modified and amended to the date hereof and as hereafter 
supplemented, modified or amended in accordance with its terms. 

“2019 Resolution” means Resolution No. 19-02-02, adopted by the Board on February 
21, 2019, as supplemented, modified and amended to the date hereof and as hereafter 
supplemented, modified or amended in accordance with its terms. 

Section 1.02. Interpretation. All references herein to “Articles,” “Sections” and other 
subdivisions are to the corresponding Articles, Sections or subdivisions of this Resolution, and 
the words “herein,” “hereof,” “hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to this 
Resolution as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or subdivision hereof. 

ARTICLE II 

THE NOTES 

Section 2.01. Authorization. Each Note is hereby authorized to be issued in the stated 
principal amount of not to exceed $100,000,000 outstanding at any one time. On or after the 
effective date of the Credit Agreement, SMUD may request Loans and Term Loans under either 

5
	
4136-8591-5699.4 



 
  
 

 
 

  
 

     
  

 

 

    

     
  

      
  

     
 

  
 

   
  

     

 
 

  
   

   
 

   

 
     

Note as provided in, and subject to the terms of, the Credit Agreement and this Resolution; 
provided, that the aggregate principal amount of Loans and Term Loans outstanding under the 
Notes at any one time shall not exceed $100,000,000. Subject to the terms of the Credit 
Agreement and this Resolution, the principal amount of the Loans under the Notes that is paid or 
prepaid by SMUD may again be reborrowed under either Note. 

Section 2.02. Terms of Notes. Subject to the limitations stated in Section 2.01 and the 
terms of the Credit Agreement, the Notes may be issued at such time and Loans and Term Loans 
thereunder may be requested from time to time in such amounts as shall be determined by an 
Authorized Officer. 

The principal of the Notes shall be payable as provided in the Credit Agreement. The 
Notes shall bear interest at the rates and in the manner applicable to the related Loans and Term 
Loans provided in the Credit Agreement, except that no interest rate on the Notes (or related 
Loans and Term Loans) shall exceed the Maximum Interest Rate, subject to the terms of the 
Credit Agreement. Interest on the Notes shall be payable as provided in the Credit Agreement. 

Section 2.03. Form of Notes.  The Taxable Note shall be issued in substantially the form 
set forth in Exhibit A to the Credit Agreement (with such variations, omissions and insertions as 
may be required to conform the same to the terms of this Resolution or  terms  of the Credit  
Agreement). The Tax-Exempt Note shall be issued in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit 
B to the Credit Agreement (with such variations, omissions and insertions as may be required to 
conform the same to the terms of this Resolution or terms of the Credit Agreement). 

Section 2.04. Execution of Notes. The Notes shall be executed in the name and on 
behalf of SMUD, with the manual signature of an Authorized Officer. 

Section 2.05. Registration of Notes. The Notes shall be issued in registered form,  
initially registered in the name of the Bank. SMUD shall maintain in its books and records the 
name of each registered owner of the Notes from time to time. Registered ownership of  the  
Notes may not be transferred without the prior written consent of SMUD. 

ARTICLE III 

LOANS AND TERM LOANS UNDER THE NOTES 

Section 3.01. Loans and Term Loans. Loans and Term Loans under the Notes will be 
made on the terms and conditions set forth in the Credit Agreement. Each request of SMUD for 
a Loan or Term Loan under the Notes pursuant to the Credit Agreement shall be deemed to be a 
representation by SMUD that (a) all action on the part of SMUD (including, if applicable, the 
adoption of a preliminary resolution pursuant to California Public Utilities Code section 12852) 
necessary for the valid incurrence of the indebtedness represented by such Loan or Term Loan 
under the Notes has been taken, (b) the Notes, taking into account the making of such Loan or 
Term Loan thereunder, are valid and binding obligations of SMUD according to their terms, the 
terms of this Resolution and the terms of the Credit Agreement, (c) no Event of Default under 
Section 6.01 hereof has occurred and is continuing as of the date of such Loan or Term Loan and 

6
	
4136-8591-5699.4 



 
  
 

  

 

  
 

    
 

 

  
 

 
 

 

    
 

   
  

   
   

  
  

  

  

  
  

 

 

(b) SMUD is in compliance with the covenants set forth in Article V hereof as of the date of such 
Loan or Term Loan. 

Section 3.02. Proceeds of Loans and Term Loans. The proceeds of Loans under the 
Notes shall be applied for any or all of the purposes specified in (a) Articles 6a and 6b of Chapter 
6 of the Act (California Public Utilities Code Section 12850 et seq.), (b) Chapter 7.5 of the Act 
(California Public Utilities Code Section 13371 et seq.) and (c) Article 11 of Chapter 3 of Part 1 
of Division 2 of Title 5 of the California Government Code (California Government Code 
Section 53580 et seq.), as determined by an Authorized Officer. The proceeds of Term Loans 
under the Notes shall be applied to refund the then-outstanding principal amount of the Loans 
under the Notes as provided in Article 11 of Chapter 3 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the 
California Government Code (California Government Code Section 53580 et seq.) and the Credit 
Agreement. 

Pending expenditure for the foregoing purposes, proceeds of the Loans under the Notes 
may be invested in bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness, bills, acceptances or other 
securities in which funds of SMUD may be legally invested as provided by the law in effect at 
the time of such investment. 

ARTICLE IV 

PLEDGE OF AVAILABLE REVENUES 

Section 4.01. Pledge; Deposit of Revenues. The Notes and all  Parity Notes and the 
obligations of SMUD under the Credit Agreement, any Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreement, 
any Fee Letter and any Energy/Fuel Contract Letter of Credit Facility Agreement are revenue 
obligations, are not secured by the taxing power of SMUD and shall be payable exclusively 
from, and shall be secured by a pledge (which pledge shall be effected in the manner and to the 
extent hereinafter provided) of, the Available Revenues. The Available Revenues constitute a 
trust fund for the security and payment of the interest on and principal of the Notes and all Parity 
Notes and all obligations of SMUD under the Credit Agreement, any Parity Notes 
Reimbursement Agreement, any Fee Letter and any Energy/Fuel Contract Letter of Credit 
Facility Agreement. The Available Revenues have been pledged pursuant to the 2011 
Resolution, the 2019 Resolution, and are hereby further pledged, to the payment of the Notes and 
all Parity Notes and all obligations of SMUD under the Credit Agreement, any Parity Notes 
Reimbursement Agreement, any Fee Letter and any Energy/Fuel Contract Letter of Credit 
Facility Agreement without priority or distinction of one over the other, subject to the condition 
that out of Revenues: 

First: There shall be applied all sums required for Maintenance and Operation 
Costs of the Electric System and all Energy Payments not included in Maintenance and 
Operation Costs. 

Second: There shall be applied all sums required for the payment of the principal 
of (including any premium thereon) and interest on the Bonds and all Parity Bonds, 
together with any sinking fund or reserve fund payments on the Bonds and all Parity 
Bonds. 

7
	
4136-8591-5699.4 



 
  
 

 

  
   

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

     

  

  
  

  

 

   
   

  
 

 

Third: There shall be applied all sums required for the payment of the principal 
of (including any premium thereon) and interest on the Subordinated Bonds and all Parity 
Subordinated Debt, together with any sinking fund or reserve fund payments on the 
Subordinated Bonds and all Parity Subordinated Debt. 

Fourth: There shall be applied, on a parity basis, all sums required (i) for the 
payment of the principal of and interest on the Notes and all Parity Notes, (ii) for all 
obligations of SMUD under the Credit Agreement, any Parity Notes Reimbursement 
Agreement and any Fee Letter, and (iii) for all obligations of SMUD under any 
Energy/Fuel Contract Letter of Credit Facility Agreement. 

All remaining Revenues, after making the foregoing allocation, shall be available to 
SMUD for all lawful SMUD purposes. The pledge of Available Revenues herein made shall be 
irrevocable until the Notes and all Parity Notes have been paid and retired and all obligations of 
SMUD under the Credit Agreement, any Parity Notes Reimbursement Agreement, any Fee 
Letters and any Energy/Fuel Contract Letter of Credit Facility Agreement have been satisfied. 

SMUD may issue additional Parity Notes and enter into additional Parity Notes 
Reimbursement Agreements and/or Energy/Fuel Letter of Credit Facility Agreements from time 
to time provided no Event of Default under Section 6.01 has occurred and is continuing as of the 
date of the issuance of such Parity Notes or the execution and delivery of any such Agreements. 

ARTICLE V 

COVENANTS OF SMUD 

Section 5.01. Authorization. SMUD will not permit the aggregate principal amount of 
the Notes outstanding at any one time to exceed the limitations specified in Section 2.01 hereof. 

Section 5.02. Punctual Payment. SMUD will punctually pay or cause to be paid the  
principal of and interest, if any, on the Notes (but only from Available Revenues or, at the sole 
option of SMUD, any other funds legally available for such payment), in conformity with the 
Notes, this Resolution and the Credit Agreement. 

Section 5.03. Tax Covenant. SMUD covenants with the Bank that no use of the 
proceeds of the Loans or Term Loans under the Tax-Exempt Note or any other funds of SMUD 
will be made which will cause the Tax-Exempt Note or any Loan or Term Loan thereunder to be 
“arbitrage bonds” the interest on which is subject to federal income taxation by reason of Section 
148 of the Code. To that end, so long as any principal of the Tax-Exempt Note is outstanding, 
SMUD, with respect to such proceeds and other funds, shall comply with all requirements of said 
Section 148 (including any rebate requirements pursuant to Section 148(f)) and of all regulations 
of the United States Department of the Treasury issued thereunder,  to the extent  that such  
regulations are, at the time, applicable and in effect. 

SMUD further covenants with the Bank that it will make no use of the proceeds of any 
Loan or Term Loan under the Tax-Exempt Note or any other funds of SMUD or take any other 
action which would cause interest on the Tax-Exempt Note or any Loan or Term Loan 
thereunder to be subject to federal income taxation by reason of Section 141 or Section 149 of 

8
	
4136-8591-5699.4 



 
  
 

 
   

 

     

   
  

  

   
 

  

   
 

     
 

  
    

 

 
 

   

the Code. To that end, so long as any principal of the Tax-Exempt Note is outstanding SMUD 
will comply with all requirements of such Section 141 and Section 149 and all regulations to the 
extent that such requirements are, at the time, applicable and in effect. 

ARTICLE VI 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

Section 6.01. Events of  Default.  The following  events shall be  events of  default (the 
“Events of Default”) hereunder: 

(a) if default shall be made in the due and punctual payment of the principal of any 
Note when and as the same shall become due and payable, whether at maturity as therein 
expressed, by declaration or otherwise; 

(b) if default shall be made in the due and punctual payment of any installment of 
interest on any Note when and as such interest installment shall become due and payable; or 

(c) if the holder of any Bond or the trustee for any holders of Bonds at the time 
outstanding exercises a right under the Bond or the constituent instruments under which such 
Bond was issued to declare the principal thereof (and interest accrued thereon) to be payable 
prior to the maturity thereof. 

Section 6.02. Suits at Law or in Equity and Mandamus. In case one or more Events of 
Default shall occur, then and in every such case the holder of any Note at the time outstanding 
shall be entitled to proceed to protect and enforce such holder’s rights by such appropriate 
judicial proceeding as such holder shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce any such 
right, whether by mandamus or other suit or proceeding at law or in equity, for the specific 
performance of any covenant or agreement contained in this Resolution, or in aid of the exercise 
of any power granted in this Resolution, or to enforce any other legal or equitable right vested in 
the holders of Notes by this Resolution or the Notes or by law. The provisions of this Resolution 
shall be a contract with each and every holder of Notes, and the duties of SMUD and of the 
Board shall be enforceable by any holder of the Notes by mandamus or other appropriate suit, 
action or proceeding in any court of competent jurisdiction. 

Section 6.03. Remedies Not Exclusive. No remedy herein conferred upon the holders of 
Notes is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy. Every such remedy shall be cumulative 
and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing, at 
law or in equity or by statute or otherwise, and may be exercised at any time or from time to 
time, and as often as may be necessary, by the holder of any one or more of the Notes. 

9
	
4136-8591-5699.4 



 
  
 

 

   

    
 

  

 
  

 

   

  

  

  

 

ARTICLE VII 


MISCELLANEOUS 


Section 7.01. Supplemental Resolutions. SMUD may modify or amend this Resolution 
at any time but only with the prior written consent of the Bank. 

Section 7.02. Approval and Execution of Credit Agreement and Fee Letter. The Credit 
Agreement and the Fee Letter relating to the Credit Agreement, each between SMUD and the 
Bank, in substantially the forms submitted to this meeting, are hereby approved. The Authorized 
Officers, each acting alone, are hereby authorized and directed, for and on behalf of SMUD, to 
execute and deliver the Credit Agreement and the Fee Letter relating to the Credit Agreement in 
substantially said forms, with such changes therein as the Authorized Officer executing the same, 
with the advice of SMUD’s counsel, may require or approve, such approval to be conclusively 
evidenced by the execution and delivery thereof. 

Section 7.03. Additional Actions. The Authorized Officers are hereby authorized and 
directed to do any and all things and to execute, deliver and perform any and all agreements, 
certificates and documents (including, but not limited to, tax certificates) which they deem 
necessary or advisable in order to consummate the issuance and delivery of the Notes in 
accordance with the this Resolution and the Credit Agreement and to effect the purposes of this 
Resolution and the transactions contemplated hereby. 

Section 7.04. Effective Date of Resolution. This Resolution shall take effect 
immediately upon adoption. 

10 

4136-8591-5699.4 


	Item 1 - Agenda
	Item 2 - Committee Chair Reports
	Item 3 - Board Compensation
	Item 4 - Draft Minutes - Board of Directors Meeting - January 20, 2022
	Item 5 - Strategic Direction SD-2, Competitive Rates Monitoring Report
	AQS Memo
	SD-2 Monitoring Report
	Draft Resolution

	Item 6 - Strategic Direction SD-3, Access to Credit Markets Monitoring Report
	AQS Memo
	SD-3 Monitoring Report
	Draft Resolution

	Item 7 - Change Time of March 17, 2022, Board Meeting
	Draft Resolution

	Item 8a - Contract Renewal - Barclays Bank Letter of Credit Supporting Commercial Paper Series L
	Amended and Restated Reimbursement Agreement
	Third Amended and Restated Fee Letter
	Draft Second Supplemental Resolution

	Item 8b - Contract Renewal - Bank of America, NA Letter of Credit Supporting Commercial Paper Series M
	First Amendment to Reimbursement Agreement
	Reimbursement Agreement dated February 1, 2019

	Amended and Restated Fee Letter
	Draft First Supplemental Resolution

	Item 8c - Contract with Wells Fargo Bank, NA for new Line of Credit to Support Line of Credit Series N
	Revolving Credit Agreement
	Fee Agreement
	Draft Resolution




